

## The Most Social Platform? Unveiling Experiential Qualities and the Day-to-Day Use of Social Virtual Reality Applications

## **Cumulative Dissertation**

accepted by the Faculty of Engineering Department of Computer Science and Applied Cognitive Science of the University Duisburg-Essen to obtain the academic degree of

## Doctor of Natural Sciences (Dr. rer. nat.)

by

Philipp Sykownik born in Dresden

**1st Supervisor:** Prof. Dr.-Ing. Maic Masuch

## 2nd Supervisor:

Dr. Guo Freeman

Disputation Date: 11th of May, 2023

## Abstract

Motivated by the far-reaching social distancing measures during the Covid 19 pandemic, as well as current efforts of large tech companies to find the ultimate platform for social interaction at a distance, this dissertation takes a look at the particular experiential qualities as well as the everyday value of social VR applications. Those applications use virtual reality technology to allow people to interact with each other in immersive virtual worlds, whereby they afford verbal and nonverbal communication modalities resembling face-to-face communication. By taking four different perspectives on social VR, this cumulative dissertation approaches an assessment of the provocative statement that VR is the most social platform ever existed. The four perspectives include examining virtual social touch, exploring the reasons why people already use social VR on a daily basis, revealing attitudes and behavioral patterns regarding disclosing personal information in social VR, and evaluating the virtual replication of a popular social leisure activity. The results presented in this dissertation illustrate, that current consumer VR offers access to meaningful social experiences very similar to in-person interactions, despite current technical limitations. Due to VR's immersive properties, social VR applications are technically fundamentally different from other social platforms in terms of the types of interactions people can have with each other in VR. Yet, only future work can conclusively assess to what extent this makes VR more social than alternatives assuming that VR technology and social VR offerings gain wider acceptance and use. The practical and scientific contribution of this dissertation's different perspectives lies in identifying numerous starting points for the further development of the social VR genre and the further theory-building investigation of social experiences in social VR. In addition, the results of the individual studies presented in the dissertation provide a baseline measurement against which the experience-related effects of future hardware and software developments can be measured.

# Kurzzusammenfassung

Ausgehend von Social Distancing Maßnahmen im Rahmen der Covid 19 Pandemie, sowie aktuellen Bestrebungen großer Tech-Konzerne die ultimative Plattform für soziale Interaktion auf Distanz zu finden, wirft diese Dissertation einen Blick auf die besonderen Erlebnisqualitäten sowie den Alltagsnutzen von social VR-Anwendungen. Dies sind Anwendungen, die es mittels Virtual Reality Technologie erlauben, miteinander in immersiven virtuellen Welten zu interagieren und dabei auf verbale und nonverbale Kommunikationsmodalitäten der unvermittelten Kommunikation zurückzugreifen. Anhand vier unterschiedlicher Perspektiven auf social VR nähert sich diese kumulative Dissertation der Beurteilung des provokanten Statements an, dass VR die sozialste Plattform sein soll, die es je gab. Die vier Perspektiven umfassen die Untersuchung von virtuellem Körperkontakt, das Ergründen der Motive aus denen schon heute Menschen social VR in ihrer Freizeit nutzen, die Offenlegung von Einstellungen und Verhaltensmustern hinsichtlich des Teilens persönlicher Informationen untereinander in social VR, sowie der Evaluation der virtuellen Nachbildung einer populären gemeinschaftlichen Freizeitbeschäftigung. Die Ergebnisse der vier im Rahmen dieser Dissertation durchgeführten Studien deuten darauf hin, dass VR, trotz derzeit noch bestehender technischer Limitationen, Zugang zu bedeutungsvollen sozialen Erlebnissen bietet, welche dem unvermittelten zwischenmenschlichen Kontakt sehr ähnlich sind. Aufgrund der immersiven Eigenschaften von VR, unterscheiden sich social VR-Anwendungen technisch grundlegend von anderen sozialen Plattformen hinsichtlich der Art von Interaktionen, die man in VR miteinander durchführen kann. Inwieweit dies VR tatsächlich sozialer macht als andere Plattformen, kann jedoch erst in zukünftigen Arbeiten abschließend beurteilt werden, vorausgesetzt, dass VR-Technologie und social VR-Angebote in den kommenden Jahren breitere gesellschaftliche Akzeptanz und Nutzung erfahren. Der praktische und wissenschaftliche Beitrag der unterschiedlichen Perspektiven dieser Dissertation liegt in der Identifizierung zahlreicher Anknüpfungspunkte für die Weiterentwicklung des Genres social VR und die weiterführende, theoriebildende Erforschung sozialer Erlebnisse in social VR. Zudem stellen die Ergebnisse der einzelnen in der Dissertation präsentierten Studien eine Baseline-Messung dar, an der die erlebnisbezogenen Auswirkungen künftiger hardware- und softwareseitiger Entwicklungen bemessen werden können.

# Thank You

I am grateful for the publicly financed education I could enjoy, which gave me the privilege to learn a lot about the subject I studied and myself. Most notable, this educational path has brought two extraordinary people into my life, to whom I cannot express my gratitude adequately enough at this point:

Alexandra, my better half, and Felix, my "office wife" - you have probably shared equally much and the most time with me in the last years and have accompanied, supported, cheered up, challenged, and endured me in all life situations. You ensured I had at least one smile daily and became a better person over the years.

I thank my parents and family. You taught me humility and to be grateful for what I have, and thanks to your foundational groundwork, I made it this far in life.

The past years would not have been such an educational and pleasant time without the friendturned-colleagues I was allowed to get to know at the Entertainment Computing Group: thank you, Kathi, for the cooperation since my bachelor thesis, which has carried through to my last publication. Thank you, Stefan, for a lot of professional advice and especially for getting me into bouldering. Thank you, Linda, for bringing super tinkering skills to the chair and for the one or other dog walk. Patrizia, thank you for all the delicious treats in the project room, even though I told you to stop putting them there.

I also want to thank all the students I have enjoyed working with over the years. I want to highlight: Christoph, Christopher, Daniel, Marc, Erique, Anastasia, Dana, Mathis, Sophie, Deborah, Adrian, Katharina, and Kai. Together, we realized a lot of exciting things.

I must thank Sukran and Divine for the successful collaboration in the last part of my Ph.D. studies! Only in retrospect do I realize that I missed external collaborators during my first Ph.D. years. Also, I would like to thank Prof. Guo Freeman, whom I met through Divine, and who agreed to be the second examiner of my dissertation.

Finally, I would like to thank Prof. Maic Masuch, who made my journey over the last years possible in the first place and always gave me an immense amount of freedom. He always had an open ear for my concerns and was willing to provide me with the necessary resources to achieve my goals.

## **List of Publications**

The following publications listed in chronological order constitute the body of work of this dissertation and are included in the Appendix:

- Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. 2020. The Experience of Social Touch in Multi-User Virtual Reality. In 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (VRST '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 30, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418944
- Philipp Sykownik, Linda Graf, Christoph Zils, and Maic Masuch. 2021. The Most Social Platform Ever? A Survey about Activities & Motives of Social VR Users. In 2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR '21). IEEE. pp. 546-554.https://doi.org/ 10.1109/VR50410.2021.00079
- Philipp Sykownik, Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Maic Masuch. 2022. Something Personal from the Metaverse: Goals, Topics, and Contextual Factors of Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR. In CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '22). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 632, 1–17.https: //doi.org/10.1145/3491102.3502008
- Philipp Sykownik, Sukran Karaosmanoglu, Katharina Emmerich, Frank Steinicke, and Maic Masuch. 2023. VR Almost There: Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality. In CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '23). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 789, 1–19.https: //doi.org/10.1145/3544548.3581230

## **Further Publications**

The following publications were also produced in the course of my doctoral studies but are not part of this dissertation:

- Philipp Sykownik, Katharina Emmerich, and Maic Masuch. 2018. Exploring Patterns of Shared Control in Digital Multiplayer Games. In Cheok, A., Inami, M., Romão, T. (eds) Advances in Computer Entertainment Technology (ACE '17). Lecture Notes in Computer Science(), vol 10714. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-76270-8\_57
- Felix Born, Philipp Sykownik, and Maic Masuch. 2019. Co-Located vs. Remote Gameplay: The Role of Physical Co-Presence in Multiplayer Room-Scale VR. In 2019 IEEE Conference on Games (CoG '19). IEEE. pp. 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1109/CIG.2019. 8848001
- Philipp Sykownik, Felix Born, and Maic Masuch. 2019. Can You Hear the Player Experience? A Pipeline for Automated Sentiment Analysis of Player Speech. In IEEE Conference on Games (CoG '19). IEEE. pp. 1-4.https://doi.org/10.1109/CIG.2019. 8848096
- Philipp Sykownik, Katharina Emmerich, Jochen Peketz, and Maic Masuch. 2019. Blending Science and Practice: A Collaborative Approach for Evaluating the Value of Heart Rate Measurement. In Extended Abstracts of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play Companion Extended Abstracts (CHI PLAY '19 Extended Abstracts). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 211–222.https://doi. org/10.1145/3341215.3354644
- 9. Philipp Sykownik, Katharina Emmerich, and Maic Masuch. 2020. Like in the Good Old Times, but Virtual - A Case for Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Games in VR. In Extended Abstracts of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play (CHI PLAY '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 379–383.https: //doi.org/10.1145/3383668.3419885
- Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. 2021. Developing a Framework for Designing Augmentations of Social Touch in Multiuser Virtual Reality. In Wienrich, C., Wintersberger, P. & Weyers, B. (Hrsg.), Mensch und Computer 2021 Workshopband. Bonn, Gesellschaft für Informatik e.V.. https://doi.org/10.18420/muc2021-mci-ws16-241

# **List of Figures**

1-1.	Worldwide, public interest in "VR", "Social VR", and the "Metaverse" over time, based on google trends. The vertical axis indicates the terms' search interest relative to their	
	highest point in the chart. Created February 24th, 2023	2
2-1.	VR headsets can create an illusion of being placed in a virtual environment despite know-	
	ing you are not really there and cause you to react to virtual objects as if they were real.	9
<b>2-2</b> .	In VR, users are represented by avatars that can be either full-body representations or	
	only represent parts of a human body. The degree of representation in a VR application	
	often depends on the tracking technologies used and how well software algorithms can	
	animate the different avatar parts	11
2-3.	VR headsets can create an illusion of being together with others in a virtual environment	
	despite knowing you are not really there with them and cause you to react to virtual	
	others as if they were real	13
<b>2-4</b> .	The review of social VR literature covers four areas.	17
3-1	The different touch interactions participants performed in our study. Illustration taken	
51.	from [SM20]	33
3-2	Boxplots illustrating individual mean and median data of emotional reactions to differ-	55
5 4.	ent types of virtual body contact. Illustration taken from [SM20]	35
3-3	Sample overview and derived user activities motives perceived benefits and wanted	55
5 5.	features of social VR users. Illustration taken from [SG7M21] @2021 IFFF	30
3-4	Heatman illustrating that self-disclosure decision tendencies differ based on information	57
5 1.	type and social context. Illustration taken from [SMFM22]	43
3-5	Impression of the VR application we developed for the controlled lab study. Illustration	15
00.	taken from [SKF <sup>+</sup> 23]	45
3-6	Boxplots illustrating how similar the social experience of co-located multiplayer gaming	10
5 0.	is in VR and in-nerson Illustration taken from [SKF <sup>+</sup> 23]	47
		1/
<b>4-1</b> .	An illustration of the thematic connections between the four studies of this dissertation.	51
<b>4-2</b> .	Four broad perspective for future social VR work	58

# **List of Tables**

<b>2-1</b> .	Overview of consumer social VR application design studies		
2-2.	Overview (1) of user-focused studies in consumer social VR. Highlighted row belongs to		
	this thesis' body of work.	22	
2-3.	Overview (2) of user-focused studies in consumer social VR. Highlighted row belongs to		
	this thesis' body of work.	23	
2-4.	Overview of studies where novice users engage in consumer social VR		
2-5.	Overview (1) of studies with multiuser VR lab prototypes. Highlighted row belongs to		
	this thesis' body of work.	27	
2-6.	Overview (2) of studies with multiuser VR lab prototypes. Highlighted row belongs to		
	this thesis' body of work.	28	

# Contents

List of Publications			i		
List of Figures			iii		
Lis	t of T	Tables	v		
1.	1. Introduction				
	1.1.	Research Goals	3		
	1.2.	Outline	5		
2. Background					
	2.1.	Foundations of Immersive Social Experiences	7		
		2.1.1. Being Sensory Immersed	7		
		2.1.2. Feeling Present in Immersive Virtual Worlds	8		
		2.1.3. Embodiment of Virtual Avatars	10		
		2.1.4. Social Presence Over Distance	12		
	2.2.	Consumer Social VR	14		
	2.3.	Social VR Research	17		
		2.3.1. The Design of Consumer Social VR	18		
		2.3.2. Everyday Experiences in Consumer Social VR	21		
		2.3.3. Consumer Social VR Studies with Novice Users	24		
		2.3.4. Studies with Lab Prototypes Related to Social VR	26		
3.	. Body of Work 31				
Study 1: The Experience of Social Touch in VR 33					
Stı	ıdy 2:	: User Activities & Motives in Consumer Social VR	37		
Stı	ıdy 3:	: Self-disclosure in Consumer Social VR	41		
Stı	ıdv 4:	: Simulating Co-located Videogames in Social VR	45		
	,	0			
4.	Disc	ussion	49		
	4.1.	Main Findings	49		
	4.2.	The Most Social Platform?	53		
	4.3.	Limitations	55		
	4.4.	What is Next?	57		
5.	Con	clusion	59		

## Bibliography

Α.	A. Attached Publications 77					
	A.1.	The Experience of Social Touch in Multi-User Virtual Reality	75			
	A.2.	The Most Social Platform Ever? A Survey about Activities & Motives of Social				
		VR Users	87			
	A.3.	Something Personal from the Metaverse: Goals, Topics, and Contextual Factors				
		of Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR	97			
	A.4.	VR Almost There - Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Vir-				
		tual Reality	115			

## 60

## 1. Introduction

My doctoral studies coincided with the Covid 19 pandemic, which highlighted the immeasurable value of technologies that connect us with others when personal meetings are not feasible. During the pandemic, far-reaching social distancing measures significantly restricted people's everyday social interactions, negatively affecting their well-being [HOP+20, GML20]<sup>1</sup>. Consequently, technology companies have taken "advantage" of the pandemic in terms of marketing and distribution of their services tailored to connect people over distance. The videoconferencing market, for example, was challenged by a highly increased demand that led companies like Zoom and Microsoft eventually benefit from the pandemic<sup>2</sup>. Though, a significant purpose of such communication technologies has always been to connect us and ideally provide valuable social experiences at a distance. Those technologies shall generate feelings of a connection or social presence over distance by giving access to the actions, emotions, and thoughts of remote others. Apart from overcoming challenges during the Covid 19 pandemic, such technologies also facilitate today's flexible live models, allowing friends and family members living apart to stay in contact regardless of location and time. In addition, facing the consequences of climate change, a reduced need or acceptance for traveling may further increase the demand for ever-evolving social presence technologies.

### **The Most Social Platform?**

Research investigating feelings of social presence over distance often refers to face-to-face (f2f) interaction as the experiential gold standard that communication technologies should simulate [HB04, OBW18]. Considering modern immersive virtual reality headsets (VR headsets from here on), simulating this gold standard no longer seems to be just future dreams. VR technology is not only capable of providing the same types of social stimuli as other technologies we are familiar with, like videoconferencing, phone calls, or text messages, but is further said to create an experience that makes you feel as if you were together with others in the same place. In short, VR promises to support natural embodied social interactions like those we are familiar with from in-person meetings. In multiuser VR applications, users interact in a shared virtual environment while being represented and visible to each other as avatars that can display social stimuli that we know from f2f interaction. For example, users can say "hello" to their microphones and hear others over earphones or shake each other's hands, enabled by movement tracking technology. These technology-based social representation and interaction paradigms lead to intuitive and natural forms of interpersonal interactions in VR that a videoconference cannot reproduce. Thereby, various research and development efforts indicate that VR experiences steadily improve

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>WHO scientific brief, last accessed February 28th, 2023: https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Sci\_Brief-Mental\_health-2022.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>researchandmarkets market summary, last accessed February 24th, 2023: https://www. researchandmarkets.com/issues/video-conferencing-demand-rises



Figure 1-1.: Worldwide, public interest in "VR", "Social VR", and the "Metaverse" over time, based on google trends. The vertical axis indicates the terms' search interest relative to their highest point in the chart. Created February 24th, 2023.

in terms of sensory fidelity, i.e., photo-realism, spatial sound, haptic feedback, and increasingly approach reality in the foreseeable future<sup>3</sup>. Tracking technologies are also constantly being advanced and, for example, already enable the tracking of detailed finger movements and facial expressions with consumer devices. And with advancements in computational power and the utilization of artificial intelligence, our virtual representations' visual and behavioral realism will steadily increase in the years to come. However, enabling users worldwide to interact in virtual social interactions using VR technology in their homes only became technically feasible in the past decade. In this decade, companies like *Oculus* and *HTC* launched several consumer-grade VR headsets that were considered the start of a new VR boom<sup>4</sup> (see Figure 1-1) and can be considered the first generation of devices that may indicate a drastic change in how people connect over distance in the future.

A major event in the younger VR history was when *Meta*, then still *Facebook*, acquired *Oculus* in 2014<sup>5</sup>. Foreshadowing the long-term strategy behind this acquisition *Meta* 's CEO Mark Zuckerberg proclaimed during a townhall Q&A in Rome in 2016, that "virtual reality and augmented reality gonna be the most social platform that has ever existed" <sup>6</sup>. In fall 2021, amid the global pandemic, *Facebook* rebranded itself as *Meta*, whose mission statement as of October 2022 was: "*Giving people the power to build community and bring the world closer together*"<sup>7</sup>. In December 2021, *Meta* released *Horizon Worlds*, its version of a virtual social world that users can access with the brand's VR headsets. In October 2022, at its yearly company conference *Meta Connect, Meta* introduced its newest VR headset, the *Quest Pro*, following the popular *Quest 1* and *Quest 2*. The *Quest Pro* features integrated mimic-tracking, which is, justifiably, marketed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Meta Reality Labs publications database, last accessed February 24th, 2023: https://research. facebook.com/publications/research-area/augmented-reality-virtualreality/?s

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Financial Times article from 2016, last accessed February 24th, 2023: https://www.ft.com/content/ dae861ee-b275-11e5-b147-e5e5bba42e51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Forbes article from 2014, last accessed February 24th, 2023: https://www.forbes.com/sites/ briansolomon/2014/03/25/facebook-buys-oculus-virtual-reality-gamingstartup-for-2-billion/?sh=7ccc68fb2498

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Interview from August 29th, 2016. Link to video on *facebook*, last accessed January 27th, 2023, starting at 10:07: https://www.facebook.com/zuck/videos/10103066366848051/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Link to company information, last accessed October 25th, 2022: https://about.meta.com/companyinfo/

as a crucial next step towards a richer social experience in VR. In addition, *Meta* presented its vision of how future devices like the *Quest Pro*, with innovative software features, eventually should bring VR, augmented reality (AR), mobile phones, and desktop PCs closer together in the future, laying a foundation for the *Metaverse* [Ste03] that *Meta* wants to build. The concept of the *Metaverse* is a persistent digital world that is commonly envisioned to succeed the internet of today in that it converges today's technologies with "novel" technologies like AR and VR and also with physical reality, enabling seamless transitions between physical and virtual spaces and interactions. And in *Meta* 's vision, this very *Metaverse*, whatever it will look like exactly, is the technological infrastructure that connects us closer than anything before it <sup>8</sup>. Those and similar recent efforts of enterprises like *Microsoft* or *Apple* foreshadow the continuing impact of novel communication technologies on how we interact and stay in touch with each other. And based on the track records of such enterprises in terms of their products that accompany and determine our current everyday lives, a past statement like Mark Zuckerberg's as well as his company's billions of dollars investments into how it envisions the future of how people connect, certainly get some weight.

Considering the pandemic, Mark Zuckerberg's assumption of VR being the most social platform had a timeframe to prove its validity. At least, the rebranding of *Facebook* to *Meta* in 2021 kick-started public interest in the *Metaverse* (see Figure 1-1). At the same time, *Meta* sees itself challenged by internal and public controversies on how it approaches its vision. However, although still not a commonly used technology, the global VR market sees and is expected to see a steady growth<sup>9,10</sup>. Correspondingly, established and new VR companies feel confident bringing new VR headsets to the market (e.g., *HTC Vive XR Elite, Pico 4, Bigscreen Beyond*, and the rumored *Apple* device). Against this background, there is an emerging ecology of consumer-grade, publicly available, and free-to-use multiuser VR applications that allow users worldwide to meet others in virtual worlds using VR headsets. And this dissertation is concerned with the question of how social those applications currently are.

## 1.1. Research Goals

Claims that VR could have broader implications for social interactions at a distance were made before Mark Zuckerberg [Bio06] and the social VR applications we see today are not the first working applications of their kind but rather descendants of earlier research prototypes that demonstrated the potential for social experiences in VR [BBH<sup>+</sup>90]. However, as described above, today's VR headsets and applications are available in unprecedented quality and quantity for private persons outside of technology companies and research laboratories. Against this background, this dissertation contributes a momentary assessment of the current social VR experi-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Interview with Mark Zuckerberg October 2022, last accessed, February 24th, 2023: https://www.theverge.com/23397187/mark-zuckerberg-quest-pro-metaverse-interview-decoder

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Grand View Research market forecast from 2021, last accessed February 25th, 2023: https: //www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/virtual-reality-vr-

market?utm\_source=prnewswire&utm\_medium=referral&utm\_campaign=ict\_07july-22&utm\_term=virtual\_reality\_vr\_market&utm\_content=rd

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Fortune Business Insights market forecast from 2022, last accessed February 25th, 2023: https: //www.fortunebusinessinsights.com/industry-reports/virtual-realitymarket-101378

ences available to consumers. Throughout this dissertation, a slightly modified version of Mark Zuckerberg's statement, rephrased as a question, should serve as a guiding question: **Is VR the most social platform ever?** While not providing a definitive answer, this dissertation offers an informed discussion of the question based on results from two controlled laboratory user studies and two studies assessing the thoughts and behaviors of people that already use social VR in their private life. More specifically, the four publications that form the body of work of this dissertation address the following four research questions:

#### Study 1: What is the experiential quality of virtual social touch?

This first study [SM20] is motivated by VR's technological capabilities to visually replicate one of the most intimate forms of social interaction: social touch. By asking if virtual social body contact evokes emotional responses and what factors affect those, this study assesses whether current VR technology may afford social interaction that other communication technologies do not.

## Study 2: Why do people use consumer social VR applications?

The second study assesses whether social VR applications are used due to social motives [SGZM21]. It provides insights gathered from people that already use social VR applications in their private life and indicates what they find there that other venues do not offer. Assessing those insights from today's users may allow assumptions of what impact social VR may have in the future on a broader scale.

## Study 3: How do social VR users engage in self-disclosure?

The third study investigates how social VR users engage in a fundamental part of socializing, and relationship-building: self-disclosure [SMFM22]. By unveiling what users disclose to each other and what contextual factors influence their disclosure decisions, this study allows us to assess whether socializing in social VR is similar to socializing in f2f contexts.

# Study 4: Can social VR replicate the experiential qualities of a popular in-person social leisure activity?

The fourth study is motivated by VR's capability to replicate popular social leisure activities and assess its potential as an alternative for in-person meetings when those are not feasible, as during the Covid 19 pandemic [SKE<sup>+</sup>23]. By comparing a virtual and a f2f version of a popular social leisure activity - playing video games in a co-located scenario - this study unveils how close the player and social experience in VR comes to the f2f gold standard.

### **Overall Contribution**

The overall contribution of this thesis is an exploration of the experiential qualities and everydayvalue of social VR applications available for consumers. This contribution stems from a mixture of methods and data sources that considers both ends of the spectrum between research & development and real-world use cases. Further, the four exploratory perspectives offered in this dissertation unveil numerous starting-points for theory-building follow-up research. Since this work is a snapshot of consumer VR technologies available between 2018 and 2022, it only allows a limited assumption of how social VR may contribute to social connections over distance in the future. However, assuming an increasing acceptance of technology and widespread use in the coming years due to technological advancements and lower entry barriers, such a snapshot eventually provides a benchmark for future research in this area. Researchers and developers of future social VR applications can refer to this benchmark to reevaluate how individual technical advances affect social VR user acceptance, behavior, and experiential outcomes.

## 1.2. Outline

This cumulative dissertation is divided into a synopsis consisting of the three parts listed below, plus the Appendix, which contains the publications that make up the body of work underlying the synopsis.

## 1) Background

In chapter 2 the theoretical underpinnings of immersive social VR experiences are covered. The concepts behind the feelings of being present in a virtual place, embodying a virtual representation, and feeling in presence of other people despite spatial distance are explained (section 2.1). In addition, the chapter provides a definition of the genre of consumer social VR applications and an overview of a small selection of such applications (section 2.2). The chapter concludes with an overview of literature related to commercial social VR from 2018-2023 (section 2.3).

#### 2) Body of Work

In chapter 3, the four publications that comprise this thesis's body of work are summarized and related to the previously defined guiding research question. The summary includes the motivation behind each study, the specific research questions and findings, and a brief judgment of its contribution. Since this is a cumulative dissertation, the summaries are focused. A complete evaluation of this dissertation thus requires reading the publications, each of which also stands on its own (Appendix A).

## 3) Discussion & Conclusion

In chapter 4 the main findings of the individual studies are related to each other and discussed in the context of the guiding research question. In addition, limitations and broader areas for follow-up research are indicated. In chapter 5, a concluding statement is formulated concerning the guiding research question.

## 2. Background

This chapter covers the theoretical basics and recent literature landscape relevant to this dissertation. Starting with the concept of sensory immersion, the following sections show why VR is an exciting medium for social interactions in the first place by reviewing the fundamental experiential qualities of VR. Subsequently, consumer social VR is defined and supplemented by a small overview of selected applications. This chapter concludes with a review of recent social VR literature that helps contextualize this dissertation's body of work presented in the next chapter.

## 2.1. Foundations of Immersive Social Experiences

To understand what potentially sets social experiences in VR apart from other digital social places, an understanding of VR's technical capabilities and experiential qualities is required. Due to these technological and experiential factors, VR technology holds the potential to induce a sense of togetherness that other technologies cannot achieve. The foundation of this sensation is a sensory immersion which allows for four subjective illusions of VR to occur [SBB<sup>+</sup>22]: the illusion of place and plausibility, the illusion of virtual body ownership, and the illusion of social presence. As those are commonly recognized concepts in VR research [SBB<sup>+</sup>22], the following pages focus on providing definitions for them and deliberately do not review individual studies on their effects and determinants.

## 2.1.1. Being Sensory Immersed

The main selling point of VR is that it creates immersive experiences. Saying a medium is immersive can refer to two different forms of immersion. It is either a psychological state of mental engagement in the mediated environment [WS98, LDC<sup>+00</sup>], be it a video game, movie, audio, or even a printed book. Or, it refers to objective technological specifications of a medium like VR [SW97, Sla09, SBW17, SBB+22]. In a VR context, immersion, or immersive experience, is often used in the latter sense and refers to the degree of sensory immersion that VR headsets provide. Thereby, VR is said to be more immersive than other technologies like conventional monitors. What makes a VR headset more sensory immersive than, e.g., a TV screen is that it addresses user senses inclusively, i.e., it does not simply display visual and auditory cues but also excludes external stimuli from a user's perception by placing the output devices close to a user's eyes, and ears [SW97, Sla09]. Further, modern VR headsets do this increasingly in a panoramic way by providing a wide field of view, and spatial audio [SW97, Sla09]. By adding technologies like haptic feedback devices, VR headsets are also more extensive in the number of senses they can address [SW97, Sla09]. Further, VR is a highly interactive medium that does not simply address several sensory channels in an inclusive and panoramic manner but matches the sensory output information with the input information user provide with their body movement. This matching ideally creates sensorimotor contingencies by coupling tracked user movements with a coherent and plausibly responsive virtual world perceivable through a coherently integrated stream of sensory perceptions. E.g., a VR headset would allow you to "[...] turn your head or bend forward and the rendered visual images ideally change the same as they would if you were in an equivalent physical environment" [Sla09]. Eventually, sensorimotor contingencies between user input and VR output are a prerequisite for feeling "being present" in the virtual world and naturally interacting with it [SW97, Sla09].

A modern consumer VR headset like the popular Meta Quest 2 usually has the following immersive characteristics. It tracks its rotational movement and positional changes relative to its physical surroundings. Additionally, it can precisely track hand and finger movements and translate them into VR. As an alternative to the hands and fingers, the headset can also track the activity of two single-hand controller devices that provide more traditional input modalities via buttons and thumbsticks. Further, microphones can process voice input. The recently launched Meta Quest Pro can additionally track eye movements and facial expressions. Other devices, like the HTC VR headsets, allow tracking even more physical objects by extending them with tiny tracking devices attached to body parts and other things. As described above, modern VR headsets are tailored to integrate those movement-based input channels with visual and auditory output channels, i.e., output information displayed on the two headset lenses that generate a stereoscopic image and integrated speakers that create spatial audio. The controllers additionally provide a haptic feedback channel in the form of vibrations. This input and output integration enables users to interact within a virtual environment based on body movement naturally. E.g., due to hand and finger tracking, users can precisely control a virtual representation of their hands, allowing them to touch and pick up virtual objects just like they would in the real world. Eventually, this would, for example, enable them to operate a simulated desktop PC in VR, i.e., sitting at a virtual desk, using a virtual mouse and keyboard, and looking at a virtual monitor. This simulation capability of VR makes it objectively more immersive than technologies that can not simulate the operation of a VR headset in the same natural way [Sla09].

In summary, in the context of this thesis, the term immersion, or immersive, is used in the sense of sensory immersion. And sensory immersion is the objective extent to which a system like a VR headset supports sensorimotor contingencies between user actions and changes in the mediated environment. Eventually, sensory immersion or the set of supported sensorimotor contingencies define the boundaries where a feeling of being present in a virtual world can occur [Sla09, SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. Due to their functioning, VR headsets are highly immersive and thus can induce intense manifestations of this feeling.

#### 2.1.2. Feeling Present in Immersive Virtual Worlds

Besides immersion, in VR and virtual environments, the feeling of presence is another fundamental concept, commonly defined as a feeling of "being there" in a virtual environment [SBW17]. Inducing a sense of presence can be considered as the goal of sensory immersion, i.e., an immersive device should create a feeling of presence, and the intensity of this sensation could be used as an evaluative metric for it [SBW17]. Correspondingly, sensory immersion is a technical prerequisite for presence [SBW17, Sla09, SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. In an extensive review article, Skarbez et al. [SBW17] point out that the vast presence-related literature provides numerous definitions of the



Figure **2-1**.: VR headsets can create an illusion of being placed in a virtual environment despite knowing you are not really there and cause you to react to virtual objects as if they were real.

concept that lead to different usages depending on a definition's nuances. However, Skarbez et al. observed that the feeling of presence is often used to refer to a perceived realness of a mediated environment. Eventually, they argue, to instead use the term place illusion proposed by Slater [Sla09, SBB<sup>+</sup>22] to refer to the feeling of "being there," to reduce confusion around the concept of presence due to the number of different definitions [SBW17]. Accordingly, this dissertation uses the term place illusion to refer to the subjective feeling of being in a virtual environment [Sla09, SBB<sup>+</sup>22].

Place illusion is only one sub-component that eventually contributes to the perceived realness of a mediated environment [SBW17, Sla09, SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. And as indicated, place illusion can result from sensory immersion, i.e., sensorimotor contingencies. Skarbez et al. describe this relationship by referring to a virtual library, where you turn around to see the bookshelves continuing behind you: the VR headset would generate precisely the view you would expect to see if you were actually in a physical library, turning your head [SBW17]. However, the illusion does not require a virtual environment to be a replica of a setting that exists in physical reality but also applies to fantastic and imaginative worlds [SBB<sup>+</sup>22].

Slater additionally introduced the concept of plausibility illusion: the extent to which the user perceives the virtual environment as a plausible and coherent world in how it behaves and reacts towards the user so that he believes that the virtual events are really happening [Sla09, SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. Referring back to the virtual library, imagine you see several people sitting there reading their books as you suddenly sneeze loudly into the VR headset's microphone. If now some virtual people turn their heads up, looking at you, saying "bless you" or "pssst", this would be a plausible reaction contributing to a plausibility illusion that may cause you to feel sorry for having interrupted other's concentration. However, if no one responds, the scenario would seem less plausible. In an updated discussion of how place and plausibility illusion relate to concepts introduced by other researchers in the last years, Slater et al. highlight that the illusion of plausibility is what leads to an exclamation like "This is really happening!" and causing a user to dodge falling objects in VR [SBB<sup>+</sup>22] or would motivate the user in the virtual library to excuse for sneezing. As with place illusion, plausibility is not exclusive to virtual replicas of reality, but also imaginative worlds can be plausible in how they function and react to users [SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. Place illusion and plausibility illusion are conceptually distinct and on orthogonal axes. One can feel like being placed in a virtual environment without perceiving it as plausible, and vice versa [SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. If established simultaneously, the illusion of place and the illusion of plausibility can cause VR users to respond realistically to virtual events, despite knowing that

these are not reality [SBB<sup>+</sup>22] (see Figure 2-1).

Analogous to place illusion being defined as a result of objective specifications of an immersive system, Slater et al. highlight that plausibility illusion is also a consequence of objective, deterministic characteristics of a virtual scenario that can be purposefully implemented [SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. In the library example, this means that the behavior of virtual humans must be specified and implemented to occur when the system detects a sneeze. They highlight this deterministic view as they criticize other approaches that associate the concept of plausibility with user-dependent characteristics like user expectations or prior knowledge [SBW17] or use the term of plausibility to refer to a different concept [LW22]. Thus, similar to the confusion about the term presence, there is an ongoing scientific discourse about models of plausibility, what factors contribute to it, and how deterministic those factors are [SBW17, SBB<sup>+</sup>22, LW22] and how it may relate to a concept of presence when considering not only VR but also augmented and mixed reality scenarios [LW22]. In summary, although VR research has dealt with the concept of presence since the early 1990s, it is a very relevant topic with new academic controversies highlighting the need for further research [SBB<sup>+</sup>22].

In summary, in this thesis, the commonly used concept of "being there" is considered as resulting from the simultaneous emergence of the illusions of place and plausibility within the boundaries set by the sensory immersion of a VR headset [Sla09, SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. The illusion of place makes users feel like they are in a virtual environment, and the illusion of plausibility causes them to respond to virtual events as if they were real.

### 2.1.3. Embodiment of Virtual Avatars

A third fundamental illusion of VR [SBB<sup>+</sup>22] relates to avatars, the virtual representations of users in a virtual environment, and how VR technologies let us control them. Usually, VR applications provide users with a first-person perspective on their avatars that can represent the whole or only parts of their physical body as illustrated in Figure 2-2. In other words, users embody an avatar in VR. Thus, if provided with a full-body representation, users that look down in VR would see a virtual torso, arms, and legs. But VR does not only provide us with a virtual representation that we can see, but also allows us to control it naturally. As modern VR headsets utilize real-time tracking technologies, they can track how we move parts of our physical body and apply this data to our avatar so we can see how, e.g., our virtual legs and arms move synchronously with their physical counterparts. Thus, VR headsets can simulate how we integrate visual and proprioceptive perceptions of our physical body by integrating the visual stimuli of our virtual representation with the proprioceptive sensations of our physical body. And similar to the illusions of place and plausibility, the objective technical condition of embodying an avatar can lead to an illusion of ownership, or virtual body ownership, i.e., a feeling that the displayed virtual body is our own body, although we know that it is not [SSSVB10, SBB<sup>+</sup>22].

Analogous to the illusions of place and plausibility, the illusion of virtual body ownership affects how users experience VR scenarios and respond to virtual stimuli related to their avatars. For example, virtual threats can trigger subconscious neural mechanisms representing intentions to pull away one's physical hand [GFPRFS14], and virtual social touches directed to an embodied avatar can elicit cognitive and emotional reactions in users [SM20, FLTA21]. Another popular



Figure 2-2.: In VR, users are represented by avatars that can be either full-body representations or only represent parts of a human body. The degree of representation in a VR application often depends on the tracking technologies used and how well software algorithms can animate the different avatar parts.

research area in this context is related to the effects of embodying virtual bodies with different traits than one's physical body. A reliable [RBLG20] effect in this context is the Proteus effect, which leads to a change in user behavior in the virtual environment that corresponds to traits of one's digital representation [YB07]. Examples of this effect are behaving more intimately with others when embodying attractive avatars, or more confident when embodying taller avatars [YB07], performing better at exercises when embodying a professional athlete [SEKA22] or a muscular virtual body [KKS<sup>+</sup>20]. Further, according to the self-avatar follower effect, the movement of an embodied avatar can subconsciously affect users' motor behavior [GFCO<sup>+</sup>20]. Other research indicates that embodying avatars can subsequently affect cognitive processes outside of VR, like reducing implicit racial biases [PSAS13, BBN<sup>+</sup>20].

As a contribution to the illusion, several factors are researched and discussed in the literature, including the perspective or self-location in relation to the avatar, multisensory contingencies between vision and proprioception, movement and tactile stimuli, control paradigms, tracking fidelity, avatar realism, and appearance [MS13, GFP18, RL20, FALH20]. Embodiment studies in VR often use humanoid avatars whereby the selected factors listed above are manipulated. However, the illusion of virtual body ownership was also shown to be induced by embodying animal avatars [KCK18, KCEK19]. Eventually, current literature indicates that using a first-person perspective combined with a control paradigm that supports visuo-motor synchronous control over an embodied avatar are the essential factors for inducing the illusion [MS13, GFP18, FALH20, SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. However, appearance-related factors like realism and customization, are also frequently researched and found to affect the illusion of body ownership [LLL15, LRG<sup>+</sup>17, WGR<sup>+</sup>18]

Separated from the theoretical background, avatars in VR, especially multiuser VR, have a very practical relevance. On the one hand, avatars enable users to see each other in a shared virtual environment and, thus, to arrange their spatiotemporal relationship. Second, if avatars are distinguishable from each other, e.g. because users can customize them, they enable users to be identifiable and create and express a virtual identity. And third, depending on how much a particular avatar system supports it, avatars can display the non-verbal communication stimuli we use in f2f interaction. For example, by transmitting specific body movements into VR, we can see where other people are looking, whether they are waving to us or talking with others and not paying attention to us. Thus, avatars provide a familiar canvas for naturally displaying

socially relevant information in VR.

In summary, embodying avatars in VR and having natural control over them can induce an illusion of virtual body ownership - the feeling that this virtual representation is one's own body despite knowing it is not [SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. At the same time, it is a means to display socially relevant information, such as identity and nonverbal communication cues, that form the basis for natural interaction with other users in VR.

## 2.1.4. Social Presence Over Distance

Based on the above experiential foundations of VR, we can illustrate why VR is particularly suited for mediating social interaction naturally. Imagine three VR users located at different places in the world who are individually traveling through different virtual worlds and experiencing place illusion, plausibility illusion, and the illusion of virtual body ownership. Due to the illusions, they all tend to behave in those virtual worlds as if they were actually there and as if everything in VR was really happening. Suddenly, they arrive in one world altogether and are visible to each other due to their avatars (see Figure 2-3). Instinctively, they approach one another, shake virtual hands and talk about their experiences in the other worlds, laughing together and having a good time. During this interaction, a fourth illusion [SBB<sup>+</sup>22] is likely to emerge: the illusion of "being there together" with the others in the virtual world.

In computer-mediated communication, this illusion is commonly studied as the construct of social presence, which can be considered as one "goal" of communication technologies - we use communication technology to perceive others as being close and connected to us, although they are physically remote. The construct of social presence has its roots in social psychological models of non-mediated interpersonal communication [BHB03] and was applied by Short et al. [SWC76] as a framework to research social interaction in the context of computer-mediated communication [BHB03]. Initially defined as "The degree of salience of the other person in the interaction and the consequent salience of the interpersonal relationships,[...]" (p.65)[SWC76], the current body of literature provides numerous conceptualizations and measurement instruments of social presence. Although commonly [OBW18] referred to as the sense of "being with another" (p.456)[BHB03], consent on a definition, operationalization and measurement of social presence is subject to ongoing academic discourse [BHB03, HB04, SZ21, TMG<sup>+</sup>22, HHB22].

Historically, two perspectives shaped how research studied social presence and its determinants. A medium-centric perspective [OBW18] relates to the early conceptualizations of social presence and the media richness theory and assumes that a medium's capacity to display rich social cues determines the extent of social presence, or intimacy and immediacy, it can induce [SWC76, DL86]. This view implies that certain types of media generally cause higher levels of social presence than others and probably leads to f2f interaction being commonly used as a gold standard that mediated communication should simulate [OBW18]. A contrasting user-centric perspective [OBW18] relates to the social information processing theory and assumes that the experiences social presence, or intimacy also depends on users' capabilities to adapt to the communicative affordances of a medium, and the time they have to communicate using a medium [WAL92, WAL96]. Consequently, this theory proposes, that computer-mediated communication can lead to the same intimate interpersonal relationships as f2f communications, if users



Figure **2-3**.: VR headsets can create an illusion of being together with others in a virtual environment despite knowing you are not really there with them and cause you to react to virtual others as if they were real.

have enough time to use it and adapt to it. Yet, it pays attention to the influence of a medium's technical specifications. In conclusion, considering both the medium's specification and users' adaptation strategies results in the most nuanced perspective on social presence [OBW18]. Accordingly, a comprehensive review of social presence literature (not exclusive to VR research) unveils that the subjective perception of social presence depends on immersive (e.g., modality, visual representation, interactivity), contextual (e.g., physical proximity, task type, identity cues), and individual factors (e.g., age, gender, psychological traits) [OBW18]. Thereby, considering recent technological advancements regarding the support of natural non-verbal communication cues like facial expressions, gestures, and postures, social VR applications are highlighted to have novel implications for the domain [OBW18]. Eventually, the above factors affect certain proposed sub-dimensions and behavioral indicators of social presence that researchers can then assess in experiments. For example, the self-report networked minds measure of social presence proposes the subdimensions of mutually perceived co-presence, attentional allocation, perceived message and affective understanding, and the perceived affective and behavioral interdependence [HB04].

Analogous to the illusions of place, plausibility, and body ownership, a sense of social presence eventually affects how users feel, think, and behave in a mediated social interaction, i.e., the mediation would lead to social influence effects. In this regard, the social influence model proposes that the size of social influence effects is an additive function of the intensity of the perceived social presence and behavioral realism during the interaction [BLB<sup>+</sup>02]. Thereby, behavioral realism refers to characteristics and behavioral cues of avatars to "produce situationally and socially appropriate verbal and nonverbal responses", and that enable others to decode and interpret those responses [BLB<sup>+</sup>02]. It is important to note that although contributing to behavioral realism, the graphical realism of avatars (i.e., anthropomorphic and photographic realism) is assumed to be less critical to contribute social presence, or social influence effects [BLB<sup>+</sup>02, OBW18].

Although recent technological advancements let VR headsets track and display non-verbal communication channels like eyes, fingers, facial expressions, gestures, and body posture in VR, those cues can also (and still better) be mediated by a video call. However, VR is technically different from a video call because it situates social cues within a co-inhabited three-dimensional reference space. Thus, VR introduces a spatial component to mediated communication that serves as a natural interaction context and resembles f2f communication. Because of this spatial component, VR enables specific social interactions that depend on the spatiotemporal relationship between

users, like touching each other [SM20], sitting together on a virtual couch [SKE<sup>+</sup>23], or adjusting interpersonal distance according to specific personal space zones [BPB20, WLV<sup>+</sup>21, WOGG<sup>+</sup>22]. Other non-immersive media can not easily reproduce those types of interaction. To conclude the review of the fundamentals of immersive social experiences:

As a consequence of the illusions of place, plausibility, and virtual body ownership, multiple users that meet together in VR and are under the effect of those illusions can succumb to the illusion of social presence - they feel as if they are together at the same place, despite knowing they are physically apart [BHB03, OBW18, SBB<sup>+</sup>22]. This illusion benefits from VR's technical properties, namely the natural representation of nonverbal behavioral stimuli through an avatar and within a three-dimensional space. In this space, users are within a dynamic spatiotemporal relationship that corresponds to a f2f scenario and thus can lead to similar social influence effects.

## 2.2. Consumer Social VR

The illusions just introduced characterize VR experiences and, in combination, are what makes the technology particularly interesting for mediating social interactions. With this knowledge, this section now looks at the kind of applications this dissertation is concerned with specifically: consumer social VR applications.

Broadly, social VR refers to VR experiences where multiple people interact with each other in immersive virtual environments using VR technology. Social VR users are commonly represented as avatars that afford verbal and nonverbal communication modes that mimic f2f interaction [Per16, MS18, MSMSMI18, MSKI19, JSY<sup>+</sup>19, KMSI19]. As laid out in the Introduction, this thesis specifically refers to a collection of applications that establish the genre of consumer social VR. Consumer social VR applications are publicly available, typically free-to-use, and developed for consumer-grade VR head-mounted displays. Thus, they target private users using them in leisure activity contexts.

Many authors dealing with (consumer) social VR applications note that they have their origin in the domain of Collaborative Virtual Environments (CVEs) (e.g., [MSMSMI18, MS18, MSKI19, JSY<sup>+</sup>19]). In that sense, social VR can be considered the technological successor of early textbased multiuser dungeons (MUDs) and 3d virtual worlds like *Second Life* that do not employ VR technology but desktop-based input and output technologies, like a mouse, keyboard, and monitor.

However, there is a specific technological precursor for the consumer social VR applications we see today: *Reality Built for Two* (RB2) [BBH<sup>+</sup>90]. In the late 1980s, the technology company *VPL Research* introduced RB2 as the first VR system allowing more than one user to simultaneously walk through a virtual world. This system integrated several of the company's technologies, providing the following features: a fully immersive visual experience, full-body motion tracking, and three-dimensional audio. Although it took over three decades until consumer social VR became a distinctive genre of VR applications in which companies like *Meta*  and *Microsoft* engage, RB2 combined the experiential features that still build the core of today's social VR experiences.

Although there are fundamental similarities, a brief review of current consumer social VR applications indicates that they can roughly be distinguished based on the specifics of their implemented avatar systems and the number and types of activities they offer. Social VR literature provides descriptions of various platforms' avatar systems that highlight how different applications provide varying capabilities related to in-world avatar customization, avatar import features, the use of humanoid or other avatar styles, and the support of communication features like automated facial expressions [KMSI19, THB20]. In terms of activities, social VR users can, i.a., engage in having conversations, hangouts, or intimate meetings with strangers or acquaintances in private or public spaces, playing integrated or community-made games, creating and exploring different worlds, watching video content, listen to music, and gathering for social events such as parties [MF20, SGZM21, SMFM22, BAH22]. Each platform may have a different focus.

While there is an extensive number of applications that more or less could be considered as social VR<sup>1</sup> and thus as spiritual successors of RB2, the following paragraphs briefly describe only some selected<sup>2</sup> popular applications to illustrate what those platforms offer and in what aspects they can differ.

## AltspaceVR

*AltspaceVR* was released in 2015 and acquired by *Microsoft* in 2017. It offered a variety of experiences, such as chatting with others, playing games, and participating in or hosting live events such as open mic nights, improvised comedy, meditation, and yoga. *AltspaceVR* was more popular among adults and focused on live events and the blending of entertainment and professional offerings. Over the years, *AltspaceVR* went through significant graphical iterations of the avatar aesthetics. Still, it employed stylized avatars with limited anatomical features, including a head, hands, and torso. According to *Steam*, estimations of *AltspaceVR* owners range from around 20,000 to 700,000<sup>3</sup>. On January 20th, 2023, *Microsoft* announced that *AltspaceVR* would be shut down by March 10th, 2023, as a consequence of its efforts to advance its business-oriented offerings for immersive social experiences before it eventually will provide consumer experiences again<sup>4</sup>.

#### **Horizon Worlds**

As described in the Introduction, *Horizon Worlds* is the culmination of *Meta*'s efforts to build their version of a VR-based social platform. At the same time, it may be the most publicly known, observed, and controversial platform listed here, given the public and political discourse about how *Meta* handles data privacy in general. For example, there were early reports of harassment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Blog by Ryan Schultz with a comprehensive and updated list of platforms, last accessed February 9th, 2023: https://ryanschultz.com/list-of-social-vr-virtual-worlds/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Based on being relevant in two of our studies and on media coverage in case of Horizon Worlds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Link to Steam Charts, last accessed February 9th, 2023: https://steamdb.info/app/471710/ charts/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Link to the announcement, last accessed on February 9th, 2023: https://altvr.com/sunset/

in *Worlds*<sup>5</sup>, as well as leaked internal reports indicating that *Meta*'s employees avoid using the platform themselves<sup>6</sup>. Though, despite the company's background, the platform is very similar to other platforms in terms of the avatar systems and activities it offers. Users can socialize in public hub worlds, collaborate to build custom virtual worlds and activities, and participate in games and events. The stylized avatars are of limited anatomical features (i.e., no legs), but, in contrast to *RecRoom* and *AltspaceVR*, have arms. Additionally, the avatars support the hand-, finger- and face-tracking capabilities of *Meta*'s VR headsets. Similar to other platforms, there are no official data on user numbers. However, leaked internal reports indicate that the platform struggles to keep users actively engaged, as *Meta* decreased their goal of monthly users from 500,000 to 280,000 in the course of 2022<sup>7</sup>. Horizon Worlds was released in December 2021.

#### Neos

*Neos*, released in 2018, prioritizes features for sophisticated internal content creation, including worlds, avatars, and interactions within VR. What sets *Neos* apart from other platforms is its engagement in educational contexts, like, e.g., astronomy or pediatric life support<sup>8</sup>, as well into integrating a cryptocurrency to build a complex in-world economy. Due to the flexibility offered by the platform's tools, avatars in *Neos* can have all types of styles and appearances, similar to *VRChat*. According to *Steam*, estimations of *Neos* owners range from around 30,000 to 500,000<sup>9</sup>.

#### RecRoom

*RecRoom* was released in June 2016, with a design inspired by a recreational center where players meet to engage in diverse gameful activities or hang out in a public area to socialize with others. Players can group up and access pre-made and community-made gaming experiences from this main public area. The avatars in *RecRoom* have simple humanoid features with limited anatomy, i.e., only heads, hands, and torso. The platform is targeted at and popular among younger users as it is a member of the *kidSAFE* seal program, uses comic-style aesthetics, and focuses on game activities. According to the platform's press information, it has accumulated over 82 million users over the platforms lifetime with 29 million active players in the first quarter of 2022<sup>10</sup>. According to *Steam*, estimations of *RecRoom* owners range from around 1 million to 2.8 million<sup>11</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Link to techdirt, last accessed on February 9th, 2023: https://www.techdirt.com/2021/12/28/ grope-metas-space/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Link to The Verge, last accessed on February 9th, 2023: https://www.theverge.com/2022/10/ 6/23391895/meta-facebook-horizon-worlds-vr-social-network-too-buggyleaked-memo

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Link to The Verge, last accessed on February 9th, 2023: https://www.theverge.com/2022/10/15/ 23405811/meta-horizon-worlds-losing-users-report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Link to Neos VR, last accessed February 9th, 2023: https://neos.com/features#educate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Link to Steam Charts, last accessed February 9th, 2023: https://steamdb.info/app/740250/ charts/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Link to RecRoom press information, last accessed on February 9th, 2023: https://recroom.com/press

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Link to Steam Charts, last accessed February 9th, 2023: https://steamdb.info/app/471710/ charts/



Figure 2-4.: The review of social VR literature covers four areas.

## VRChat

*VRChat*'s focus is on user-generated content, particularly on creating custom avatars. Its avatar system offers one of the most advanced customizations compared to other social VR platforms like *Recroom* and *AltspaceVR* as users can model and modify their avatars in external development applications like *Blender* and *Unity*. Avatars ins *VRChat* can take any form, from realistic humanoid representations to characters from pop culture to abstract forms like cardboard boxes. *VRChat* is especially known for its "wild west" atmosphere that fosters individual and creative expression utilizing avatars, community-designed worlds, and activity-based community building like dance communities. According to *VRChat*'s press kit information, the platform accumulated millions of users since 2015<sup>12</sup>. Based on the *Steam* database, estimations of *VRChat* owners range from around 4 million to 20 million<sup>13</sup>.

## 2.3. Social VR Research

Having reviewed the experiential aspects that lie mainly in the purely technical properties of VR technology and some popular consumer applications, we now turn to a review of recent social VR literature that covers design aspects, user experiences, and evaluations of laboratory multiuser VR prototypes Figure 2-4. The focus of this review is deliberately limited to papers published between 2018 and 2023 that represent the technological state of the art of consumer VR technology available during this period. Further, since consumer social VR platforms have only become widespread during these last years, studies on this specific topic have only begun to appear during this period. Consequently, this review intentionally does not include literature on earlier or general CVE research.

Nonetheless, this section will begin with a look at an earlier and one of the first systematic investigations of long-term social interactions in VR [BY06]. Still framed within CVE research, this study examined interaction during individual sessions over ten weeks with three participant triads. The authors found indications of a change in participants' nonverbal behavior, task performance, and subjective ratings of immersive experiences as they became familiar with the VR system. For example, they observed decreasing self-reported feelings of presence over time but increasing entitativity. Though, perceived social presence did not indicate a clear trend, although participants seemed to look significantly less at one another over time. By discussing these re-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Link to VRChat press information, last accessed on February 9th, 2023: https://hello.vrchat.com/ press

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Link to Steam Charts, last accessed February 9th, 2023: https://steamdb.info/app/438100/ charts/

sults, the authors stressed that the way first-time users interact with these systems might be significantly different from those who have more experience with the technology [BY06]. Consequently, investigating novel technologies with participants that have not become familiar with them inherently introduces a methodological limitation that should be considered when interpreting study results to draw general conclusions.

Therefore, rather than solely looking at user experiences, the following literature review starts with studies on the design of current social VR applications.

### 2.3.1. The Design of Consumer Social VR

The 2018 work of Joshua McVeigh-Schultz et al. marks the beginning of current consumer social VR research [MSMSMI18]. The group systematically tried out five popular applications to examine what design areas shaped their social experience. In doing so, they also raised the fundamental question of whether there were similar approaches across individual applications in promoting or limiting social experiences [MSMSMI18]. Their goal was to define broader categories of design areas that would guide further investigation to understand how social VR can be designed to be social. They found that the individual platforms are sometimes more and sometimes less similar regarding particular features that influence sociality differently. For a more structured look at the differences, they framed their early discussion of those differences within the design areas of user onboarding, virtual space and navigation, and social mechanics. For example, they indicated that the design specifics of publicly accessible lobby environments create different social atmospheres during onboarding or exploration of virtual spaces. Further, referring to navigation features, the mode of locomotion combined with personal space mechanics determines how controlled, and close users can get spatially in VR. Furthermore, social mechanics like shaking hands to be friend others directly stimulate embodied social experiences in RecRoom whereas in other platforms, those affordances are missing [MSMSMI18].

As seen from Table 2-1, McVeigh-Schultz et al. have continued their work on systematizing basic design approaches in social VR through two additional studies. In continuation of their previous self-experience study, they discussed their earlier findings and questions regarding general platform approaches to sociality with platform designers and industry experts in one study [MSKI19], and design strategies related explicitly to avatar systems, again with industry experts, in another study [KMSI19]. Those interviews validated their initial observations that the design areas of place aesthetics, embodied affordances, and social mechanics are integral contributors to deliberately shaping sociality in VR. Further, the interviews conveyed strategies for shaping social norms and mitigating harassment as additional fundamental design areas [MSKI19]. Thereby, as the genre of consumer social VR was and still is emerging with platforms having individual approaches to sociality, McVeigh-Schultz et al. highlighted the need to systematically identify design decisions to be able to validate the proposed impact on social experiences by comparing them with user-centered studies [MSKI19].

The avatar-related interviews indicated that different platforms' avatar systems might differ in integrating features related to embodied locomotion, avatar aesthetics, personal space, social mechanics, and virtual identity [KMSI19]. The aspects of embodied locomotion, personal space, and social mechanics directly link to the general design areas the authors have previously identified that shape sociality in social VR and highlight the fundamental role of avatars for the overall

Veen	Taula	Findings		N	Defense
Year	торіс	Findings	Method	Ν	Reference
2018	social VR design ecology	different design approaches for sociality in terms of onboarding, space and navigation, and social mechanics emerge	autobiographic landscape research	5 (platforms)	[MSMSMI18]
2019	design of Avatar Systems	high-level design consideration areas of avatar systems include: embodied locomotion, aesthetics, personal space, social mechanics, virtual identity	expert interviews	11	[KMSI19]
2019	design strategies to support sociality in VR	design consideration areas for shaping sociality include: aesthetics of place, embodied affordances, social mechanics, shaping social norms, mitigating harassment	expert interviews	11	[MSKI19]
2019	taxonomy of social VR design	taxonomy identifies social VR features pertaining to The Self, Interaction with Others, and The Environment	literature & platform review	29 (platforms, prototypes)	[JSY+19]
2020	nonverbal communication mechanics in social VR	(i) platforms offer different default features that relate to movement, facial control, gesture & posture, but (ii) there is pausity of mechanics to control mimics, posture, pose, and social status	textual analysis & platform testing	10 (platforms)	[THB20]
2021	sociality beyond reality	social VR invites to design speculative forms of sociality related to social rituals, social augmentations, embodied communication, and its integration into everyday life	literature review, prototyping, speculative fiction	-	[MSI21]
2021	usability in social VR applications	(i) several general usability challenges identified: communication coordination, input device control, menu design, spatial navigation, object identities, mutual awareness, precise control, personal space bubble, room coordination, (ii) platform- specific issues	remote user study	17 & 6 (users & platforms)	[LS21]
2022	uncanny valley & social VR avatar styles	avatar styles vary among social VR applications and lead to various perceptions of likability, humanness, and eeriness	survey study & lab-based user study	109 & 27	[HPDW22]
2023	designing consent in social VR	there is a need for consent mechanics to mitigate harm in social VR	participatory design workshops	18	[ZC23]

Table 2-1.: Overview of consumer social VR application design studies.

#### social experience in VR.

Although VR technology is generally said to provide communicative affordances that mimic f2f interaction, platforms may actually support quite limited or different nonverbal communication stimuli [THB20]. Eventually, the available communicative affordances on a platform depend on what VR headsets and additional hardware (like additional body trackers) a platform supports and how developers succeed in finding software-based workarounds for simulating specific stimuli that the VR hardware can not track (like triggering face animations based on voice tonality or hand gestures) [THB20]. In particular, the study of Tanenbaum et al. unveiled a lack of features that grant precise control of virtual mimics, posture, and social status [THB20]. However, newer VR headsets, like the *Oculus Quest Pro*, now support face tracking and thus mimic control

in VR. Platforms only need to utilize those hardware features. A recent study that conducted a platform comparison focusing on avatar aesthetics found that the various default styles across platforms appear variably human, likable, and eery and consequently attract or deter users to different degrees [HPDW22].

Jonas et al. [JSY<sup>+</sup>19] offered another take on systematizing the discussion, research, and guidance of social VR design, and, similar to McVeigh-Schultz et al., undergone testing of consumer social VR applications, but additionally reviewed custom lab prototypes for multiuser VR experiences described in the research literature. They argue for including both perspectives because platform developers and researchers can learn from each other and identify novel approaches to features or research questions if they are informed about what the other side is doing. Thus, they integrated their findings in a preliminary taxonomy of social VR application design that clustered all the features they found in consumer applications, and research prototypes into three design categories: features pertaining to the self, to the interaction with others, and the interaction with the environment [JSY<sup>+</sup>19]<sup>14</sup>. While the taxonomy integrates well with the design areas identified by McVeigh-Schultz et al., it further provides two layers of sub-categories for each design category (specific features & feature variations) and refers to examples from consumer applications, and literature [JSY<sup>+</sup>19].

Mirroring the young age of the genre and the different approaches of platform developers, not only to social interactions but also to basic functionality, a recent user study reveals fundamental, common usability issues that make it particularly difficult for new users to access social VR [LS21]. Those issues are related to, i.a.: coordinating group communication, effectively controlling VR input devices, comprehending and navigating menus, navigating virtual space, or establishing mutual awareness. Additionally, each platform has revealed platform-specific issues [LS21].

More recent efforts in this research area seem to evolve around systematizing the design of mechanics for isolated facets of social interaction, like the process of giving or denying consent for social interaction, as a strategy for harm mitigation [ZC23].

Concluding this first literature review, we again refer to McVeigh-Schultz et al.. As a counter perspective to a common understanding of VR as a technology to simulate f2f experiences, they re-opened a case for how social VR should transform social experiences beyond what f2f interaction offers [MSI21]. This perspective is not new, and the authors praise previous discussions, and showcases of transforming social experiences beyond reality [HS92, BBL<sup>+</sup>04, RBK<sup>+</sup>19]. However, their proposal was situated in the context of the Covid 19 pandemic and within the grown consumer social VR landscape. Thus, they benefit from the increased public interest in novel communication technologies and today's technical capabilities. More specifically, they highlight how social VR invites to radically speculate about how VR meetings can genuinely differ from f2f meetings in an enriching manner if e.g., the technological affordances ask users to create novel social rituals or if social interaction [MSI21]. They complement their argumentation by presenting several consumer social VR features but also prototypes they developed and partially evaluated that showcase their understanding of "weird social" experiences (e.g., visualizations of conversational balance, gaze direction, and gestural behavior) [MSI21].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Link to pre-print of updated taxonomy based on more applications, last accessed February 12th, 2023: https: //arxiv.org/abs/2201.02253
In summary, although social VR is still an emerging ecology of consumer applications, several approaches already exist to systematize their design, discussion, and research. Further, platform developers are already employing different strategies to shape virtual sociality. In consequence, the rapid advancement of the application landscape in consumer and laboratory contexts challenges researchers and developers to keep up when further mapping the diverse design approaches and finding novel social interaction paradigms that embrace VR's technical capabilities.

## 2.3.2. Everyday Experiences in Consumer Social VR

Complementary to the research of social VR design, this section will give an overview of the already vast body of literature about social VR users that has been forming since 2019 and steadily answering why and how real users engage in social VR in their everyday lives (see Table 2-2 and Table 2-3).

Divine Maloney and Guo Freeman's work, particularly, stands out in user-focused research as it includes an early series of interview studies that reveal real-world user opinions and experiences. Since 2019 they continued to cover the following diverse topics of social VR user research: the use of social VR in long-term relationships [ZF19], unveiling meaningful experiences in social VR [MF20], experiences of young users [MFR20, MFR21], non-verbal communication [MFW20], self-disclosure and privacy [MZF20], LGBTQ+ users in social VR [AF21, FA22, FMAB22, LFSA23], self-presentation using avatars [FM21], relationship-building in social VR [FA21], collaboration in social VR [FAMS22], harassment mitigation [FZMA22, SLF<sup>+</sup>23], and maintaining existing close relationships [ZF23]. However, several other works, including our own, also offer insights into diverse aspects of social VR users' everyday experiences: forms of harassment in social VR [BEEDS19], user motives [SGZM21], psychological benefits [BAH22, vBAH23], self-disclosure patterns [SMFM22], dancing culture in *VRChat* [PHM22], the sensation of virtual social touch [AY22], users with disabilities [ZDL<sup>+</sup>22], and the use of virtual mirrors in social VR [TB22].

This body of literature reveals that social VR offers a multitude of activities and experiences that users consider meaningful, from mundane everyday activities like sleeping together in a virtual world to engaging in educational events [MF20], enjoying diverse socializing and entertainment activities [SGZM21], or cultivating sub-cultures for specific activities like dancing [PHM22]. Despite the entertainment-focused appearance of many applications, one of the most salient motives to engage in social VR seems to be the satisfaction of social needs like meeting and staying in contact with new people, feeling a social presence or finding substitutes for a lack of real-world connections [SGZM21]. However, social VR engagement also has more "serious" drivers, like education [MF20], mental growth [SGZM21], and finding a safe place for identity exploration [AF21, FM21, SGZM21, FA22, FMAB22].

Thereby, users value that social VR provides experiences similar to f2f interactions that are meaningful and authentic [MF20, SGZM21, SMFM22]. Thus, social VR is valuable for people that seek to overcome physical distance, like partners in long-distance relationships [ZF19], people that do not have like-minded people near them [SGZM21] or people that are not allowed to meet others in-person as in the Covid 19 pandemic [MF21, SGZM21].

The literature also indicates that diverse user groups, including children and adults [MFR20, MFR21], LGBTQ+ [AF21, FMAB22, FA22], and users with disabilities [ZDL<sup>+</sup>22] value social VR

Year	Торіс	Findings	Method	Ν	Reference
2019	social VR in long- distance relationships	social VR provides emotions similar to f2f	social media posts analysis	650	[ZF19]
2019	harassment in social VR	(i) presence and embodiment intensifies experiences (ii) subjective definition what constitutes harassment in social VR	interviews	25	[BEEDS19]
2020	meaningful experiences	social VR affordances enable meaningful activities: full-body mirroring, mundane activities, social and mental self- improvement, education, events.	interviews	30	[MF20]
2020	minors and adults in social VR	(i) minors enjoy interactions with other minors despite risk of harassment, (ii) minor-adult interactions suffer from complex dynamics including tensions, frustration, social distancing	participatory observation on three platforms	-	[MFR20]
2020	non-verbal communication	avatar embodiment contributes natural interaction via non-verbal communication	interviews	30	[MFW20]
2020	anonymity and privacy in social VR	<ul> <li>(i) users feel comfortable sharing emotional and general life experiences,</li> <li>(ii) three patterns of self-disclosure: sharing based on familiarity with others, based on anonymity, or independent from relationship, (ii) users have privacy concerns tied to technological aspects of social VR</li> </ul>	interviews	30	[MZF20]
2021	LGBTQ users in social VR	(i) social VR as a safe space & (ii) connections like f2f	interviews & observation	8	[AF21]
2021	relationship building	avatar embodiment contributes shared experiences	interviews	30	[FA21]
2021	self presentation & perception	social VR as a space for identity exploration	interviews	30	[FM21]
2021	why teenagers use social VR	social VR provides rich social interactions beyond gaming	interviews	20	[MFR21]
2021	why users engage in social VR	(i) user engagement is mainly driven by social and experiential motives, (ii) main activities include socializing and entertainment, (iii) social VR is superior to other digital social places, (iv) there is still plenty room for improvement	survey	273	[SGZM21]
2022	psychological benefits of social VR engagement	(i) spatial & social presence predict psychological outcomes, (ii) social VR can have positive effects on user well-being	survey	220	[BAH22]

 Table 2-2.: Overview (1) of user-focused studies in consumer social VR. Highlighted row belongs to this thesis' body of work.

applications. However, while those different user groups already find their unique benefits from social VR, meeting all their needs equally is an ongoing challenge for platform designers. For instance, there are tensions between minors and adults [MFR20], avatars can quickly reveal users that belong to marginalized user groups [FZMA22], or do not suffice to represent queer identity [FA22], or specific disabilities [ZDL<sup>+</sup>22].

Unfortunately, diverse forms of harassment occur in social VR [BEEDS19, FZMA22]. Here,

 Table 2-3.: Overview (2) of user-focused studies in consumer social VR. Highlighted row belongs to this thesis' body of work.

Year	Торіс	Findings	Method	Ν	Reference	
2022	collaboration	avatar embodiment contributes (i) social presence & (ii) collaboration	interviews	30	[FAMS22]	
2022	non-cisgender identity in social VR	social VR as a space for identity exploration	interviews	59	[FMAB22]	
2022	self-disclosure in social VR	(i) users have privacy concerns, (ii) users disclose authentic superficial and partly intimate information, (iii) users tend to stay anonymous, (iv) disclosure is affected by factors like relationship, age, privacy, group size, and activity context	survey	126	[SMFM22]	
2022	mitigating harassment in social VR	(i) highlights embodied harassment as emerging but understudied, (ii) marginalized groups are identified by avatar cues, (iii) users employ personal and platform strategies to mitigate harassment	interviews	30	[FZMA22]	
2022	queer identity in social VR	social VR affords chances and limitations to act out and depict queer identity	interviews	29	[FA22]	
2022	dancing culture in VRChat	dancing culture is driven by freedom, community, individual & shared experience, performance, self-expression and -exploration	interviews	17	[PHM22]	
2022	phantom touch in social VR	a protocol that induced phantom touch sensations in 70% of participants	online survey & remote experiment with	20	[AY22]	
2022	avatars of people with disabilities	users have (i) disclosure strategies like presenting a capable self and selective disability disclosure, and (ii) face certain challenges during avatar customization	platform review & interviews	19	[ZDLY+22]	
2022	"mirror dwellers" in social VR	the use of mirrors (i) contribute escapism, embodiment, (ii) causing conflicts between user groups on how to use them, and (iii) has internet cultural implications	social media posts analysis	-	[TB22]	
2023	perceived presence & social support in social VR	self & social presence predict social support which associates with well-being	survey	1231	[vBAH23]	
2023	maintain close ties in social VR	physicality, enhanced presence, and range of activities help maintain existing close relationships over distance	reddit post analysis	672	[ZF23]	
2023	social support for LGBTQ+ users	social VR innovates online social support mechanisms for LGBTQ+ communities	interviews	29	[LFSA23]	
2023	approaches to Al- based moderation for harassment mitigation	(i) users see challenges and limitations in Al-assisted moderation, (ii) they envision how users, moderators, and Al work together	interviews	39	[SLF+23]	

the benefit of VR, i.e., perception of presence and embodiment, have adverse effects as they intensify harassment experiences or enable specific forms of online harassment like groping in the first place [BEEDS19, FZMA22]. And as users seem to have individual definitions of what constitutes harassment in social VR and personal strategies for mitigating those experiences, the

design of standardized platform policies and mitigation features is a significant challenge for developers and researchers [BEEDS19, FZMA22].

Nevertheless, recent insights indicate that social VR engagement has beneficial psychological outcomes associated with the perceived self, spatial, social presence, and social support in VR [BAH22, vBAH23].

However, as indicated in Table 2-2 and Table 2-3, the above insights are primarily inferred from user interviews and online surveys and come with some methodological limitations to keep in mind. The findings revealed by interview studies are based on small samples due to their methodology. Therefore, they may offer very detailed perspectives on selected topics that do not readily apply to all social VR users. How representative these findings ultimately are and still be in the future cannot be conclusively assessed. Similarily, online surveys also have methodological limitations concerning representativeness. While their larger samples do allow generalizations to some degree, they still used biased convenience samples due to the limited access to social VR users over social media platforms like *reddit* and as platform owners do not share public information on the sociodemographics of their user bases [SGZM21, SMFM22, BAH22, vBAH23]. Furthermore, there is no knowledge about the causal relationships between user characteristics, platform features, social behavior, social experiences, and psychological outcomes [SGZM21, SMFM22, BAH22, vBAH23]. Therefore, it is also not yet possible to make definite assumptions about how attractive social VR applications, in their current form, will be for different social groups in the future.

In conclusion, although the literature already allows exciting insights into various selected and particular aspects of behavior and experience that current social VR users experience daily, the research area is still growing and provides many opportunities for further research. Thereby, researchers are challenged to validate the findings already obtained by finding new ways to collect data from more representative samples and applying more diverse data assessment and analysis methods.

## 2.3.3. Consumer Social VR Studies with Novice Users

In contrast to the preceding, the following section reviews studies that evaluate consumer social VR applications with samples of participants with no social VR experiences (see Table **2-4**).

One of the first studies to look at the user experience in consumer social VR of new users is from 2018 and evaluated small group behaviors and experiences in *Facebook spaces* over a longer period [MS18]. The focus of the study was how existing small group dynamics transfer into social VR. The evaluation found that emotional experiences in VR were very similar to those of f2f interactions, as existing group dynamics carried over into VR. In their conclusion, the authors pointed out that individual sub-aspects of their studied scenario have already been discussed and illuminated in previous research. Though, due to the new and, in the future broader access to VR technology, new research implications arise from their work that previous work did not cover [MS18]. As Table **2-4** indicates, several long-term studies were conducted over the last years, covering the following topics: changes in embodiment illusion over time [ONA<sup>+</sup>21], general adaptation processes of users over time during collaboration [KW21], team cohesion over time [THJ<sup>+</sup>22], social VR as an alternative to video calls [BRP<sup>+</sup>23], and effects of avatar and envi-

Year	Торіс	Findings	Method	Ν	Reference
2018	longitudinal small group interactions	emotional experiences and interactions in social VR are similar to f2f	diaries & interviews	17	[MS18]
2019	photo sharing experiences in VR	photo sharing experiences in social VR assimilates f2f experience	lab-based user study & interviews & observation	26	[LKR+19]
2021	long-term use and embodiment illusion	regular use of an avatar increases illusion of virtual embodiment	remote user study in social VR	14	[ONA+21]
2021	proxemic behavior in VR	(i) proxemic behaviour in VR resembles in- person contexts, (ii) small and large spaces affect group formation and proxemic behavior differently	user behavior data logging during remote user study & interviews	26	[WLV+21]
2021	dating decisions in social VR	social VR allows users to take well informed decisions to meet or not meet in real life	qualitative lab- based user study	30	[YNR21]
2021	novice user adaptation in long- term collaboration experiences	users show adaptation processes to VR over time: (i) new ways to communicate in VR, (ii) emotion recognition ability increases	longitudinal lab- based user study, quantitative & interviews	20	[KW21]
2022	influence of environment design on social interactions	environment design affects early stages of social interaction during exploration	observation & interview	46	[CJL22]
2022	team cohesion and task collaboration in long-term social VR	primary affordances for team cohesion in social VR task collaboration are: (i) shared sense-making, focus, and workflows, and (ii) enhancing task & social relationships	interviews	20	[THJ+22]
2022	digital proxemics affected by audio and output technology	(i) background noise affects proxemic behavior in small groups, (ii) in VR, users keep more interpersonal distance and use more attention signals	user behavior data logging during remote user study	24	[WOGG+22]
2022	joint video watching in VR	joint video watching in social VR assimilates f2f experience	lab-based user study & interviews & observation	32	[MLC+22]
2023	long-term team meetings in social VR vs video calls	(i) users want to see others' faces, (ii) most users would stay with video calls, (iii) social VR can have advantages	qualitative & quantitative questionnaires	32	[BRP+23]
2023	effects of time, avatar & environment design	time, avatar appearance, and environment characteristics affect, i.a.: group cohesion, presence, realism, enjoyment, behavioral synchrony, and restoration	longitudinal field experiements	81 & 137	[HMD+23]

Table 2-4.: Overview of studies where novice users engage in consumer social VR.

ronment design over time [HMD<sup>+</sup>23]. In line with previous discussions [BY06], those studies indicate that user experience and behavior aspects may change as users become more familiar with the technology and adapt to specific affordances and limitations. Thus, over time the immersive experience, i.a., perceived presence, [KW21, HMD<sup>+</sup>23], social presence [HMD<sup>+</sup>23], and embodiment [ONA<sup>+</sup>21, HMD<sup>+</sup>23] may change. Further, user behavior and group dynamics may

change, e.g., as users adapt to limited affordances or social cues in VR, by finding new ways to communicate or getting used to recognizing others' affective states despite missing social cues [MS18, KW21]. Additionally, aspects relating to the avatar system [HMD<sup>+</sup>23], environment design [WLV<sup>+</sup>21, CJL22, HMD<sup>+</sup>23], task affordances [THJ<sup>+</sup>22], and audio design [WOGG<sup>+</sup>22] have also been identified to affect, i.a., immersive experience facets, group cohesion and building, proxemic behavior, and attentional signaling (refer to Table **2-4** for details and specific references).

Other user studies allow making assumptions about use cases consumer social VR applications could cover in the future. For example, social VR's interaction affordances seem sufficient for making well-informed dating decisions [YNR21]. Especially in cases where people cannot meet in person, initial studies show that social VR could be an alternative to the f2f variant or other technical solutions. For example, photo sharing and joint video-watching experiences in *Facebook Spaces* seem quite close to the f2f equivalents, even though the avatars used in the corresponding studies were criticized regarding limited graphical and behavioral realism [LKR<sup>+</sup>19, MLC<sup>+</sup>22]. Those critics reoccurred in a study that evaluated social VR as an alternative to video calls for conducting work group meetings. In particular, the lack of mimic tracking constituted a significant disadvantage of the used social VR platform [BRP<sup>+</sup>23].

The work presented in this section demonstrates, as a complement to studies of users that are already experienced with social VR, that long-term research is valuable for formulating informed assumptions about how users will experience social VR in the long term, and, therefore if and how they will incorporate it into their daily lives. They further demonstrate, complementing social VR design studies, that developers can influence aspects of the immersive and social experience through the purposeful design of avatars, the environment, and interactive affordances. Furthermore, assumably motivated by consequences of the Covid 19 pandemic, many of those studies indicate how social VR may be a sufficient alternative for in-person meetings and a superior alternative to existing communication technologies in the future, provided that VR technology continues to advance and overcomes the shortcomings identified in the studies.

# 2.3.4. Studies with Lab Prototypes Related to Social VR

This section provides a complementary perspective on consumer social VR applications by reviewing studies that evaluated custom prototypes in laboratory studies in the context of isolated questions related to social VR user experiences. Compared to the previous literature reviews on design, users, and studies with inexperienced users in consumer social VR, this review is least sharply defined in terms of separation from other areas such as general CVE, multiuser VR, or avatar research. Thus, the studies presented here do not constitute a comprehensive account of research activities in the given areas; for this purpose, an in-depth look at the individual publications and the research before 2018 cited therein is necessary. However, the publications listed in Table **2-5** and Table **2-6** suffice to situate our own two laboratory studies within a range of related literature and to close the loop between work that focuses on the final design of consumer applications with work focusing on isolated research questions in the broader context of multiuser VR that in turn inform application design.

Most of the work compiled in Table 2-5 and Table 2-6 can be attributed to studying the

Table 2-5.: Overview (1) of studies with multiuser	VR lab prototypes.	Highlighted row	belongs to	this
thesis' body of work.				

Year	Торіс	Findings	Method	Ν	Reference
2018	behavioral realism and social interaction	behavioral realism based on representation and avatar-control affects nonverbal communication	lab-based user study	102	[HOB18]
2018	communication behavior	immersive VR with user representations induces conversation patterns very similar to f2f interaction	lab-based user study	60	[SN18]
2019	graphic style of virtual humans	degree of realism of virtual human affects emotional responses of participants	lab-based user study	797	[ZMM19]
2019	social augmentation techniques	augmenting social interactions can alter aspects of user experience and behavior	literature & prototype review	-	[RBK+19]
2019	nonverbal synchrony with humanoid and abstract avatars	users showed natural nonverbal synchrony in VR, independent from avatar style	lab-based user study	192	[SSW19]
2020	personal space boundaries influencing factors	(i) personal space zones are consistent to real world, (ii) and can be modulated by object and others' avatar design	lab-based user study	40 & 40	[BPB20]
2020	avatar anthropomorphism	(i) various degrees of visual avatar anthropomorphism may not impact embodiment, (ii) but perceived attractiveness and (iii) task completion time	lab-based user study	36	[GDC+20]
2020	motion design of avatars	(i) perceiving avatar motion as attractive reduces accepted personal distance, (ii) men accept higher proximity than women	lab-based user study	20	[ZNO+20]
2020	collisions between avatars	(i) enabling collisions and providing feedback when avatars collide can intensify immersive experience (ii) collision design should depend on the interaction purpose of the application	lab-based user study	24	[RW20]
2020	emotional reaction to virtual social touch	virtual social touch (i) evoked various emotions and (ii) emotional reaction was modulated by touch intimacy, direction, and sex	lab-based user study	44	[SM20]
2021	immersive movie watching in multiuser VR	social VR introduces novel paradigms for co-watching experiences	user study & focus group	62	[LSJ+21]
2021	pre-social touch reactions in VR	distance-dependent pre-touch reactions affect avatar evaluation	lab-based user study	20 & 28	[MSK+21]
2021	hugging a virtual agent	tactile stimuli improve the hugging experience	lab-based user study	75	[CKM21]
2021	abstract vs. humanoid avatars and emotion recognition	with limited social cues anthropomorphism does not improve emotion recognition compared to an abstract user representation	lab-based user study	152	[SW21]
2021	gaze manipulation and social attention	gaze alteration positively affects group attention	lab-based user study	26	[RPM+21]

Table 2-6.: Overview (2) of studies	with multiuser	VR lab prototypes.	Highlighted row	belongs	to this
thesis' body of work.					

Year	Торіс	Findings	Method	Ν	Reference	
2021	video conference vs. multiuser VR	behavior patterns in VR resemble f2f more than patterns in videoconferencing	lab-based user study	210	[AKLN21]	
2021	synthetic voice for virtual humans	synthetic voice vs. natural voice does not affect social presence and emotional evaluation of virtual human	lab-based user study	375	[ZCM21]	
2021	influence of others' avatar	avatars that support subtle social cues contribute interpersonal communication	lab-based user study	36	[Al21]	
2021	influence of self- representation and avatar consistency	the social effect of avatar consistency among users depend on their relationship	lab-based user study	17 & 18	[CWOGP21]	
2021	influence of tracking fidelity	higher tracking fidelity for avatar animation leads to increased behavioral realism, social presence, and attractiveness	lab-based user study	40	[WWJ+21]	
2021	reaction to virtual caresses	visual only touches in VR can induce realistic experiences as they are subjectively evaluated as physical touches	lab-based user study	42 & 42	[FLTA21]	
2021	older adult interaction in multiuser VR	(i) reduced communication inhibition, (ii) highlighted importance of avatar customization depending on context, (iii) value of enabling connections over distance, (iv) need for behavioral realism	longitudinal lab- based user study	16	[BWC+21]	
2021	social touch augmentation framework	(work in progress) visual augmentations of virtual social touch may intensify diverse facets of the immersive and social experience	focus groups with early prototypes	8	[SM21]	
2022	self-disclosure via avatars in different media	(i) avatars without user-similarity encourage self-disclosure, (ii) avatars can lead to more self-disclosure than video chat	lab-based user study	108	[IIY+22]	
2022	different virtual hand colors during virtual hand shake	warm hand color had positive effect on user experience compared to cold hand color	lab-based user study	25	[ISK+22]	
2022	realistic vs cartoon avatars in mixed reality work meetings	designing avatar aesthetics for longitudinal acceptance differs from designing acceptable avatars	user study in work meeting context	14	[DWG+22]	
2022	interpersonal distance to avatars and agents	rated attractiveness of agent models is negatively correlated with accepted interpersonal distance	lab-based user study	18	[ZNO+22]	
2022	evaluation of and behavior towards realistic motion avatars	social interaction in VR can be very similar to f2f interaction in terms of enjoyment, understanding, self-disclosure, comfort, awkwardness	lab-based user study	52	[RBB+22]	
2022	VR vs f2f compliance behavior	VR-mediated communication is as intricate as face to face	lab-based user study	46	[DKGS22]	
2023	co-located video games in multiuser VR	player and social experience in VR closely matched f2f scenario	lab-based user study	50	[SKE+23]	
2023	social touch augmentation	audio-visual augmentations evoke bodily sensations and support intimate bodily connection	prototype demonstrations	ca. 50	[DSSL+23]	

influence of avatar design choices on various aspects of experience and behavior. A key area of research in this context is the degree of graphical or behavioral realism of avatars and how it affects non-verbal communication [HOB18, SSW19], affective responses [ZMM19, ZCM21], collaboration [GDC<sup>+</sup>20], emotion recognition [SW21], social presence [WWJ<sup>+</sup>21], and avatar acceptance over time [DWG<sup>+</sup>22]. Closely related are studies investigating behavioral responses to avatars, in this case, proxemic behavior [BPB20], and how factors like perceived avatar attractiveness affect it [ZNO<sup>+</sup>20, ZNO<sup>+</sup>22]. But also general questions regarding the type of user representation belong to this area, e.g., how different technological approaches to avatar generation support different social communication affordances [AI21, WWJ<sup>+</sup>21], or if representation (in)consistency among users affect their interaction [CWOGP21].

Another area of literature compares social interaction patterns in multiuser VR to other modes of interaction, like in-person scenarios or other communication technologies. Those studies evaluated general communication behavior [SN18, AKLN21, RBB<sup>+</sup>22], personal space zones [BPB20], self-disclosure [IIY<sup>+</sup>22], and compliance behavior [DKGS22] (see Table **2-5** and Table **2-6** for details).

Other studies share a focus on a specific type of embodied social interaction by investigating experiential aspects of virtual social touch, like the reaction to body contact of varying intimacy [SM20, FLTA21], pre-touch reactions [MSK<sup>+</sup>21], the role of haptic feedback when hugging a virtual human [CKM21], or the influence of transformed visual cues during virtual body contact [ISK<sup>+</sup>22, DSSL<sup>+</sup>23]. Related to this area is the question regarding general collision behavior between avatars that walk towards and into each other [RW20].

Some lab studies investigated potential use cases for social VR and implemented custom prototypes that would fit the individual experimental requirements to enable a controlled investigation of, e.g., experiences of watching an immersive movie [LSJ<sup>+</sup>21], the interaction of older adults [BWC<sup>+</sup>21], and simulating a co-located multiplayer game scenario in social VR [SKE<sup>+</sup>23].

In line with the case for designing experiences "beyond reality" that was mentioned in the social VR design literature [HS92, BBL<sup>+</sup>04, MSI21], four projects explored social VR's capabilities to affect social interaction by purposefully deviating from what f2f interaction offers [RBK<sup>+</sup>19, RPM<sup>+</sup>21, SM21, DSSL<sup>+</sup>23]. In particular, Roth et al. describe several approaches and classifications of social augmentations to alter social experiences by, e.g., manipulating virtual body posture and gaze behavior or introducing virtual artifacts that encode certain social behaviors and make them perceivable in novel forms (like particles that float between avatars that look at each other) [RBK<sup>+</sup>19].

In summary, the above studies indicate that interaction in social VR can resemble f2f interactions with regards to communication behavior and experiences [SN18, SSW19, BPB20, SM20, AKLN21, FLTA21, RBB<sup>+</sup>22, DKGS22, SKE<sup>+</sup>23], but also that design decisions on factors like the avatar aesthetics and their subtle social cues [HOB18, ZMM19, BPB20, ZNO<sup>+</sup>20, MSK<sup>+</sup>21, AI21, WWJ<sup>+</sup>21, SW21, DWG<sup>+</sup>22], and the behavior of other virtual objects surrounding virtual social interaction [RBK<sup>+</sup>19, RW20, ISK<sup>+</sup>22] shape experiential nuances. Further, insights on virtual social touch indicate that users show different affective reactions to virtual body contact depending on its intimacy, touch direction, and users' sex [SM20, FLTA21]. In this context, future advancements in haptic feedback technology may steadily increase perceived realism and assumably affective reactions of virtual body contact [CKM21]. This literature review complements the previous sections by highlighting that lab studies on isolated issues can aid the definition of practical implications for social VR design. Such implications could indicate what social dynamics from f2f interactions developers can expect to transfer to VR and suggest strategies to purposefully design application features to alter individual facets of user experience. In combination, those two types of implications empower developers to develop features that promote positive and limit negative behaviors and experiences. Thus, conducting controlled lab studies before making virtual social interactions available for the general public could eventually ensure that consumer social VR applications will be a venue for authentic, positive, and safe social interactions.

# 3. Body of Work

The previous chapter has covered the basics of immersive VR experiences and four areas of recent consumer social VR research. The following pages summarize the four publications that form the body of work of this dissertation. They include two studies from the area of everyday experiences of social VR users and two from multiuser VR laboratory studies with custom prototypes. Since the individual publications also stand on their own and are appended to this dissertation, this chapter just briefly reviews their individual motivation, research questions, applied methods, and relates their findings to the overall research question of the dissertation. For assessing the details on the experimental setups, the extensive results, as well as the topic-specific discussions, reading the publications themselves is of course required. The four studies offer the following four perspectives on this dissertation's overarching topic:

- (i) The first study focuses on one of the fundamental and most intimate forms of social interaction: social touch. With a custom multiuser VR prototype, it unveils emotional reactions and moderating factors of virtual social touch.
- (ii) The second study focuses on assessing what everyday value current consumer social VR applications have for users that use them regularly. Employing an international online survey, it unveils why and in what activities users engage in consumer social VR platforms.
- (iii) The third study extends the perspective on daily user experiences. It provides insights into how users engage in one of the fundamental processes of socializing and relationshipbuilding: self-disclosure. Again based on an international online survey among social VR users, it unveils what users disclose to each other and what factors moderate their selfdisclosure behavior.
- (iv) The fourth study evaluates if social VR is an alternative for popular leisure activities when in-person meetings are not feasible. Using an extensive user study with a custom multiuser VR prototype, it unveils the experiential differences and similarities of playing a multiplayer video game physically co-located compared to simulating this scenario in VR.

As each of the following publications is the culmination of successful collaborations with others, I will use the term "we", when describing them.

# *Study 1* The Experience of Social Touch in VR

This is the summary of the publication attached in section A.1 with the reference [SM20].

low intimacy body contact

high intimacy body contact



Figure **3-1**.: The different touch interactions participants performed in our study. Illustration taken from [SM20]

As outlined in chapter 2, multiuser VR enables users to perceive spatial proximity and distance to each others' virtual representations in a way that other, less immersive technologies do not allow. And the way modern VR headsets and tracking technologies integrate input and output data streams with this virtual space makes one of the most intimate forms of interpersonal communication naturally executable and perceptible in VR: social touch [JY85, Fie02, SNKI13]. Designers of consumer social VR applications already utilize virtual body contact as engaging social features (e.g., a handshake for friending in Rec-Room). Unfortunately, there also seems to be a dark side to transferring social touch into VR, as virtual forms of physical harassment are already reported by researchers [BEEDS19] and motivated platform developers to integrate safety features that, to some degree, prevent social interaction between avatars at all (e.g., personal space bubbles). Given that modern VR is, in particular, a visual medium, we assumed that the above mentioned positive and negative aspects related to virtual social touch heavily depend on what users see in VR, contrasting the haptic nature of body contact in unmediated interaction. In line with our assumption, research on cross-modal sensory interactions indicates that perceiving only visual cues of social touch can induce reactions similar to actually being touched [BBB<sup>+</sup>05, MRBM08, BO11]. Thus, researchers and developers of social VR experiences should be motivated to understand the user experience and its determinants related to virtual social body contact. However, when preparing the study presented here, we have identified a gap in research regarding the assessment of emotional responses to social touch in multiuser VR scenarios. Studies that investigated virtual social touch have either not been interested in emotional reactions [BY08, BSM+13, TRVC+16, HSA+17, ZHvdV17, SP19], or deviated significantly from the fidelity of consumer social VR application by not utilizing virtual user representations [SP19, HRN<sup>+</sup>20], heavily restricting users' body movement [FLTA21] or not employing an actual multiuser scenario [FLTA21]. Thus, as users worldwide could already engage freely in virtual social touch interactions, we wanted to contribute to the domain systematic insights into how users experience one of the most intimate forms of human interactions in VR. We thus set out to answer the following research questions by conducting a user study with a custom multiuser VR application:

- Q1.1 Does virtual social body contact evoke emotional reactions?
- Q1.2 What factors shape the emotional response to virtual social body contact?

## Method

Our research questions required us to implement a VR application that allows users to touch each others' avatars while we could control the literature-based influencing factors touch intimacy, touch direction, and user sex. We implemented a custom multiuser VR application and conducted a controlled lab study that required two users to perform various social touches in VR Figure **3-1**. In contrast to related work, we employed full-body avatars and tracking, allowing users to move freely and control their avatars within the virtual environment. In the study, participants believed they would interact with another remote participant, while the other participants was a research assistant in another room. The participants and the assistant could not speak with each other during the interaction to rule out the influence of verbal communication. To control the effect of participant sex, the research assistant embodied an avatar of the opposite sex. The application prompted the participant and the assistant to initiate and receive a series of different touches (controlling touch direction), with each touch either being a high-intimacy touch (e.g., high-five) (controlling touch intimacy) Figure **3-1**.

In a within-design study, we eventually assessed the immersive experience in terms of presence, social presence, and embodiment and the emotional reactions based on perceived happiness, relaxation, desire, anxiety, disgust, and fear of 44 participants. We further assessed the individual comfort with social touch before the virtual interaction.

The data analysis comprised the description and visualization of participants' emotional reactions and inferential analysis of the main and interaction effects of the potential influencing factors on the individually assessed emotions. We further evaluated the association between individual comfort with interpersonal touch and the emotional reaction to virtual social touch.

### Findings

- **F1.1** Participants reported positive and negative emotional reactions to virtual body contact. Thereby, the reported intensity of the emotional response varied among individuals.
- **F1.2** Moreover, our inferential analysis revealed that the affective reaction was affected by the main and interaction effects of factors known to modulate unmediated social touch, i.e., intimacy, participants' sex and the direction of touch. Further, positive emotional responses positively correlated with the individual comfort with interpersonal touch.

Figure **3-2** illustrates the self-reported emotional reactions of participants represented by emotions with positive and negative valence.

Virtual body contact elicited emotional responses of varying intensity and valence. Thus, our work, complementing similar work with yet different technical setups [FLTA21], highlights that virtual social body contact shapes the user experience of virtual social interaction, even if users primarily perceive it by visual and not haptic stimuli. Further, our findings indicate that the experience of virtual body contact, similar to unmediated social touch [HNN83, Tom08, SNH<sup>+</sup>19], is not easily predictable and depends on the specific social context determined by factors like touch intimacy, touch direction, and user sex. Thereby, aligning with user reports of virtual physical harassment [BBB<sup>+</sup>05, FZMA22] and related lab studies [FLTA21], our results indicate that the concept of intimacy, and its violation based on body contact, applies to virtual interactions. We admit that the identified effects are small. However, given that participants had no reason for being emotionally involved in the prescribed social interaction with limited



Figure 3-2.: Boxplots illustrating individual, mean, and median data of emotional reactions to different types of virtual body contact. Illustration taken from [SM20]

communication channels, it is notable that it still elicited emotional reactions that were affected by specific context factors. Assuming that users of consumer social VR applications are intrinsically motivated to interact with other users and maintain various relationships with each other, virtual social touches should play an even more significant emotional role in everyday social VR experiences than the results of our study suggest at first glance. We see this assumption validated by the infamous insights into virtual harassment [BEEDS19, FZMA22].

Concerning the overarching research question of this dissertation, these findings illustrate that performing one of the most intimate forms of social interaction in VR can evoke emotional responses even if presented with limited sensory fidelity. Thereby, factors known to affect the experience of physical social body contact also shape individual user experiences in VR. Thus, in terms of the sociality of social VR we consider these results as indicating a resemblance to f2f interaction. Further, as this type of embodied user interaction is exclusive to VR, our results highlight VR as having the potential to stand out as a social platform with unique social experiences compared to other media. However, this uniqueness comes with the positive and negative implications of transferring such a fundamental type of social interaction into VR. Eventually, given the technological advances we can expect in the coming years, our study results are likely only a hint of the significance that virtual social touch will have in tomorrow's social VR applications.

# Study 2 User Activities & Motives in Consumer Social VR

This is the summary of the publication attached in section A.2 with the reference [SGZM21].

A few years after Mark Zuckerberg's statement that VR would be the "most social platform ever," today's consumer social VR applications allow us to evaluate this assumption based on real-world user experiences. In this context, the study presented in this section was motivated by two fundamental questions: (i) What are people doing in consumer social VR, and (ii) why are they using it?

When we prepared the study presented here, another research team published a series of qualitative analyses on consumer social VR experiences in different contexts: long-distance relationships, anonymity, cross-generational interaction, non-verbal communication, and avatars [ZF19, MZF20, MFW20, FM21, MFR20]. While all these studies provided exciting initial insights into particular aspects of social VR user experiences, they did skip the more fundamental questions we set out to answer. However, one of those interview studies (published as we wrote our paper) took a more general look and asked users what makes social VR engagement meaningful for them without focusing on a specific context [MF20]. Based on indepth interviews with 30 social VR users, this study provided excitingly detailed yet very personal initial insights into the driving factors of social VR engagement. However, due to the qualitative approach, those results do not allow general conclusions about what most users may value about social VR. In contrast, we designed our study to assess a more extensive data set by asking more social VR users to eventually be able to infer more general conclusions about the prevalent motivations to use social VR applications. Specifically, we set out to answer the following research questions:

- Q2.1 What are users doing in their favorite social VR applications?
- Q2.2 What are the motives that drive their social VR usage?
- Q2.3 What makes social VR superior to other digital social places?
- Q2.4 What do users want to be improved in the future?

### Method

Aligning with our goal to assess data from a larger sample, we opted to conduct a standardized survey study among social VR users. We applied the Uses and Gratifications Theory (UGT) as a theoretical framework for crafting the survey. This theory originates in the 1940s in the context of empirical mass communication research and aims to identify media usage motives [BK74]. This theory's particularity is the assumption of active and self-reflective media users, which, due to personal needs, consciously control their media usage behaviors and aim to use those media that they expect to meet their needs [KHG73, BK74]. The theory is an established, evolving approach for understanding media use [Rug00] in diverse technological contexts. It is typical for studies that apply UGT to either re-use previously identified categories (e.g., [HB14, SH17, PKAH20]), or to use open-ended questions for exploratory analysis to identify novel types of needs and user motivations for specific media contexts (e.g., [ZJV<sup>+</sup>11, HB14, PKAH20]).

Considering the novelty of today's social VR applications, we opted for the latter and applied a strategy of open-ended questions that participants would answer using freely articulated text input. Basically, we asked users to indicate their thoughts on the questions defined above. In addition, we have included the User Motivation Inventory (UMI) [BVOM18] to determine the degree of motivation internalization of the participants, i.a. if their engagement in social VR is motivated by extrinsic or intrinsic motivation and whether they are likely to continue to use it. Eventually, users were asked to determine the perceived social closeness in social VR based on additional custom items.

Eventually, we shared the survey among social VR users using the online platform *Reddit*<sup>1</sup>, that provides direct access to user communities of consumer social VR platforms. Overall, 273 persons participated in the online survey.

Data analysis mainly comprised an iterative content analysis of the free-text answers. This process required (i) the initial categorization of free-text answers using literature-based category codes, (ii) the definition of additional codes for new categories, (iii) the discussion of the resulting answer categorization, and eventually (iv) finding an agreement on a final categorization.

# Findings

- F2.1 Most participants use social VR to socialize and entertain.
- **F2.2** Correspondingly, the most prevalent motives we identified were related to social benefits, followed by experiential qualities, personal well-being, and functional benefits.
- **F2.3** Social VR can provide access to social experiences that some participants reported they do not experience elsewhere due to VR's immersive qualities that contribute to expressiveness and an authentic social experience.
- **F2.4** However, participants want social VR to be even more immersive and improved in terms of social interaction and basic user experience.

The above insights are inferred from Figure **3-3** that illustrates all categories and respective occurrences that we identified during content analysis.

Our results provide insights into the "why" and "what" of social VR user engagement. Although limited in terms of the applicability to social VR users and applications in general, the study contributes to the field by providing a coherent framing for topics that other investigations in the field can apply to deal with individual topics in more detail. Further, the results allow an estimation of the relative importance of the identified categories based on the quantitative presentation, a contribution previous studies did not offer. Furthermore, our study is the first to opt for a large sample by utilizing an international survey study to identify larger patterns among social VR users. This approach naturally extends related interview-based studies in terms of methodology and findings and was also utilized by later studies that in turn extend our initial findings by linking user behavior to psychological benefits [BAH22, vBAH23].

Regarding our leading question if VR is the most social platform this study is of course only a snapshot of the users and individual social VR applications surveyed in its context. However the results offer an idea of the everyday value that future users of social VR applications could also have. In this respect, it remains to be seen at what pace the technology will actually advance and be accepted and used by more and more people, as well as the question of the factors influencing this dissemination process. Furthermore, it remains to be seen whether people who do not use VR today will see an equal benefit in social VR once they have access to it. Nevertheless, our findings indicate the real-world benefits today's social VR users already derive from these applications in their everyday life and that social aspects are a driving factor for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Reddit, last accessed February 26th, 2023: https://www.reddit.com



Figure **3-3**.: Sample overview and derived user activities, motives, perceived benefits and wanted features of social VR users. Illustration taken from [SGZM21] ©2021 IEEE

them to engage in social VR. Thus, this study aligns with related work and shows that social VR can be a venue for meaningful social activities where users satisfy social (and other) needs in ways they do not find in other digital social worlds.

# Study 3 Self-disclosure in Consumer Social VR

This is the summary of the publication attached in section A.3 with the reference [SMFM22].

As unveiled on the previous pages, socializing is what many users seek and do in social VR. They socialize by having conversations in hangouts or intimate get-togethers and being motivated by meeting people to establish and maintain interpersonal relationships. Thus, conversations are a significant part of the user experience in social VR. Conversations are a fundamental driver for getting to know other persons as they are a means to disclose or reveal personal information to each other. And disclosing personal information to others forms the foundation for strong social connections with acquaintances, friends, and loved ones [AT73, Sto87, KD02]. Against this background, the study presented here is again motivated by fundamental questions: What are people talking about in social VR? Do they engage in meaningful and personal conversations, or do they engage more in superficial small talk?

Specifically, we wanted to extend a previous study that initially investigated aspects of self-disclosure in social VR using qualitative user interviews [MZF20]. These initial results have shown that users feel comfortable disclosing emotional and personal information in social VR [MZF20] but did not further specify what exactly people are disclosing to each other on a broader scale. Additionally, the study found that users perceive a trade-off between enjoying the natural ways of self-disclosure (via voice or body language) and concerns about privacy risks implicitly embedded in the technology due to the natural interaction affordances [MZF20]. However, the study did not indicate if many users feel this tension and if privacy is thus a permanent and ubiquitous concern during self-disclosure. For example, do users have general tendencies to disclose certain information in specific contexts and avoid disclosing it in other contexts? Analogous to the study of user motives (chapter 3), our take on self-disclosure in social VR aimed to extend previously gained insights by identifying more general patterns of user opinion by assessing data from a larger sample using an international online survey. Specifically, we set out to answer the following research questions:

- Q3.1 What do users think about disclosing to others in social VR?
- Q3.2 What topics do they disclose?
- Q3.3 What goals drive their self-disclosure behavior?
- Q3.4 What contextual factors influence their disclosure decisions?
- Q3.5 What technical channels do they use to disclose to others?

### Method

Based on our experiences with the survey study on social VR user motives, we again conducted an online survey with many participants to identify patterns of opinion and behavior among many users. However, as this survey was intended to cover many areas of self-disclosure and the interplay of certain factors, we mainly applied closed-ended questions that would allow us to conduct a more streamlined analysis compared to the qualitative approach we used in the previous study. We applied the Social Penetration Theory as a theoretical framework for deciding the topic categories to include in the survey [AT73, CG15]. This theory describes an archetypal progression of interpersonal relationship-building that is interdependent with the types of information that people disclose to each other. It states that information of different intimacy levels is shared in different stages of relationship development. Thus, one discusses rather superficial topics with strangers and the most intimate topics with romantic partners. Accordingly, by sharing more and more personal information, the relationship develops further, which in turn leads to more personal information being shared. So, looking at the topics users talk about in social VR should allow to some degree, to infer their relationships. Eventually, we asked participants to indicate if they disclose information from the following topics, ranging from lower to higher degrees of intimacy according to Social Penetration Theory: lifestyle preferences, goals and aspirations, religious and political convictions, fears and fantasies, and their concept of self. Additionally, we asked them to indicate if they would disclose information about their true identity and sexuality, as previous studies dealt with those particular topics in social VR [MZF20, AF21]. To unveil if users tend to disclose the above information types in specific contexts, we included several factors in the study that are known to affect self-disclosure in general and reflect specific social VR features previously discussed in the literature: relationship type, privacy, age, group size, and activity context. For each context factor in general and specific example contexts reflecting those factors, participants were asked to indicate if they would disclose a particular information type in this context. Further, we asked users about their self-disclosure motivation based on custom items derived from literature on the functional approach to self-disclosure [Oma00]. Furthermore, participants were invited to openly indicate what technical channels they use to disclose personal information to identify chances for novel types of self-disclosure that social VR may offer compared to other communication technologies.

Eventually, we shared the survey with social VR users via several subreddits dedicated to social VR and received 126 valid responses that entered the mainly descriptive analysis. We opted for a visual illustration of the data that would allow the assessment of opinion distribution among participants and the identification of self-disclosure patterns based on the answer patterns in the survey.

## Findings

- **F3.1** Our results show that many participants see social VR as a way to make authentic connections, despite skepticism and privacy concerns considering self-disclosure.
- **F3.2** Users tend to disclose information related to sexuality, lifestyle, and personal goals but are less likely to share information that would reveal their true identity or are highly intimate.
- **F3.3** While serving different functions, relational development and identity clarification seem to be most important for most social VR users.
- **F3.4** Factors such as the relationship to the persons they are disclosing to, their age, privacy factors, the group context, and activity context influence self-disclosure decisions in social VR. Further, the context factors affect the self-disclosure decisions of some participants in patterns observable in f2f interaction.
- **F3.5** Self-disclosure happens mainly verbally through conversation, but user avatars, user profiles, the environment, external apps, and specific media are also used for self-disclosure.

Figure **3-4** exemplifies how we approached data analysis and presentation by illustrating the results considering users' tendencies to disclose certain types of information in specific contexts. Generally speaking, predominantly blueish columns in the heatmap indicate disclosure-promoting contexts, whereas red columns indicate disclosure-inhibiting contexts. Yellow columns represent contexts with no clear pat-

Stere Gunu	<ul><li>100% would disclose</li><li>75%</li></ul>	50%	25%					How to read: Each row in a tonic Xfactor hox	refers to another part of the sample. Thereby, each cell value	indicates how many participants of this subsample would disclose	the contexts of a column area.	This box row refers to all	participants who disclose information of their concept of self depending on the activity context.		concept of self during community events.		
a suep t	38	26	<del>0</del>	25		13	20	100			26	30	15	13			
CUILISIEM C	31												œ				5
<sup>VOIIE</sup> IOIO4 <sub>0</sub> <sup>SBDIN</sup>	44												ω				
LOIJE DIIOM				50									19	26	ivity		-
Statuos Gu				19								2	12	16	acti		-
1001 186 SILLIER				50									15				
Sinos	94												88				
aldo alter	88					87	88	85		93			46	61			•
9100 - T	0	0	13	9		13	13	ო		18	2	0	0	0	e		ç
401 ~E	21	95		67			99	72				67	42	47	is dno	ors	
SO ETO	100	95						83					96	97	grc	t facto	-
Dage Table	78	56	78	100	100	75		72	72 57 75 75		2	contex	٤				
Sources -	100	100						100							age	0	
SOUTOS SOS	0							÷									-
esed sildud		10	10	4		0	4	0		9	E.		m	*+			
" SIENIJA	8							30							privad		
PUBLIT FILO TOPUS	~	0,	0,							49		0,		0,			-
	2			က		17	27	<u>1</u>		51	9	0	2 2		I		
								22							qihsr		:
<sup>* Aluo</sup> <sup>Sulli</sup>	41							27							elatio		
Sit to PUL	84						67	86							L		-
	<b>4</b>	80	84	83		09	51	26		89	80	80	7	f 76			
topic areas identifiers	external contac	residence-related	physical appearance	real name	sexuality	biological sex	gender identity	sexual orientatior	relationship building	lifestyle preference:	personal goals & aspirations	religious & political convictions	fears & fantasie	concept of sel			

Self-disclosure in Different Contexts

Figure 3-4.: Heatmap illustrating that self-disclosure decision tendencies differ based on information type and social context. Illustration taken from [SMFM22]

### terns.

Our findings contribute to social VR research by extending previous insights as they foster a comprehensive understanding of how factors like relationship, anonymity, and other contextual factors affect the disclosure of certain types of information and for how many people those factors are relevant. Further, our study provides the first insight into what specific topics social VR users disclose to others. Eventually, we provide the first theory-based assessment of what specific functions self-disclosure in social VR fullfills, whereby those goals align with the previously identified motives that drive social VR engagement [SGZM21] as well as other benefits of social VR like identity exploration through avatar customization [FM21].

Based on our findings, social VR seems to offer opportunities to engage in authentic, natural conversations, where self-disclosure aids relationship-building and identity clarification. Although users disclose diverse topics, more than half of our participants stated that they do not discuss more intimate topics with others. Further, for many users, disclosure depends on specific contextual factors, i.a., factors that influence self-disclosure decisions in f2f interactions. Specifically, some users show patterns of disclosure decisions that reflect f2f interactions, where disclosure of private information tends to happen within dyadic boundaries and safe environments. Thus, concerning our guiding question, we see our results indicating a certain naturalness inherent to conversations in social VR, as in f2f conversations, people typically also do not reveal every intimate detail independent of the social context.

# Study 4 Simulating Co-located Videogames in Social VR

This is the summary of the publication attached in section A.4 with the reference [SKE $^+23$ ].



Figure 3-5.: Impression of the VR application we developed for the controlled lab study. Illustration taken from [SKE<sup>+</sup>23]

As described in chapter 2, the immersive characteristics of VR allow us to experience a shared threedimensional reference space that resembles the spatial context of f2f interaction. The study on virtual social touch showcased that we can naturally replicate certain types of interaction in this space. However, as VR is a highly immersive medium, it can also simulate other types of media [Sla09] and thus can replicate whole social activity contexts where users interact using those media, like sharing photos or watching movies together [LKR<sup>+</sup>19, MLC<sup>+</sup>22]. As during the Covid 19 pandemic in-person social activities were only feasible in limited ways, the study presented in this chapter was motivated to find out to what extent current consumer-grade VR hardware and software can replicate a popular social leisure activity that involves the interaction through another type of medium with all its experiential qualities.

As such a popular activity, we identified the co-located playing of digital multiplayer games. While modern online multiplayer games allow time- and place-independent scheduling of game sessions with others [VKJ<sup>+</sup>16], many players still enjoy coming together physically and playing co-located, or local digital multiplayer games regularly<sup>2</sup>. A reason for its remaining popularity lies in the unique experiential qualities that characterize local multiplayer, e.g., giving a high-five and seeing the others' facial expressions [SPM11, KQ14], which result in additional sociability that online games often can not offer. As VR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Entertainment Software Association - 2021 Gaming Industry Facts, last accessed February 28th, 2023:https: //www.theesa.com/resource/2021-essential-facts-about-the-video-gameindustry/

generates a shared spatial reference space in which those interactions can take place, we set out to explore to what degree the sociability of co-located play transfers to VR. Adding up to a sparse literature landscape on replicating joint media consumption scenarios in VR, we designed and conducted a user study comparing the experiential qualities of playing a digital multiplayer game physically co-located with playing the same game within a social VR environment while being physically separated. The following two research questions guided our work:

**Q4.1** How do the player and social experience in VR compare to the experience in the f2f setting?

Q4.2 What features enhance or inhibit the player and social experience in VR?

### Method

We developed a VR application that allows two players, represented by customized, stylized avatars, to meet and play a multiplayer game in a virtual replica of one of our laboratories (Figure **3-5**). In this virtual lab, the players see the game on a virtual model of a 50-inch TV screen while sitting together on a virtual sofa. While using the VR app, the players are in two different but same-layout rooms, where they sit on the physical version of the virtual sofa. Based on our positive experiences with shared control as an engaging social game mechanic, we reused a game we developed for a previous study [SEM18]. This shared control game requires players to simultaneously control the same player object to proceed in the game. Given its simplicity in aesthetics, level design, and control scheme, this game would work equally well in VR and f2f in terms of inducing social interaction. Further, it met several design requirements we defined for our study design: (i) it is easy to implement and performs well, (ii) it is engaging. Thus, we developed the shared control game in two versions: one to run on a desktop PC and a physical TV monitor and a version for our VR app to run within the virtual environment on a virtual monitor.

Eventually, we compared the two versions, co-located and VR, in a within-design user study by collecting quantitative, questionnaire data and qualitative data based on recordings and semi-structured interviews from 25 pairs of participants. The questionnaire data would unveil the player experience (e.g., enjoyment) and the social experience (e.g., social presence). The recordings and interviews would reveal details about social behavior and how specific aspects of the two conditions may have affected it. Further, the interviews aimed to assess users' general opinion on using VR in such a way privately.

Correspondingly, the data analysis comprised quantitative and qualitative methods. The quantitative data were analyzed using frequentist statistics to compare central tendency measures of questionnaire subscale data. The qualitative analysis included video analysis (i.e., counting specific behavior types and describing social interactions) and a thematic analysis of the interviews [BC19, BC21].

### Findings

- F4.1 Players had a similar player and social experience in both conditions, with statistically significant yet practically marginal differences regarding individual experiential aspects. The VR version induced a slightly less rich experience and less co-presence, mutual attention and understanding, and affective understanding. Still, both versions caused an increase in social connectedness between players.
- **F4.2** While the observations and interviews identified the lack of facial animations, limited body language, and a low field of view as VR's main inhibiting aspects, the virtual experience benefited from interaction during the three-minute game break, avatar customization and its novelty character for novice users. The identified inhibitors are closely tied to technical limitations, which future



Figure 3-6.: Boxplots illustrating how similar the social experience of co-located multiplayer gaming is in VR and in-person. Illustration taken from [SKE<sup>+</sup>23]

consumer VR devices will certainly overcome. The spatial orientation of the players to each other, induced by focusing the virtual monitor, has both positive and negative effects due to the technical limitations of the VR hardware.

Figure **3-6** summarizes the quantitative results comparing the social experience between the two conditions based on three experiential qualities: (i) social presence, i.e., a sense of co-presence and engagement between users [BHG01], (ii) social richness, i.e., the perceived "warmth" of the interaction [LDW09], and (iii) social connectedness as a transformative social outcome. Those three perspectives provide a comprehensive assessment of the social experience that extends insights of related studies on joint video watching and photo sharing in VR [LKR<sup>+</sup>19, MLC<sup>+</sup>22].

Our findings align with previous work that also found the VR replicas of joint media consumption scenarios providing slightly limited social experiences compared to f2f [LKR<sup>+</sup>19, MLC<sup>+</sup>22]. Further, our results extend those previous findings by providing a more nuanced assessment of the experiential dimensions and thus enable a more nuanced discussion of how certain context factors inherent to the scenario and technology affect individual experiential facets. From a broader perspective, our findings regarding positive social outcomes, i.e., increased social connectedness, align with social VR literature describing the benefits that users already derive from consumer social VR platforms [PS17, MF20, SGZM21, BAH22]. Further, we found many participants were open-minded about using social VR in their leisure time due to its specific advantages compared to other media. Specifically, our qualitative analyses highlight that next to the activity context, VR-exclusive features, like avatar customization, create opportunities for social interaction that does not occur in f2f interaction, justifying the call for sociality in VR beyond reality [MSI21].

Relating our findings to the overarching question of this dissertation, we consider current consumergrade social VR technology as sufficient to replicate popular social leisure activities and experiences where specifics of the activity context compensate for the current technical limitations of VR. In particular, we interpret the identified experiential differences as practically marginal in real-world use cases where f2f interaction is not feasible and thus can not be directly compared to the VR replica. In those cases, we assume that users are satisfied with the overall experience, despite a direct comparison would highlight experiential limitations. Further, as consumers now have access to improved VR headsets with integrated face and eye tracking, one of the main limitations we identified will be practically insignificant once those new devices are widespread among users. Of course, our study comes with specific limitations discussed in the paper. Still, overall, our study results are a supporting indicator for consumer social VR's potential for being a social platform that offers users exclusive benefits in specific use cases where non-immersive social technologies can not deliver the same experience.

# 4. Discussion

The synopsis of this dissertation concludes with a discussion of the guiding question, taking into account the results from publications 1-4. These are summarized again at the beginning and are related to each other. Subsequently, the guiding question is answered based on the study results. This chapter ends with a discussion of this dissertation's limitations and the identification of important fields of further research in the context of social VR.

# 4.1. Main Findings

## Study 1: What is the experiential quality of virtual social touch?

Our findings indicate that virtual body contact elicits emotional responses and thus transfers a fundamental form of social interaction into VR. Moreover, factors known to modulate social touch responses in f2f interaction, particularly intimacy and sex, modulate the affective reaction in VR. Furthermore, the individual comfort with interpersonal touch positively correlates with the intensity of positive responses to virtual social touch.

### Study 2: Why do people use consumer social VR applications?

Our findings indicate that current consumer social VR applications are in particular venues for social interactions and satisfy social user needs. In this respect, social VR seems to give access to social experiences that many users tend not to experience on other digital social platforms or even the real world due to the immersive affordances of VR.

### Study 3: How do social VR users engage in self-disclosure?

Our findings indicate that social VR provides access to authentic connections with others through selfdisclosure. Although users tend to control the disclosure of anonymity-breaking information, such as real names and topics associated with more intimate aspects of oneself, diverse topics of varying degrees of intimacy are discussed in social VR. Thereby, self-disclosure benefits, i.a., relational development, and identity clarification, and depends on contextual factors like the relationship between users, the privacy of a virtual environment, or the activity context. Resembling f2f contexts, self-disclosure of more personal information seems more likely within controllable boundaries, like dyads and private contexts.

# Study 4: Can social VR replicate the experiential qualities of a popular in-person social leisure activity?

Our findings indicate that current state-of-the-art social VR applications can provide a sufficient alternative to in-person leisure activities in cases where in-person meetings are not feasible. Although negatively affected by the technical limitations of current VR headsets, the virtual version of a popular leisure activity closely approximated the experiential qualities of its f2f counterpart, providing a rich social atmosphere and strengthening social closeness. Each of the four studies included in this dissertation also stands on its own and is discussed individually in the respective publication. Here, an overall picture of how they relate to each other is sketched out. For this purpose, Figure **4-1** illustrates the thematic connections between the four studies by relating Studies 1, 3, and 4 to certain social VR users' activities, motives, perceived benefits, and wanted features unveiled in Study 2. Study 2 is the reference point for the other studies as it offers a comprehensive perspective on how real-world users use consumer social VR applications. The other studies, however, complement this overall perspective by providing deeper insights or illustrative examples for certain experiential qualities identified in Study 2. In the following, the connections between the studies are discussed.

### A Touching Experience

Study 1, which explored emotional reactions to virtual social touch, is thematically associated with all four thematic areas of Study 2, i.e., social VR users' activities, motives, perceived benefits, and wanted features. The realistic (visual) simulation of body contact in VR is a particular example of how sensory immersion and the illusions of place and social presence enable the mediation of intimate social interaction at a distance. Thus, social body contact is an illustrative example of the immersive and social benefits users see in consumer social VR in the form of increased expressiveness and interactivity and more meaningful interactions with others compared to media that do not offer the same degree of immersion and social experience [SGZM21].

Concerning the activities in which many social VR users engage [SGZM21], virtual social touch relates, in particular, to intimate get-togethers as Study 1 [SM20], and related work [FLTA21] showcase that the intimacy associated with the body zones that are involved in virtual social touch affect user responses to it. Virtual social touch is thus a means to express intimacy in VR and enables users to express themselves in ways that correspond to the intimacy of their relationship, like romantic partners holding hands [ZF19]. Thus, being able to touch others and being touched by others certainly contributes to intimate encounters and general relationship-building in consumer social VR, with the latter also indicated in related work [FA21]. In this regard, Study 1 further relates to the user motive of establishing meaningful relationships. Additionally, being able to simulate body contact also addresses the need for substituting specific social experiences that people may not be able to experience outside of VR, i.a., couples in long-distance relationships that seek embodied experiences over distance [ZF19].

Notably, we consider users' desire for added security and safety features [SGZM21], e.g., in light of virtual harassment in consumer social VR applications [BEEDS19, FZMA22], as an implication to taking a critical perspective and finding ways to prevent abusive behavior and offer mitigation strategies to limit adverse social outcomes of virtual social touch. Virtual social touch further relates to other areas that users want to see improved. Better and more extensive tracking technologies would contribute to the precise execution of body contact and determines what body zones users can touch. More extensive sensory immersion, e.g., adding realistic haptic feedback, would probably intensify the experience [SGZM21, ISK<sup>+</sup>22].

Taking into account the effects of purely visual touch [SM20, FLTA21, AY22] and the anticipated and desired progress in the development of haptic feedback devices [CKM21, vHHTvE22], social touch presumably will be a significant contributor to social experiences, in particular intimate experiences, in VR in the future, just as it is in unmediated communication. Correspondingly, to do justice to the role that touch plays in human development and well-being, there are calls from researchers and developers to design and pursue a comprehensive agenda regarding the risks and opportunities when transferring social touch into the virtual realm [JPS<sup>+</sup>21].

### Let's Get Personal

Like body contact, self-disclosure relates to all four themes of Study 2. As it is a predominantly verbal process, it mainly refers to the popular consumer social VR activity of having conversations and those that inherently include a conversational aspect, like intimate get-togethers. In this regard, the insights on self-disclosure from Study 3 allow more detailed descriptions of how conversations happen in social VR,



Figure 4-1.: An illustration of the thematic connections between the four studies of this dissertation.

i.e., conversation topics, social contexts, and goals. For example, the findings regarding how some users follow specific patterns to decide for or against disclosing superficial or personal information reveal that intimate meetups between users are more likely to happen in dyadic contexts and between users with a friend-like relationship within private virtual environments and not in public spaces [SMFM22].

The results of Study 3 also allow assumptions of how users pursue motives that require users to share information, like leaving one's social bubble, finding like-minded people, or establishing meaningful relationships. Assuming those goals motivate people to disclose information of varying intimacy to other users, the insights gained in Study 3 allow assumptions about the social contexts users require to address their social needs [SMFM22]. But also self-related motives and needs, like supporting one's well-being, self-expression, and mental growth, are linked to self-disclosure, as in particular indicated by the self-disclosure goals that users pursue, i.e., getting accepted and liked by others, relieving distress, getting closer to others, understanding oneself [SMFM22].

While not being a direct indicator, the instance that users authentically disclose to others [SMFM22] presumably contributes to the overall perceived benefit of consumer social VR, that users perceive the social interaction in there as more authentic and meaningful than in other digital social places [SGZM21]. The increased authenticity seems also linked to VR's immersive features, like its capability to complement verbal communication with nonverbal social stimuli like gestures, postures, or social touch [MFW20].

Like social touch, self-disclosure will benefit from features that users want to see improved. Especially the tracking of eyes and mimics will probably contribute to self-disclosure authenticity based on the combination of verbal and nonverbal stimuli and the added channel to disclose, e.g., affective states [MFW20]. But again, as indicated by users' privacy concerns [MZF20, SMFM22], future safety and security features should also focus on providing users with the means to establish safe spaces where they feel comfortable disclosing information to others.

As Study 2 revealed, socializing and conversing with others is integral to consumer social VR. Thus,

conversation-related social processes, like self-disclosure, inherently shape the social experience in social VR and how users eventually establish meaningful connections by, e.g., disclosing increasingly personal information. Thereby, as VR complements verbal communication with natural non-verbal communication cues not available in other mediated communication venues, i.e., social touch, it empowers users to express the intimacy created via self-disclosure in more manifold and natural ways, resolving limitations identified with other platforms for online self-disclosure [TGL<sup>+</sup>22]. Ultimately this increased expressiveness holds implications for how VR may benefit the formation of close relationships over distance in the future [HB19]. And given the importance of self-disclosure for healthy relationships and, eventually, mental well-being [AT73, Sto87, KD02, TGL<sup>+</sup>22], it is crucial to design social VR in such a way that users find the very conditions, e.g., social contexts discussed in Study 3, and manifold interaction types like social touch, that they need for self-disclosure.

### **Almost There**

Study 4 also relates to all areas of interest from Study 2. Foremost, although simulating co-located gaming in VR is a particular use case, it is an illustrative example of a gaming activity and, thus, how social VR can address entertainment needs in ways that people are familiar with, given that co-located gaming is a popular social leisure activity. Other examples of entertainment use cases utilizing VR from related work include the simulation of photo-sharing experiences [LKR<sup>+</sup>19] and joint video-watching [MLC<sup>+</sup>22].

Concerning the motives that drive social VR engagement, Study 4 exemplifies a famous real-world use case where VR can provide a convenient way to meet and enjoy a specific activity without requiring people to take a car or public transport. Further, extending previous studies [LKR<sup>+</sup>19, MLC<sup>+</sup>22], based on the experiential similarities between the VR and f2f condition, it showcases how social VR can be a substitute for real-world social interaction.

Specifically, how we set up the spatial layout in the study with the shared physical and virtual sofa illustrates how VR introduces spatiality to remote social interactions that other venues can not. Considering that online gaming via PCs or consoles usually connects players only via voice chat, this spatial component, exclusive to VR, presumably contributes to users' perception of social VR being superior due to the increased sensory immersion and perceived illusions of place and social presence [SGZM21, SKE<sup>+</sup>23].

While the results of Study 4 and related work indicate that social VR experiences are almost at the level of their f2f counterparts in selected use cases, they also provide a context to discuss wanted improvements that users indicated in Study 2, i.e., extended tracking capabilities and increased sensory immersion. For example, many participants in Study 4 said they would like the avatar to represent legs, which would further increase behavioral realism and the ability to identify each other's affective state based on the pose the players take on the virtual sofa [SKE<sup>+</sup>23]. Extending the tracking capabilities and virtual user representations have been demonstrated to be beneficial for the social experience by other authors [HOB18, AI21, WWJ<sup>+</sup>21]. Our and related studies' most significant tracking-related limitation was the lack of face-tracking [LKR<sup>+</sup>19, MLC<sup>+</sup>22, BRP<sup>+</sup>23]. In particular, combined with the still limited field of view offered by the VR headsets, those limitations mainly caused the experiential differences between the VR and f2f scenarios [LS21, MLC<sup>+</sup>22, SKE<sup>+</sup>23].

Notably, the participants of Study 4 were not active consumer social VR users at the time of the study. Still, they highlighted the same benefits of VR compared to other technologies as the active consumer social VR users in Study 1. Consequently, most participants showed openness to using the tested scenario privately, indicating that social VR will be more broadly accepted and used for remote social interaction once the technology becomes less expensive and more polished. Thereby, Study 4 illustrates that social VR does not necessarily need to offer genuinely novel activities and social experiences but can have social value beyond existing technologies by replicating activities that people are already familiar with and value so that they can experience them at a distance.

# 4.2. The Most Social Platform?

To infer an informed evaluation of the guiding question of this dissertation the following two criteria are used to translate the findings of Study 1-4 into an assessment of the current state of the sociality of VR: (i) indications that social VR is actually used as a social platform and (ii) social VR's resemblance to the gold standard of f2f interaction.

### **A Social Platform**

Concerning criterion (i), Study 2 shows that current consumer social VR applications are social platforms. Various social motives drive user engagement, and social activities are essential to the user experience. Study 3 further shows that self-disclosure in consumer social VR serves social goals and is affected by social context factors. Not directly linked to actual consumer social VR applications, Studies 1 and 4 also show that VR can be a social platform by illustrating its potential to offer specific social interactions or social activity contexts. Study 1 induced a sense of social presence in participants and demonstrated the influence of social factors, such as intimacy conveyed through various types of social body contact, on the emotional response to virtual touch. Finally, in Study 4, participants experienced a rich social experience in VR that also increased connectedness after the interaction. Thus, concerning the guiding question, this dissertation indicates that current consumer VR technology can be considered a social platform.

This conclusion aligns with the findings from the social VR research areas presented in section 2.3. In particular, the social VR design literature shows that the platforms are at least conceptualized as social places where specific features facilitate user interaction. Our and others' findings (e.g., [ZF19, MF20, MZF20, FA21]) validate the intentions of platform designers interviewed previously [MSKI19] by showcasing that social VR applications address specific social needs and support rich social experiences for diverse groups of users with distinctive motivations.

### A Social Platform Resembling Face-to-Face Interaction

Due to its immersive characteristics, social interaction in VR can technically mimic f2f interaction in how certain types of interactions are performed and audio-visually perceived. Study 1 illustrated this with the investigation of virtual social touch, and Study 4 with replicating a social scenario with a specific spatial constellation of users. Consequently, concerning criterion (ii), this dissertation showcases that VR technology can mimic f2f interaction scenarios and thus be considered a particular social platform if f2f serves as a "gold" standard. Further, the results of all four studies provide evidence that, as a consequence, user behavior and experiences also mimic f2f interaction. Study 1 indicates, in line with related work [FLTA21], that virtual social touch response is affected by a set of influence factors that also affect responses to physical social touch. Study 2 illustrates, based on day-to-day user experiences, that some users use consumer social VR as a substitute for real-world social connections and that the main benefits of social VR lie in the increased expressiveness and naturalness due to the immersive characteristics. Study 3 illustrates that social context factors that affect f2f self-disclosure also affect social VR self-disclosure decisions. Finally, Study 4 directly compares a f2f and VR scenario and found both inducing very similar experiences that, in a real-world use case, probably would not make a significant experiential difference.

Since sensory immersion combined with motion tracking is the defining feature of VR, it is not surprising that the naturalness of social interaction and social experience is the subject or outcome of various social VR research efforts. Thus, our findings align well with related work, and social VR literature indicates that consumer social VR is a f2f-like social platform. This is mainly due to nonverbal affordances that mimic f2f communication [MFW20]. However, current technical limitations partly require designers to invent specific control paradigms to control something like a virtual mimic, as long as face-tracking is not integrated into VR headsets [THB20]. Day-to-day experiences also highlight a resemblance of f2f interaction and experiences, e.g., in long-distance relationships [ZF19] or family meetups [ZF23]. Further work with novice users also indicates the f2f resemblance in the context of small group interactions [MS18], photo sharing experiences [LKR<sup>+</sup>19], proxemic behavior [WLV<sup>+</sup>21], and joint video watching in

VR [MLC<sup>+</sup>22]. Furthermore, several prototype studies unveil behavioral similarities between social VR and f2f interaction, e.g., regarding conversational patterns [SN18], nonverbal synchrony [SSW19], personal space zones [BPB20], behavior during meetings [AKLN21], and compliance behavior [DKGS22].

### A Social Platform with Distinctive Features

Studies 1, 2, and 4 indicate that VR is a platform with distinctive features that potentially enable it to be more social than alternatives. Concerning criterion (i), Study 2 directly unveils the benefits users attribute to consumer social VR compared to other digital places like online games and social media. The two most frequently mentioned advantages are the immersive experience and overall better quality of social interaction in social VR, i.e., users behave more authentically and naturally, and interactions are more meaningful and memorable. Further, many users indicated they experience a social closeness in VR that they can not find elsewhere. In relation to criterion (ii), Study 1 serves as an illustrative example of how VR can replicate a fundamental and intimate form of social interaction, i.e., social touch, due to its immersive characteristics in a way that resembles how it is performed and perceived in f2f communication. With other non-immersive technologies, this degree of replication is not possible. Based on this purely technical capability, VR supports distinct forms of social interaction that may eventually generate exclusive social experiences. Further, Study 4 is an example of how VR enables the simulation of entire f2f activity contexts in which the spatial relationship between users and the shared environment is an essential part of the atmosphere. In the use case of Study 4, this is sitting together on a couch, which, again, other technologies can not replicate the same way.

Again, this conclusion aligns with the broader social VR literature landscape, that illustrates how current social VR applications offer distinctive features and experiences compared to other technologies. Literature on day-to-day experiences exemplifies how VR's technical exclusive features benefit facets of social interaction by demonstrating how avatar embodiment contributes relationship-building [FA21], allows the engagement in embodied activities like dancing [PHM22], and experiencing virtual social touch [AY22]. Other examples of exclusive qualities of social VR reported in the literature are sleeping together in sleep worlds [MF20], innovative social support features for marginalized user groups [LFSA23], and the possibility of replicating f2f gatherings in close relationships like birthday parties [ZF23]. And also, lab-based prototypes, e.g., in the context of virtual social touch, illustrate the exclusive social interaction opportunities of VR [CKM21, FLTA21, SM21, DSSL<sup>+</sup>23]. Unfortunately, there also seem to be distinctive qualities with negative connotations, as the embodied experiences enable novel forms of harassment that challenge users and developers alike [BEEDS19, FZMA22, SLF<sup>+</sup>23]. However, recent proposals highlight the potential of VR to have distinctive experiential qualities not only compared to other social platforms, but also f2f interaction [MSI21].

### **A Still Emerging Social Platform**

Apart from the positive evaluations above, all four studies indicate that VR is still an emerging social platform. Although Study 1 shows how social VR can mimic f2f interactions in principle, it also demonstrates that virtual social touch is not on a par with its physical equivalent in sensory terms. For example, the technology still needs to be advanced enough to replicate realistic haptic experiences at the consumer level. Even though haptic technologies are under ongoing research, it will take some time before marketready, inexpensive, and easy-to-use home-use devices exist. At the same time, the software requirements to realistically recreate virtual social touch is also a non-trivial factor. In Study 1, for example, we used an approximation to trigger and render the virtual body collisions along predefined, fixed anchor points on the avatars. This was mainly due to the lack of hand tracking. Eventually, when hand tracking started to be integrated into VR headsets, we developed approaches that allow us to generate physically correct collisions between avatar models, in particular the hand and finger models, in real-time and synchronized between online users (see [DSSL<sup>+</sup>23] for a recent related work example). However, such avatar-avatar collisions are not a standard in consumer applications, where avatars usually still permeate each other or become transparent if they get too close. However, against the background of the emergent harassment issue [BEEDS19, FZMA22], this is probably still a preferable approach. Study 2 directly indicates areas where users want social VR to be improved. On the one hand, they refer to features that would make social VR even more realistic, such as better and more extensive tracking and the inclusion of additional sensory modalities. On the other hand, however, social VR applications can still improve their social features through even more diverse social activities, better contact management, better security features, and more flexible integration of social VR into other communication channels. In addition, Study 3 unveils, in line with related work [MZF20], privacy concerns, an area that recently became more focused by researchers [NGS22a, LL22]. Study 4 illustrates that, in specific use cases, social VR experiences can closely approximate their f2f counterpart. However, like other studies, [LKR<sup>+</sup>19, MLC<sup>+</sup>22, BRP<sup>+</sup>23] it also highlights one significant technical advancement, which would further benefit the realism and overall sociality of social VR: the addition of face-tracking. Face-tracking has recently become more accessible with the launch of the *Meta Quest Pro*, and future work has to show what features users will ask for once they get accustomed to the extended tracking. Surprisingly, many participants also missed avatar legs, validating *Meta's* recent efforts to provide realistic leg animations without requiring users to wear additional tracking hardware.

Apart from specific technical limitations that will probably be solved in the coming years, the social VR design literature also exemplifies how the genre of social VR is still emerging, as platform developers have different approaches to the design of sociality [MSKI19], the design of avatar systems [KMSI19, HPDW22], and the implementation of nonverbal communication affordances [THB20]. Further, general usability issues must be resolved to ensure that future users have positive first-contact experiences [LS21]. Similarly, researchers and developers alike are advised to find solutions to emerging forms of virtual harassment [BEEDS19, FZMA22, SLF<sup>+</sup>23], privacy concerns [MZF20, SMFM22, NGS22a, LL22], and to ensure social VR being an inclusive and supportive venue for diverse user groups [AF21, ZDL<sup>+</sup>22, LFSA23].

In summary, the results of this dissertation and its related works illustrate current consumer VR technology offering access to meaningful social experiences that afford interaction dynamics and experiences that resemble f2f interaction. The interaction paradigms exclusive to VR technology provide experiential benefits for current users compared to other non-immersive technologies for social interaction at a distance. However, apparent technical limitations and the vast design space for novel features beyond replicating reality invite researchers and developers alike to further shape this young but promising technology for remote social interaction.

# 4.3. Limitations

Besides the study-specific limitations discussed in the individual publications 1-4, this dissertation itself is also subject to limitations. Those lie in particular in the overall framing under which the four studies are used to answer a broad guiding question. While a common theme fundamentally connects the four studies, this dissertation does not use a theory-driven connection. Each study considers an isolated topic area in the context of consumer social VR applications without building on common ground, for example, by eliciting the same set of variables or using the same methods. On the contrary, the individual studies address different research questions using different methods and focusing on relevant variables in the respective contexts. Therefore, the contribution of this dissertation does not lie in the further or new development of a specific theory, for example, the experience of social presence in immersive social VR, but, as explained in the introduction, in the momentary examination of consumer social VR applications from different perspectives that eventually provide a set of thematic starting points for future theory-building on social experiences in consumer social VR. Offering a series of such starting points is essential given that consumer social VR is still an emerging genre and subject to numerous technical and design challenges that researchers and developers must solve in the coming years if they want social VR to be a safe and widely used space for interpersonal communication.

The absence of a grounding theory is related to another limitation of this dissertation. A provocative, non-scientific assumption about VR (and AR) serves as the basis for the guiding question of this dissertation which is discussed considering two loose criteria that were neither used uniformly across the four studies nor considered to define a set of recurring specific variables to investigate across all four studies. Thus, the four studies do not allow an elaborate conclusion about how VR may be social to any particular degree based on a specific set of dependent variables that represent an isolated perspective on the matter. On the contrary, the contribution results from simultaneously considering several isolated perspectives, considering lab-based and everyday user experiences, and converging the different perspectives and experiential facets under a provocative overarching question. Due to the young age of the applications, the still low penetration of the technology in general, and the observable difficulties of enterprises such as Meta, it is not at all conclusively defined what social VR applications can be, what they can look like, what features they can offer, and what use cases they open up. Further, the current literature and platform landscape illustrate that social VR can look and be used in very different ways in various use cases by very diverse user groups. Accordingly, a purely isolated consideration of a coherent set of selected variables alone is not practical at the current time. Instead, diversified perspectives, such as this dissertation, can initially help to unveil starting points and relevant variables for more isolated follow-up research.

A third limitation is that none of the studies included in the body of work compared social VR to other platforms of interpersonal communication. In contrast to providing platform comparisons that may not be meaningful, this dissertation focused on unveiling fundamental experiential qualities and day-to-day uses of social VR that had to be addressed in this still-emerging literature domain. Of course, this dissertation subsequently does not allow any conclusive statement that refers to the experienced sociality of VR compared to other technologies. Though, as described in the background chapter on social presence, it is not necessarily expedient to compare VR directly with other technologies regarding the social experience since users can also become accustomed to the affordances of communication mediums and have comparable social experiences quite independently of any technical limitations. What this dissertation nevertheless enables, however, is the formulation of assumptions about the social experience in VR based on its distinctive quality to replicate certain f2f social interactions that other technologies like video calls can not copy (i.e., social touch and sitting together on a couch). And the platform comparisons made by the participants in Studies 2 and 4 allow at least a limited comparison based on user opinions. Further, a direct comparison is not necessarily reasonable as there are fundamental differences between VR and other platforms, like social media, regarding the primary mode of communication. Whereas established social media platforms focus on sharing information asynchronously with many users, current social VR is designed for real-time interaction among smaller groups of interactants. And since social VR is still a young medium, it remains open in which use cases a direct comparison of VR and other technologies could be meaningful in the first place. Eventually, this dissertation aids identifying such use cases.

A final limitation of this dissertation in terms of answering its guiding question is the temporal validity of the findings. This limitation, of course, affects nearly all research involving continuously evolving technologies. Nevertheless, it is crucial to consider the significance of this continued development to evaluate the research. Consequently, this dissertation cannot answer whether VR will be the most social platform in the future. The degree of VR's sociality compared to other technologies depends on further advances in VR technology and other technologies. For example, recent advances within the VR technology frontiers have direct relevance for the validity of this dissertation. Shortly after finishing Study 4, *Meta* released the *Meta Quest Pro* that integrates face-tracking and likely directly resolves a significant weakness we identified in the VR scenario in Study 4. While face-tracking is not yet a default feature and the *Meta Quest Pro* is designed less for entertainment purposes than for business use cases, it shows that crucial technical development steps are already starting and are about to become more widespread. This limitation is discussed explicitly in publication 4, but in the context of the other publications, this dissertation's time horizon is also an important factor. Just as this dissertation is a snapshot of the state-of-the-art technology accessible to consumers between 2018 and 2022, it is also a snapshot of the users that used consumer social VR applications comparatively early on (Studies 2 and 3). Whether future user groups
will exhibit the same usage motives and behaviors as those early users remains to be seen. In the same way, most participants in Studies 1 and 4 had no prior social VR or VR experiences, probably because the technology and application type are currently not widespread and known in society. If the technology becomes more widespread and famous in the coming years, people are more likely to have prior experiences with or at least an informed opinion about it. Consequently, novice users in lab studies may become rare or already have specific reasons for not engaging in social VR in their private lives. However, even if this dissertation does not provide a long-term assessment, it makes a lasting contribution to the field by providing a base value of the sociality of current social VR that can be referred to in the future to evaluate the effects of technological advances and new user groups on sociality in social VR.

#### 4.4. What is Next?

Apart from specific follow-up research opportunities discussed in publications 1-4 and research opportunities implied by the above limitations, there are broader implications for future directions of consumer social VR research. First, the four areas of research described in section 2.3 offer distinctive perspectives for identifying numerous specific starting points for follow-up research. Given the continuing advances in VR technology and platform design due to the involvement of big tech companies, all of those four areas will likely continue to be relevant in the coming years. For a future assessment of the guiding question of this dissertation, future work should consider the four broader perspectives illustrated in Figure 4-2): the day-to-day use of social VR applications, risk factors, distinctive features of VR, and psychological outcomes of social VR engagement. In particular, the continued assessment of everyday user experiences will provide insights into how users will use and integrate social VR into their daily life as alternatives or additions to existing communication technologies. Simultaneously, there is ongoing need to unveil the effects of engaging in social VR, such as on users' psychological well-being or their satisfaction with their social lives, as initial studies have already begun to do [BAH22, vBAH23]. Combined with a continuation of systematizing social VR design approaches, this also should enable developers to build social VR applications to evoke the intended sociality purposefully. Efforts should also be made to obtain data on which user groups will eventually start and continue to engage in social VR and unveil the reasons for and against its use.

The further dissemination of social VR depends on the acceptance of VR technology in general, which in turn depends on the attractiveness of the devices (e.g., ergonomics, ease of use, additional required hardware, performance), the market prices, and the perception of consumers that VR serves specific use cases that might be interesting for them. Further, recent work identified potential psychometric predictors for VR adoption (e.g., immersive tendencies) [CCWZ22]. However, more general perceptions of Metaverse technologies like VR and social VR also seem to influence users' willingness to engage in applications like social VR and can be considered risk factors for VR adoption. A recent study indicates what types of people may be more likely to migrate to a future *Metaverse* in their daily lives [OWP23]. By asking gamers of open-world games and a sample representing the polish society, the study found that the individual willingness to migrate to a future Metaverse is higher if one is already attached to virtual places, like games. However, among the sample, there was a general tendency against migrating to a future Metaverse that relates to perceived threats like privacy concerns and losing access to human experiences. Although indicating relevant factors that may determine future user engagement, the nature of the data only allows an early assumption. Eventually, future user studies must assess factors determining user adoption of applications like social VR based on first-hand experiences. Although not in private contexts, recent literature provides examples of longitudinal investigations of social VR engagement in productive contexts [BRP<sup>+</sup>23, HMD<sup>+</sup>23] that provide a blueprint for conducting such studies in leisure activity contexts to unveil private adoption processes.

Resonating with the identified influence of perceived threats of the *Metaverse* on peoples' willingness to engage in it, data security and privacy are recently becoming recognized as significant directions in



Figure 4-2.: Four broad perspective for future social VR work.

multiuser and consumer social VR research. For example, a recent overview paper identifies substantial research and development gaps in the area of digital identity in social VR related to the generation, use, authentication, and protection of avatars [LL22]. Illustrative examples for research and development in this context are two recent complementing preprint papers that showcase how VR user data can be used to infer personal data attributes like body attributes and demographic information [NGS22a] and propose a software plugin that helps to secure such data [NGS22b]. As concluded in the overview paper, the broader acceptance of social VR technologies will heavily depend on the success of such privacy and security efforts, whereby research already seems to lack behind the practical demand [LL22]. Further, public controversies surrounding the companies that offer *Metaverse* technology, like *Meta*, probably also determine whether and how successful VR, and eventually social VR, will be.

In addition to mitigating the above risk factors, research should also be particularly concerned with transforming the distinctive technical affordances of VR into meaningful social experiences [MSI21]. Again, the possibility of social touch serves as an illustrative example. On the one hand, VR can replicate the act of touching others and thus potentially offer qualitatively different social experiences than other communication media. Considering the effects of purely visual touch [SM20, FLTA21, AY22, DSSL+23] and the anticipated and desired progress in the development of haptic feedback devices [CKM21, vHHTvE22] social touch may be a significant contributor to social experiences in VR in the future. Complementary, systematic efforts assess what kind of touch interactions people would like to see enabled in technologymediated communication [RBG<sup>+</sup>22] and how touch-based messages can be translated into specific haptic patterns for haptic feedback devices to be universally intelligible in mediated interaction [RSFHO<sup>+</sup>22]. On the other hand, as also described in the literature [RBK<sup>+</sup>19, MSI21, SM21, ISK<sup>+</sup>22, DSSL<sup>+</sup>23], virtual social interaction like interpersonal touch can consciously deviate from reality if developers take advantage of the creative freedom of the medium. In particular, the combination of the familiarity of interaction, i.e., how virtual touches are performed (just as in f2f), and the potential distinctiveness of the multisensory presentation of virtual touches may be the key to transformative social experiences that other media and even the real world cannot replicate. Correspondingly, to do justice to touch's role in human development and well-being, researchers and developers already call for defining an agenda for mitigating risks and opportunities when transferring social touch into the virtual realm [JPS<sup>+</sup>21].

## 5. Conclusion

The Covid 19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of enabling social connections at a distance. At the same time, technology companies continually strive to develop how people can have shared experiences across spatial and temporal barriers. In particular, *Meta*, formerly *Facebook*, a company that has already had a socially far-reaching impact on technology-mediated communication, publicly proclaims that with technologies like VR and AR, the ultimate social platform is making its way into people's everyday lives. And yes, since the introduction of modern consumer-level VR devices within the last decade, the modern network infrastructure and computational power have enabled immersive social experiences to a scale and quality impossible in previous generations of VR technology. But how social is this platform? VR is far from being a widespread technology among private users and, in this context, promises to be a new platform for digital games in particular. Therefore, the extent of VR's value as a social platform has yet to be assessed. However, the current first generation of consumer social VR applications allowed an initial approach to answering the question: **Is VR the most social platform ever**?

This dissertation offers four exciting perspectives on this question and provides insights into fundamental aspects of sociality that current consumer social VR technology offers. By investigating virtual social touch, it unveiled emotional reactions and moderating factors of the virtual version of one of the most intimate forms of social interaction. Directly asking current users, it unveiled the motivations that drive day-to-day use of consumer social VR platforms. It further unveiled how social VR users engage in self-disclosure, one of the fundamental processes of socializing and relationship-building. Finally, it illustrated how current consumer VR technology, despite technical limitations, can generate rich social experiences in a popular leisure context nearly equal to the f2f alternative. The individual perspectives taken in this dissertation contribute practical starting points for the further design and research of social VR experiences. The insights into virtual social touch have implications for designing embodied social features, such as the appropriateness of specific types of touch in different contexts and the need to give users control over the experience of this intimate form of expression. The results of the two international online surveys identify a whole range of specific starting points for developers and researchers. For example, developers can check whether their platforms are used for social reasons and which features need improvement to enhance the overall experience further. Researchers can identify use cases relevant to users' everyday lives from the results, which they can investigate more profoundly concerning specific theories of social interaction in social VR. Eventually, the direct comparison of a f2f and virtual version of a popular social leisure activity informs follow-up research for extended theory-building regarding the interplay between social VR features and experiential qualities by providing a baseline measure for the future comparative evaluation of experiential outcomes introduced by technological advancements in the coming years.

In conclusion, this dissertation contributes an exploration of the experiential qualities and day-today value of social VR applications available for consumers based on lab studies and the thoughts and behaviors of current social VR users. These studies indicate, that current consumer VR offers access to meaningful social experiences very similar to f2f interactions, despite current technical limitations. Due to its immersive properties, it is fundamentally technically different from other social platforms. Yet, only future work can conclusively assess to what extent this makes VR more social than alternatives. However, VR offers an only rudimentarily explored design space for remote social interaction that promises to provide social experiences beyond alternative offerings and reality in the future. Developers, researchers, and users alike are invited to leverage the potential demonstrated in this dissertation.

# **Bibliography**

- [AF21] Dane Acena and Guo Freeman. "in my safe space": Social support for lgbtq users in social virtual reality. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI EA '21, New York, NY, USA, 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411763.3451673.
- [AI21] Sahar Aseeri and Victoria Interrante. The influence of avatar representation on interpersonal communication in virtual social environments. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 27(5):2608–2617, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1109/TVCG.2021.3067783.
- [AKLN21] Ahsan Abdullah, Jan Kolkmeier, Vivian Lo, and Michael Neff. Videoconference and embodied vr: Communication patterns across task and medium. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 5(CSCW2), oct 2021. https://doi.org/10.1145/3479597.
- [AT73] Irwin Altman and Dalmas A Taylor. Social penetration: The development of interpersonal relationships. Holt, Rinehart & Winston, 1973. https://archive.org/details/ socialpenetratio00altm.
- [AY22] Sasha Alexdottir and Xiaosong Yang. Phantom touch phenomenon as a manifestation of the visualauditory-tactile synaesthesia and its impact on the users in virtual reality. In 2022 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality Adjunct (ISMAR-Adjunct), pages 727–732, 2022. https: //doi.org/10.1109/ISMAR-Adjunct57072.2022.00218.
- [BAH22] Miguel Barreda-Angeles and Tilo Hartmann. Psychological benefits of using social virtual reality platforms during the covid-19 pandemic: The role of social and spatial presence. Computers in Human Behavior, 127:107047, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2021.107047.
- [BBB<sup>+</sup>05] S-J Blakemore, Davina Bristow, Geoffrey Bird, Chris Frith, and James Ward. Somatosensory activations during the observation of touch and a case of vision-touch synaesthesia. *Brain*, 128(7):1571–1583, 2005. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awh500.
- [BBH<sup>+</sup>90] Chuck Blanchard, Scott Burgess, Young Harvill, Jaron Lanier, Ann Lasko, Mark Oberman, and Mike Teitel. Reality built for two: A virtual reality tool. In *Proceedings of the 1990 Symposium on Interactive* 3D Graphics, I3D '90, page 35–36, New York, NY, USA, 1990. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/91385.91409.
- [BBL<sup>+</sup>04] Jeremy N. Bailenson, Andrew C. Beall, Jack Loomis, Jim Blascovich, and Matthew Turk. Transformed Social Interaction: Decoupling Representation from Behavior and Form in Collaborative Virtual Environments. Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments, 13(4):428–441, 08 2004. https: //doi.org/10.1162/1054746041944803.
- [BBN<sup>+</sup>20] Domna Banakou, Alejandro Beacco, Solène Neyret, Marta Blasco-Oliver, Sofia Seinfeld, and Mel Slater. Virtual body ownership and its consequences for implicit racial bias are dependent on social context. Royal Society open science, 7(12):201848, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.201848.
- [BC19] Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 11(4):589–597, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X. 2019.1628806.
- [BC21] Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke. Can i use ta? should i use ta? should i not use ta? comparing reflexive thematic analysis and other pattern-based qualitative analytic approaches. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research*, 21(1):37–47, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12360.
- [BEEDS19] Lindsay Blackwell, Nicole Ellison, Natasha Elliott-Deflo, and Raz Schwartz. Harassment in social virtual reality: Challenges for platform governance. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 3(CSCW), nov 2019. https://doi.org/10.1145/3359202.

- [BHB03] Frank Biocca, Chad Harms, and Judee K. Burgoon. Toward a More Robust Theory and Measure of Social Presence: Review and Suggested Criteria. Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments, 12(5):456– 480, 10 2003. https://doi.org/10.1162/105474603322761270.
- [BHG01] Frank Biocca, Chad Harms, and Jenn Gregg. The networked minds measure of social presence: Pilot test of the factor structure and concurrent validity. In 4th annual international workshop on presence, Philadelphia, PA, pages 1–9, 2001. http://matthewlombard.com/ISPR/Proceedings/ 2001/Biocca2.pdf.
- [Bio06] Frank Biocca. Communication Within Virtual Reality: Creating a Space for Research. Journal of Communication, 42(4):5–22, 02 2006. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1992. tb00810.x.
- [BK74] Jay G Blumler and Elihu Katz. The uses of mass communications: Current perspectives on gratifications research. sage annual reviews of communication research volume iii. 1974.
- [BLB<sup>+</sup>02] Jim Blascovich, Jack Loomis, Andrew C. Beall, Kimberly R. Swinth, Crystal L. Hoyt, and Jeremy N. Bailenson. Target article: Immersive virtual environment technology as a methodological tool for social psychology. *Psychological Inquiry*, 13(2):103–124, 2002. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1302\_01.
- [BO11] Malin Björnsdotter and Håkan Olausson. Vicarious responses to social touch in posterior insular cortex are tuned to pleasant caressing speeds. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(26):9554–9562, 2011. https: //doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0397-11.2011.
- [BPB20] Lauren E. Buck, Sohee Park, and Bobby Bodenheimer. Determining peripersonal space boundaries and their plasticity in relation to object and agent characteristics in an immersive virtual environment. In 2020 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR), pages 332–342, 2020. https: //doi.org/10.1109/VR46266.2020.00053.
- [BRP<sup>+</sup>23] Michael Bonfert, Anke V. Reinschluessel, Susanne Putze, Yenchin Lai, Dmitry Alexandrovsky, Rainer Malaka, and Tanja Döring. Seeing the faces is so important—experiences from online team meetings on commercial virtual reality platforms. *Frontiers in Virtual Reality*, 3, 2023. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/frvir.2022.945791.
- [BSM<sup>+</sup>13] Pierre Bourdin, Josep Maria Tomàs Sanahuja, Carlota Crusafon Moya, Patrick Haggard, and Mel Slater. Persuading people in a remote destination to sing by beaming there. In *Proceedings of the 19th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology*, VRST '13, pages 123–132, New York, NY, USA, 2013. ACM. http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/2503713.2503724.
- [BVOM18] Florian Brühlmann, Beat Vollenwyder, Klaus Opwis, and Elisa D. Mekler. Measuring the "why" of interaction: Development and validation of the user motivation inventory (umi). In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '18, page 1–13, New York, NY, USA, 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3173574. 3173680.
- [BWC<sup>+</sup>21] Steven Baker, Jenny Waycott, Romina Carrasco, Ryan M. Kelly, Anthony John Jones, Jack Lilley, Briony Dow, Frances Batchelor, Thuong Hoang, and Frank Vetere. Avatar-mediated communication in social vr: An in-depth exploration of older adult interaction in an emerging communication platform. In Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '21, New York, NY, USA, 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764. 3445752.
- [BY06] Jeremy N Bailenson and Nick Yee. A longitudinal study of task performance, head movements, subjective report, simulator sickness, and transformed social interaction in collaborative virtual environments. *Presence*, 15(6):699–716, 2006. https://doi.org/10.1162/pres.15.6.699.
- [BY08] Jeremy N Bailenson and Nick Yee. Virtual interpersonal touch: Haptic interaction and copresence in collaborative virtual environments. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 37(1):5–14, 2008. https: //doi.org/10.1007/s11042-007-0171-2.
- [CCWZ22] James J Cummings, Tiernan J Cahill, Erin Wertz, and Qiankun Zhong. Psychological predictors of consumer-level virtual reality technology adoption and usage. Virtual Reality, pages 1–23, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-022-00736-1.

- [CG15] Amanda Carpenter and Kathryn Greene. Social penetration theory. The international encyclopedia of interpersonal communication, pages 1-4, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9781118540190.wbeic160.
- [CJL22] Seung Jin Chung, Hyun-jae Jo, and Hyunju Lee. A comparison of behaviours and responses towards different social vr environments in initial social interaction. Archives of Design Research, 35(3):53–67, 2022. https://doi.org/10.15187/adr.2022.08.35.3.53.
- [CKM21] Dixuan Cui, Dominic Kao, and Christos Mousas. Toward understanding embodied human-virtual character interaction through virtual and tactile hugging. Computer Animation and Virtual Worlds, 32(3-4):e2009, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1002/cav.2009.
- [CWOGP21] Tara Collingwoode-Williams, Zoë O'Shea, Marco Gillies, and Xueni Pan. The impact of selfrepresentation and consistency in collaborative virtual environments. Frontiers in Virtual Reality, 2, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.648601.
- [DKGS22] Elena Dzardanova, Vlasios Kasapakis, Damianos Gavalas, and Stella Sylaiou. Virtual reality as a communication medium: a comparative study of forced compliance in virtual reality versus physical world. *Virtual Reality*, 26(2):737–757, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-021-00564-9.
- [DL86] Richard L Daft and Robert H Lengel. Organizational information requirements, media richness and structural design. *Management science*, 32(5):554–571, 1986. https://doi.org/10.1287/ mnsc.32.5.554.
- [DSSL<sup>+</sup>23] John Desnoyers-Stewart, Ekaterina Stepanova, Pinyao Liu, Alexandra Kitson, Patrick P. Pennefather, Vladislav Rhyzhov, and Bernhard E. Riecke. Embodied telepresent connection (etc): Exploring virtual social touch through pseudohaptics. In *Proceedings of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '23, New York, NY, USA, 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. *To Appear*.
- [DWG<sup>+</sup>22] Georgiana Cristina Dobre, Marta Wilczkowiak, Marco Gillies, Xueni Pan, and Sean Rintel. Nice is different than good: Longitudinal communicative effects of realistic and cartoon avatars in real mixed reality work meetings. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI EA '22, New York, NY, USA, 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3491101.3519628.
- [FA21] Guo Freeman and Dane Acena. Hugging from a distance: Building interpersonal relationships in social virtual reality. In ACM International Conference on Interactive Media Experiences, IMX '21, page 84–95, New York, NY, USA, 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/ 10.1145/3452918.3458805.
- [FA22] Guo Freeman and Dane Acena. "acting out" queer identity: The embodied visibility in social virtual reality. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact., 6(CSCW2), nov 2022. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3555153.
- [FALH20] Rebecca Fribourg, Ferran Argelaguet, Anatole Lécuyer, and Ludovic Hoyet. Avatar and sense of embodiment: Studying the relative preference between appearance, control and point of view. IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, 26(5):2062–2072, 2020. https://doi.org/10. 1109/TVCG.2020.2973077.
- [FAMS22] Guo Freeman, Dane Acena, Nathan J. McNeese, and Kelsea Schulenberg. Working together apart through embodiment: Engaging in everyday collaborative activities in social virtual reality. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact., 6(GROUP), jan 2022. https://doi.org/10.1145/3492836.
- [Fie02] Tiffany Field. Infants' need for touch. Human Development, 45(2):100–103, 2002. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26763664.
- [FLTA21] Martina Fusaro, Matteo P Lisi, Gaetano Tieri, and Salvatore Maria Aglioti. Heterosexual, gay, and lesbian people's reactivity to virtual caresses on their embodied avatars' taboo zones. *Scientific reports*, 11(1):1–12, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-81168-w.
- [FM21] Guo Freeman and Divine Maloney. Body, avatar, and me: The presentation and perception of self in social virtual reality. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact., 4(CSCW3), jan 2021. https://doi.org/ 10.1145/3432938.

- [FMAB22] Guo Freeman, Divine Maloney, Dane Acena, and Catherine Barwulor. (re)discovering the physical body online: Strategies and challenges to approach non-cisgender identity in social virtual reality. In Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '22, New York, NY, USA, 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3491102. 3502082.
- [FZMA22] Guo Freeman, Samaneh Zamanifard, Divine Maloney, and Dane Acena. Disturbing the peace: Experiencing and mitigating emerging harassment in social virtual reality. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact., 6(CSCW1), apr 2022. https://doi.org/10.1145/3512932.
- [GDC<sup>+</sup>20] Geoffrey Gorisse, Charlotte Dubosc, Olivier Christmann, Sylvain Fleury, Killian Poinsot, and Simon Richir. Effect of avatar anthropomorphism on body ownership, attractiveness and collaboration in immersive virtual environments. In CAT-EGVE 2020-International Conference on Artificial Reality and Telexistence and Eurographics Symposium on Virtual Environments. The Eurographics Association, 2020. https://doi.org/10.2312/egve.20201261.
- [GFCO<sup>+</sup>20] Mar Gonzalez-Franco, Brian Cohn, Eyal Ofek, Dalila Burin, and Antonella Maselli. The self-avatar follower effect in virtual reality. In 2020 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR), pages 18–25, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1109/VR46266.2020.00019.
- [GFP18] Mar Gonzalez-Franco and Tabitha C. Peck. Avatar embodiment. towards a standardized questionnaire. *Frontiers in Robotics and AI*, 5, 2018. https://doi.org/10.3389/frobt.2018.00074.
- [GFPRFS14] Mar González-Franco, Tabitha C Peck, Antoni Rodríguez-Fornells, and Mel Slater. A threat to a virtual hand elicits motor cortex activation. *Experimental brain research*, 232:875–887, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-013-3800-1.
- [GML20] Sandro Galea, Raina M. Merchant, and Nicole Lurie. The Mental Health Consequences of COVID-19 and Physical Distancing: The Need for Prevention and Early Intervention. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 180(6):817–818, 06 2020. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.1562.
- [HB04] Chad Harms and Frank Biocca. Internal consistency and reliability of the networked minds social presence measure. 2004. Seventh Annual International Workshop: Presence 2004.
- [HB14] Diana Hassouneh and Malaika Brengman. A motivation-based typology of social virtual world users. Computers in Human Behavior, 33:330–338, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb. 2013.08.012.
- [HB19] Sabrina A. Huang and Jeremy Bailenson. Close Relationships and Virtual Reality, pages 49–65. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-02631-8\_4.
- [HHB22] Aleshia Taylor Hayes, Charles E. Hughes, and Jeremy Bailenson. Identifying and coding behavioral indicators of social presence with a social presence behavioral coding system. Frontiers in Virtual Reality, 3, 2022. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2022.773448.
- [HMD<sup>+</sup>23] Eugy Han, Mark R Miller, Cyan DeVeaux, Hanseul Jun, Kristine L Nowak, Jeffrey T Hancock, Nilam Ram, and Jeremy N Bailenson. People, places, and time: a large-scale, longitudinal study of transformed avatars and environmental context in group interaction in the metaverse. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 28(2), 01 2023. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcmc/zmac031.
- [HNN83] Richard Heslin, Tuan D Nguyen, and Michele L Nguyen. Meaning of touch: The case of touch from a stranger or same sex person. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 7(3):147–157, 1983. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF00986945.
- [HOB18] Fernanda Herrera, Soo Youn Oh, and Jeremy N. Bailenson. Effect of Behavioral Realism on Social Interactions Inside Collaborative Virtual Environments. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments*, 27(2):163–182, 02 2018. https://doi.org/10.1162/pres\_a\_00324.
- [HOP<sup>+</sup>20] Emily A Holmes, Rory C O'Connor, V Hugh Perry, Irene Tracey, Simon Wessely, Louise Arseneault, Clive Ballard, Helen Christensen, Roxane Cohen Silver, Ian Everall, et al. Multidisciplinary research priorities for the covid-19 pandemic: a call for action for mental health science. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(6):547–560, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30168-1.

- [HPDW22] Daniel Hepperle, Christian Felix Purps, Jonas Deuchler, and Matthias Wölfel. Aspects of visual avatar appearance: Self-representation, display type, and uncanny valley. *Vis. Comput.*, 38(4):1227–1244, apr 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00371-021-02151-0.
- [HRN<sup>+</sup>20] Matthias Hoppe, Beat Rossmy, Daniel Peter Neumann, Stephan Streuber, Albrecht Schmidt, and Tonja-Katrin Machulla. A human touch: Social touch increases the perceived human-likeness of agents in virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '20, page 1–11, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3313831.3376719.
- [HS92] Jim Hollan and Scott Stornetta. Beyond being there. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '92, page 119–125, New York, NY, USA, 1992. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/142750.142769.
- [HSA<sup>+</sup>17] Ville Johannes Harjunen, Michiel Spapé, Imtiaj Ahmed, Giulio Jacucci, and N Ravaja. Individual differences in affective touch: Behavioral inhibition and gender define how an interpersonal touch is perceived. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 107:88–95, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2016.11.047.
- [IIY<sup>+</sup>22] Junko Ichino, Masahiro Ide, Hitomi Yokoyama, Hirotoshi Asano, Hideo Miyachi, and Daisuke Okabe. "i've talked without intending to": Self-disclosure and reciprocity via embodied avatar. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact., 6(CSCW2), nov 2022. https://doi.org/10.1145/3555583.
- [ISK<sup>+</sup>22] Shota Imaizumi, Hayata Saito, Masaki Kitajima, Kei Kanari, and Mie Sato. Effects ofhand color change on user's psychological state during a pseudo handshake. In 2022 International Conference on Cyberworlds (CW), pages 126–129, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1109/CW55638.2022.00028.
- [JPS<sup>+</sup>21] Carey Jewitt, Sara Price, Jürgen Steimle, Gijs Huisman, Lili Golmohammadi, Narges Pourjafarian, William Frier, Thomas Howard, Sima Ipakchian Askari, Michela Ornati, Sabrina Panëels, and Judith Weda. Manifesto for digital social touch in crisis. *Frontiers in Computer Science*, 3, 2021. https: //doi.org/10.3389/fcomp.2021.754050.
- [JSY<sup>+</sup>19] Marcel Jonas, Steven Said, Daniel Yu, Chris Aiello, Nicholas Furlo, and Douglas Zytko. Towards a taxonomy of social vr application design. In *Extended Abstracts of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play Companion Extended Abstracts*, CHI PLAY '19 Extended Abstracts, page 437–444, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/ 10.1145/3341215.3356271.
- [JY85] Stanley E. Jones and A. Elaine Yarbrough. A naturalistic study of the meanings of touch. *Communication Monographs*, 52(1):19–56, 1985. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637758509376094.
- [KCEK19] Andrey Krekhov, Sebastian Cmentowski, Katharina Emmerich, and Jens Krüger. Beyond human: Animals as an escape from stereotype avatars in virtual reality games. In *Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play*, CHI PLAY '19, page 439–451, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3311350.3347172.
- [KCK18] Andrey Krekhov, Sebastian Cmentowski, and Jens Krüger. Vr animals: Surreal body ownership in virtual reality games. In Proceedings of the 2018 Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play Companion Extended Abstracts, CHI PLAY '18 Extended Abstracts, page 503–511, New York, NY, USA, 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3270316. 3271531.
- [KD02] Mark L Knapp and John A Daly. Handbook of interpersonal communication. Sage, 2002.
- [KHG73] Elihu Katz, Hadassah Haas, and Michael Gurevitch. On the use of the mass media for important things. *American sociological review*, pages 164–181, 1973. https://doi.org/10.2307/2094393.
- [KKS<sup>+</sup>20] Martin Kocur, Melanie Kloss, Valentin Schwind, Christian Wolff, and Niels Henze. Flexing muscles in virtual reality: Effects of avatars' muscular appearance on physical performance. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play, CHI PLAY '20, page 193–205, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3410404.3414261.

- [KMSI19] Anya Kolesnichenko, Joshua McVeigh-Schultz, and Katherine Isbister. Understanding emerging design practices for avatar systems in the commercial social vr ecology. In *Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference*, DIS '19, page 241–252, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3322276.3322352.
- [KQ14] Sonja Kröger and Thorsten Quandt. Get together: Console playing as a group experience. In Thorsten Quandt and Sonja Kröger, editors, *Multiplayer*, Routledge studies in European communication research and education, pages 147–161. Routledge, London, 2014.
- [KW21] Negar Khojasteh and Andrea Stevenson Won. Working together on diverse tasks: A longitudinal study on individual workload, presence and emotional recognition in collaborative virtual environments. *Frontiers in Virtual Reality*, 2, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.643331.
- [LDC<sup>+00]</sup> Matthew Lombard, Theresa B Ditton, Daliza Crane, Bill Davis, Gisela Gil-Egui, Karl Horvath, Jessica Rossman, and S Park. Measuring presence: A literature-based approach to the development of a standardized paper-and-pencil instrument. In *Third international workshop on presence, delft, the netherlands*, volume 240, pages 2–4, 2000. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document? repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=6a2bfd20b2933f075dc505d3048831f6443ad8d3.
- [LDW09] Matthew Lombard, Theresa B Ditton, and Lisa Weinstein. Measuring presence: the temple presence inventory. In Proceedings of the 12th annual international workshop on presence, pages 1–15, 2009. http: //matthewlombard.com/ISPR/Proceedings/2009/Lombard\_et\_al.pdf.
- [LFSA23] Lingyuan Li, Guo Freeman, Kelsea Schulenberg, and Dane Acena. "we cried on each other"s shoulders": How lgbtq+ individuals experience social support in social virtual reality. In Proceedings of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '23, New York, NY, USA, 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. To Appear.
- [LKR<sup>+</sup>19] Jie Li, Yiping Kong, Thomas Röggla, Francesca De Simone, Swamy Ananthanarayan, Huib de Ridder, Abdallah El Ali, and Pablo Cesar. Measuring and understanding photo sharing experiences in social virtual reality. CHI '19, page 1–14, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300897.
- [LL22] Jinghuai Lin and Marc Erich Latoschik. Digital body, identity and privacy in social virtual reality: A systematic review. Frontiers in Virtual Reality, 3, 2022. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir. 2022.974652.
- [LLL15] Jean-Luc Lugrin, Maximilian Landeck, and Marc Erich Latoschik. Avatar embodiment realism and virtual fitness training. In 2015 IEEE Virtual Reality (VR), pages 225–226, 2015. https://doi. org/10.1109/VR.2015.7223377.
- [LRG<sup>+</sup>17] Marc Erich Latoschik, Daniel Roth, Dominik Gall, Jascha Achenbach, Thomas Waltemate, and Mario Botsch. The effect of avatar realism in immersive social virtual realities. In *Proceedings of the 23rd ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology*, VRST '17, New York, NY, USA, 2017. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3139131.3139156.
- [LS21] Qiaoxi Liu and Anthony Steed. Social virtual reality platform comparison and evaluation using a guided group walkthrough method. Frontiers in Virtual Reality, 2, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3389/ frvir.2021.668181.
- [LSJ<sup>+</sup>21] Jie Li, Shishir Subramanyam, Jack Jansen, Yanni Mei, Ignacio Reimat, Kinga Ławicka, and Pablo Cesar. Evaluating the user experience of a photorealistic social vr movie. In 2021 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality (ISMAR), pages 284–293, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1109/ ISMAR52148.2021.00044.
- [LW22] Marc Erich Latoschik and Carolin Wienrich. Congruence and plausibility, not presence: Pivotal conditions for xr experiences and effects, a novel approach. Frontiers in Virtual Reality, 3, 2022. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2022.694433.
- [MF20] Divine Maloney and Guo Freeman. Falling asleep together: What makes activities in social virtual reality meaningful to users. In *Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play*, CHI PLAY '20, page 510–521, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3410404.3414266.

- [MFR20] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Andrew Robb. A virtual space for all: Exploring children's experience in social virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play*, CHI PLAY '20, page 472–483, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3410404.3414268.
- [MFR21] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Andrew Robb. Stay connected in an immersive world: Why teenagers engage in social virtual reality. In *Interaction Design and Children*, IDC '21, page 69–79, New York, NY, USA, 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3459990.3460703.
- [MFW20] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Donghee Yvette Wohn. "talking without a voice": Understanding non-verbal communication in social virtual reality. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 4(CSCW2), oct 2020. https://doi.org/10.1145/3415246.
- [MLC<sup>+</sup>22] Mario Montagud, Jie Li, Gianluca Cernigliaro, Abdallah El Ali, Sergi Fernández, and Pablo Cesar. Towards socialvr: evaluating a novel technology for watching videos together. *Virtual Reality*, pages 1–21, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-022-00651-5.
- [MRBM08] Ciara McCabe, Edmund T Rolls, Amy Bilderbeck, and Francis McGlone. Cognitive influences on the affective representation of touch and the sight of touch in the human brain. *Social cognitive and affective neuroscience*, 3(2):97–108, 2008. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsn005.
- [MS13] Antonella Maselli and Mel Slater. The building blocks of the full body ownership illusion. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 2013. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00083.
- [MS18] Fares Moustafa and Anthony Steed. A longitudinal study of small group interaction in social virtual reality. VRST '18, New York, NY, USA, 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3281505.3281527.
- [MSI21] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz and Katherine Isbister. The case for "weird social" in vr/xr: A vision of social superpowers beyond meatspace. In Extended Abstracts of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI EA '21, New York, NY, USA, 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411763.3450377.
- [MSK<sup>+</sup>21] Dario Alfonso Cuello Mejía, Aoba Saito, Mitsuhiko Kimoto, Takamasa Iio, Katsunori Shimohara, Hidenobu Sumioka, Hiroshi Ishiguro, and Masahiro Shiomi. Modeling of pre-touch reaction distance for faces in a virtual environment. *Journal of Information Processing*, 29:657–666, 2021. https: //doi.org/10.2197/ipsjjip.29.657.
- [MSKI19] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz, Anya Kolesnichenko, and Katherine Isbister. Shaping pro-social interaction in vr: An emerging design framework. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '19, page 1–12, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300794.
- [MSMSMI18] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz, Elena Márquez Segura, Nick Merrill, and Katherine Isbister. What's it mean to "be social" in vr? mapping the social vr design ecology. In Proceedings of the 2018 ACM Conference Companion Publication on Designing Interactive Systems, DIS '18 Companion, page 289–294, New York, NY, USA, 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3197391. 3205451.
- [MZF20] Divine Maloney, Samaneh Zamanifard, and Guo Freeman. Anonymity vs. familiarity: Self-disclosure and privacy in social virtual reality. In Proceedings of the 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology, VRST '20, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418967.
- [NGS22a] Vivek Nair, Gonzalo Munilla Garrido, and Dawn Song. Exploring the unprecedented privacy risks of the metaverse, 2022. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2207.13176.
- [NGS22b] Vivek Nair, Gonzalo Munilla Garrido, and Dawn Song. Going incognito in the metaverse, 2022. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2208.05604.
- [OBW18] Catherine S. Oh, Jeremy N. Bailenson, and Gregory F. Welch. A systematic review of social presence: Definition, antecedents, and implications. *Frontiers in Robotics and AI*, 5, 2018. https://doi. org/10.3389/frobt.2018.00114.

- [Oma00] Julia Omarzu. A disclosure decision model: Determining how and when individuals will self-disclose. Personality and Social Psychology Review, 4(2):174–185, 2000. https://doi.org/10.1207/ S15327957PSPR0402\_05.
- [ONA<sup>+</sup>21] Akimi Oyanagi, Takuji Narumi, Kazuma Aoyama, Kenichiro Ito, Tomohiro Amemiya, and Michitaka Hirose. Impact of long-term use of an avatar to ivbo in the social vr. In Sakae Yamamoto and Hirohiko Mori, editors, Human Interface and the Management of Information. Information Presentation and Visualization, pages 322–336, Cham, 2021. Springer International Publishing. https: //doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-78321-1\_25.
- [OWP23] Tomasz Oleksy, Anna Wnuk, and Małgorzata Piskorska. Migration to the metaverse and its predictors: Attachment to virtual places and metaverse-related threat. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 141:107642, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2022.107642.
- [Per16] Tekla S. Perry. Virtual reality goes social. IEEE Spectrum, 53(1):56–57, 2016. https://doi.org/ 10.1109/MSPEC.2016.7367470.
- [PHM22] Roosa Piitulainen, Perttu Hämäläinen, and Elisa D Mekler. Vibing together: Dance experiences in social virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '22, New York, NY, USA, 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10. 1145/3491102.3501828.
- [PKAH20] Mark J Pelletier, Alexandra Krallman, Frank G Adams, and Tyler Hancock. One size doesn't fit all: a uses and gratifications analysis of social media platforms. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIM-10-2019-0159.
- [PS17] Ye Pan and Anthony Steed. The impact of self-avatars on trust and collaboration in shared virtual environments. *PloS one*, 12(12):e0189078, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189078.
- [PSAS13] Tabitha C. Peck, Sofia Seinfeld, Salvatore M. Aglioti, and Mel Slater. Putting yourself in the skin of a black avatar reduces implicit racial bias. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 22(3):779–787, 2013. https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2013.04.016.
- [RBB<sup>+</sup>22] Shane L. Rogers, Rebecca Broadbent, Jemma Brown, Alan Fraser, and Craig P. Speelman. Realistic motion avatars are the future for social interaction in virtual reality. *Frontiers in Virtual Reality*, 2, 2022. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.750729.
- [RBG<sup>+</sup>22] Carine Rognon, Taylor Bunge, Meiyuzi Gao, Chip Conor, Benjamin Stephens-Fripp, Casey Brown, and Ali Israr. An online survey on the perception of mediated social touch interaction and device design. *IEEE Transactions on Haptics*, 15(2):372–381, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1109/TOH.2022. 3141339.
- [RBK<sup>+</sup>19] Daniel Roth, Gary Bente, Peter Kullmann, David Mal, Chris Felix Purps, Kai Vogeley, and Marc Erich Latoschik. Technologies for social augmentations in user-embodied virtual reality. In Proceedings of the 25th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology, VRST '19, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3359996.3364269.
- [RBLG20] Rabindra Ratan, David Beyea, Benjamin J. Li, and Luis Graciano. Avatar characteristics induce users' behavioral conformity with small-to-medium effect sizes: a meta-analysis of the proteus effect. *Media Psychology*, 23(5):651–675, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/15213269.2019.1623698.
- [RL20] D. Roth and M. Latoschik. Construction of the virtual embodiment questionnaire (veq). IEEE Transactions on Visualization & Computer Graphics, 26(12):3546–3556, dec 2020. https://doi.org/10. 1109/TVCG.2020.3023603.
- [RPM<sup>+</sup>21] Radiah Rivu, Ken Pfeuffer, Philipp Müller, Yomna Abdelrahman, Andreas Bulling, and Florian Alt. Altering non-verbal cues to implicitly direct attention in social vr. In *Proceedings of the 2021 ACM Symposium on Spatial User Interaction*, SUI '21, New York, NY, USA, 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3485279.3485309.
- [RSFHO<sup>+</sup>22] Carine Rognon, Benjamin Stephens-Fripp, Jess Hartcher-O'Brien, Bob Rost, and Ali Israr. Linking haptic parameters to the emotional space for mediated social touch. Frontiers in Computer Science, 4, 2022. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomp.2022.826545.

[Rug00]	Thomas E Ruggiero. Uses and gratifications theory in the 21st century. <i>Mass communication &amp; society</i> , 3(1):3–37, 2000. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327825MCS0301_02.
[RW20]	Jens Reinhardt and Katrin Wolf. Go-through: Disabling collision to access obstructed paths and open occluded views in social vr. In <i>Proceedings of the Augmented Humans International Conference</i> , AHs '20, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3384657.3384784.
[SBB <sup>+</sup> 22]	Mel Slater, Domna Banakou, Alejandro Beacco, Jaime Gallego, Francisco Macia-Varela, and Ramon Oliva. A separate reality: An update on place illusion and plausibility in virtual reality. <i>Frontiers in Virtual Reality</i> , 3, 2022. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2022.914392.
[SBW17]	Richard Skarbez, Frederick P. Brooks, Jr., and Mary C. Whitton. A survey of presence and related concepts. <i>ACM Comput. Surv.</i> , 50(6), nov 2017. https://doi.org/10.1145/3134301.
[SEKA22]	Nouran Sadek, Passant Elagroudy, Ali Khalil, and Slim Abdennadher. The superhero pose: Enhancing physical performance in exergames by embodying celebrity avatars in virtual reality. In <i>Nordic Human-Computer Interaction Conference</i> , NordiCHI '22, New York, NY, USA, 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3546155.3546707.
[SEM18]	Philipp Sykownik, Katharina Emmerich, and Maic Masuch. Exploring patterns of shared control in dig- ital multiplayer games. In Adrian David Cheok, Masahiko Inami, and Teresa Romão, editors, <i>Advances in Computer Entertainment Technology</i> , pages 847–867, Cham, 2018. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-76270-8_57.
[SGZM21]	Philipp Sykownik, Linda Graf, Christoph Zils, and Maic Masuch. The most social platform ever? a survey about activities & motives of social vr users. In <i>2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces</i> ( <i>VR</i> ), pages 546–554, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1109/VR50410.2021.00079.
[SH17]	Max Sjöblom and Juho Hamari. Why do people watch others play video games? an empirical study on the motivations of twitch users. <i>Computers in human behavior</i> , 75:985–996, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.10.019.
[SKE <sup>+</sup> 23]	Philipp Sykownik, Sukran Karaosmanoglu, Katharina Emmerich, Frank Steinicke, and Maic Masuch. Vr almost there - simulating co-located multiplayer experiences in social virtual reality. In <i>Proceedings of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems</i> , CHI '23, New York, NY, USA, 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3544548.3581230.
[Sla09]	Mel Slater. Place illusion and plausibility can lead to realistic behaviour in immersive virtual environ- ments. <i>Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences</i> , 364(1535):3549–3557, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0138.
[SLF <sup>+</sup> 23]	Kelsea Schulenberg, Lingyuan Li, Guo Freeman, Samaneh Zamanifard, and nathan McNeese. Towards leveraging ai-based moderation to address emergent harassment in social virtual reality. In <i>Proceedings</i> <i>of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems</i> , CHI '23, New York, NY, USA, 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. <i>To Appear</i> .
[SM20]	Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. The experience of social touch in multi-user virtual reality. In <i>Proceedings of the 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology</i> , VRST '20, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418944.
[SM21]	Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. Developing a framework for designing augmentations of social touch in multiuser virtual reality. In Carolin Wienrich, Philipp Wintersberger, and Benjamin Weyers, editors, <i>Mensch und Computer 2021 - Workshopband</i> , Bonn, 2021. Gesellschaft für Informatik e.V. https://doi.org/10.18420/muc2021-mci-ws16-241.
[SMFM22]	Philipp Sykownik, Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Maic Masuch. Something personal from the metaverse: Goals, topics, and contextual factors of self-disclosure in commercial social vr. In <i>Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems</i> , CHI '22, New York, NY, USA, 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3491102.3502008.
[SN18]	Harrison Jesse Smith and Michael Neff. Communication behavior in embodied virtual reality. In <i>Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems</i> , CHI '18, page 1–12, New

York, NY, USA, 2018. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3173574.3173863.

- [SNH<sup>+</sup>19] Juulia T Suvilehto, Lauri Nummenmaa, Tokiko Harada, Robin IM Dunbar, Riitta Hari, Robert Turner, Norihiro Sadato, and Ryo Kitada. Cross-cultural similarity in relationship-specific social touching. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 286(1901):20190467, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb. 2019.0467.
- [SNKI13] Hidenobu Sumioka, Aya Nakae, Ryota Kanai, and Hiroshi Ishiguro. Huggable communication medium decreases cortisol levels. Scientific reports, 3:3034, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep03034.
- [SP19] Justyna Swidrak and Grzegorz Pochwatko. Being touched by a virtual human.: Relationships between heart rate, gender, social status, and compliance. In Proceedings of the 19th ACM International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents, pages 49–55. ACM, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3308532.3329467.
- [SPM11] Jaakko Stenros, Janne Paavilainen, and Frans Mayra. Social interaction in games. International Journal of Arts and Technology, 4(3):342, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJART.2011. 041486.
- [SSSVB10] Mel Slater, Bernhard Spanlang, Maria V. Sanchez-Vives, and Olaf Blanke. First person experience of body transfer in virtual reality. *PLOS ONE*, 5(5):1–9, 05 2010. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0010564.
- [SSW19] Yilu Sun, Omar Shaikh, and Andrea Stevenson Won. Nonverbal synchrony in virtual reality. PLOS ONE, 14(9):1–28, 09 2019. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0221803.
- [Ste03] N. Stephenson. Snow Crash: A Novel. Random House Publishing Group, 2003.
- [Sto87] Joseph P. Stokes. The relation of loneliness and self-disclosure. In Valerian J. Derlega and John H. Berg, editors, Self-Disclosure: Theory, Research, and Therapy, pages 175–201. Springer US, Boston, MA, 1987. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-3523-6\_9.
- [SW97] Mel Slater and Sylvia Wilbur. A Framework for Immersive Virtual Environments (FIVE): Speculations on the Role of Presence in Virtual Environments. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments*, 6(6):603–616, 12 1997. https://doi.org/10.1162/pres.1997.6.6.603.
- [SW21] Yilu Sun and Andrea Stevenson Won. Despite appearances: Comparing emotion recognition in abstract and humanoid avatars using nonverbal behavior in social virtual reality. *Frontiers in Virtual Reality*, 2, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.694453.
- [SWC76] John Short, Ederyn Williams, and Bruce Christie. *The social psychology of telecommunications*, volume 19. Wiley London, 1976. https://lib.ugent.be/catalog/rug01:000424961.
- [SZ21] Radosław Sterna and Katja Zibrek. Psychology in virtual reality: Toward a validated measure of social presence. Frontiers in Psychology, 12, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021. 705448.
- [TB22] Mattia Thibault and Mila Bujic. "mirror dwellers": Social vr, identity and internet culture. In DiGRA'22– Proceedings of the 2022 DiGRA International Conference: Bringing Worlds Together. DiGRA online library, 2022. http://www.digra.org/digital-library/publications/mirrordwellers-social-vr-identity-and-internet-culture/.
- [TGL<sup>+</sup>22] Emily Towner, Jennifer Grint, Tally Levy, Sarah-Jayne Blakemore, and Livia Tomova. Revealing the self in a digital world: A systematic review of adolescent online and offline self-disclosure. *Current Opinion* in Psychology, 45:101309, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2022.101309.
- [THB20] Theresa Jean Tanenbaum, Nazely Hartoonian, and Jeffrey Bryan. "how do i make this thing smile?": An inventory of expressive nonverbal communication in commercial social virtual reality platforms. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '20, page 1–13, New York, NY, USA, 2020. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3313831.3376606.
- [THJ<sup>+</sup>22] Osku Torro, Jani Holopainen, Henri Jalo, Henri Pirkkalainen, and Antti Lähtevänoja. How to get things done in social virtual reality-a study of team cohesion in social virtual reality-enabled teams. 2022. http://hdl.handle.net/10125/79387.

- [TMG<sup>+</sup>22] Alexander Toet, Tina Mioch, Simon NB Gunkel, Omar Niamut, and Jan BF van Erp. Towards a multiscale qoe assessment of mediated social communication. *Quality and User Experience*, 7(1):4, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41233-022-00051-2.
- [Tom08] Mark Tomita. Exploratory study of touch zones in college students on two campuses. Californian Journal of Health Promotion, 6(1):1–22, Sep. 2008. https://doi.org/10.32398/cjhp.v6i1. 1289.
- [TRVC<sup>+</sup>16] Line Tremblay, Mélina Roy-Vaillancourt, Brahim Chebbi, Stéphane Bouchard, Michael Daoust, Jessica Dénommée, and Moriah Thorpe. Body image and anti-fat attitudes: an experimental study using a haptic virtual reality environment to replicate human touch. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 19(2):100–106, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2015.0226.
- [vBAH23] Vincent van Brakel, Miguel Barreda-Angeles, and Tilo Hartmann. Feelings of presence and perceived social support in social virtual reality platforms. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 139:107523, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2022.107523.
- [vHHTvE22] Martijn T. van Hattum, Gijs Huisman, Alexander Toet, and Jan B. F. van Erp. Connected through mediated social touch: "better than a like on facebook." a longitudinal explorative field study among geographically separated romantic couples. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 2022. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.817787.
- [VKJ<sup>+</sup>16] Kellie Vella, Madison Klarkowski, Daniel Johnson, Leanne Hides, and Peta Wyeth. The social context of video game play: Challenges and strategies. In Marcus Foth, Wendy Ju, Ronald Schroeter, and Stephen Viller, editors, *Proceedings of the 2016 ACM Conference on Designing Interactive Systems - DIS* '16, pages 761–772, New York, New York, USA, 2016. ACM Press. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 2901790.2901823.
- [WAL92] JOSEPH B. WALTHER. Interpersonal effects in computer-mediated interaction: A relational perspective. Communication Research, 19(1):52–90, 1992. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 009365092019001003.
- [WAL96] JOSEPH B. WALTHER. Computer-mediated communication: Impersonal, interpersonal, and hyperpersonal interaction. *Communication Research*, 23(1):3–43, 1996. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 009365096023001001.
- [WGR<sup>+</sup>18] Thomas Waltemate, Dominik Gall, Daniel Roth, Mario Botsch, and Marc Erich Latoschik. The impact of avatar personalization and immersion on virtual body ownership, presence, and emotional response. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 24(4):1643–1652, 2018. https://doi. org/10.1109/TVCG.2018.2794629.
- [WLV<sup>+</sup>21] Julie Williamson, Jie Li, Vinoba Vinayagamoorthy, David A. Shamma, and Pablo Cesar. Proxemics and social interactions in an instrumented virtual reality workshop. In *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '21, New York, NY, USA, 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445729.
- [WOGG<sup>+</sup>22] Julie R. Williamson, Joseph O'Hagan, John Alexis Guerra-Gomez, John H Williamson, Pablo Cesar, and David A. Shamma. Digital proxemics: Designing social and collaborative interaction in virtual environments. In Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI '22, New York, NY, USA, 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10. 1145/3491102.3517594.
- [WS98] Bob G. Witmer and Michael J. Singer. Measuring Presence in Virtual Environments: A Presence Questionnaire. Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments, 7(3):225-240, 06 1998. https: //doi.org/10.1162/105474698565686.
- [WWJ<sup>+</sup>21] Yuanjie Wu, Yu Wang, Sungchul Jung, Simon Hoermann, and Robert W. Lindeman. Using a fully expressive avatar to collaborate in virtual reality: Evaluation of task performance, presence, and attraction. Frontiers in Virtual Reality, 2, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.641296.
- [YB07] Nick Yee and Jeremy Bailenson. The Proteus Effect: The Effect of Transformed Self-Representation on Behavior. Human Communication Research, 33(3):271–290, 07 2007. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1468-2958.2007.00299.x.

- [YNR21] Tejaswini Yeleswarapu, Pranav Nair, and Nimmi Rangaswamy. "should we meet irl?": Gauging matches in virtual reality. In Proceedings of 19th European Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work. European Society for Socially Embedded Technologies (EUSSET), 2021. https://doi.org/10. 18420/ecscw2021\_ep07.
- [ZC23] Douglas Zytko and Jonathan Chan. The dating metaverse: Why we need to design for consent in social vr. IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics, pages 1–10, 2023. https://doi. org/10.1109/TVCG.2023.3247065.
- [ZCM21] Katja Zibrek, Joao Cabral, and Rachel McDonnell. Does synthetic voice alter social response to a photorealistic character in virtual reality? In Proceedings of the 14th ACM SIGGRAPH Conference on Motion, Interaction and Games, MIG '21, New York, NY, USA, 2021. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3487983.3488296.
- [ZDL<sup>+</sup>22] Kexin Zhang, Elmira Deldari, Zhicong Lu, Yaxing Yao, and Yuhang Zhao. "it's just part of me:" understanding avatar diversity and self-presentation of people with disabilities in social virtual reality. In Proceedings of the 24th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility, ASSETS '22, New York, NY, USA, 2022. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3517428.3544829.
- [ZF19] Samaneh Zamanifard and Guo Freeman. "the togetherness that we crave": Experiencing social vr in long distance relationships. CSCW '19, page 438–442, New York, NY, USA, 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/3311957.3359453.
- [ZF23] Samaneh Zamanifard and Guo Freeman. A surprise birthday party in vr: Leveraging social virtual reality to maintain existing close ties over distance. In Isaac Sserwanga, Anne Goulding, Heather Moulaison-Sandy, Jia Tina Du, António Lucas Soares, Viviane Hessami, and Rebecca D. Frank, editors, *Information for a Better World: Normality, Virtuality, Physicality, Inclusivity*, pages 268–285, Cham, 2023. Springer Nature Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-28032-0\_23.
- [ZHvdV17] Yuguang Zhao, Jaap Ham, and Jurgen van der Vlist. Persuasive virtual touch: The effect of artificial social touch on shopping behavior in virtual reality. In *International Workshop on Symbiotic Interaction*, pages 98–109. Springer, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-91593-7\_11.
- [ZJV<sup>+</sup>11] Zhongyun Zhoua, Xiao-Ling Jinb, Douglas R Vogelb, Yulin Fangb, and Xiaojian Chena. Individual motivations and demographic differences in social virtual world uses: An exploratory investigation in second life. International Journal of Information Management, 31:261–271, 2011. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2010.07.007.
- [ZMM19] Katja Zibrek, Sean Martin, and Rachel McDonnell. Is photorealism important for perception of expressive virtual humans in virtual reality? ACM Trans. Appl. Percept., 16(3), sep 2019. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3349609.
- [ZNO<sup>+</sup>20] Katja Zibrek, Benjamin Niay, Anne-Hélène Olivier, Ludovic Hoyet, Julien Pettre, and Rachel McDonnell. The effect of gender and attractiveness of motion on proximity in virtual reality. ACM Trans. Appl. Percept., 17(4), nov 2020. https://doi.org/10.1145/3419985.
- [ZNO<sup>+</sup>22] Katja Zibrek, Benjamin Niay, Anne-Hélène Olivier, Julien Pettré, Ludovic Hoyet, and Rachel McDonnell. Proximity in vr: The importance of character attractiveness and participant gender. In 2022 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces Abstracts and Workshops (VRW), pages 672–673, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1109/VRW55335.2022.00187.

# A. Attached Publications

For your personal use but not redistribution, you find attached the accepted author's version of the publication:

Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. 2020. The Experience of Social Touch in Multi-User Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (VRST '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 30, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418944

Philipp Sykownik philipp.sykownik@uni-due.de University Duisburg-Essen Duisburg, Germany

low intimacy body contact







Maic Masuch maic.masuch@uni-due.de University Duisburg-Essen Duisburg, Germany

high intimacy body contact

caress face

high-five

fist-bump

shoulder tap

caress arm

hug

Figure 1: Participants performed the interactions depicted above with a physically remote research assistant in VR. We compared the emotional experience of the two intimacy groups (high vs. low intimacy) regarding the influence of intimacy, direction of touch and sex of participant.

#### ABSTRACT

We present user study results on virtual body contact experience in a two-user VR scenario, in which participants performed different touches with a research assistant. The interaction evoked different emotional reactions in perceived relaxation, happiness, desire, anxiety, disgust, and fear. Congruent to physical social touch, the evaluation of virtual body contact was modulated by intimacy, touch direction, and sex. Further, individual comfort with interpersonal touch was positively associated with perceived relaxation and happiness. We discuss the results regarding implications for follow-up studies and infer implications for the use of social touch in social VR applications.

#### **CCS CONCEPTS**

• Human-centered computing  $\rightarrow$  Empirical studies in HCI; Virtual reality; Laboratory experiments.

#### **KEYWORDS**

social VR, multi-user VR, virtual reality, social touch, mediated social touch

VRST '20, November 1-4, 2020, Virtual Event, Canada

© 2020 Copyright held by the owner/author(s). ACM ISBN 978-1-4503-7619-8/20/11.

https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418944

#### ACM Reference Format:

Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. 2020. The Experience of Social Touch in Multi-User Virtual Reality. In 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (VRST '20), November 1-4, 2020, Virtual Event, Canada. ACM, New York, NY, USA, 11 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418944

#### **1 INTRODUCTION**

Given the advance of current VR hardware and ambitions in developing social VR environments such as Facebook Horizon, embodied social interactions within virtual worlds are now more accessible than ever. For instance, virtual social touch is already used as a social feature that adds to the overall user experience (e.g., a handshake for friending in RecRoom). Unfortunately, the freedom of embodied social interaction like virtual social touch seems not to be limited to positive experiences, as physical harassment (e.g., unwanted "touching" of avatars) is already occurring in social VR applications [5]. However, based on a current taxonomy for the design of social VR research and industry applications, social touch does not yet seem to have received significant attention in studies on social VR [29]. Although the taxonomy identifies physical expressions from the body of literature as a communication type of interest in current VR prototypes, the work cited in the taxonomy does not yet investigate this communication type as an independent feature. Further, a recent overview of nonverbal communication channels utilized by current social VR platforms also indicates that social touch is not yet considered as a core feature [56]. However, as interpersonal touch is so vital for human interaction in the physical world [12, 30, 47, 52], we do not see any reason to believe that it should not become a central aspect of virtual social interaction in the future. Therefore, we investigate the emotional reactions to virtual body contact to aid the design of virtual social interactions.

Permission to make digital or hard copies of part or all of this work for personal or classroom use is granted without fee provided that copies are not made or distributed for profit or commercial advantage and that copies bear this notice and the full citation on the first page. Copyrights for third-party components of this work must be honored. For all other uses, contact the owner/author(s).

#### 2 SOCIAL TOUCH

Humans have a natural need for social physical contact, and touching and being touched are evolutionary established basic modes for interaction [8, 12]. Early observational and more recent self-report studies indicate that the use and subjective evaluation of interpersonal touch in the real world underlies complex interactions of influencing factors like the social context, sex, direction of touch, the type and location of touch, and the type of relationship between interactors [15, 19, 24, 46, 53, 54].

Interpersonal touch is one of the primary means to foster and express intimacy between each other [24, 57], and different types and locations of touch are associated with varying degrees of intimacy [24, 30]. Generally, areas, where touch is perceived as less intimate are the hands, arms, and shoulders. These areas are allowed to be touched by strangers or emotionally distant acquaintances. Moderate intimacy areas include the face, stomach, chest, buttock, and the back of thighs, which are at most accepted to be touched by close friends, family members, or the partner. High intimacy areas are the thighs' insides and pubic areas and only accepted to be touched by the romantic partner. This classification is more or less consistently reported in the literature. However, it can differ in varying degree depending on the direction of touch (initiator and receiver), sex of touch initiator and receiver, their cultural background, and emotional bonding [25, 54, 58], as well as their sexual orientation [14], and individual traits like social anxiety [31, 51].

Among the various influencing factors, sex is one of the most often studied moderators on the effects of touch [24], and a recent meta-review of work concerned with the neurophysiology of affective touch supports the early indications regarding a moderating effect of sex on social touch perception [46]. Whereas for heterosexual women, in particular, a touch must reflect the relationship's intimacy to be appropriate and pleasant, heterosexual men tend to perceive intimate touches from stranger women as pleasant [25]. Generally, heterosexual women and men tend to prefer touches from women over touches from men [53, 54, 58]. Compared to different-sex touches, same-sex touch among heterosexual strangers was found to be often rated as unpleasant or inappropriate, but women tend to be more open to it than men [13, 25, 54].

#### **3 MEDIATED SOCIAL TOUCH IN VR**

Modern VR technology can induce a strong illusion of virtual body ownership or a sense of embodiment [28, 34, 40, 43, 49, 50]. As a consequence of perceiving an illusion of virtual body ownership, a user may experience events affecting his virtual body, as if they would affect his physical body. Thus, observing one's virtual body being touched by or touching another avatar could induce similar reactions as being touched in the real world. Indeed, technologically mediated social touch seems to evoke physiological, emotional, and behavioral reactions similar to its real-world counterpart [18, 27, 60, 60]. These findings mainly stem from the evaluation of haptic feedback devices that often transmit haptic stimuli independent from the visual presentation of the interaction [1, 18]. However, the development of such interfaces, in particular, to enable realistic haptic interaction in consumer VR, is an ongoing research area, that does not seem to evolve into affordable consumer-level devices soon [3, 9, 38]. Though, research on cross-modal sensory interactions indicates that visual cues alone seem to sufficiently induce reactions similar to being touched [4, 6, 41]. And as modern consumer VR technology is already a remarkable visual medium, we highlight the importance to understand the reactions to mediated social body contact that is primarily induced by visual cues generated by such hardware.

Findings from studies that used VR technology are based on diverse hardware and software configurations, sometimes limited by the technology available at that time. However, they can be classified according to the interaction partners (human-human vs. human-agent) and the direction of the touch investigated (participant initiates vs. receives touch).

One of the most recent studies compared human-agent and human-human interaction in VR were participants received a touch on their physical shoulder. The results indicate that incorporating social touch in the virtual interaction could increase the touching virtual agent's perceived humanness but not of the humancontrolled avatar's [26]. Another recent study (human-agent, receiving touch) found that the perceived appropriateness and erogeneity of virtual touch on different body zones of an embodied avatar seem to be modulated by the same influencing factors as physical touch (i.e., the location of touch on the virtual body, the sex of the touching avatar and the touched participant, and sexual orientation). The touches were induced solely by visual stimuli [14]. Another relatively recent study (human-agent, receiving and initiating) that offered low immersive fidelity compared to the two prior studies investigated the role of touch in economic decision making [55]. Contradicting to previous findings in VR settings (human-agent, receiving touch) [21, 65], the authors found no effect of touch on compliance behavior [55],

In a study on how anti-fat attitudes affect touching behavior with force-feedback devices in VR (human-agent, initiating) touch duration and strength were affected by factors like sex, anti-fat attitudes, and the virtual agent's characteristics, similar to face-to-face studies from that field [59]. Another study from that time (humanagent, receiving) found that virtual touch perception supported by tactile feedback seems to be modulated by facial expressions of the touching and individual differences related to participants' sex [20].

Seemingly the only prior study that investigated the effects of virtual touch in a multi-user VR scenario investigated the role of physical feedback to a received touch on one's virtual shoulder on the tendency to engage in an embarrassing social situation (i.e., sing in front other avatars) [7]. Tactile feedback to the touch did not indicate increased the tendency to sing, but the perceived realism of the touch [7]. An early study (human-agent, initiating touch) found that virtual agents tend to be touched with less force than virtual geometric objects using a force-feedback input device. Further, the force used on virtual agents depended on the location of the touch and the sex of the agent [2].

This short review illustrates that previous studies have rarely investigated direct emotional responses to virtual touch. If, only in limited ways and not in terms of several distinct emotions [14, 26]. Most studies have been interested in the haptic experience of touch

**Table 1: Application Structure** 

Scene	Purpose
Tutorial	Avatar customization: leg and arm length, sex, hair, skin tone, eyes. Virtual mirror. Dummy model to practice touches.
1st Interaction	Each user initiates and receives several social body contacts of intimacy group 1.
Pause	Users wait in separated virtual rooms in front of a mirror before entering the second inter- action scene.
2nd Interaction	Each user initiates and receives several social body contacts of intimacy group 2.

[7, 20], touching behavior, and behavioral responses [2, 7, 55, 59, 65]. Further, in particular, older but also some recent studies used hardware and software configurations that only provided limited immersive characteristics compared to today's available hardware (e.g., no virtual user representation [26, 55], no full-body movement [14]). Thus, we consider investigating the affective reactions to virtual touch in terms of distinct emotions in a multi-user VR scenario that resembles the immersive quality of current consumer social VR applications as a valuable contribution to this research field.

#### 4 APPLICATION DESCRIPTION

We developed a two-user VR application that requires users to perform various social body contacts while providing full-body user representations and movement tracking (see Figure 1). Table 1 provides a quick overview of the application structure.

Both users go through a tutorial scene separated from each other to take enough time to prepare for the actual interaction. The tutorial scene has three functions. The first is to familiarize users with the virtual environment and hardware. Further, their avatars' individualization in front of a virtual mirror should promote presence and embodiment [61]. Finally, users can become familiar with the execution of virtual body contact by practicing the social touch interactions on a static dummy avatar model.

We designed the two interaction scenes as a series of simple interaction tasks, where users have to perform different social touch interactions from one of the two groups that Figure 1 illustrates. The interaction takes place in a virtual living room where a monitor displays the interactions to perform. The application recognizes correctly performed interactions, plays a confirmation sound, and updates the virtual monitor's instructions correspondingly. For interactions with an initiator and receiver role, the system indicates who should initiate the interaction (e.g., A hugs B). In sum, the application requires each user to perform the following interactions:

- low intimacy body contacts: 8x high-five, 8x fist-bump, 4x initiating shoulder tap, 4x receiving shoulder tap
- high intimacy body contacts: 5x initiating caress arm, 5x receiving caress arm, 5x initiating caress face, 5x receiving caress face, 5x initiating a hug, 5x receiving a hug



Figure 2: Avatar base models with colliders that trigger pseudo-haptic effects on collision with virtual hands: partner's hands, head, shoulders, upper arms, and abdomen.



a) virtual hand does not permeate certain other body parts

b) collision of the virtual hand with near body parts is maintained

Figure 3: Our pseudo-haptics approach: a user's virtual hand is decoupled from a trigger object that follows the user's physical hand's movement. This decoupling is triggered when the collider attached to the trigger object collides with colliders of certain target body areas.

A pause scene separates the two interaction scenes. There, users can get used to the VR setting again after filling out desktop-based questionnaires in a study setting.

#### 4.1 Selection of Social Touches

Figure 1 presents the six social touch-types we used to induce low and high intimacy during the interactions. High-five, fist-bump, and shoulder patting are interactions related to body regions and tactile stimuli associated with low intimacy [25, 58]. Caressing the arm and face, or touching the torso (hugging) are associated with high intimacy [25, 58].

#### 4.2 Avatar Collision

To prevent users from permeating each other's avatar and thus increasing realism, we used pseudo-haptic effects. Pseudo-haptics aim to simulate haptic perceptions using visual cues [36, 37], usually realized by creating a positional offset between the virtual and

physical hand and have recently found to positively affect the immersive experience and enjoyment during interaction with virtual objects [44].

In our application, we added colliders to specific body areas of the avatar models (Figure 2). Thereby, the colliders associated with the avatar hands serve a particular function, as these are not attached to the virtual hands but an empty object that, in turn, follows the respective physical hands' movements. During the interaction, each avatar hand follows this object. When it detects a collision with a specific body part (e.g., the other user's upper arm), the associated hand model is attached to that location with a predefined pose. At the same time, the empty object keeps following the user's physical hand. The virtual hand, however, remains attached, as long as the hand collider detects a collision with the target area (Figure 3). Further, touching the other avatar triggers vibrotactile feedback from the Vive controller.

#### 4.3 Apparatus

The application was developed with the Unity game engine and tested with wireless HTC Vive and Vive Pro headsets. The avatars were created using the MakeHuman software and animated based on tracking information and inverse kinematics using the Final IK library for Unity. For simulating eye gaze behavior, we used the Simple Eye Gaze plugin for Unity. The networking components of the application were implemented using the Mirror Networking API. Voice Chat is not supported. User movement is tracked with the VR headset, two Vive controllers, and two Vive trackers mounted to the feet. Virtual hand postures can be adapted by pressing the grip button for a flat hand or trigger button for making a fist.

#### 5 USER STUDY

We contribute to the research on social VR and mediated social touch by evaluating the experience induced by virtual social touches of different levels of intimacy performed with a stranger. This scenario should reflect the social interactions in current social VR applications where users can interact with strangers worldwide. We evaluated the affective response in terms of several emotions of different valence. The stranger in our study was a remote research assistant to assert some degree of standardization. To control the potential influence of sexual orientation, we only recruited heterosexual participants that we required to interact with an avatar of the opposite sex. We let participants receive and initiate virtual social touches of different degrees of intimacy, to investigate the interrelationship between the direction of touch with intimacy and participants' sex. As we focus on the impact of intimacy, we subdivided only the intimacy groups into two separate interaction scenes, while integrating the receiving and initiating role in each of these two scenes. The alternative would have been to create four conditions. This design would have required participants to leave and enter VR three times between the conditions in contrast to only one time between the two conditions we have used.

#### 5.1 Participant Information

We conducted a within-subject user study with 44 participants living in Germany (27 female) aged from 18 to 31 (M = 23, SD =3.4). Participants customized their avatars to reflect their physical appearance (e.g., 24 participants selected the white, 16 the slightly tanned, three the tanned, and one the black skin color for their avatar). Most participants had few prior VR experiences: 2 use VR more than once a month; 13 indicated to use VR occasionally; 15 used VR once before; 14 never used VR before. Only two participants had prior experience with social VR applications. We recruited participants mainly at the university and via social network sites. Forty-one participants were students. Some students were required to collect hourly credits for passing a specific study course module and were compensated correspondingly (1.5 hours). The faculty's ethics committee approved the study.

#### 5.2 Procedure

Participants were welcomed and informed about the course of the study. They were told that they had to interact in VR with another participant who was unknown to them and in another physical space. The male and female avatar variants of the researchers had the same visual appearance in each study run (see 1). After giving their consent, participants were asked to complete a desktop-based questionnaire on demographic data. They were then familiarized and equipped with the VR equipment. Audio instructions guided the participants through the application. Participants were asked to make their avatar resemble their physical appearance by using predefined assets (i.e., the color of skin, eyes, and hair, hairstyle). After the tutorial, participants completed the two interaction scenes in randomized order. VR exposure lasted from 20 to 35 minutes. Eventually, we debriefed participants and informed them that they interacted with a research assistant. After each interaction scene, participants completed desktop-based questionnaires assessing their experience.

#### 5.3 Measures

*5.3.1 Individual Factors.* We measured the comfort with receiving and initiating interpersonal touch of the participants to evaluate if this real-world trait is associated with the experience of virtual social body contact. As a measure, we applied the Comfort with Interpersonal Touch (CIT) scale that requires to rate 6 items on 7-point likert-scale "strongly disagree" - "strongly agree"[62].

5.3.2 *Immersive Experience.* To control if the application offered a comparable immersive quality in both conditions (low and high intimacy), we assessed perceived spatial presence, aspects of virtual body ownership, and co-presence.

We applied the spatial presence subscale of the iGroup Presence Questionnaire (IPQ) [48]. Items were rated on a scale from 1-7 where higher scores indicate a higher presence. Four item scales ranged from "fully disagree" - "fully agree." One item scale ranged from "did not felt present" - "felt present."

To assess the possible sensation of embodiment based on movement tracking and avatar animation in our two conditions, we selected three items associated with body ownership and agency from an item pool used to construct an embodiment questionnaire [16] (items presented in Table 2). We selected only these three items as we considered them to be sufficient in terms of our analysis goal for the embodiment-related immersive experience. We thus did not intend to use them as a valid instrument to assess the extensive concept of embodiment but to analyze them on a per item basis.

Each item was rated on a scale ranging from 1-7 ("strongly disagree" - "strongly agree").

We applied the co-presence subscale of the Networked Minds Measure of Social Presence (NMMSP) [23]. This scale includes six items that allow us to rate how far our application generated a social situation with mutual attention and action-taking. Items were rated on a scale ranging from 1-7 ("strongly disagree" - "strongly agree").

We further applied the Simulator Sickness Questionnaoire (SSQ) to measure the perceived simulator sickness [33]. Spacial presence, embodiment, and co-presence were assessed after each interaction scene. The SSQ was applied at the end of the experiment.

5.3.3 *Emotional Experience.* We applied the Discrete Emotions Questionnaire (DEQ) [22] to assess the emotional response to the virtual touches in terms of experienced relaxation, happiness, desire, anxiety, disgust, and fear. The DEQ measures the intensity of several experienced emotions. It assesses each discrete emotion with four individual items (e.g., happiness: happy, satisfaction, enjoyment, liking). Participants had to indicate to what extent they experienced the corresponding feeling after each interaction scene, separated for initiated and received touches (scale from 1-7, "not at all"-"to some extent"-"extremely").

5.3.4 Internal Consistency of Measures. Most subscales yielded consistently acceptable  $\alpha$  values greater than .66 or .80 (i.e., CIT, SSQ, NMMSP, Relaxation, Happiness, Anxiety, Disgust, Fear)<sup>1</sup>. The embodiment items' internal consistency was questionable when combined into one subscale (between .50 and .60). Nevertheless, as already stated, we intended to analyze the items on a per question basis. Cronbach's  $\alpha$  values for desire were not consistently acceptable, as in two conditions, the value was between .50 and .60. We excluded the item "wanting" from this scale, resulting in  $\alpha$  values above .8 in each condition.

#### 6 **RESULTS**

First, we present the results of the analysis of the immersive experience. Second, we present the emotional experience's descriptive results, followed by an inferential analysis of the assumed effects of intimacy, touch direction, and sex. Third, we present results regarding the association between comfort with interpersonal touch and the emotional experience of received and initiated touch. All significance tests were conducted on a .05 significance level.

#### 6.1 Immersive Experience

The high and low intimacy interaction scenes induced moderate to high perception of spatial presence and co-presence (Table 2). Two Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were calculated due to rejected normality assumption of the difference scores. The test did not reveal a significant difference in terms of spatial presence (Z = -.698, p = 0.485) or co-presence (Z = -1.662, p = .096).

On average, participants had a moderate perception that the avatar was their own body and felt that they were controlling it as it was their own. Correspondingly, they seem not to have had the feeling, that it was moving on its own. Due to rejected normality assumption of the difference scores, as well as to non-symmetric score distributions we calculated three exact sign tests that did not Table 2: Immersive experience during low and high intimacy interactions assessed on 7-point likert-scales.

	M(S	M(SD)		
	low	high		
Presence				
Spatial Presence	5.49 (.864)	5.41 (.892)		
Embodiment				
It felt like the avatar	4.2 (1.59)	4.43 (1.59)		
was my own body.				
It felt like I could	5.34 (.963)	5.25 (.811)		
control it as if it was				
my own body.				
It felt like it was moving	1.18 (1.06)	1.25 (1.08)		
on its own.				
Social Presence				
Co-Presence	5.47 (1.04)	5.71 (.951)		

reveal a significant difference of median scores of the items between the two conditions: "my own body" exact binomial p (2-tailed) = 0.405, "control" exact binomial p (2-tailed) = 0.454, "on its own" exact binomial p (2-tailed) = 0.481.

No participant wanted to stop the experiment or mentioned impairments of well-being due to VR exposure. The mean total SSQ score is relatively low 31.79 (*SD* = 26.51), with 235.62 being the possible maximum score.

In conclusion, we retained the assumption that both conditions provided the same immersive experience and thus did not consider the immersive experience in the following analysis.

#### 6.2 Emotional Experience

Figure 4 illustrates the emotional experience based on the DEQ scores. Mean and median values indicate that participants felt relaxation and happiness with moderate intensity, slight feelings of anxiety, and little to no desire, disgust, or fear. Thus, most participants' perceived emotional reaction was moderately intense at most and somewhat of positive valence. However, the individual observations illustrated in Figure 4 indicate partly substantial inter-individual differences between participants' emotional experiences. Reported relaxation and happiness scores range between low and very high values independent from intimacy or the direction of touch. Further, some participants experienced moderate anxiety levels during low intimacy touches, and high degrees of anxiety during high intimacy touches, independent from touch direction. Also, for the emotions desire, disgust, and fear, there are inter-individual differences with observations in the range of no to moderate intensity.

6.2.1 Influence of Intimacy, Involvement & Sex. Relaxation and happiness data met assumptions for parametric testing. Thus we conducted two 2(intimacy) x 2(direction) x 2(sex) repeated measures ANOVAs on the relaxation and happiness scores with intimacy and direction as within-subject factors and sex as a between-subject factor. Desire, anxiety, disgust, and fear data did not meet requirements

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{Please}$  refer to the auxiliary material for exact  $\alpha$  values for each subscale per condition

#### Sykownik and Masuch



Figure 4: Boxplots with median, mean (diamond), interquartile distance (box), range (whiskers, excluding outliers) and individual observation values (gray points) for the DEQ subscales grouped by intimacy and touch direction. Assessed on 7-point likert-scale: 1(not at all) - 4(some extent) - 7(extremely)

ANOVA	Relaxation	Happiness	npar ANOVA	Desire	Anxiety	Disgust	Fear
Sex			Sex				
<i>F</i> (1, 42)	4.98	1.85	$F(1,\infty)$	5.38	3.54	2.48	7.08
p	.031	.182	р	.020	.060	.115	.007
$\omega \hat{2}$	.044	.010					
Intimacy			Intimacy				
F(1, 42)	9.37	6.57	$F(1,\infty)$	6.66	8.54	9.06	3.82
p	.004	.014	р	.001	.003	.003	.051
$\omega \hat{2}$	.036	.006					
Direction			Direction				
F(1, 42)	1.45	5.12	$F(1,\infty)$	3.47	.040	11.3	2.10
р	.235	.029	р	.062	.842	<.001	.148
$\omega \hat{2}$	.000	.001					
Sex x Int			Sex x Int				
F(1, 42)	.208	.492	$F(1,\infty)$	7.28	.311	2.06	.157
p	.651	.487	р	.007	.577	.151	.693
$\omega \hat{2}$	.000	.000					
Int x Dir			Int x Dir				
F(1, 42)	.209	.245	$F(1,\infty)$	.006	.283	.664	.575
p	.650	.623	р	.936	.594	.415	.448
$\omega \hat{2}$	.000	.000					
Sex x Dir			Sex x Dir				
F(1, 42)	.111	3.03	$F(1,\infty)$	.670	.200	.251	.238
p	.741	.089	р	.413	.654	.616	.625
$\omega \hat{2}$	.000	.000					
Sex x Int x Dir			Sex x Int x Dir				
F(1, 42)	.010	3.82	$F(1,\infty)$	.683	4.01	11.4	.054
p	.919	.057	р	.408	.045	<.001	.816
$\omega \hat{2}$	.000	.000					

Table 3: Main and interaction effects of intimacy, touch direction, and sex on DEQ scores.





for parametric testing (i.e., normality of residuals, symmetric distributions, no extreme outliers). Thus, we conducted a non-parametric factorial analysis of repeated measures data by using the f1.ld.f2 *function* from the *nparLD* R package <sup>2</sup> to test for main and interaction effects [11, 42].

We found significant main effects for sex and intimacy on relaxation, intimacy, and direction of touch on happiness, and sex on fear. Results are summarized in Table 3. Further, we found a second-order interaction effect of sex and intimacy on desire and third-order interaction effects of sex, intimacy, and direction of touch on anxiety and disgust. We did not further decompose detected second- and third-order interactions effects as this process would have required an extensive report of results. Alternatively, Figure 5 provides an intuitive assessment of how the individual factors have interacted. The non-parametric factorial analysis calculates the rme values (relative marginal effect) provided in Figure 5. They are interpreted as the probability that a randomly chosen observation from the whole dataset, has a smaller value than a randomly chosen observation from the subgroup of interest. Thus, it corresponds with the average scores reported by a subgroup (e.g.,  $rme_{fear,male} = .387$  means: with an estimated probability of .387 a fear score randomly chosen from the whole dataset is smaller than a fear score randomly chosen from the scores reported by men)[42].

6.2.2 Relaxation. We found significant main effects for sex and intimacy on reported relaxation. Male participants were more relaxed (M = 4.54, SD = 1.16) than female participants (M = 3.88, SD = 1.09). However, participants reported higher intensity of relaxation for low intimacy touches (M = 4.35, SD = 1.09) than they did for high intimacy touches (M = 3.95, SD = 1.20). The effect sizes are small to medium (.01 <  $\omega \hat{2}$  < .06).

6.2.3 Happiness. We found significant main effects for touch direction and intimacy on reported happiness. Participants reported more happiness when they were touched (M = 3.55, SD = 1.39) than they did when they touched their partner (M = 3.45, SD = 1.46).

Participants reported higher scores of happiness for low intimacy touches (M = 3.63, SD = 1.31) than for high intimacy touches (M = 3.38, SD = 1.53). The effect sizes are small ( $\omega \hat{2} < .01$ ).

*6.2.4 Desire.* We found a second-order interaction effect of sex and intimacy on the perceived desire. Compared to women, men's perception of desire intensified with higher intimacy of touches. And women tended to report generally less desire than men (Figure 5).

6.2.5 Anxiety. We found a third-order interaction effect of sex, intimacy, and direction on the perceived anxiety. On average, men tended to report less anxiety than women. Thereby, for men and women, high intimacy touches induced more anxiety than low intimacy touches. However, for women, this effect of intimacy depended on the direction of touch. They felt more anxiety when they received low intimacy touches than when they initiated low intimacy touches. In contrast, their anxiety scores for received touches of high and low intimacy did differ only slightly. A slightly inverse interaction of intimacy and direction applies to men (Figure fig:profile).

6.2.6 Disgust. There was a third-order interaction effect of sex, intimacy, and direction on the perceived disgust. The sensation of disgust depended very much on the specific constellation of the three factors. Women reported more disgust while initiating intimate touches than for initiating low intimacy touches. For men, there was no difference between the two levels of intimacy for initiated touches. On the other hand, for women, intimacy seemed to make little difference when they were touched, as anxiety only differed slightly between high and low intimacy touches they received. For men, on the other hand, the sensation of disgust was more intensive while being touched with high intimacy (Figure 5).

*6.2.7 Fear.* There was a significant main effect for sex on reported fear. In general, female participants reported a greater amount of fear (*Mean Rank* = 100.97, *rme* = .571) than did male participants (*Mean Rank* = 68.69 *rme* = .387).

6.2.8 Comfort with Interpersonal Touch. We found positive associations between comfort with interpersonal touch and the happiness and relaxation experienced during intimate touches. Comfort with initiating touch was found to be strongly positively correlated with relaxation (r(42) = .502, p < .001) and moderately with happiness induced by initiated intimate touches (r(42) = .349, p = .020). Comfort with receiving touch was found to be strongly positively correlated with relaxation (r(42) = .516, p < .001) and moderately with happiness induced by received intimate touches (r(42) = .386, p = .010).

#### 7 DISCUSSION

Our results show that virtual body contact can be a diverse emotional experience, and depending on individual differences, it can be quite intense or relatively shallow. Moreover, our inferential analysis revealed that the affective reaction was modulated by factors that are known to modulate unmediated social touch (i.e. intimacy, participants' sex, and the direction of touch). Further, the intensity of positive reactions was associated with the general individual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://rdrr.io/cran/nparLD/man/f1.ld.f1.html last access 20th of August 2020

comfort with interpersonal touch. In particular, intimacy and participants' sex modulated the emotional reaction.

In sum, the increased intimacy was associated with less favorable (relaxation, happiness) and stronger adverse reactions (anxiety, disgust, fear). Women tended to be stronger affected by this effect, partially also depending on whether they touched their partner or were touched by him. Interestingly, although men and women perceived only slight feelings of desire for low intimacy touches, men reacted to the intimate touches with an increase in perceived desire, whereas women did not. Our findings align with how social touch of varying intimacy between heterosexual opposite-sex strangers is perceived in the real world. That is, for women a touch must reflect the intimacy of the relationship to be appropriate and pleasant, whereas men are inclined to be more willing to tolerate intimate interaction with a stranger women [25, 54, 58].

Beyond contributing to research on mediated social touch by confirming previous work that virtual body contact can evoke reactions similar to its real-world counterpart, we contribute to this field in several ways. We assessed the affective reaction in terms of six different emotions, thus providing a nuanced look on different facets of the user experience beyond measures used in prior studies like pleasantness, appropriateness, erogeinity, and compliance [7, 14]. Thereby, our results show that virtual social touch can simultaneously evoke multiple emotions of varying valence. By investigating initiated and received touches in a single study, we acknowledged the bidirectional nature of social touch. Consequently, we identified interrelationships of touch direction with intimacy and sex [24].

Concerning older prior work, we contribute to the field by using a VR setup that equals consumer-level scenarios that, compared to other recent studies, utilized full-body motion tracking and userrepresentation in the context of virtual social touch. Further, our and recent related results [14] highlight, that it is also imperative to investigate mediated social body contact that is primarily induced by visual cues and does not rely on sophisticated haptic feedback devices.

Further, our results demonstrate that even in a prescribed, neutral situation, without provoking visual stimuli (like an avatar in underwear [14]), virtual social touch can, although with limited intensity, induce diverse emotional reactions.

Furthermore, our results inform previous studies on perceived humanness of agents, by motivating follow up studies to consider intimacy of touch as a parameter to increase perceived agent and avatar humanness [26] further.

We admit that the effects we detected and the reported intensities of emotional experiences are small and consider the study setting's following characteristics as a potential explanation. Our study scenario differed from the real world as participants could not speak with their interaction partners. Further, the avatars did not react with non-verbal social signals like changes in mimic to the touches, that could have affected emotional responses [10, 20]. However, by controlling these factors and controlling the course of the interaction by a prescribed procedure, our experimental scenario lacked the spontaneous nature of real-world social interactions. Correspondingly, we assume that the limited available communication channels and the prescribed course of interaction may have limited the intensities of emotional reactions and the effects of the identified influencing factors. On the other hand, this interpretation leads to the assumption that in a spontaneous virtual social interaction, in which the users may be more personally involved, the emotional reactions may be of higher intensity.

Moreover, as we applied subjective measures in retrospect, it is, of course, possible that the participants' spontaneous emotional reaction intensity was no longer salient. Also, the majority of participants had few or no prior VR experiences. As participants may have been overwhelmed by the novel experience in general, a potentially more substantial effect of the touches could have been masked.

#### 7.1 Limitations

Our results have to be interpreted with the following limitations in mind. We have combined three forms of interaction in one of two groups and have not evaluated them individually. Of course, this means that information was lost. Perhaps the individual interactions within each group could have had opposing effects on the experience based on the degree of intimacy the participants associated with the individual touches.

The emotional evaluation of the received touches could have been confounded by the touch's limited visual stimuli (due to the headset's limited field of view) [32]. In particular, during the hug interaction, we assume that the emotional reaction probably was affected by the invasion of the participants' personal space, which also applies to virtual social interaction [39, 63].

Further, based on the interpretation that virtual social touch shares influence factors with its unmediated counterpart, there are numerous potentially confounding factors that we did not control for in this specific study, but that influence social interaction in the real world. These include implicit social biases concerning individual assumptions about others and stereotypes towards in-group members and against out-group members [17, 35]. We assume that such biases and aspects related to the perceivable traits of the interaction partner (e.g., the body height and perceived attractiveness of the interaction partner) contribute to the large inter-individual differences in the emotional evaluation we found. However, this assumption is still in line with our general interpretation. That is, virtual social touch can evoke different emotional responses moderated by factors that do also moderate the perception of unmediated social interaction.

Another limitation relates to the limited avatar individualization possibilities that did not allow participants to create a precise virtual representation. Thus, based on the Proteus effect [64] the avatar's identity cues that are not shared with the user's visual appearance that embodies it may have affected the touching behavior, attitudes, and experiences. For example, the perceived attractiveness of their avatar may have affected their acceptance of intimate behavior [64]. This potential confounding effect indicates that virtual social touch is also affected by effects exclusive to virtual interaction.

Given these limitations, we highlight, that our results regarding the valence and intensity of emotional responses are not readily transferable to any social interaction context or user constellation in virtual worlds beyond the characteristics of our study (i.e., prescribed touches, virtual interaction between heterosexual, opposite-sex strangers represented by realistic avatars with limited non-verbal communication cues, the interaction between avatars of white skin-tone, citizens of Central Europe)

#### 7.2 Future Work

The limitations above translate directly into follow up research questions and study designs. For example, a nuanced comparison of specific touch interactions regarding their impact on users should lead to more specific design recommendations for VR content creators, by answering what touch-types may be adequate for specific social mechanics. Thereby, we suggest considering more diverse constellations of participant and avatar characteristics in follow up studies. This would aid content creators to understand under which conditions specific social norms from the physical world are relevant in the virtual realm and when virtual interaction underlies its own rules (e.g., the impact of the sexual orientation of participants, implicit social biases, the quality of the interpersonal relationship, different cultural backgrounds, Proteus effect).

Another question which emerges from our sample characteristics relates to the impact of potential familiarization effects, i.e., does prior VR experiences affect the perception of virtual social body contact? We consider field studies within the current social VR platforms (online questionnaires or interviews with users) as an appropriate method to answer this question. This approach could also be valuable to evaluate social touch that occurs during spontaneous virtual interaction.

Concerning the Proteus effect, we note that some social VR applications feature unlimited avatar customization options (e.g., nonhumanoid avatars, excessively large or small avatars). Consequently, we consider the investigation of how appearance characteristics that do not apply to humans and social interaction outside of VR affect the experience of virtual social touch as an exciting field of research. In that sense, we currently focus on fostering desired and inhibit undesired experiences of virtual body contact based on variations of immersive characteristics of the interaction. Inspired by the idea to augment the social interaction in VR [45], we currently prepare a study on visual augmentations of virtual touches (e.g., particle effects on body contact) to manipulate emotional reactions.

#### 7.3 Practical Implications

Our results inform practitioners about how they may implement mechanics related to virtual body contact in social VR. Our findings suggest that virtual social touch should be a moderated feature to induce desired but simultaneously limit negative emotional experiences during spontaneous encounters between strangers in social VR. Our results related to the negative emotions emphasize that virtual physical harassment [5] can have real emotional consequences. The large interindividual differences imply that there could always be individuals who are particularly sensitive to experiences in VR. Thus, developers should provide the user with adjustable privacy settings related to social touch capabilities. It is already common practice in social VR applications that users can configure a personal space. We think a natural extension of such a system would allow users to configure what types of touches they may allow with other users in specific contexts. Such a system could also be pre-configured automatically based on intraindividual personality characteristics (e.g., comfort with interpersonal touch)

Another value of the present results relates to the design of social features tied to virtual social touch. As an example, friending in *Recroom* can be triggered by a handshake, what we would consider as an adequate interaction metaphor. In contrast, touching another avatar's pubic area for 20 seconds to send a friend request probably would be entirely inappropriate. This intentionally exaggerated example should clarify that the use of certain touch interactions for social VR features should always correspond to the social feature's underlying meaning. At the very least, the design of such interactions should always consider how these interactions are evaluated outside of VR and that they should not be mandatory for users to interact in the virtual world.

#### 8 CONCLUSION

We investigated virtual social touch in a two-user VR scenario and found that it affects diverse emotions. Our results indicate that corresponding to unmediated social touch, touch intimacy, the direction of touch, and participants' sex modulate positive and negative affective responses to virtual touch. Thus, VR can induce meaningful interaction based on interpersonal touch, which resembles its unmediated counterpart in terms of applied norms and affective responses, even without realistic haptic feedback. To inform future research and practitioners, we indicated practical approaches for follow up studies and derived implications for the use of interpersonal touch in social VR applications. Eventually, a precise understanding of the aspects that shape our experience of virtual social interaction not only opens up the possibility to bring compelling emotional experiences to people who are physically separated from each other. It also enables us to develop mechanics that foster desired and prevent undesirable experiences induced by virtual social interactions.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was partly supported by the European Regional Development Fund 2014-2020 in context of the project "MUVER" (EFRE-0801066).

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Imtiaj Ahmed, Ville Harjunen, Giulio Jacucci, Eve Hoggan, Niklas Ravaja, and Michiel M. Spapé. 2016. Reach out and Touch Me: Effects of Four Distinct Haptic Technologies on Affective Touch in Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 18th ACM International Conference on Multimodal Interaction (Tokyo, Japan) (ICMI '16). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 341–348. https://doi.org/10.1145/2993148.2993171
- [2] Jeremy N Bailenson and Nick Yee. 2008. Virtual interpersonal touch: Haptic interaction and copresence in collaborative virtual environments. *Multimedia Tools and Applications* 37, 1 (2008), 5–14.
- [3] Christopher C Berger, Mar Gonzalez-Franco, Eyal Ofek, and Ken Hinckley. 2018. The uncanny valley of haptics. *Science Robotics* 3, 17 (2018), Art–No.
- [4] Malin Björnsdotter and Håkan Olausson. 2011. Vicarious responses to social touch in posterior insular cortex are tuned to pleasant caressing speeds. *Journal* of Neuroscience 31, 26 (2011), 9554–9562.
- [5] L. Blackwell, N. Ellison, N. Elliott-Deflo, and R. Schwartz. 2019. Harassment in Social VR: Implications for Design. In 2019 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). 854–855.
- [6] S-J Blakemore, Davina Bristow, Geoffrey Bird, Chris Frith, and James Ward. 2005. Somatosensory activations during the observation of touch and a case of vision-touch synaesthesia. *Brain* 128, 7 (2005), 1571–1583.

- [7] Pierre Bourdin, Josep Maria Tomàs Sanahuja, Carlota Crusafon Moya, Patrick Haggard, and Mel Slater. 2013. Persuading People in a Remote Destination to Sing by Beaming There. In Proceedings of the 19th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (Singapore) (VRST '13). ACM, New York, NY, USA, 123–132. https://doi.org/10.1145/2503713.2503724
- [8] Carissa J Cascio, David Moore, and Francis McGlone. 2019. Social touch and human development. Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience 35 (2019), 5–11.
- [9] Inrak Choi, Eyal Ofek, Hrvoje Benko, Mike Sinclair, and Christian Holz. 2018. Claw: A multifunctional handheld haptic controller for grasping, touching, and triggering in virtual reality. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. ACM, 654.
- [10] Dan-Mikael Ellingsen, Johan Wessberg, Olga Chelnokova, Håkan Olausson, Bruno Laeng, and Siri Leknes. 2014. In touch with your emotions: oxytocin and touch change social impressions while others' facial expressions can alter touch. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 39 (2014), 11–20.
- [11] Jos Feys. 2016. Nonparametric tests for the interaction in two-way factorial designs using R. The R Journal 8, 1 (2016), 367–378.
- [12] Tiffany Field. 2002. Infants' need for touch. Human Development 45, 2 (2002), 100.
- [13] Kory Floyd. 2000. Affectionate same-sex touch: The influence of homophobia on observers' perceptions. *The Journal of social psychology* 140, 6 (2000), 774–788.
  [14] Martina Fusaro, Matteo Lisi, Gaetano Tieri, and Salvatore Aglioti. 2020. *Touched*
- by vision: how heterosexual, gay, and lesbian people react to the view of their avatar being caressed on taboo body parts (pre-print). https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/dkzj5
- [15] Alberto Gallace and Charles Spence. 2010. The science of interpersonal touch: an overview. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 34, 2 (2010), 246–259.
   [16] Mar Gonzalez-Franco and Tabitha C Peck. 2018. Avatar embodiment. towards a
- standardized questionnaire. Frontiers in Robotics and AI 5 (2018), 74.
   Anthony G Greenwald and Mahzarin R Banaji. 1995. Implicit social cognition:
- attitudes, self-esteem, and stereotypes. *Psychological review* 102, 1 (1995), 4. [18] Antal Haans and Wijnand Ilsselsteijn. 2006. Mediated social touch: a review of
- [16] Judit A Hall and Ellen M Veccia. 1990. More" touching" observations: New
- [19] Juditi A Fan and Ener M vecta. 1990. More fourning observations: New insights on men, women, and interpersonal touch. *Journal of personality and social psychology* 59, 6 (1990), 1155.
- [20] Ville Johannes Harjunen, Michiel Spapé, Imtiaj Ahmed, Giulio Jacucci, and N Ravaja. 2017. Individual differences in affective touch: Behavioral inhibition and gender define how an interpersonal touch is perceived. *Personality and Individual Differences* 107 (2017), 88–95.
- [21] Ville Johannes Harjunen, Michiel Spapé, Imtiaj Ahmed, Giulio Jacucci, and Niklas Ravaja. 2018. Persuaded by the machine: The effect of virtual nonverbal cues and individual differences on compliance in economic bargaining. *Computers in Human Behavior* 87 (2018), 384–394.
- [22] Cindy Harmon-Jones, Brock Bastian, and Eddie Harmon-Jones. 2016. The discrete emotions questionnaire: A new tool for measuring state self-reported emotions. *PloS one* 11, 8 (2016), e0159915.
- [23] Chad Harms and Frank Biocca. 2004. Internal consistency and reliability of the networked minds measure of social presence. (2004).
- [24] Matthew J Hertenstein, Julie M Verkamp, Alyssa M Kerestes, and Rachel M Holmes. 2006. The communicative functions of touch in humans, nonhuman primates, and rats: a review and synthesis of the empirical research. *Genetic, social, and general psychology monographs* 132, 1 (2006), 5–94.
- [25] Richard Heslin, Tuan D Nguyen, and Michele L Nguyen. 1983. Meaning of touch: The case of touch from a stranger or same sex person. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior* 7, 3 (1983), 147–157.
- [26] Matthias Hoppe, Beat Rossmy, Daniel Peter Neumann, Stephan Streuber, Albrecht Schmidt, and Tonja-Katrin Machulla. 2020. A Human Touch: Social Touch Increases the Perceived Human-likeness of Agents in Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 1–11.
- [27] Gijs Huisman. 2017. Social touch technology: A survey of haptic technology for social touch. *IEEE transactions on haptics* 10, 3 (2017), 391–408.
- [28] Wijnand A IJsselsteijn, Yvonne A W de Kort, and Antal Haans. 2006. Is this my hand I see before me? The rubber hand illusion in reality, virtual reality, and mixed reality. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments* 15, 4 (2006), 455–464.
- [29] Marcel Jonas, Steven Said, Daniel Yu, Chris Aiello, Nicholas Furlo, and Douglas Zytko. 2019. Towards a Taxonomy of Social VR Application Design. In Extended Abstracts of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play Companion Extended Abstracts (Barcelona, Spain) (CHI PLAY '19 Extended Abstracts). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 437–444. https://doi.org/10.1145/3341215.3356271
- [30] Stanley E Jones and A Elaine Yarbrough. 1985. A naturalistic study of the meanings of touch. *Communications Monographs* 52, 1 (1985), 19–56.
  [31] Todd B Kashdan, James Doorley, Melissa C Stiksma, and Matthew J Hertenstein.
- [31] Todd B Kashdan, James Doorley, Melissa C Stiksma, and Matthew J Hertenstein. 2017. Discomfort and avoidance of touch: new insights on the emotional deficits of social anxiety. *Cognition and Emotion* 31, 8 (2017), 1638–1646.
- [32] Anouk Keizer, Jutta R de Jong, Lianne Bartlema, and Chris Dijkerman. 2019. Visual perception of the arm manipulates the experienced pleasantness of touch.

Developmental cognitive neuroscience 35 (2019), 104–108.

- [33] Robert S Kennedy, Norman E Lane, Kevin S Berbaum, and Michael G Lilienthal. 1993. Simulator sickness questionnaire: An enhanced method for quantifying simulator sickness. *The international journal of aviation psychology* 3, 3 (1993), 203–220.
- [34] Konstantina Kilteni, Raphaela Groten, and Mel Slater. 2012. The sense of embodiment in virtual reality. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments* 21, 4 (2012), 373–387.
- [35] Jennifer T Kubota, Mahzarin R Banaji, and Elizabeth A Phelps. 2012. The neuroscience of race. Nature neuroscience 15, 7 (2012), 940–948.
- [36] Anatole Lécuyer. 2009. Simulating haptic feedback using vision: A survey of research and applications of pseudo-haptic feedback. Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments 18, 1 (2009), 39–53.
- [37] Anatole Lecuyer, Sabine Coquillart, Abderrahmane Kheddar, Paul Richard, and Philippe Coiffet. 2000. Pseudo-haptic feedback: can isometric input devices simulate force feedback?. In Proceedings IEEE Virtual Reality 2000 (Cat. No. 00CB37048). IEEE, 83–90.
- [38] Jaeyeon Lee, Mike Sinclair, Mar Gonzalez-Franco, Eyal Ofek, and Christian Holz. 2019. TORC: A Virtual Reality Controller for In-Hand High-Dexterity Finger Interaction. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. ACM, 71.
- [39] Joan Llobera, Bernhard Spanlang, Giulio Ruffini, and Mel Slater. 2010. Proxemics with multiple dynamic characters in an immersive virtual environment. ACM Transactions on Applied Perception (TAP) 8, 1 (2010), 1–12.
- [40] Antonella Maselli and Mel Slater. 2013. The building blocks of the full body ownership illusion. Frontiers in human neuroscience 7 (2013), 83.
- [41] Ciara McCabe, Edmund T Rolls, Amy Bilderbeck, and Francis McGlone. 2008. Cognitive influences on the affective representation of touch and the sight of touch in the human brain. *Social cognitive and affective neuroscience* 3, 2 (2008), 97–108.
- [42] Kimihiro Noguchi, Yulia R Gel, Edgar Brunner, and Frank Konietschke. 2012. nparLD: an R software package for the nonparametric analysis of longitudinal data in factorial experiments. *Journal of Statistical Software* 50, 12 (2012).
- [43] Valeria I Petkova and H Henrik Ehrsson. 2008. If I were you: perceptual illusion of body swapping. *PloS one* 3, 12 (2008).
  [44] Michael Rietzler, Florian Geiselhart, Julian Frommel, and Enrico Rukzio. 2018.
- [44] Michael Rietzler, Florian Geiselhart, Julian Frommel, and Enrico Rukzio. 2018. Conveying the perception of kinesthetic feedback in virtual reality using stateof-the-art hardware. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. ACM, 460.
- [45] Daniel Roth, Gary Bente, Peter Kullmann, David Mal, Chris Felix Purps, Kai Vogeley, and Marc Erich Latoschik. 2019. Technologies for social augmentations in user-embodied virtual reality. In 25th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology. 1–12.
- [46] Valentina Russo, Cristina Ottaviani, and Grazia Fernanda Spitoni. 2020. Affective touch: A meta-analysis on sex differences. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 108 (2020), 445–452.
- [47] Nathan Schmulewitz, Sudip K Ghosh, and Judy W Bowers. 2009. T1091 Pilot Study Examining Role of Healing Touch As An Adjunct to Conscious Sedation During EUS Procedures. *Gastroenterology* 136, 5 (2009), A–497.
- [48] Thomas Schubert, Frank Friedmann, and Holger Regenbrecht. [n.d.]. igroup presence questionnaire (IPQ) overview. http://www.igroup.org/pq/ipq/index.php. [Online; accessed 24-September-2019].
- [49] Mel Slater, Daniel Pérez Marcos, Henrik Ehrsson, and Maria V Sanchez-Vives. 2008. Towards a digital body: the virtual arm illusion. *Frontiers in human neuroscience* 2 (2008), 6.
- [50] Mel Slater, Bernhard Spanlang, Maria V Sanchez-Vives, and Olaf Blanke. 2010. First person experience of body transfer in virtual reality. *PloS one* 5, 5 (2010).
- [51] Lapp Hanna Sophie and Croy Ilona. 2020. Insights from the German Version of the Social Touch Questionnaire: How Attitude towards Social Touch relates to Symptoms of Social Anxiety. *Neuroscience* (2020).
- [52] Hidenobu Sumioka, Aya Nakae, Ryota Kanai, and Hiroshi Ishiguro. 2013. Huggable communication medium decreases cortisol levels. *Scientific reports* 3 (2013), 3034.
- [53] Juulia T Suvilehto, Enrico Glerean, Robin IM Dunbar, Riitta Hari, and Lauri Nummenmaa. 2015. Topography of social touching depends on emotional bonds between humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112, 45 (2015), 13811–13816.
- [54] Juulia T Suvilehto, Lauri Nummenmaa, Tokiko Harada, Robin IM Dunbar, Riitta Hari, Robert Turner, Norihiro Sadato, and Ryo Kitada. 2019. Cross-cultural similarity in relationship-specific social touching. *Proceedings of the Royal Society* B 286, 1901 (2019), 20190467.
- [55] Justyna Swidrak and Grzegorz Pochwatko. 2019. Being Touched by a Virtual Human.: Relationships Between Heart Rate, Gender, Social Status, and Compliance.. In Proceedings of the 19th ACM International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents. ACM, 49–55.
- [56] Theresa Jean Tanenbaum, Nazely Hartoonian, and Jeffrey Bryan. 2020. " How do I make this thing smile?" An Inventory of Expressive Nonverbal Communication in Commercial Social Virtual Reality Platforms. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI

Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 1-13.

- [57] Stephen Thayer. 1986. History and strategies of research on social touch. Journal of Nonverbal Behavior 10, 1 (1986), 12-28
- [58] Mark Tomita. 2008. Exploratory Study of Touch zones in college students on two campuses. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion* 6, 1 (2008), 1–22. [59] Line Tremblay, Mélina Roy-Vaillancourt, Brahim Chebbi, Stéphane Bouchard,
- Michael Daoust, Jessica Dénommée, and Moriah Thorpe. 2016. Body image and anti-fat attitudes: an experimental study using a haptic virtual reality environ $ment \ to \ replicate \ human \ touch. \ Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and \ Social \ Networking$ 19, 2 (2016), 100-106.
- [60] Jan BF Van Erp and Alexander Toet. 2015. Social touch in human-computer
- [60] Jan Di Van Elp and Alexander Toel. 2015. Social couch infinitement computer interaction. Frontiers in digital humanities 2 (2015), 2.
  [61] Thomas Waltemate, Dominik Gall, Daniel Roth, Mario Botsch, and Marc Erich Latoschik. 2018. The impact of avatar personalization and immersion on virtual body ownership, presence, and emotional response. *IEEE transactions on*

- visualization and computer graphics 24, 4 (2018), 1643–1652. [62] Andrea Webb and Joann Peck. 2015. Individual differences in interpersonal touch: On the development, validation, and use of the "comfort with interpersonal touch"(CIT) scale. Journal of consumer psychology 25, 1 (2015), 60-77.
- [63] Laurie M Wilcox, Robert S Allison, Samuel Elfassy, and Cynthia Grelik. 2006. Personal space in virtual reality. ACM Transactions on Applied Perception (TAP) 3, 4 (2006), 412-428.
- [64] Nick Yee and Jeremy Bailenson. 2007. The Proteus effect: The effect of transformed self-representation on behavior. *Human communication research* 33, 3 (2007), 271–290.
- [65] Yuguang Zhao, Jaap Ham, and Jurgen van der Vlist. 2017. Persuasive virtual touch: The effect of artificial social touch on shopping behavior in virtual reality. In International Workshop on Symbiotic Interaction. Springer, 98–109.

# A.2. The Most Social Platform Ever? A Survey about Activities & Motives of Social VR Users

Attached is the accepted author's version of the publication:

© 2021 IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from

P. Sykownik, L. Graf, C. Zils and M. Masuch, "The Most Social Platform Ever? A Survey about Activities & Motives of Social VR Users," 2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR), Lisboa, Portugal, 2021, pp. 546-554, doi: 10.1109/VR50410.2021.00079.

In reference to IEEE copyrighted material which is used with permission here, the IEEE does not endorse any of University Duisburg-Essen's products or services. Internal or personal use of this material is permitted. If interested in reprinting/republishing IEEE copyrighted material for advertising or promotional purposes or for creating new collective works for resale or redistribution, please go to http://www.ieee.org/publications\_standards/publications/rights/rights\_link.html to learn how to obtain a License from RightsLink.

### The Most Social Platform Ever? A Survey about Activities & Motives of Social VR Users

Philipp Sykownik\* University Duisburg-Essen Linda Graf University Duisburg-Essen Christoph Zils University Duisburg-Essen Maic Masuch University Duisburg-Essen

#### ABSTRACT

We present online survey results on social virtual reality (social VR) users' activities and usage motives. Based on content analysis of users' free-text responses, we found that most users, in fact, use these applications for social activities and to satisfy diverse social needs. The second most frequently mentioned categories of activities and motives relate to experiential aspects such as entertainment activities. Another important category of motives, which has only recently been described in related work, relates to the self, such as personal growth. Our results indicate that while social VR provides a superior social experience than traditional digital social spaces, like games or social media, users still desire better and affordable tracking technology, increased sensory immersion, and further improvement concerning social features. These findings complement related work as they come from a comparatively large sample (N= 273) and summarize a general user view on social VR. Besides confirming an intuitive assumption, they help identify use cases and opportunities for further research on social VR.

**Keywords:** Social VR, online social worlds, user motives, virtual reality.

**Index Terms:** Human-centered computing—Empirical studies in collaborative and social computing; Human-centered computing—Virtual reality

#### **1** INTRODUCTION

Social VR refers to an emerging ecology of applications that enable geographically remote users to interact with each other in shared virtual environments through VR technology, i.e., immersive headmounted displays. In the shared virtual space, users are usually represented by avatars they control with their body-movement due to tracking technology [28, 29, 32]. Many social VR applications emerged since 2015 (e.g., Altspace VR, High Fidelity, Anyland, VRChat, Facebook Horizon), and especially the announcement of Facebook Horizon in 2019, which is currently in beta status (late 2020), indicates that social VR is meant to stay and potentially reshape the ways we interact with remote others. As Facebook's CEO Mark Zuckerberg stated in an interview in 2016 after the company acquired *Oculus*<sup>1</sup>, VR is going to be the most social platform that has ever existed. Correspondingly, previous studies indicate, current social VR applications are, in particular, characterized by a variety of experiences comparable to face-to-face interactions in terms of verbal and especially non-verbal expression capabilities, as well as the variety of mediated group and intimate activities they offer [22, 25, 28-30, 43]. Further, in times of limited opportunities for real-world social interaction (as in the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic), as well as use cases where individual people may not be capable of engaging in physical social interaction, social VR's

promise is the access to authentic and meaningful social interactions over distance [22, 43].

Although the body of literature on social VR is steadily growing, it is still unclear what values these applications offer for most users in their day-to-day life. Previous work focused mainly on a systematic description of how these applications' specific features are designed to afford sociality. It thereby often adopted the perspective of social VR designers or industry experts [20, 28] and systematically compared different applications regarding the specific features they offer [29,41]. A series of qualitative studies were published recently that provide a user-focused perspective on specific topics related to social VR. These topics include long-distance relationships, anonymity, cross-generational interaction, non-verbal communication, and avatars [11, 12, 22-26, 43]. In particular, one of these publications is concerned with offering empirical evidence on what users are generally doing in social VR and why their social VR activities are meaningful to them, without focusing on a specific contextual frame [22]. While the authors identified exciting insights into what makes social VR meaningful for individual users, their results are only based on comparatively small samples (N = 30), as they conducted in-depth interviews. Hence, even if the authors could collect some exciting individual cases, the current literature body still lacks comprehensive empirical evidence about the users' activities and their motives to use social VR. Furthermore, the currently available findings provide little information about the relative importance of individual activities and user motives compared to each other. Our work, therefore, integrates seamlessly into these interview studies and addresses the following four research questions:

- What are users doing in their favorite social VR applications?
- What are the motives that drive their social VR usage?
- · What makes social VR superior to other digital social places?
- What do they want to be improved in the future?

Although we are not the first to deal with these questions, we contribute to further developing the domain by expanding previous research by conducting a large-sample online study with social VR users. In particular, our work can be seen as a natural extension of earlier interview surveys. As already noted by other researchers in this field, a thorough look at these questions helps identify research and development opportunities by indicating what features of social VR are currently valuable for users but may be improved in the future or features that are not yet considered in research. Further, as the way we present our results in this paper cannot do justice to the level of detail of many of the answers we received, we also share the collected raw data with the research community<sup>2</sup>. Eventually, a precise understanding of the "What" and "Why" of social VR usage empowers us to create compelling social experiences for physically apart people.

<sup>2</sup>Link to the OSF project repository

<sup>\*</sup>e-mail: philipp.sykownik@uni-due.de

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>29th August 2016; Link to Video on Facebook

#### 2 RELATED WORK ON SOCIAL VR

Social VR applications are rooted in the domain of collaborative virtual environments [4], which have a long history in HCI research and for which there are diverse research areas such as experiential differences to face-to-face interaction [1], collaboration techniques [44], proxemics [2], interpersonal touch [3], or collaborative learning [35]. Although social VR is still an emerging consumer application genre, the current literature on this subject is already diverse. It includes empirical work based on the evaluation of multiuser VR prototypes to investigate specific questions in laboratory studies (e.g., [10, 14, 17, 40]). Further, an increasing body of theoretical literature aims to systematize the landscape of social VR design practices (e.g., [17, 29, 41]). These are complemented by interview and observational studies that investigate user-behavior in commercial social VR applications, for example, in the context of harassment [5], self-disclosure [26], and interactions between different age groups [23, 24].

Research concerned with current social VR applications' design practices found different strategies designers employ to shape their platforms' social experience. These strategies refer, for example, to the aesthetics and architecture of virtual places, mechanics that promote the definition and adhering to social norms, and communicative affordances related to the avatars [28]. In particular, it was found that the specifics of a platform's avatar system are, in many ways, tied to the social experience. For example, avatar locomotion and personal space mechanisms determine how fast and close users can approach each other [20]. Further, a feature comparison of several social VR applications found that despite the potential to induce authentic social experiences, there are still many open challenges and opportunities for designing and utilizing expressive non-verbal communication features [41]. Overall, the literature on design practices concludes that there are still many challenges and unused potentials that need to be addressed by practitioners and researchers alike.

However, the body of literature indicates that social VR seems to extend the social and experiential qualities of traditional shared virtual spaces due to its technological characteristics that induce a strong illusion of virtual body ownership over virtual user representations [16, 19, 27, 38] and a feeling of actually being present in the shared virtual worlds [37,42]. More specifically, VR-mediated social interactions support verbal and non-verbal communication cues and provide experiences similar to face-to-face interaction [9,21,25,30,39]. The combination of motion-tracking and embodied virtual representations allows users to utilize non-verbal communication cues to support communication and interaction initiation and affords feelings of privacy and social comfort during interactions with strangers while still offering an authentic social experience [25]. Social VR was also found to be of value in intimate social interaction contexts like long-distance relationships. It provides a sense of physical closeness and social presence and supports the replication and sharing of mundane real-life activities, which are essential in such contexts [22,43]. Further, as social VR extends the experiential quality of creating and using avatars, social VR avatars are a more engaging means for self-expression and identity exploration than in traditional digital social spaces. [11, 12].

Regarding what people generally do in social VR and why they appreciate it, it seems to provide similar but extended opportunities for social connectivity, self-reflective processes, and meaningful experiences compared to traditional digital social spaces [22]. More specifically, social VR users value five types of meaningful activities: activities that utilize the full-body tracking capacities of current VR technology (e.g., non-verbal communication, dancing), mundane everyday activities (e.g., sleeping), activities for mental selfimprovement (e.g., improving social skills), cultural appreciation and educational activities (e.g., group meditation) [22]. However, previous work also identified three specific design recommendations for further support and improvement of these activities: improvement of social connectivity, integration of communication affordances in and out of VR, increasing realism and naturalness [22].

Based on this literature review, social VR seems to support general, and intimate socializing, self-expression and identity exploration, self-improvement and mental health, and learning skills and cultures [11, 22, 43]. However, these results are predominantly based on a series of interview studies with comparatively few participants (N = 30). While providing interesting detailed insights, they should not be generalized without further investigation. Furthermore, the currently available findings provide little information about the relative importance of individual activities and user motives when compared to each other. This can be explained by the corresponding literature's qualitative approach, which aimed to reveal individual topics rather than compare them in quantified terms. Therefore, we would like to add to the literature on social VR a more comprehensive view of user activities and motives that assess individual aspects' relative importance based on how many users report them.

#### 3 Метнор

We conducted an online study between May and June 2020 and recruited participants via posts in nine subreddits<sup>3</sup> related to VR, social VR, and specific social VR applications: VRchat, RecRoom, AltspaceVR, Bigscreen, SocialVR, FacebookHorizon, NeosVR, virtualreality. Additionally, we posted the study on a message board of a german digital meetup space dedicated to VR a few days after this community organized a virtual event on the topic social VR<sup>4</sup>. After one week of operation, we also posted updated calls in the bigger subreddits, as older posts that no longer attract attention are less visible for the community. We thereby shared already collected statistics on survey completion rate, social VR usage history and frequency, and the favorite platforms so far to gain more attention. In the posts, we linked the actual online survey, for which we used a custom installation of the survey application Lime Survey. We stopped the survey when there was no new participation for several days. Overall, 273 persons participated in the online survey. There was no compensation for participation.

#### 3.1 Research Framework

We applied the Uses and Gratifications Theory (UGT) as a framework for our work, which has its origins in the 1940s in the context of empirical mass communication research and aims to identify media usage motives [6].

This theory's particularity is the assumption of active and selfreflective media users, which, due to personal needs, consciously control their media usage behaviors and aim to use those media that they expect to meet their needs [6, 18]. Despite recurrent criticism of the theory, it is an established, however evolving, approach for understanding media use [34] and is still applied in diverse technological contexts such as social media [31], social virtual worlds [13], video game streams [36], or augmented reality games [8]. An early summarizing categorization of user needs satisfied by general media use included cognitive, affective, personal integrative, social integrative, and tension release needs [18]. Recent research applying UGT reveals a broad spectrum of needs that often offer a more nuanced perspective on the correspondingly studied applications while roughly falling into the early five categories. It is thus equally common for studies that apply UGT to either re-use previously identified categories (e.g., [15, 31, 36]), or to use open-ended questions for exploratory analysis to identify novel types of needs and user motivations (e.g., [15, 31, 46]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Link to reddit.com

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Link to Virtual and Augmented Reality Frankfurt

#### 3.2 Assessed Data & Measures

The online survey included the question areas social VR usage behavior (custom items), activities and motives (open-ended and questionnaire), perceived benefits of social VR (open-ended), wanted features for social VR (open-ended), perceived social closeness compared to other platforms (custom items), and demographics<sup>5</sup>. As part of a more comprehensive research question, personality traits have also been recorded with the 10-items Big-Five Inventory [33], but are not addressed in this paper.

At the core of the survey were the questions assessing user activities and motives. As social VR is still a comparatively novel application type, we wanted the participants to articulate their thoughts freely. Thus, we decided to use open-ended questions instead of pre-defined items, which they would then have to agree or disagree. We assessed activities with the question " ... we would like to know which of the various activities offered by your favorite [social VR] app you use the most. In other words: For what do you use your *favorite social VR app?*". Motives were assessed with the question ... if you could tell us your reasons and motives for using your favorite social VR app. In other words: Why do you use it? So ask yourself what value the application has for you as a person". In addition to these open questions, we have included the User Motivation Inventory (UMI) [7] to determine the degree of motivation internalization of the participants, i.a. if their engagement in social VR is motivated by extrinsic motivation, or intrinsic motivation and whether it can be assumed that they will continue to use it. The UMI consists of six subscales and, in sum, 18 items and assesses amotivation, external, introjected, identified, and integrated motivation regulation, and intrinsic motivation (7-point Likert scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree). The activities, motives, and UMI questions referred to the participants' favorite social VR apps.

Perceived benefits of social VR compared to other, non-VR social applications like online multiplayer games or social media and wanted features for social VR were assessed with open-ended questions.

To get a statement about the social experience in social VR from all participants we further asked them in how far they experience a social closeness in social VR they can not or do not want to experience in real life and other social applications (7-point ILkert scale ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree).

The benefits, wanted features, and social closeness features did refer to social VR in general.

#### 3.3 Content Analysis

The first three authors performed an iterative content analysis of the answers to each of the open questions. The analysis goal was an agreement on the definition of clusters of categories to which each answer can be assigned. Thereby, we sought agreement by engaging in informal discussions that followed the answer coding steps. To reduce the impact of individual researcher bias while including diverse perspectives, we started each analysis by reviewing answers independently from each other. The result of this first step was a collection of rough categories from each researcher that we then discussed together in order to craft a shared codebook for the next iteration. Subsequently, we coded the answers independently from each other based on the shared codebook. We again discussed the results and identified the remaining interpretation differences of the shared codebook. Eventually, after agreeing on the derived categories, the first author coded all answers to derive a definite quantification of the identified main and subcategories.

Concerning the question that assessed user motives, we decided to guide the analysis process by applying the categories of *Functional*, *Social*, and *Experiential* needs that were identified in the literature

"Why I use social VR" - User Motivation Inventory | n = 187



Figure 1: Violin plots presenting the distribution of UMI subscale scores. Higher scores correspond to a stronger agreement. Quality of behavior continuum indicates how self-determined social VR usage is.

as being relevant for the engagement with the virtual social world game *Second Life* [45,46] and which we expected to be relevant in social VR as well. For all answers and partial answers that did not fit into these categories, we first created our own categories that we added to the shared codebook after finding agreement.

#### 4 RESULTS

From 273 participants, we collected 174 complete and 99 incomplete datasets. To use as much of the data as possible, we included all available valid data relevant to the respective analyses. Thus, in the following, the n-values indicate the valid datasets that entered each analysis. Figure 2 provides an overview of the sample characteristics based on social VR usage habits and gender, geographical region, and occupational status. In summary, most participants who provided the information were male, lived in North America, and were employed or studying in some way at the time of the survey. Most of them were between 20 and 30 years old (M = 23.6, SD = 8.74, n = 172). Participants were engaged in social VR for 2.77 years on average (SD = 1.35, n = 265), whereby half of them (55.7%, n = 262) were using it daily at the time of the survey. The majority of participants indicated VR Chat as their favorite social VR app (64.4% of those who indicated n = 258), followed by *RecRoom* (15.9%), Neos VR, BigScreen, and Altspace VR (each less than 10%). Five other applications were also specified once and summarized in a category Other.

#### 4.1 Intrinsic Motivation & Social Closeness

Figure 1 illustrates UMI results, which indicate that the majority of participants use social VR out of intrinsic motivation or at least based on integrated regulation (i.a., because social VR usage is congruent with their personally endorsed values [7]).

From 177 participants, 75% indicated an agreement of at least 5 with the statement that they would experience a social closeness in social VR that they can not or do not want to experience in other social applications (Mdn = 6). Similarly, 75% indicated an agreement of 4 or higher with the statement that they would experience a social closeness in social VR that they can not or do not want to experience in real life (Mdn = 5).

#### 4.2 User Activities in Social VR

We identified three main types of activities that users reported to do most often in social VR: *Socializing, Entertainment, and Learning* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The survey is included in the supplemental material of this paper



Figure 2: Summary of sample information and content-analysis results. *Sample information*: The missing values indicate how many participants have discontinued the survey. *Content-Analysis*: Bar charts show the number of answers associated with the main categories. Lollipop charts show the number of answers associated with the subcategories for the most frequent main categories. n-Values indicate the number of valid answers that were included in each analysis. The motive chart shows subcategories for all main categories due to the focus on the motives in this paper.

& Working. As Figure 2 illustrates, most users engage in socializing and entertainment activities, whereas only four reported that they engage in learning or working activities (e.g., learn sign language, doing light work by streaming external media into social VR). Further, we identified subcategories of the socializing and entertainment activities that are also illustrated in Figure 2, which we briefly describe in the following.

#### 4.2.1 Socializing Activities

In the Socializing category, we included answers that either explicitly referred to variations of the term "socializing", described how they found friends in social VR or specified the act or social context of interactions. In fact, most participants did not specify exactly in what ways they socialize with others in social VR, e.g., "Well, VRChat is a social interaction platform so I'm using it for that purpose"(m19). However, if they did, they most often mentioned that having conversations with others, e.g., chatting or talking to others, is what they mainly do in social VR or spend time with others without a specific purpose (e.g., hanging out, chilling). Few participants engage in more intimate social contexts like interactions with significant others, dating, or erotic role play. Many participants also specified with whom they interact socially. 70 users interact with known others (e.g., friends, family, relatives), and 49 users indicated to purposefully seek contact with strangers to make new contacts and friends.

#### 4.2.2 Entertainment Activities

In the Entertainment category, we included answers that described activities like gaming (i.a., PvP, board games, user-created), content creation (i.a., environments, games, avatars), and exploration (i.a., built-in worlds, user creations), watching video content, partying and dancing, listening to music, participating in community events (talks, discussions), engaging in role-play (not erotic role play), or simply enjoying to observe others. The most popular entertainment activities were playing games and creating content. Notably, many of the entertainment activities are shared with others. They thus also have a social component (68 mentions): "I get together with friends and new people and watch shows together." (m46), "Mainly just finding areas to explore together with other people" (m19), "I like to draw people's avatars in the presentation room of VRChat to make them happy" $_{(f19)}$ , "... I just talk with people and listen to music just like in a house party" (m29), "there is also a fantastic dancing, drinking, and partying community" (f27).

#### 4.3 Social VR User Motives

We identified four main types of motives or needs that users referred to when explaining their engagement with their favorite social VR application: the categories taken from the literature *Social, Experiential*, and *Functional* needs, and additionally needs related to the *Self.* As Figure 2 illustrates, most users referred to social motives and needs, followed by half of them referring to experiential reasons. Almost 25% indicated reasons that are personal and self-related. Functional reasons were the least common. In the following, we describe each category in more detail by addressing its subcategories that are also summarized in Figure 2.

#### 4.3.1 Social Motives

This category refers to the social needs addressed by or the social benefits that result from establishing and maintaining interaction with other users. As Figure 2 illustrates, social VR engagement is based on diverse social needs, ranging from a desire to perceive the presence of others to establish meaningful relationships and finding a substitution for real-world social interactions.

The most common social motive described by the participants is a desire to come and stay in contact with other people: "*I use*  my favorite social VR app to speak with both friends I have made through it and to perhaps befriend others"  $(m_{21})$ .

The second most common subcategory of social motives summarizes answers that emphasized the degree of social presence provided by VR technology and that it satisfies their need to socialize when explaining why they engage in social VR: "It also helps giving a more physical presence to the people I talk to which gives everything a more genuine feeling" (m24), "I use it to gain the social interaction I need" (f22).

For several participants, the engagement in social VR serves as a valuable substitution for real-world social interactions. Their answers often indicate that circumstances over which they have no or limited control restrict their opportunities to engage in realworld social interactions: "Being someone who is very social, but doesn't always have the luxury to be able to go outside and meet people a lot, it helps me to find people to talk to ..."(m32). Notably, several participants emphasized that social VR was their major or only access to social interactions due to local COVID-19 pandemic measures: "No reason other than to try to keep social during the COVID-19 lockdown"(m36), "It's especially nice during quarantine to get to talk to others while feeling like you're really in the world there with them"(fn/A).

Almost the same amount of users indicated that their main motive to use social VR is to diversify their social contacts. Thereby, they i.a. appreciated the access to people from all over the world and thus, different cultures, or to break through their personal social bubble: "I like to use VRchat most to make new friends that I could never meet in my normal life, because I think it's important to get as many different perspectives about the world as you can and in VRchat it's easier to do than in the real world" (m22), "... Keeps my social circle from becoming an echo chamber" (f24).

Another social need that users satisfy by engaging in social VR is the desire to find like-minded people: "I rarely meet someone where I live that is into the same things. Therefore, I turn to VRChat on the weekends to give me that bar experience and socializing with people that are like me"<sub>(f30)</sub>.

A few users search for or found meaningful social relationships or assume that social VR supports in establishing those more intimate connections: "[I] Met my significant other in-game." (f33), "Social, emotional, and romantic fulfillment"(f23), "I feel that this allows for closer bonds to form and lets you get to know someone a little better" (f27).

#### 4.3.2 Experiential Motives

This category refers to needs that are addressed and benefits that arise from the sole experience of social VR usage and includes benefits such as entertainment, excitement, playfulness, and escapism. Thus, users referring to an experiential motivation often experience pleasure and enjoyment while exploring the virtual world and engaging in the various activities it provides.

The most common theme of answers in this category was the seeking and appreciation of enjoyable experiences to pastime and for entertainment: "*I use it to have fun*"<sub>(m16)</sub>, "*I just like to play VRChat. I don't have anything that motivates me besides that*"<sub>(m19)</sub>, "*Boredom*"<sub>(n/A)</sub>.

The second most common group of answers share the desire for some sort of escapism, or variety from everyday life, i.a., to relax ("It is a relaxing escape. ... a good way to reduce stress" ( $_{m571}$ ), flee from specific real-world problems ("I use it to escape reality. The real world can be stressful and it's nice to be able to have a second life in VR ..."( $_{m29}$ )), to get access to activities during the COVID-19 lockdown ("Especially due to Corona virus making things hard to actively go outside and interact with others, VR had made absolute turn around for that"( $_{f20}$ ).

Social VR was also described as a creational outlet that offers opportunities for creating content and engaging in cognitive stimu-
lating activities "... because of the insanely complex toolset it offers, allowing you to program stuff into your avatars or worlds with node based programming ..." (m18), "... I create work that I like, and it is nice to see others like my work too" (m29).

Another source of experiential benefits is the satisfaction of curiosity that some participants stated to find in exploring communitycreated or other content: "... I also enjoy meeting other talented people and seeing what they can do musically, artistically and 3D modeling wise ..."(m32), "The openness of creativity. Very little is limited and it's always interesting to see what people will make next"(m25).

Only few answers describe that social VR is a source of gratification that emerges from overcoming challenges and induces feelings of competence: "I consider it more meaningful to compete against other players ..."<sub>(m48)</sub>, "I like playing rec room because I'm good at it, I'm quite insecure so it's nice seeing you are good at something"<sub>(f17)</sub>.

### 4.3.3 Self-Related Motives

We have identified a group of answers that describe benefits for personal identity, mental health, and personal development and thus refer to motives and needs related to the *Self*.

The most common self-related benefit users described was the support of emotional and physiological well-being: "... VRChat is also therapeutic in many ways. Whether it is to help my meditation, soul-searching, healing, self-reflection or to help aid others in growing into their true, genuine identities, I use VRChat as a way to communicate more than just words." ( $_{022}$ ), "It makes me feel less lonely" ( $_{m16}$ ), "... This game has especially kept me sane during the lockdown here in the UK"( $_{m23}$ ).

Several users emphasized that they use social VR because it allows them to express themselves freely in a way they want, be it in terms of role-playing or sharing aspects of them that they usually do not share with others in real life. A nuance of these answers was the appreciation of versatile customization possibilities and the anonymity that avatars provide: "... playing it is the first time that I've really felt free to really express myself and be me without the weight of the real world and all the expectations that go with it." (m22), "... have fun expressing myself in crazy fun ways."(f20), "Because I can use avatars that better express who I want to be I find myself open in telling people about what I like and who I am as a person" (m32).

A reoccurring theme was the notion of having problems with social interactions in the real world (specified or unspecified). Users whose answers we associated with this category described that in social VR they suffer less from the problems with social interactions they have in the real world or that social VR would help them to overcome these problems and improve their social skills: "I'm alone at home and kind of socially anxious. Having an avatar is helping me feel less anxious about speaking with people and helps me talk more." (m24), "I think I use it to fulfill my need for closeness and socialization with people, something that I struggle with in real life." (f19), or "It also has helped me improve my ability to talk to people and get over some anxiety" (f14).

Another self-related motive or benefit was the ambition or observation to grow as a person and expand one's horizons: "It has been a continual source of inspiration, and joy that has me learning, and growing by the day, enriching my lives in numerous ways" ( $_{027}$ ), "This app has value to me because it's a way for me to learn new things and expand my horizons" ( $_{f14}$ ).

### 4.3.4 Functional Motives

This category refers to purposeful, task-related benefits derived from the completion of previously defined tasks. It includes the acquisition of specific skills and knowledge that are relevant outside of Social VR: "*I use it ... as a platform to learn new skills like 3D*  modeling and game programming with." $_{(m31)}$ , "... learning about different parts of the world first hand from the people who live there also has its value to me."  $_{(m22)}$ .

Another functional value that some participants described is the convenience that social VR affords to engage in certain activities: "VR gives me an easy way to do that." (m46), "... I'm a pretty sociable person irl, but I vastly prefer VR since it is convenient ..."(f22).

Two participants mentioned to use Social VR as a tool and a means to an end for which they otherwise do not have or want to spend the resources to fulfill it: "... watching a movie in 3d or 2d on a huge screen while actually sitting in a small room is a huge feat in itself." (m31).

### 4.4 Perceived Benefits of Social VR

Participants indicated four areas of benefits that social VR provides for social interaction that other social applications like online games or social media do not (see Figure 2).

The most frequently mentioned benefit is the *immersive experi*ence that social VR offers. This benefit category is based on the increased communicative expressiveness and interactivity with the virtual environment and others due to motion and position tracking and the degree of spatial and social presence that modern immersive VR technology induces (feeling like actually being there together).

The second most frequently mentioned advantage of social VR is an overall *better quality of the social experience*, which participants often referred to as being more authentic and natural in terms of, for example, others' behavior. Further, answers associated with this benefit category characterize the social encounters in social VR as more meaningful, intimate, and memorable. Furthermore, participants referring to the social experience perceive the social interaction atmosphere as healthier, more joyful, more effective, and more positive.

31 participants referred to *application-specific features* as beneficial for social interaction in social VR and thus did not directly refer to general social VR characteristics. For example, these participants emphasized that social VR applications are often specifically tailored and focused around social interactions and do not require them to engage in other goal-oriented activities, like online multiplayer games (More details are included in the supplemental material of this paper).

Another main category of perceived benefits is a perceived *increased accessibility and inclusiveness* that social VR grants to certain user groups. For example, these answers relate to the non-verbal communication capabilities of VR technology, which allow people to engage with others without relying on voice or text input. Another aspect that some participants highlighted was the combination of anonymity and realistic social interaction to establish a secure social interaction space for people who may suffer from social anxiety.

#### 4.5 Wanted Features for Social VR

Participants indicated seven areas of features that they would like to be improved or implemented into social VR in the future (Figure 2). With mentions in over 20% of all responses, features related to the *Immersion*, the *Social* experience, and *Basic User Experience* are the most requested.

To increase *Immersion* the users wish to support more affordable and more extensive tracking technologies (e.g., face, eyes, hands) and the integration of more senses into the experience, particularly the development and support of haptic in and output devices.

The desired *Social* features relate to communication versatility (e.g., improvement of group conversation, direct messaging in and out VR, emoticons), convenient contact management (e.g., filtered user groups), diversification of group activities (e.g., friend & family features, more concurrent users) and implementation of security & safety mechanics (e.g., social moderation). Social VR should also be improved in terms of the *Basic User Experience*. In particular, the participants refer to fundamentally functional aspects such as better performance (e.g., networking, fewer bugs) and usability issues with the user interface (e.g., limited or no customization of UI) and locomotion in VR. Overall, participants want social VR to be a way more seamless experience.

Another area of requested improvements relates to *Content Creation* features, which participants want to be more adaptable and easily accessible in general and best built into their favorite social VR application. They also mentioned particular features that would support content creation like integrating 3D volumetric live capturing of real-world objects.

Concerning *Avatars*, there seems to be a desire for more versatile design possibilities. For example, designing virtual clothes, non-human avatars, or expressiveness features were mentioned. Further, cross-platform avatars or avatars congruent to one's physical appearance are desired features.

Few participants would like to see easier and broader *Access* to VR technology in general (e.g., lower prices, more users) but also better user *Onboarding* within specific social VR applications by improving user onboarding processes and platform documentation.

Some participants expressed a desire for *Cross-Technology* integration features (e.g., communication between AR, VR, and nonimmersive platforms) that would allow connecting with even more people. There should also be more versatile possibilities to transfer content from social VR to other applications and vice versa. Similarly, social VR applications should be integrated with the real world to blur the boundaries between virtual and real world.

Additionally, we identified 25 answers that could not be assigned to a unifying parent category and are clustered as *Diverse*.

### 5 DISCUSSION

Based on the provocative statement that VR will be the most social platform ever, we have explored what social VR users mainly do on their favorite platforms, what benefits they get from it, what advantages they see in this new type of application, and which aspects should be improved in the future. Our online survey results indicate that social VR is used mostly for social interactions and thus also explicitly has a social benefit for the users, i.e., it satisfies their social needs. In this respect, social VR seems to give access to social experiences that many users tend not to experience on other digital social platforms or even the real world. Also, for many users, social VR is a means for entertainment, i.e., it serves, for example, to pastime, explore user-generated content, or distract from everyday life, which for some users was limited by the COVID-19 measures in 2020. In addition to the social and entertainment benefits, social VR is also a resource for personal well-being, such as expressing oneself freely and features that allow individual users to practice social interactions and overcome fears. These self-related usage motives illustrate the personal value some users assign to their social VR activities. Functional benefits, such as language learning, seem to motivate social VR involvement, but in principle, they are less reflected in the form of specific learning or work activities. The answer to the "Why' behind social VR engagement can also be inferred from the UMI results. These allow the conclusion that most users are intrinsically motivated and that the use and the associated benefits are of high personal relevance. This also allows the conclusion that social VR engagement seems to be sustainable for our participants. Social VR seems to be less simply an alternative to other social applications but seems to have a real added value [7]. This seems to lie mainly in the increased immersion and expressiveness due to technological aspects that, in consequence, creates a superior social experience, as the identified benefits emphasize. However, even if the better social experience, the social benefits, and the predominantly social activities show that social VR seems to be a very social platform due to its immersive nature and increased expressiveness, these aspects

also seem to be accompanied by growing demands for improvement of those aspects. For example, users desire more affordable and comprehensive tracking technologies, increased sensory immersion, and improvements in terms of concrete social features. Nevertheless, also fundamental aspects of the user experience seem to require improvement.

Our results are relevant for related work in several aspects. First of all, we can say that the aspects identified in previous interview studies with small samples are also reflected in our results that are based on a big sample. In summary, our results confirm that social VR seems to extend the social and experiential qualities of traditional shared virtual spaces due to its technological characteristics (i.a., benefits regarding immersion and social experience, perceived social closeness). Additionally, they provide further evidence that social VR seems to support general and intimate socializing [43], selfexpression and identity exploration [11], self-improvement and mental health, and learning skills and cultures [22]. Thus, the activities, motives, and benefits we identified are related to the groups of meaningful activities identified only recently during the writing of this paper [22]. For example, the activities for mental self-improvement (e.g., improving social skills) [22] are tightly connected to the Self category we present here. The previously formulated design recommendations (improvement of social connectivity, integration of communication affordances in and out of VR, increasing realism and naturalness [22]) were also addressed by our participants.

Our second contribution is a general and comprehensive view on the user-perspective on social VR. Although our results may offer a lower level of detail on specific topics identified in this paper than the results of in-depth interview studies [22, 26, 43], they allow an assessment of the relative importance of individual aspects, since we present the identified topics in terms of their frequency. Thus, our work provides a complementary perspective that offers a general overview of the topics previous papers dealt with in detail. We would also like to emphasize that our results are based on the everyday experiences of VR users who tend to be experienced with the medium of social VR and VR technology. Therefore, they form a valuable complement to findings from laboratory studies, which still make up the bulk of research methods, as VR technology is not yet a widely established medium in private end-user contexts.

Our third contribution lies in adding the users' perspectives to the literature concerned with current social VR applications' design practices. Our participant's desire for improved tracking technology (e.g., eyes, face) are in line with recently identified challenges and opportunities for the design of non-verbal communication in social VR based on a comprehensive overview of current social VR applications [41]. As we indicated, the tracking capabilities seem to be tightly related to the superior social experience. Thus our results emphasize previous conclusions that the development of software strategies and tracking technologies that improve nonverbal communication in social VR is a valuable research area. In addition, our results contribute to related work by supporting previous conclusions and indicate that it is worthwhile to bring users, developers, and researchers more in touch with each other. For example, while a previously crafted taxonomy of social VR application design areas also defines a "Self" category, this category is more related to specific features of avatars in social VR (i.a., "appearance customization", "controller tracking", "teleport") [17]. Thus, this other "Self" category does not necessarily reflect the self-related benefits we identified in our survey; however, it is linked to individual aspects of it (e.g., avatar appearance for self-expression). However, some self-related benefits we identified are linked to other categories of this taxonomy (e.g., overcoming social anxiety is linked to "interaction with others"). Regarding the unused potential of individual aspects of social VR, we would like to point out that learning and working were not very well represented in our sample. However, aspects such as learning sign language or doing light work do motivate social VR engagement in individual cases. Especially against the background of the COVID-19 pandemic in the year 2020, this is a potentially rewarding application area for social VR, which is not yet represented in the taxonomy mentioned above. Therefore, we recommend integrating user-relevant motives into future design taxonomies to get a holistic perspective on the design of social VR features and tailor the design and research of specific features even more towards the potential user outcomes in everyday life.

### 6 LIMITATIONS & FUTURE WORK

Our results have to be interpreted with the following limitations in mind. We asked the participants to refer to the social VR application they use most often in their answers. Nevertheless, we used the data to draw a comprehensive picture and did not perform a platformspecific analysis. In this respect, we emphasize that most participants indicated VRChat as their favorite platform, which makes our results particularly representative for this user group. A rough examination has shown that individual categories show slight differences in the frequency of their mentions depending on the platform, which would have to be confirmed by a balanced sample. Therefore, it makes sense to generate such a platform-specific balanced sample in followup surveys or to explicitly refer to only one platform or several that are similar in features. Further, as illustrated in the sample description, our recruitment procedure gave us access to a not very diverse user group in terms of age, gender, region of residence, and thus probably cultural background. Consequently, it may tend rather to represent the user demographics of Reddit and its respective subreddits, and less of social VR. In particular, while our sample may represent users from America and Europe, it does not allow us to make generalizing conclusions about users from Oceania, Asia, or Africa. Future studies that directly reach out to social VR users should use recruitment procedures that provide access to a demographically diverse sample or try to specifically access users that we could not include in our survey. Besides, we have not yet conducted any analyses regarding the influence of individual characteristics such as personality or age. This must also be taken into account when interpreting our results. Therefore, we cannot assume that the categories and their relative importance derived by us apply equally to each user group. In summary, our results only allow us to make conclusions about social VR as a genre and users from different demographic groups, according to these limitations.

Methodologically, one limitation, in particular, should be mentioned. We decided to ask open questions and, in the sense of the UGT framework, we gave the participants the ability to reflect on their usage behavior. However, the variety of detail in the answers we received shows that not every participant wants to or can articulate themselves equally profoundly in such a kind of study. This is also shown by the high dropout rate, which led to the fact that we used different numbers of partial data sets for the individual analyses. Among these, there were detailed as well as concise and superficial answers. Of course, this is a direct disadvantage compared to in-depth interviews of individual users, but related to our study's goal, it is a limitation to be accepted. For follow-up studies in the topic areas we identified, we propose using predefined items and question domains but applying them so that participants can respond as unbiased as possible.

Besides the implications of the limitations above, we think it would be worthwhile to apply our methodological approach to less broad questions in social VR, such as the topics covered in the previous interview studies. Thus, prior knowledge on particular topics based on few users could be confirmed or extended by more extensive data sets. In doing so, however, we would fall back on the application of already predefined questions and assume this would lead to less fragmented datasets.

### 7 CONCLUSION

We investigated the "What" and "Why" of social VR usage and found, in line with previous work, that social VR extends the social and experiential qualities of traditional shared virtual spaces for a majority of users. Besides socializing with others, or the fun of playing in such virtual social worlds, users have also given us very personal information about the personal value they assign to social VR. So some find access to foreign cultures or best friends who live far away whereas others find access to social life in the first place by using such applications. As already noted by other researchers in this field, a thorough look at what users value about social VR eventually helps identify research and development opportunities by indicating what features of social VR are currently crucial for users but may be improved in the future. We identified a desire for better and affordable tracking technology, increased sensory immersion, and further improvement concerning social features. Our results indicate that, in everyday life, as well as times of limited opportunities for real-world social interaction (as in the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic), social VR's promise is the access to authentic and meaningful social interactions over distance for people who are physically separated from each other.

### REFERENCES

- J. N. Bailenson, A. C. Beall, J. Loomis, J. Blascovich, and M. Turk. Transformed social interaction: Decoupling representation from behavior and form in collaborative virtual environments. *Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments*, 13(4):428–441, 2004.
- [2] J. N. Bailenson, J. Blascovich, A. C. Beall, and J. M. Loomis. Equilibrium theory revisited: Mutual gaze and personal space in virtual environments. *Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments*, 10(6):583– 598, 2001.
- [3] J. N. Bailenson and N. Yee. Virtual interpersonal touch: Haptic interaction and copresence in collaborative virtual environments. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 37(1):5–14, 2008.
- [4] S. Benford, J. Bowers, L. E. Fahlén, C. Greenhalgh, and D. Snowdon. User embodiment in collaborative virtual environments. In *Proceedings* of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems, pp. 242–249, 1995.
- [5] L. Blackwell, N. Ellison, N. Elliott-Deflo, and R. Schwartz. Harassment in social virtual reality: Challenges for platform governance. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 3(CSCW), Nov. 2019. doi: 10.1145/ 3359202
- [6] J. G. Blumler and E. Katz. The uses of mass communications: Current perspectives on gratifications research. sage annual reviews of communication research volume iii. 1974.
- [7] F. Brühlmann, B. Vollenwyder, K. Opwis, and E. D. Mekler. Measuring the "why" of interaction: Development and validation of the user motivation inventory (umi). In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '18, p. 1–13. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2018. doi: 10.1145/3173574.3173680
- [8] S. Bueno, M. D. Gallego, and J. Noyes. Uses and gratifications on augmented reality games: An examination of pokémon go. *Applied Sciences*, 10(5):1644, 2020.
- [9] F. De Simone, J. Li, H. G. Debarba, A. El Ali, S. N. Gunkel, and P. Cesar. Watching videos together in social virtual reality: An experimental study on user's qoe. In 2019 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR), pp. 890–891. IEEE, 2019.
- [10] M. C. Evans, S. Kamineni, O. Cheikh-Ali, J. Fanzo, S. Jiang, K. Majmudar, M. Ren, and J. Hammer. Sharing multi-user vr spaces. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play*, CHI PLAY '20, p. 229–233. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2020. doi: 10.1145/3383668. 3419871
- [11] G. Freeman and D. Maloney. Body, avatar, and me: The presentation and perception of self in social virtual reality. In *Proc. ACM Human-Computer. Interact. (CSCW)*, 2020.

- [12] G. Freeman, S. Zamanifard, D. Maloney, and A. Adkins. My body, my avatar: How people perceive their avatars in social virtual reality. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pp. 1–8, 2020.
- [13] M. D. Gallego, S. Bueno, and J. Noyes. Second life adoption in education: A motivational model based on uses and gratifications theory. *Computers & Education*, 100:81–93, 2016.
- [14] C. George, M. Eiband, M. Hufnagel, and H. Hussmann. Trusting strangers in immersive virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces Companion*, IUI '18 Companion. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2018. doi: 10.1145/3180308.3180355
- [15] D. Hassouneh and M. Brengman. A motivation-based typology of social virtual world users. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 33:330–338, 2014.
- [16] W. A. IJsselsteijn, Y. A. W. de Kort, and A. Haans. Is this my hand i see before me? the rubber hand illusion in reality, virtual reality, and mixed reality. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments*, 15(4):455–464, 2006.
- [17] M. Jonas, S. Said, D. Yu, C. Aiello, N. Furlo, and D. Zytko. Towards a taxonomy of social vr application design. In *Extended Abstracts* of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play Companion Extended Abstracts, CHI PLAY '19 Extended Abstracts, p. 437–444. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2019. doi: 10.1145/3341215.3356271
- [18] E. Katz, H. Haas, and M. Gurevitch. On the use of the mass media for important things. *American sociological review*, pp. 164–181, 1973.
- [19] K. Kilteni, R. Groten, and M. Slater. The sense of embodiment in virtual reality. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments*, 21(4):373–387, 2012.
- [20] A. Kolesnichenko, J. McVeigh-Schultz, and K. Isbister. Understanding emerging design practices for avatar systems in the commercial social vr ecology. In *Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference*, pp. 241–252, 2019.
- [21] J. Li, Y. Kong, T. Röggla, F. De Simone, S. Ananthanarayan, H. de Ridder, A. El Ali, and P. Cesar. Measuring and understanding photo sharing experiences in social virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI '19, p. 1–14. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2019. doi: 10.1145/3290605.3300897
- [22] D. Maloney and G. Freeman. Falling asleep together: What makes activities in social virtual reality meaningful to users. In *Proceedings* of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play, CHI PLAY '20, p. 510–521. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2020. doi: 10.1145/3410404.3414266
- [23] D. Maloney, G. Freeman, and R. Andrew. A virtual space for all: Exploringchildren's experience in social virtual reality. In *Proceedings* of the 2020 ACM SIGCHIannual symposium on Computer-human interaction in play (CHI-Play), pp. 1–9, 2020.
- [24] D. Maloney, G. Freeman, and A. Robb. It is complicated: Interacting with children in social virtual reality. In 2020 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces Abstracts and Workshops (VRW), pp. 343–347. IEEE, 2020.
- [25] D. Maloney, G. Freeman, and D. Y. Wohn. "talking without a voice": Understanding non-verbal communication in social virtual reality. *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.*, 4(CSCW2), Oct. 2020. doi: 10.1145/ 3415246
- [26] D. Maloney, S. Zamanifard, and G. Freeman. Anonymity vs. familiarity: Self-disclosure and privacy in social virtual reality. In 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology, pp. 1–9, 2020.
- [27] A. Maselli and M. Slater. The building blocks of the full body ownership illusion. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 7:83, 2013.
- [28] J. McVeigh-Schultz, A. Kolesnichenko, and K. Isbister. Shaping prosocial interaction in vr: An emerging design framework. In *Proceedings* of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems,

CHI '19, p. 1–12. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2019. doi: 10.1145/3290605.3300794

- [29] J. McVeigh-Schultz, E. Márquez Segura, N. Merrill, and K. Isbister. What's it mean to "be social" in vr? mapping the social vr design ecology. In *Proceedings of the 2018 ACM Conference Companion Publication on Designing Interactive Systems*, DIS '18 Companion, p. 289–294. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2018. doi: 10.1145/3197391.3205451
- [30] F. Moustafa and A. Steed. A longitudinal study of small group interaction in social virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the 24th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology*, pp. 1–10, 2018.
- [31] M. J. Pelletier, A. Krallman, F. G. Adams, and T. Hancock. One size doesn't fit all: a uses and gratifications analysis of social media platforms. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 2020.
- [32] T. S. Perry. Virtual reality goes social. *IEEE Spectrum*, 53(1):56–57, 2016. doi: 10.1109/MSPEC.2016.7367470
- [33] B. Rammstedt and O. P. John. Measuring personality in one minute or less: A 10-item short version of the big five inventory in english and german. *Journal of research in Personality*, 41(1):203–212, 2007.
- [34] T. E. Ruggiero. Uses and gratifications theory in the 21st century. Mass communication & society, 3(1):3–37, 2000.
- [35] Č. Šašinka, Z. Stachoň, M. Sedlák, J. Chmelík, L. Herman, P. Kubíček, A. Šašinková, M. Doležal, H. Tejkl, T. Urbánek, et al. Collaborative immersive virtual environments for education in geography. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 8(1):3, 2019.
- [36] M. Sjöblom and J. Hamari. Why do people watch others play video games? an empirical study on the motivations of twitch users. *Comput*ers in human behavior, 75:985–996, 2017.
- [37] M. Slater. Place illusion and plausibility can lead to realistic behaviour in immersive virtual environments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1535):3549–3557, 2009.
- [38] M. Slater, D. Pérez Marcos, H. Ehrsson, and M. V. Sanchez-Vives. Towards a digital body: the virtual arm illusion. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 2:6, 2008.
- [39] H. J. Smith and M. Neff. Communication behavior in embodied virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors* in Computing Systems, pp. 1–12, 2018.
- [40] P. Sykownik and M. Masuch. The experience of social touch in multiuser virtual reality. In 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology, VRST '20. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2020. doi: 10.1145/3385956.3418944
- [41] T. J. Tanenbaum, N. Hartoonian, and J. Bryan. "how do i make this thing smile?" an inventory of expressive nonverbal communication in commercial social virtual reality platforms. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pp. 1–13, 2020.
- [42] B. G. Witmer and M. J. Singer. Measuring presence in virtual environments: A presence questionnaire. *Presence*, 7(3):225–240, 1998.
- [43] S. Zamanifard and G. Freeman. "the togetherness that we crave" experiencing social vr in long distance relationships. In Conference Companion Publication of the 2019 on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing, pp. 438–442, 2019.
- [44] X. Zhang and G. W. Furnas. Social interactions in multiscale cves. In Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Collaborative Virtual Environments, CVE '02, p. 31–38. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2002. doi: 10.1145/571878.571884
- [45] Z. Zhou, X.-L. Jin, D. Vogel, X. Guo, and X. Chen. Individual motivations for using social virtual worlds: an exploratory investigation in second life. In 2010 43rd Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences, pp. 1–10. IEEE, 2010.
- [46] Z. Zhoua, X.-L. Jinb, D. R. Vogelb, Y. Fangb, and X. Chena. Individual motivations and demographic differences in social virtual world uses: An exploratory investigation in second life. *International Journal of Information Management*, 31:261–271, 2011.

# A.3. Something Personal from the Metaverse: Goals, Topics, and Contextual Factors of Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR

For your personal use but not redistribution, you find attached the accepted author's version of the publication:

Philipp Sykownik, Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Maic Masuch. 2022. Something Personal from the Metaverse: Goals, Topics, and Contextual Factors of Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR. In Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '22). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 632, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1145/3491102.3502008

# Something Personal from the Metaverse: Goals, Topics, and Contextual Factors of Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR

Philipp Sykownik philipp.sykownik@uni-due.de University of Duisburg-Essen Germany

> Guo Freeman guof@clemson.edu Clemson University USA

# ABSTRACT

Current Social VR literature provides limited insight on one of the most critical behaviors for developing and maintaining interpersonal relationships: self-disclosure. Therefore, we present an online survey (N = 126) investigating how users disclose personal information to each other in Social VR. Our results indicate that many participants see in Social VR access to authentic connections with others despite tending towards skepticism and privacy concerns. Most users disclose sexuality-related information, lifestyle preferences, and personal goals. In contrast, information that breaks anonymity, such as real names and more intimate aspects of oneself, are shared less commonly. Thereby, self-disclosure decisions depend on factors like the relationship to or age of disclosure recipients, the privacy of a virtual environment, the group size, or the activity context, and is driven by different goals, i.a., relational development or exploration of oneself. These insights advance the understanding of current Social VR users and their behavior by directing future research on self-disclosure-based relationship building in Social VR and outlying broader design implications for the future metaverse.

### CCS CONCEPTS

• Human-centered computing → Empirical studies in collaborative and social computing; Virtual reality.

# **KEYWORDS**

self-disclosure, social virtual reality, online social interaction

### **ACM Reference Format:**

Philipp Sykownik, Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Maic Masuch. 2022. Something Personal from the Metaverse: Goals, Topics, and Contextual Factors of Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR. In *CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '22), April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA.* ACM, New York, NY, USA, 17 pages. https://doi.org/10. 1145/3491102.3502008

CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA

© 2022 Copyright held by the owner/author(s).

ACM ISBN 978-1-4503-9157-3/22/04. https://doi.org/10.1145/3491102.3502008

https://doi.org/10.1145/5491102.5502008

Divine Maloney divinem@clemson.edu Clemson University USA

Maic Masuch maic.masuch@uni-due.de University of Duisburg-Essen Germany

# **1 INTRODUCTION**

Disclosing personal information to others is one of the most important factors influencing the formation and maintenance of interpersonal relationships. It thus forms the basis for healthy social ties to acquaintances, friends, and significant others [2, 39, 74]. Modern computer-mediated communication technologies contribute to interpersonal communication and relationships in large parts of private and public life (e.g., [18, 26, 30, 59, 91]) and impact how we reveal personal information to others [9, 51]. The study of self-disclosure (i.e., sharing personal information with others) in computer-mediated social contexts has become established in HCI research. In particular, it focuses on how individual self-disclosure is affected by technological affordances of a specific medium designed for social communication like social networking sites (e.g., [72, 90]) and virtual social worlds (e.g., [34, 69]).

A novel venue for mediated social experiences is Social VR, an emerging ecology of commercial applications for avatar-based remote social interaction in shared virtual environments using VR technology (i.e., head-mounted displays) [53, 54, 65]. Social VR offers embodied and immersive social experiences comparable to face-to-face interaction due to its verbal and non-verbal expression capabilities [49, 79], and the variety of social activity contexts it offers [44, 49, 53, 54, 58, 76, 89].

Alongside the access to a new communication venue like Social VR naturally comes the question of how its technological qualities affect aspects of social interaction like self-disclosure. Though, HCI research only recently began to study self-disclosure in Social VR. Insights so far based on user interviews demonstrate trade-offs between enjoying natural ways of self-disclosure and being concerned about privacy risks [50]. However, users reported feeling comfortable disclosing both emotional, and personal information [50]. Although previous findings provide interesting insights into individual attitudes and behaviors of a few Social VR users, they do not allow the identification of general patterns of attitudes and behaviors related to self-disclosure in Social VR. For example, current findings do not provide insights into quantified tendencies to disclose or not disclose certain topics or how different context factors may generally influence the disclosure of certain information types. With our study, we wanted to identify such general patterns of opinion and behavior by answering the following research questions:

RQ1 What do users think about disclosing to others in Social VR?

Permission to make digital or hard copies of part or all of this work for personal or classroom use is granted without fee provided that copies are not made or distributed for profit or commercial advantage and that copies bear this notice and the full citation on the first page. Copyrights for third-party components of this work must be honored. For all other uses, contact the owner/author(s).

RQ2 What topics do they disclose?

**RQ3** What goals drive their self-disclosure?

RQ4 What contextual factors influence their disclosure?

RQ5 What technical channels do they use to disclose?

In contrast to previous interview approaches, we conducted an online survey to obtain data from a potentially larger number of Social VR users. By choosing this approach, we eventually contribute to the still-emerging domain of Social VR research by increasing the representative value of our results. Approaches like ours and previous works that reach out to current Social VR users directly provide insights into the actual day-to-day usage patterns and experiences. These insights enable us to grasp the potential significance of Social VR for satisfying basic social needs today and in the future induced by social interactions like self-disclosure. Further, understanding users' rules dictating their disclosure of personal data in Social VR is mandatory to inform the design of safe and healthy virtual spaces, given current public controversies on the general handling of user-generated data in virtual reality [24, 66]. Additionally, our work is timely as the COVID 19 pandemic has reshaped our world with its far-reaching social distancing measures, which significantly increased the need for alternatives to physical meetings and also revealed issues with existing technical solutions [5]. Furthermore, investigating these questions in particular in the context of Social VR contributes to the basic understanding of social interactions in virtual environments that may become part of the future metaverse. The metaverse refers to a concept of a persistent digital world that converges technologies like AR and VR with physical reality and succeeds the internet of today. The term goes back to the 1992 novel Snow Crash by Neal Stephenson [73], and is currently broadly discussed in public after the restructuring of Facebook, which now belongs to the parent company Meta [56, 81].

# 2 BACKGROUND

In this section, we briefly review the literature on the basics of selfdisclosure and provide some examples of how computer-mediated communication introduces technical characteristics that influence how people engage in self-disclosure. As our goal is not to compare self-disclosure in Social VR directly to other forms of computermediated self-disclosure, we do not provide a broader and nuanced review of literature in this area. Subsequently, we summarize the current Social VR literature landscape, emphasizing the role of Social VR for interpersonal relationships so far and in the future. Lastly, we discuss the few existing insights on self-disclosure in Social VR and explain our work's contribution to this limited research domain.

### 2.1 Self-disclosure

Self-disclosure is the verbal or non-verbal revealing of personal information to others [20, 29, 38, 61, 84]. The revealing of personal thoughts, experiences, and feelings stimulates basic needs for social connectedness and involves neural and cognitive activities associated with feelings of reward and thus is intrinsically rewarding [78]. Derlega and Grzelak (1979) described five main motivations of self-disclosure in their functional theory (as cited in [61]): social validation, relief of distress, relational development, identity clarification, and social control. Depending on situational cues and individual attributes, one or several of these motives eventually motivate people towards self-disclosure as a means to achieve social rewards. Thereby, the process of disclosing personal information is always a balancing of the possible rewards and the risks posed by the potential vulnerability of revealing sensitive personal information to others [2, 20]. As a strategy to maximize beneficial disclosure outcomes and minimize its risks, establishing a dyadic boundary surrounding oneself and trusted recipients within a safe environment functions as a privacy control mechanism. Within such a boundary, intimate disclosures are most likely to happen in conversations with close friends or with strangers [20].

Literature categorizes types of self-disclosure behavior along various dimensions such as the depth or intimacy of information, breadth or thematic diversity of information, the duration, frequency, authenticity, or the willingness to disclose [2, 12, 38, 64]. Further, self-disclosure literature provides many findings and ongoing discussions on various factors that influence self-disclosure. However, as a detailed review would be out of this paper's scope, we instead refer to a literature overview by Ignatius and Kokkonen [35] that define three broad categories of potential influencing factors: characteristics of the disclosing like their motivation and mood, characteristics of the recipients like the relationship to them, their age, perceived status, or number of recipients, and situational factors like the environment's aesthetics, interpersonal touch, cultural context, or the used communication channel.

Self-disclosure is inherently integrated with the development of social relationships according to the Social Penetration Theory [2, 14]. This theory explains how social relationships deepen over time and move from casual, superficial encounters to intimate and meaningful, long-lasting relationships. Thereby, self-disclosure functions as a fundamental driver for relationship development, as with the reciprocal act of disclosing personal information, people get to know each other better [2, 14]. Accordingly, disclosing personal information and the type of disclosed information determines how fast and in what direction a relationship develops. The onion model is a popular metaphor that describes the interrelationship between self-disclosing different types of information and interpersonal bonding [14]: just as an onion can be taken apart layer by layer until its core, more and more personal and intimate information about each other is revealed along the development of a relationship. Thereby, outer layers can be associated with superficial, less intimate information typically disclosed early in relationships, such as likes and dislikes in clothing and music. Middle layers reflect more intimate topics, like political views, personal goals, spiritual values, or deep fears, typically disclosed later in relationships. The innermost layer, i.e. the core, represents the most intimate information related to one's concept of self or core personality. People share this information usually with significant others, close friends, or close family members that represent the final stages of relationship development (Taylor & Altman, 1987 as cited in [14]).

# 2.2 Computer-mediated Self-disclosure

Today, communication technologies play an essential role in interpersonal communication and thus are also an established instrument of self-disclosure. Although the scientific discourse does not readily permit general statements about the differences between Something Personal from the Metaverse: Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR

face-to-face and computer-mediated self-disclosure, there is consensus that specific technology-induced key characteristics moderate online self-disclosure [60, 71]. This section only provides a brief overlook over selected affordances of modern computer-mediated communication that are typically discussed in self-disclosure literature.

A crucial characteristic is the varying degree of anonymity that some systems provide over different communication channels (e.g., social network sites, forums). Thereby, an increase of anonymity may promote disclosure of intimate information as a result of the perception of increased comfort, and lower accountability [7, 15, 36, 75]. Also, the absence of social cues, like non-verbal communication signals, or low degrees of perceived social presence (e.g., in text-based vs. avatar-based interaction) are assumed to promote self-disclosure on different dimensions as it reduces the perceived uncertainty caused by the missing of social cues [6, 71, 82]. Another critical feature often provided by media that allow asynchronous communication is the editability of messages before and after the actual disclosure. Editability enables a conscious and strategic selection, as well as the composition of different self-disclosing media content, which can paint a particularly filtered self-image [22, 83]. Further, platforms like Facebook integrate communication channels that allow users to engage in dyadic contexts similar to face-toface situations (e.g., through private messages) or in large-audience contexts that have no face-to-face equivalent (e.g., broadcasts to an anonymous public through status updates). Users choose different channels for self-disclosure depending on the anticipated social rewards: e.g., social validation is mainly achieved by public status updates, whereas private messages instead account for relation development [9]. More generally, ubiquitous access via mobile communication devices allows for a constant low-threshold opportunity to reveal oneself to others and to be aware of others disclosures [51]. However, while online self-disclosure induces positive feedback loops with beneficial psychological outcomes [3, 43], the characteristics above can also have significant negative consequences arising from tendencies to compulsive self-disclosure behavior [21].

Unlike the aforementioned types of sociotechnical systems that typically involve self-disclosure via text-based communication, other systems like online games often utilize avatar-based interaction within a synchronous communication context, introducing other types of affordances. In particular, animated, anthropomorphic avatars add a layer of natural non-verbal communication cues, like gestures, postures, or mimics, depending on the fidelity and mode of control of the system at hand. Further, avatars can often be individualized in terms of visual traits, allowing users to create a virtual representation of themselves that may identically reflect their physical appearance or consciously differ from it. Accordingly, scholarship demonstrates avatars' longstanding ability to satisfy the need for expressing and presenting one's self online [16, 19, 31, 41, 63]. However, avatars affect not only the types of communication channels that are available for self-disclosures but can also affect self-disclosure itself in subtle or unconscious ways. For example, perceived avatar-self similarity in terms of appearance and psychological and behavioral attributes may promote or inhibit self-disclosure as a function of induced feelings of either self-presence or identifiability within a virtual environment [34].

Further, based on the popular *Proteus Effect* self-avatar perceived attributes, like one's avatar's attractiveness, can affect one's self-disclosure behavior: e.g., controlling a more attractive avatar leads to more intimate self-disclosures compared to controlling a less attractive avatar [87]. Furthermore, avatars are not only relevant for how we disclose but also for how we perceive others' self-disclosure. Accordingly, a study comparing the perception of video-based and avatar-based self-disclosure found that an avatar-based disclosure can be perceived as authentic as a video-based disclosure of an actual human and also induce comparable levels of empathy [69].

After we have exemplified in this short overview that technological affordances can impact self-disclosure, in the next section, we introduce Social VR, a popularity-gaining genre of applications based on avatar-mediated interaction.

### 2.3 Commercial Social VR

Social VR refers to a genre of commercial multi-user VR applications that enable remote users to interact with each other in shared virtual environments through VR technology (e.g., immersive headmounted displays). Within these virtual social worlds, users are commonly represented by avatars which they control with their body movement due to tracking technology [53, 54, 65]. Since 2015, Social VR applications have grown in popularity and today are, in fact, predominantly used to socialize with others [76]. Popular platforms include Altspace VR, VRChat, Horizon Worlds, and RecRoom. These platforms are owned by companies like Microsoft, HTC, and Meta (formerly Facebook), which indicates the commitment of large technology companies towards potentially reshaping the future of mediated interpersonal communication. Despite fundamental similarities, a brief look at these applications shows that they can roughly be distinguished based on the specifics surrounding their implemented avatar systems and the number and types of different activities users can engage in. Early Social VR literature provides a high-level analysis of different platforms' avatar-systems [40]. It illustrates how different applications provide varying capabilities related to, i.a., in-world avatar customization, avatar import features, the use of humanoid or other avatar styles, or the support of communication features like automated facial expressions [40]. Activity-wise, recent literature illustrates that Social VR users engage in diverse social and entertainment activities provided by such platforms [8, 44, 76]: having conversations, hangouts or intimate meetings with strangers or known others in private or public spaces, playing integrated or community-made games, creating and exploring different worlds, watching video content, listening to music, gathering for social events like parties [8, 76]. Interestingly, users not only show usage patterns that are directly attributable to the available platform features (e.g., world creation with creation tools). They also describe use cases that were probably not intended by the platforms' creators, such as sleeping in VR Chat within user-created so-called sleep worlds [44].

Social VR applications are rooted in the domain of collaborative virtual environments [11], and, although it is still an emerging consumer application genre, the current literature on this specific subject is already diverse. It includes literature that aims to systematize the landscape of commercial Social VR design practices (e.g., [37, 40, 53, 79]), as well as an increasing body of work that focuses on specific aspects of user behaviors and experiences for example, in the context of harassment [13], different user groups [1, 45, 46], general user motivations [44, 76], usability issues [42], relationship building during COVID 19 global pandemic [48], and psychological benefits induced by platform engagement [8].

In sum, previous research indicates that Social VR offers a variety of social experiences comparable to face-to-face interactions in terms of verbal and non-verbal expression capabilities in group or intimate contexts [44, 49, 49, 53, 54, 58, 89]. In particular, Social VR affords rich non-verbal interactivity which mimics that of the offline world, including gazes, nods, and other forms of naturalistic behavior [49]. Moreover, recent work found initial empirical evidence for associations between facets of Social VR engagement and psychological benefits like feelings of relatedness, self-expansion, and enjoyment [8]. Thus, Social VR's promise is the access to authentic and meaningful social interactions over distance [8, 25, 44, 48, 76, 89]. This promise is relevant not only in times of limited opportunities for real-world social interaction but also in cases where individual people may not be capable of engaging in face-to-face social interaction. That it has potential to fulfill this promise has been demonstrated in previous work on its capabilities to support meaningful relationships [25, 48, 89, 89] and interactive social experiences [44, 48]. It also satisfies social needs [76] and has beneficial psychological outcomes [8]. Moreover, recent trends in research indicate that Social VR can even introduce novel social experiences in the future as it provides fundamentally different approaches to mediate social interaction experiences. For example, by augmenting familiar social cues with virtual social artifacts (e.g., adding visual effects to virtual high-fives) [52, 68, 77]. Concluding, as self-disclosure is an essential part of social interaction and relationship building, by studying it in the context of Social VR, we aim to advance the understanding of how users create meaningful social interaction and bonds in Social VR.

## 2.4 Self-disclosure in Social VR

Social VR shares similarities with other online non-VR platforms we described in section 2.2 in the way people can communicate with each other. For example, users in Social VR can remain anonymous, can have representations of varying realism and style, can communicate with each other asynchronously via text messages, and can disclose to only few individuals or larger groups of users in private as well as public contexts. Though, as Social VR is primarily designed for synchronous social interaction via VR technology, other aspects from social network sites or forums, like the editability of messages and ubiquitous access to the platforms may be less prevalent. Further, Social VR platforms offer a variety of social activities based on real-time interactions, that may introduce novel social contexts for self-disclosure, that are not realizable on other platforms.

However, the most outstanding difference between Social VR and other venues of computer-mediated social interaction like social network sites and non-immersive virtual environments, is that users interact with each other while being immersed in a virtual environment that they perceive from a first-person perspective, and where they embody and control an avatar. As such, Social VR presents a naturalistic opportunity for self-disclosure which nearly mimics that of the offline world. Current applications already enable diverse channels of specific non-verbal communication cues [79] and the simulation of intimate interactions like virtual body contact (e.g., hugs, holding hands, and dancing), which may lead to new forms of computer-mediated self-disclosure that resemble experiences from face-to-face interaction but are not supported by other technologies. Further, more recent work indicates that avatarbased communication in VR could combine beneficial impacts of anonymity of online communication with experiential qualities of face-to-face interaction [4, 67, 69].

While avatar-based communication in Social VR introduces its own technological affordances that may impact relationship building through self-disclosure, only one study, to the best of our knowledge, has investigated modes of self-disclosure in commercial Social VR so far [50]. This work conducted 30 in-depth user interviews focusing on the type of information shared and to whom users disclose while emphasizing users' privacy concerns introduced by the applications' technological affordances. The findings demonstrated that users feel comfortable disclosing both personal and emotional information and detailed that Social VR requires tradeoffs relating to revealing information to better use the system. These trade-offs also reflect, that Social VR provides new ways of wanted or unwanted self-disclosure by implicitly embedding disclosure of gender-related information or body capabilities in the system by using voice chat and body tracking. Thereby, people differed in their decision to disclose only to others they are already familiar with, or only to anonymous others they do not know. Relating to the factors contributing self-disclosure [35], these findings provide initial evidence, that in Social VR characteristics of the recipient (relationship with him or her), and situational factors (different communication channels) affect self-disclosure decisions. Though, there are further potential recipient and situational characteristics that may impact self-disclosure and relate to Social VR features recently investigated or highlighted in literature: access to public and private spaces [37, 54], interaction between young and old [45, 46], access to diverse activities and varying group sizes [8, 44, 76, 89]. Further, the motives behind self-disclosure in Social VR, as well as insights into what communicative affordances users utilize for disclosing themselves has not yet been addressed. Furthermore, previous findings are based on a relatively small number of users due to the applied methodology. These gaps and limitations motivate our own research questions and choice of method to naturally extend current insights and provide a broader perspective on selfdisclosure in Social VR.

## 3 METHOD

As opposed to previous work that applied extensive interviews with only a few Social VR users [50], we decided to collect data from a larger number of users by conducting an online survey. This would allow us to increase our results' representative value and identify potential patterns of opinion and behavior related to self-disclosure shared by many users. Further, by mainly applying closed-ended questions with answer categories derived from the literature (e.g., self-disclosure goals, Social VR activities) instead of open-ended questions, we potentially increase the survey's response rate by

CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA



Figure 1: Survey structure with information on question types and example items for each of the survey topics.

increasing the convenience of answering the questions. In the following, we will explicate the survey design and the procedure of data collection.

# 3.1 Survey Design

The survey structure is illustrated in Figure 1 and is roughly composed of three major parts: Social VR usage data, self-disclosure, and demographic information.

3.1.1 Social VR Usage, Demographics & Confounding Variables. To characterize the sample adequately in terms of Social VR expertise, we asked participants to indicate when they started using Social VR, how they would characterize their usage intensity, favorite platform, and mode they use (VR vs. Desktop). They were further instructed to refer their survey responses to their favorite Social VR platform. As demographics, we assessed gender identity, age, nationality, and (as an open-ended question) identity aspects that participants thought of being relevant to the subject of interest. Further, we asked participants if their Social VR engagement started or intensified in the course of the COVID 19 pandemic and if self-disclosure in Social VR now plays a more critical role for them due to the pandemic. We included the last part to estimate any confounding effects induced by personal challenges during the pandemic situation at the time of the survey [17].

3.1.2 Skepticism & Authenticity. To assess the general opinion on self-disclosure, we asked participants to indicate their general skepticism towards self-disclosure, if they had any privacy concerns, and if they think their own and others' self-disclosure in Social VR is authentic.

3.1.3 Self-disclosure Topic Areas. We crafted a catalog of three different topic areas, including relationship-building topics, identifiers, and sexuality. In sum, participants were asked to indicate along 12 individual items whether they do or would disclose a specific information type. Topics associated with relationship-building were defined based on assumptions of the Social Penetration Theory [2, 14] and represent the types of information that humans typically disclose to others in the course of social relationship development. The topics range from information that we would disclose rather to someone we have met only recently to information we would

only disclose in an intimate, long-lasting relationship. Accordingly, we assumed that participants would implicitly associate the different topics with different degrees of intimacy. They were asked to indicate if they disclose or would disclose information from the following topic areas, ranging from lower to higher degrees of intimacy: lifestyle preferences, goals and aspirations, religious and political convictions, fears and fantasies, their concept of self. The topic area identifiers included external contact information, residence information, physical appearance, and real name. Recent research on LGBTQ+ communities in Social VR [1] motivated the inclusion of the sexuality category, which contains the information types biological sex, gender identity, and sexual orientation. Identifier and sexuality information reflect aspects of one's identity and anonymity directly related to technological affordances of avatarbased interaction in Social VR (e.g., use of custom user names and avatars and voice chat).

3.1.4 Self-disclosure Goals. To assess what social rewards drive self-disclosure in Social VR, we created five items based on the functional approach to self-disclosure [61] that assess how often each of the following goals drives self-disclosure in Social VR: self-expression, relationship development, social validation, social control, identity clarification.

3.1.5 Context Factors. We chose to include several Social VR features recently investigated or highlighted in Social VR literature as potential influencing factors on self-disclosure. Each of these factors represents social contexts in which social encounters in Social VR typically happen. Further, these factors relate to general influencing factors of self-disclosure in other contexts based on the literature review. As socializing is one of the key motivations for Social VR engagement [76] and relationship to others affects self-disclosure in face-to-face interaction [2, 14, 35] we included the relationship to others as one contextual factor.

As Social VR applications typically grant access to either public or access-controlled private spaces [37, 54], we included the privacy of a virtual space as another contextual factor. This feature relates to the privacy control mechanism of establishing dyadic boundaries as safe spaces for self-disclosure [20]. CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA

We considered the conversation partner's age as a relevant context factor, as Social VR practically does not restrict usage to specific age groups, and previous work found that adult-minor interaction underlies complicated dynamics in Social VR [45, 46]. Age is also a potential impact factor of self-disclosure [35].

Due to the diversity of activities offered in Social VR [76], social encounters can happen in a dyadic, small group, or large group contexts, which can impact self-disclosure in face-to-face contexts [35]. Thus, we also included the context factor group size and the activity type in the survey.

For each f the factors, participants were asked to indicate if it affects their decision to self-disclose in their favorite Social VR application. Additionally, they could indicate other contextual factors that were not reflected in our pre-selection.

3.1.6 Topic Area X Context Factor. For each context factor, we further derived specific social contexts that would allow us to understand how each factor may influence self-disclosure. Participants were asked to indicate if they would disclose certain information in a specific context filtered by the possible combinations of the topic areas and context factors they indicated earlier in the survey. For example, if participants indicated to disclose information related to their self-concept and that the privacy of a virtual space affects their disclosure decision in general, they had to indicate if they disclose information related to their concept of self in the following contexts: private spaces, public spaces.

3.1.7 Technical Self-disclosure Channels. As Social VR provides several channels for self-disclosure that may be used voluntarily or forced [50] and extend disclosure opportunities usually provided in other social online worlds (e.g., natural gesture-based communication) or face-to-face conversation (e.g., emotes), we asked participants to think about the technical channels they use to disclose the information they indicated earlier in the survey. As opposed to the previous survey sections, we decided to apply open-ended questions in this section, as previous work explicates that users may use certain platform features in ways other than those intended by developers or researchers (e.g., sleeping in VR [44]). By asking open-ended questions, we prevent participants from being influenced by only asking them about channels we expect them to use and preserve the opportunity to identify novel ways of self-disclosure that users may have devised in Social VR.

## 3.2 Data Collection

We advertised this survey in several channels related to Social VR, VR, and sample recruiting via posts on *Reddit, Discord, Facebook*, and a *WhatsApp* group we got invited into by Social VR users. Participants were required to be at least 18 years old and be actively engaged in a Social VR app (e.g., Recroom, VR Chat, Neos VR) at the time of the survey. We asked admins for permission before posting survey links in each community. After the first two weeks, we have made a re-post, accompanied by already collected statistics on general sample information (e.g., survey completion rate, Social VR usage statistics, and the favorite platforms so far) to maintain community attention. Eventually, we did a second re-post after two months in the *AltspaceVR*, *Bigscreen*, *Neos VR*, *RecRoom*, and *VRChat* community to achieve a more balanced data set in terms of Social



Figure 2: Social VR usage habits of the sample.

VR platforms. Data collection lasted from mid-May to the end of July 2021.

We hosted the survey on a custom installation of the survey application *Lime Survey*. There was no compensation for participation. The first author's faculty's ethics committee approved the survey and we followed the ethical considerations for Social VR research outlined in Social VR Literature [47].

3.2.1 Data Exclusion Criteria. Participants were excluded from the analysis if their responses met one of the following criteria: empty data set, indicated being under 18 years old, using Social VR mainly in desktop and not VR mode, indicated a VR app that we do not refer to as Social VR (e.g., Beat Saber), left survey before technical self-disclosure channels part, too short processing time measured against average survey time, presence of obvious nonserious answers in open-ended questions.

# 4 RESULTS

From 221 survey responses, we obtained 126 complete and 95 incomplete responses. To increase the data for analysis, we also decided to include incomplete datasets that only missed demographic data, as we did not aim to search for associations between these and other data in this initial investigation of the topic. After checking all entries against exclusion criteria, we ended up with **126 valid responses**.

# 4.1 Demographics, Social VR Usage & COVID

Among the 126 valid entries, 107 participants indicated their gender identity: 77 cis male, 14 cis female, 11 non-binary, five transgender female. Five participants indicated to be unsure about their gender Something Personal from the Metaverse: Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR



Figure 3: Combined density and box plots illustrating answer distribution regarding the impact of the COVID 19 pandemic on Social VR usage habits.

CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA



Figure 4: Combined density and box plots illustrating answer distribution regarding the general attitude towards self-disclosure in favorite Social VR application.

identity or gender-questioning. Age ranged from 18 to 60 years (n=107) with an average age of 28.35 years (Mdn = 26). Most participants lived in North America at the time of the survey, with 62 from the United States of America and nine from Canada. One participant each lived in Mexico and Brazil. Thirty-two participants lived in Europe, with most of them in the UK (8), Germany (6), Poland (4), Sweden (3), Netherlands (2), Denmark (2), and one participant each in eight other European countries. Six participants lived in Australia.

Figure 2 illustrates the sample characteristics in terms of Social VR usage habits. 64.3% started using Social VR in 2019 or later. 83% indicated either *VR Chat, Neos VR*, or *Rec Room* as their favorite Social VR app. Six other applications were each indicated by less than ten people. 46.8% indicated to use their favorite Social VR app daily and 34.9% weekly.

The COVID 19 pandemic seems to have affected the Social VR usage habits of some participants (see Figure 3). 58.9% slightly or strongly disagreed with having started Social VR because of the pandemic (Mdn = 1.5). 46,4% slightly or strongly agreed that the pandemic increased their Social VR engagement (Mdn = 4). 25% agreed that self-disclosure in Social VR got more important for them because of the pandemic (Mdn = 3). However, response ranges of all three questions cover the entire scale and indicate inter-individual differences among participants.

# 4.2 General Opinion

Overall, the general attitude towards self-disclosure in Social VR was ambivalent as many participants tended to agree with negative as well as positive statements (see Figure 4). 60.3% of participants at least slightly agreed to be skeptical (Mdn = 5) and 64.8% slightly or strongly agreed to have privacy concerns (Mdn = 5) regarding disclosure of personal information on their favorite Social VR platform. 57.1% slightly or strongly agreed with perceiving others' information disclosed to them being authentic (Mdn = 5) and 79.4% slightly or strongly agreed disclosing authentically to others (Mdn = 6). However, the response ranges of all questions cover the entire scale and indicate inter-individual differences among participants.

### 4.3 Topics of Self-disclosure

Overall, participants indicated to disclose all of the queried information categories. However, the topic areas partly differ significantly in the number of participants who disclose.

On average, identifiers like external contact information, one's physical appearance, and one's real name, are the topic areas that least participants are disclosing on their favorite Social VR platform (around 35%)(Figure 5). However, over half of participants would share residence-related information (e.g., country or area of residence).

Sexuality-related information tends to be disclosed from most participants on average (<73%).

Information pertaining to relationship building is revealed by varying numbers of participants. Most participants disclose lifestyle preferences (92.06%), and personal goals and aspirations (74.60%). Less than half of participants disclose religious and political convictions, and fears and fantasies (each 38.89%). However, roughly half of participants disclose or would disclose information related to their concept of self.

## 4.4 Goals of Self-disclosure

Self-disclosure seems to be variably motivated by different goals (Figure 6), though all goals included in the survey seem to drive self-disclosure to at least some extent.

Overall, getting closer to others (Mdn = 5), and getting oneself and others to understand oneself (Mdn = 5) seem to be most often the motivation behind self-disclosure for most participants. However, the other goals are also at least sometimes relevant for 50% of the participants (each with Mdn = 4). Comparing the distribution patterns of responses for each goal, relieving distress, and influencing others' self-disclosure behavior have the most responses below sometimes and thus a subtle tendency towards being less relevant than the other goals. Further, distribution information indicates partly significant inter-individual differences, as response ranges cover the entire scale for all goals.

# 4.5 Importance of Context Factors

Figure 7 illustrates the general importance of the context factors relationship, privacy, age, group size, and activity based on relative

#### CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA



Figure 5: Relative frequencies for how many participants reveal different information on their favorite Social VR platform.



Figure 6: Combined density and box plots illustrating answer distribution regarding how often self-disclosure goals motivate self-disclosure on favorite Social VR platform.

frequencies of participants' answers. The bar chart of Figure 7 illustrates the relative frequencies of how many participants indicated that a factor is important to them when deciding to disclose in general. In summary, each of the assessed factors is important for at least some participants, as each factor was indicated as such by over 50% of participants. Though, relationship to the communication partner seems to be most important, as it was indicated by most of the participants (91.27%), followed by the privacy of the virtual environment (73.02%), the conversation partner's age (65.08%), the group size (60.32%), and the activity in which communication takes place (57.94%).

16 participants indicated additional factors that influence their disclosure decision that we synthesized to the following seven categories: the general impression of the communication partner (4 mentions), contact opportunities on other digital communication platforms (3 mentions), influence from drugs like alcohol (3 mentions), perceived reciprocity (3 mentions), perceived geographical background of partner (2 mentions), the current conversation trend (1 mention), and the perceived platform security (1 mention).

Complementing the bar chart, a heatmap in Figure 7 illustrates the importance of each factor for disclosing the different types of information. It is crucial to note that the % values in the heatmap are relative to the individual subsets of participants that indicated they would disclose the cell row's topic (illustrated in Figure 5). We deliberately decided not to indicate frequencies relative to the whole sample, as this would not reflect the survey structure. As described in the Methods section, we designed the survey to ask respondents only about topic-factor combinations resulting from their respective individual statements about the topics they disclose and the factors that influence them. Thus, the cell values indicate the number of participants of aforementioned subsets, that indicated later in the survey to disclose the corresponding information only in some of the specific contexts associated with the context factors (e.g. people that disclose their real name only in private but not in public environments or vice versa). In general, the higher the value, or the darker the hue of a cell in the heatmap of Figure 7, the more people indicated with their response pattern that the respective context factor is important for their disclosure decision. In other words, the darker a cell's hue, the higher the probability that the disclosure of the type of information depends on the context factor, or, the more important the factor seems to be for the disclosure decision. Thus, the heatmap effectively identifies general patterns of the factors' relevance for individual topics. Based on this color-coding a brief look at the heatmap indicates, that relationship seems to be of particular importance for disclosing identifiers, personal goals and aspirations, fears and fantasies, and the concept of self. In contrast, age consistently appears to be somewhat less important for the disclosure of each topic. Regarding the other factors, no specific pattern occurs in the heatmap. Though, it can be summarized that based on values from 20% to around 50%, each context factor seems to influence the self-disclosure of individual topics to some degree.

### 4.6 Self-disclosure in Different Contexts

Figure 8 illustrates what kind of influence the contextual factors have on the disclosure of individual pieces of information and shows in which specific contexts of their favorite Social VR application participants disclose certain information. For this purpose, we present relative frequencies in a heatmap to reveal general patterns of the context factors' influence. As with the heatmap in Figure 7, the cell values do not refer to the total sample but to individual subsets of participants according to the information they disclose and factors that influence them. Though, Figure 8 uses a diverging color-coding Something Personal from the Metaverse: Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR

Importance of Context Factors on Self-Disclosure

context factors	matters				5	doesn't matter
relationship	91.27%					8.73%
privacy of virtual space	73.02%					26.98%
age	65.08%					34.92%
group size	60.32%					39.68%
activity	57.94%					42.06%
activity	% of all participants					
topic areas	orship of site of				site	4
identifiers	relatio	pinac	, "S	groun	activity	
external contact	82				36	75%
residence-related	82				41	50%
physical appearance	67				37	25%
real name	68				36	0%
real name						
hielegical cox						
biological sex	38				33	
gender identity	43				38	
sexual orientation	55	33	20	39	44	How to read: Each row refers to another part
relationship building						of the sample. Thereby, each cell value indicates for how
lifestyle preferences	49					many participants of this subsample the disclosure of the row's topic depends on the column's context factor.
personal goals & aspirations	68					
religious & political convictions	51_					Example: This row refers to all participants who disclose their concept of self.
fears & fantacies	84				53	
concent of solf	70	42	23	52	47	This call indicates that for 47%
concept of self			20	- 52		of said participants, disclosure of their concept of self
	context factors					depends on the activity context.

Figure 7: Relative frequencies of which factors impact selfdisclosure decision in general (bar chart) and for specific topics (heatmap).

consisting of blue hues for high values, yellow hues for medium, and red hues for low values. Generally speaking, blue areas in the heatmap indicate contexts where many participants would disclose certain information, whereas red areas indicate contexts where many participants would not disclose certain information. Accordingly, yellow areas represent contexts where no obvious preference can be identified.

In summary, there are some clear patterns of self-disclosure behavior for each of the context factors in the sense that there are specific contexts in which disclosure is either more or less likely to happen than in other contexts. These patterns are illustrated in the heatmap by consistently colored columns, whereby there are both blue and red-colored columns within a context factor area. In the following, we briefly summarize the patterns of self-disclosure for each context factor.

4.6.1 *Relationship.* In terms of the type of relationship, the heatmap shows a clear tendency for self-disclosure to be more likely if the

CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA

recipient was known better. More precisely, participants for whom the relationship is important to disclose a particular topic would probably disclose it to people they know better. This pattern is illustrated in the columns associated with friends (online and offline), which contain higher values than those associated with loose friends, which have higher values than the stranger column. Further, there seems to be a slight tendency for disclosing information pertaining to sexuality and relationship-building to people only known online rather than to people also known offline (e.g., sexual orientation, fears and fantasies).

4.6.2 *Privacy*. Most people willing to disclose a particular topic depending on the privacy of the virtual environment would do so in a private space with regulated access and rather not in a public space. Though, information regarding one's biological sex, gender identity, and lifestyle preferences are comparably likely to be disclosed in public or private virtual spaces without a clear tendency towards a positive or negative disclosure decision.

4.6.3 Age. Those participants that base their disclosure decision on the age of the conversation partner do so in clear patterns. Across all topic areas, self-disclosing to younger people is not preferred, whereas disclosure to same aged and older people is very likely, with a slight preference for same-aged people.

4.6.4 Group Size. A clear pattern of disclosure preferences is also revealed for the context factor group size: The bigger the group of potential recipients, the less likely it is that people disclose personal information. Thereby, the heatmap reveals a clear preference of dyadic or small group contexts over groups of more than 10 people where it is unlikely that people disclose personal information. This pattern is consistent across all information categories. However, external contact information seems to be only disclosed in dyadic contexts. Similarly, fears and fantasies, and the concept of self, also tend to be disclosed rather in dyadic contexts than in small groups.

4.6.5 Activity. Those who disclose certain topic areas depending on the activity context also do so in certain patterns: hangouts and intimate get-togethers are activities where participants would most likely disclose personal information. Although there are some information categories without a clear preference for or against other specific activity contexts (e.g., identifiers during gaming or lifestyle preferences during world exploration), the heatmap reveals a tendency against disclosure of personal information during other activities than hangouts and intimate get-togethers.

## 4.7 Technical Channels of Self-disclosure

84 participants provided free-text responses regarding the technical channels they typically use to disclose the information they indicated earlier in the survey. In total, these 84 participants provided 446 responses, from which we derived the categories conversation, avatar, profile, environment, external apps, and media. Figure 9 illustrates relative frequencies of how often the individual categories were mentioned. We assigned answers to several categories when appropriate. A clear majority of responses describe how participants disclose information verbally, i.e., they talk about it. A large proportion of the participants that provided answers specified this CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA

Svkownik et al., 2022



Figure 8: Heatmap that illustrates self-disclosure decisions in different contexts.

and referred explicitly to voice chat, but in some cases also to a conversation via text chat. Still, 16% of participant responses referred to the avatars in general or specific aspects of the avatar system, such as appearance, gestures, and poses, or its locomotion, when describing how they disclose personal information. All other categories of technical channels were only addressed in less than 10% of the responses. These include disclosing information via images and text in user profiles, or via the virtual environment, such as designing it or interacting with specific objects in it. Furthermore, responses occasionally referred to disclosing via external applications, such as Discord, Facebook, or Twitter, and disclosing via sharing specific media such as images or music.

#### DISCUSSION 5

Self-disclosure inherently integrates with establishing and maintaining interpersonal relationships. We thus set out to investigate how Social VR users disclose personal information to identify basic patterns of socializing in Social VR. We directly addressed the limitations of previous work on self-disclosure in Social VR with our work. We can now provide broader insights into general opinions on and patterns of self-disclosure behavior in commercial Social VR applications.



% of all channel mentions among 446 answers from 84 participants



# 5.1 Key Insights

Answering our research questions, we summarize the following main results: RQ1: Our results indicate that Social VR provides access to authentic connections with others despite user skepticism and privacy concerns. RQ2: We observed that information that breaks anonymity, such as real names, and topics associated with more intimate aspects of oneself, seem to be shared less commonly. Most commonly, sexuality-related information, as well as lifestyle preferences, are disclosed. Though, over a third of users would disclose information related to personal identification, sexuality, and diverse topics of presumably varying degrees of intimacy. RQ3: Something Personal from the Metaverse: Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR

While different social rewards may motivate self-disclosure in Social VR, relational development and identity clarification seem to be most important for most users. RQ4: Accordingly, the relationship to others impacts disclosure-decision of most participants, in particular for topics of higher intimacy and those that break anonymity. However, the privacy of the virtual environment, age of recipients, the group size, and the activity context are also relevant contextual factors that impact the disclosure decisions of at least half of the participants. Further, if participants base their disclosure decision on one of the context factors, they do it in clear patterns. Accordingly, specific contexts where disclosure is most likely to happen are interactions with friends or acquaintances, in private spaces, with same-aged or older people, in dyads or small groups, and during explicitly social activities like hangouts and intimate get-togethers. RQ5: Thereby, self-disclosure happens mainly verbally through conversation.

These findings represent, in particular, an extension of insights on self-disclosure in Social VR previously collected in only one study [50]. As most of our participants indicated the relationship to someone as an important influencing factor for self-disclosure, we see the previously described pattern of disclosing depending on familiarity confirmed [50]. This becomes especially clear again in our results on self-disclosure in different types of relationships (Figure 8). Further, as we found the relationship not being equally relevant for the disclosure of different topics (Figure 7), our result also aligns with the pattern described previously, that some participants are open to sharing information with anyone [50], though, we would conclude that this behavior pattern only applies to a minority of users. Similarly, we did not find clear evidence for another pattern described previously: utilizing anonymity for disclosure [50]. While about two-thirds of our participants do not disclose information that would violate anonymity (Figure 5), only the very fewest of those for whom relationship type matters share any information at all with strangers. However, it should be noted that anonymity, e.g. through avatars or usernames, does not directly equate to the degree of familiarity in a relationship (for example, if you have talked to someone several times but still do not know their real name or address). Our results regarding the types of information disclosed also extend findings describing that users disclose personal as well as emotional information [50] by providing a more specific look at what different types of information are being revealed and by how many people. Last, our results also confirm an ambivalent attitude towards self-disclosure in Social VR due to privacy concerns (Figure 4) [50].

The following sections will discuss the individual key insights in more detail and elaborate on the alignment with other related work.

5.1.1 Authentic Connections Despite Skepticism. Our findings align with the previous work that describes Social VR as a medium of authentic social experiences [25, 44, 48, 76, 89]. Moreover, we argue that this general opinion rises from technological affordances that mimic experiential qualities of face-to-face interactions [4, 67, 69]. However, this authenticity is accompanied by skepticism and privacy concerns regarding self-disclosure, which is understandable since authentic information should be more worthy of protection than inauthentic information. Additionally, it could be an expression of interfering perceptions of identifiability and self-presence due to the use of avatar-mediated interaction, which can have beneficial and inhibiting effects on self-disclosure [34]. Accordingly, these concerns may further express the authenticity and emotional value of self-disclosure in Social VR. Following this assumption, the complex interplay between feeling enforced to disclose certain information to use the platform effectively (e.g., voice, movement) and the perceived risk that the platform, or other users, can capture and use this information in unintended ways [50] becomes more significant. Thus, platforms should consider the patterns of self-disclosure behavior identified in our survey to provide users with access to social contexts where they feel comfortable and safe to disclose themselves to others.

5.1.2 Disclosing Lifestyle Anonymously. Our results regarding the limited disclosure of physical appearance and real names indicate a preference of staying anonymous concerning information that would allow one's identification in the physical world. This preference aligns well with our findings regarding users' skepticism and privacy concerns and previous findings on general patterns of self-disclosure [50]. From a technological perspective, Social VR applications support and encourage a preference for anonymity as they allow the creation and use of custom usernames and avatars that do not necessarily need to reflect their physical appearance or a human at all. Though, considering advances in the creation of photo-realistic avatars that resemble users' physical appearance [62], this may become an interesting future venue for research into user preferences. Further, we see a tendency to keep social interactions inside Social VR based on limited disclosure of external contact information. As with the avatar systems that support anonymity, Social VR applications usually provide diverse communication channels that allow for synchronous and asynchronous communication and thus reduce the need for other communication platforms. Further, staying in one ecosystem of communication should also increase the individual control of what personal information may be shared with others. However, it is interesting to note that information related to residence (country, region, address) is or would be shared by around 60% of people. Since we did not distinguish between specific residence information, it is ultimately impossible to say what type of information participants were referring to here. However, since the other identifier information is or would be shared by only one-third of the participants, we assume that the participants most likely referred to approximate information that would not easily allow locating a precise residence.

While most participants disclose or would disclose information related to **sexuality**, this is mainly true for cisgender individuals, based on a retrospective look at responses when split by gender identity of participants. In particular, half of the participants who identified as non-binary showed no willingness to disclose this information; this is likely due to concerns of privacy and harassment of this particular group in Social VR [1].

**Lifestyle preferences** and **personal goals and aspirations** are disclosed by the majority of participants. Based on assumptions of the Social Penetration Theory[2, 14], these findings reflect that,

in particular, information that is usually disclosed early in relationships is disclosed by most participants. This could either indicate that our participants predominantly had younger relationships at the time of the survey, or that Social VR is not a place for deeper relationships or information usually associated with more intimate relationships. Though, given that most participants only have used Social VR for two or one years at the time of the survey, we would assume that our sample is likely to represent in particular users with relationships that had not the chance to last long enough yet. Further, as over half of the participants indicated to disclose information related to their concept of self, the most intimate information according to the Social Penetration Theory, some users at least see in Social VR a safe environment for disclosing such information (e.g., due to anonymity), independent from the relationship type. Even if we cannot make any final conclusions on the specific reasons behind disclosure or non-disclosure of certain information, or comparisons to participants' offline self-disclosures, we would interpret our findings as a further indication that Social VR, due to its focus on avatar-based communication, combines characteristics of both, face-to-face and anonymous online-communication [4, 34, 67, 69]: it mimics experiential qualities of face-to-face interaction and how relationships are established there in the course of revealing more intimate information to others, while providing measures of anonymity, that may provoke the disclosure of information types usually shared within long-lasting relationships.

5.1.3 Disclosing for Diverse Social Rewards. Self-disclosure goals can overlap and motivate the disclosure of personal information to different degrees depending on the social situation [61]. We see this assumption confirmed for Social VR but note a slight tendency toward relational development and identity clarification. The relational development goal aligns with insights described in another study that social needs, in particular, motivate Social VR engagement [76]. Further, given that socializing activities like conversations are among the most popular user activities [76] our findings indicate that users satisfy the socializing need by disclosing personal information to others, in particular. Concerning the goal to clarify one's own identity, we also notice alignment with previous findings indicating that next to social needs, needs pertaining to the self also drive Social VR engagement [76]. In addition, previous interviews revealed that the use of avatar-systems in Social VR, especially the customization features, also influence how one perceives and defines oneself [27]. Thus, identity clarification is not only reflected in the use of the avatar-system, which is a defining feature of Social VR [40] but also in the process of self-disclosure based on our results. In addition, self-disclosure in Social VR seems to serve all of the goals queried in the survey, which could motivate the assumption that Social VR users, similar to users of social networking sites, use different platform features to target individual goals [9].

5.1.4 Contexts Moderate Self-Disclosure. All context factors investigated in our survey can be considered relevant for self-disclosure in Social VR. This result is a valuable finding. It illustrates that self-disclosure in Social VR follows specific rules and patterns and results from the interplay of different contextual factors. In particular, the type of relationship stands out as a context factor, as participants coherently consider it relevant for disclosing specific types of information (Figure 7). In contrast, while also relevant for over half of the participants in general, the other context factors do not show crucial relevance for the disclosure of certain information. Though, as all influencing factors considered in our survey were indicated as relevant by at least half of participants, we conclude, that selected impact factors on face-to-face self-disclosure (e.g. relationship, age, group size) [35], moderate self-disclosure also in Social VR. Further, recently investigated key features of Social VR (e.g., private and public worlds, different age groups, various activities) also affect self-disclosure and thus how people socialize.

Our results further allow us to identify how the individual context factors affect self-disclosure decisions. In line with the assumptions of the Social Penetration Theory that self-disclosure is positively associated with the degree of familiarity between people [2, 14] those participants for whom the type of relationship to a potential recipient is important are most likely to share information with friends and almost never with strangers. It also aligns with recent findings on the beneficial effects of relational closeness to the audience on self-disclosure in the context of distress disclosure on social media [90]. However, those for whom the relationship is a significant moderator seem more likely to share intimate information with friends and acquaintances whom they only know online. This is not true for identifier information, however. We see this aligning with previous assumptions, that anonymity can have promoting and identifiability inhibiting effects on self-disclosure [34].

Although we did not find indications for **age** being in particular relevant for deciding to disclose specific topics, there are clear patterns of disclosure behavior for those people that base their decision on the recipients' age. Said pattern reflects a preference for revealing oneself to same-aged and older people and is consistent with findings from prior scholarship involving the co-habitation of adults and youths on Social VR platforms [45, 46]. Maloney et al. demonstrated that adults and youth do not always co-mingle well together, affecting what sort of information is disclosed to whom. For example, adults may disclose information that is not age-appropriate for youth or may choose not to disclose information because they feel that youth are listening. This sort of interactivity creates distinct tensions between these two groups, primarily since youth are known to be a large portion of the user base for Social VR platforms [46].

Similar to age, the privacy, group size, and activity context were also not of particular importance for disclosing specific topics. However, if it matters to a person, consistent patterns predict a positive or negative disclosure decision. Thus, regardless of the topics, with few exceptions, private environments, in particular, are used for self-disclosure. In contrast, public environments are only considered for sharing superficial or partly sexuality-related information. Fittingly, predominantly dyads or smaller groups seem to be appropriate contexts, rather than groups of over ten people as often found in public lobby spaces. Activity contexts appropriate for self-disclosure are predominantly explicitly social occasions, such as hangouts or intimate get-togethers. All other contexts explicitly oriented towards other activities, such as gaming or video watching, seem rather inappropriate. Overall, these patterns strongly correspond to the reported skepticism and privacy concerns, and general face-to-face communication strategies for controlling the context

Something Personal from the Metaverse: Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR

of self-disclosure [20], as they reflect the establishment of dyadic or small group boundaries within private environments [20].

5.1.5 Unused Disclosure Channel Potentials. Our results show that users mainly use the verbal channel, i.e., voice chat features, to disclose personal information, and thus illustrate how Social VR mimics experiential qualities of face-to-face interaction [44, 49, 49, 53, 54, 58, 89]. However, this focus on verbal communication also illustrates a yet to explore space of opportunities for communication affordances beyond what reality has to offer (e.g., augmentation of virtual social interaction) [52, 68, 77]. We suggest that researchers, developers, and users alike should engage in the exploration of that design space to extend opportunities for self-disclosure beyond features already offered by avatar customization in current Social VR applications that promote identity-exploration [27].

5.1.6 Value Beyond COVID?. Eventually, we cannot conclusively assess the potential impact of the COVID 19 pandemic. Although some participants used Social VR more during this time than before, the data tend to argue against the increased importance of self-disclosure in Social VR during the pandemic, thus supporting assuming that our results are representative for times before and after the pandemic.

## 5.2 Limitations & Future Directions

Our work has several limitations that we reflect on in the following. Due to the applied method as well as recruiting of participants via Reddit and similar platforms, the core limitation of our study is a homogeneous sample in terms of the platforms and demographic groups it represents. Further, our recruiting process led to a convenience sample that tends to represent Social VR users who also engage on the platforms where we advertised the survey. Thus, we cannot make any definitive assumption about Social VR users that do not have the following attributes: cis male, from the US or other western cultures, do not use VR Chat or Neos VR, do not engage on Reddit or Discord. Further, as the platforms themselves do not publicly share social VR user demographics, we cannot conclusively assess how representative our sample is of the actual population of Social VR users. Though this issue also applies to other Social VR research that uses the same recruiting strategy as we did, e.g., [8, 44, 76], and researchers have yet to find solutions to this problem.

Our results do not provide a comprehensive understanding of all facets of self-disclosure in Social VR but must be considered with the following limitations. As we assessed self-report data outside of Social VR and the subject of investigation, i.e., self-disclosure, our results' validity is limited by participants' ability to reflect on their behavior in Social VR actively. Consequently, we only provide a user-filtered high-level perspective on a series of potentially complex interrelationships. Further, as we mainly used closed-ended questions based on already known concepts from the literature, our results do not provide insights into how self-disclosure in Social VR is based on novel concepts exclusive to this medium (e.g., novel topics, goals, or influencing factors). Thus, our results can only guide discussion of familiar concepts in the context of Social VR. Furthermore, the generical description of categories of topic areas in the survey may have caused participants to have interpreted the categories not as intended. We also did not assess user characteristics beyond demographics and Social VR usage and thus can not conclude the impact of personality traits. These limitations are grounded in the deliberate reduction of survey length and complexity to achieve a greater response rate. As we wanted to reach intrinsically motivated participants, we did not offer any compensation for participation. However, we nevertheless needed to balance the anticipated participant effort, achievable level of detail, and validity of the insights.

These limitations directly translate into suggestions for future work: (1) The collection of data that informs about the demographics of the Social VR user population. (2) Elaborate strategies to assess large-scale samples representing the Social VR user population. (3) Further detailed investigations of specific topic areas and context factors and how they influence individual self-disclosure decisions. It may be valuable to consider methods like ethnographic studies and controlled user studies in Social VR or scientific lab prototypes to decrease dependency on participants' ability to remember and reflect on their behavior while not being in VR. (4) Further, other methods, like ethnographic studies or open-ended questions, may be applied to identify novel aspects related to self-disclosure that can not directly be linked to concepts already known from the literature. (5) Investigate user characteristics and their predictive role for self-disclosure in Social VR. In particular, we currently can not make any assumption about why certain context factors are not relevant for up to 40% of participants or why users deliberately decide against disclosing certain information in Social VR. Additionally, we advocate (6) exploring, designing, and evaluating novel technical self-disclosure channels Social VR offers.

### 5.3 Implications towards the Metaverse

Currently, large technology companies signal a push towards more *immersive* (e.g., AR/VR) venues for social interaction over a distance that may become the future metaverse(s). Our findings coupled with early scholarship on interpersonal communication, interactivity, and self-disclosure in virtual worlds [10, 23, 28, 32, 33, 50, 85, 88] point towards a few likely trends of the future metaverse(s). It should be noted that these suggestions for the metaverse are everevolving and, with new features and technical affordances, may become obsolete soon. We offer these suggestions as to directions for Social VR amid the 2020-2021 global COVID 19 pandemic.

5.3.1 Representation as a Modality for Self-disclosure. Our findings demonstrate that beyond verbal interactivity, one's avatar is the most often mentioned means of self-disclosure. Findings from Maloney et al. also demonstrate the users' connection to the avatar as a form of communication [49, 50]. This trend will likely continue as virtual avatars allow for more dynamic forms of representation and interactivity. For example, Wohn et al. demonstrated that users could adapt and provide ownership towards having additional limbs and non-human bodily configurations [86]. Designers and developers should push interactivity, including self-disclosure, beyond traditional forms of communication (e.g., voice, traditional non-verbal behavior). We emphasize more embodied forms of self-disclosure as some users have been known to prefer avatar-mediated communication [49], which demonstrate that non-verbal communication can afford much more beyond traditional verbal conversation

in Social VR [49, 79]. This key affordance signals toward potentially new forms of interactivity via more nuance use of spatial and avatar-mediated affordances. For example, how can avatar-based communication mediate intimate forms of communication (e.g., self-disclosure) and thus extend affordances of verbal communication? Moreover, what can we learn and extend upon from nonverbal forms of interactivity, which can then inform more immersive forms of nonverbal behavior such as sign language [80]?

5.3.2 Opportunities for Relationship Building in Safe Spaces. The overwhelming majority of our participants referenced the context of relationship as important for self-disclosure in Social VR. Therefore, we suggest that creators of present and future metaverse(s) should mimic opportunities of self-disclosure from the offline world. In particular, we point them towards Rubin et al.'s six factors of interpersonal communication to induce experiences that relate to pleasure, affection, inclusion, escape, relaxation, and control [70]. These experiences, in turn, can be driving factors of relationshipbuilding based on mutual disclosure of lifestyle preferences, personal goals, fear & fantasies, religious & political convictions, and concept of self. Thereby, our results illustrate that users want to establish safe spaces where these experiences can be enjoyed. We thus highlight the importance of providing users with corresponding measures to establish safe spaces for relational development and self-disclosure.

5.3.3 Security & Privacy. Although Social VR mimics the experiential qualities of face-to-face interaction, it raises new challenges for self-disclosure and online privacy, not necessarily associated with face-to-face interactions. For example, in its beta-phase Meta's Horizon Worlds included security and privacy measures like "[...] If you mute, block or report someone, a trained safety specialist, who will not appear as an avatar, may remotely observe and record the situation to ensure your safety.[...]", or "[...] which is why your Oculus headset will capture the last few minutes of your experience in Horizon on a rolling basis.[...]" [55]. The amount of information users can share in a Social VR system is much more than they can through many other sociotechnical systems such as social network sites or online games. For example, Social VR affords the intentional or unintentional sharing of tremendous personal physiological information, including facial features (e.g., through avatar creation or facial tracking), behavioral patterns, and voices. Moreover, as social VR becomes increasingly technical, this will create more embodied forms of communication, creating an additional data source (e.g., motion-tracked data, body movements, gait). This modality provides tremendous opportunity but also risks towards user identification, safety, and privacy. On the one hand, how can this data create and inform more human interpersonal communication? On the other hand, how does it force users to give up biometric data to use the system effectively [50]? Additionally, recent work points towards the identification of user identity up to 95% even when other personally identifiable information is redacted [57]. It also creates ethical dilemmas for users and platforms. For example, can the decision to disclose personal information on a specific platform last forever? Similar to tweets and posts? How and when can this information be deleted? We urge platforms towards transparency in data and privacy controls, which has occurred in other modalities

like social media. This will be a crucial pillar in how creators can protect the user integrity of present and future metaverse(s).

5.3.4 Identity & Disclosure Challenges in the Governance. Social VR platforms also face additional privacy and security challenges, specifically linking vs. not linking offline and online identities. The argument for platforms to link one's offline identity is that one's offline identity may be essential in some cases. One example is different forms of mal-conduct on Social VR platforms. For example, Maloney et al. detailed an instance of virtual sexual assault of youth in VRChat [45], with likely little to no punishment for the perpetrator. If user identities were linked to offline identities, these could be disclosed to the perpetrators' local authorities. Yet, the anonymity of most platforms based on online identification via an email address provides distinct challenges for safety, security, and communication on platforms. We suggest a mix of both, linking users' offline identity towards their account and allowing them to choose how they would like to be presented on the platform. Since the users in our study prefer anonymity, we suggest platforms provide universal anonymous avatars that protect the identity of the users, which will still allow for comfort when interacting and communicating online.

### 6 CONCLUSION

Given that Social VR already provides access to meaningful social experiences over distance, we set out to investigate self-disclosure, one of the fundamental drivers of building and maintaining interpersonal relationships, in commercial Social VR applications. These applications seem to be a venue for authentic disclosure of diverse personal information, where, as in offline communication, the relationship with others moderates self-disclosure in particular. However, our findings indicate that individual self-disclosure decisions can result from complex interactions of different contextual factors that Social VR applications afford. At the same time, users have privacy concerns and seem to value privacy and anonymity in the virtual environment. However, self-disclosure in Social VR benefits relationship building, identity exploration, and other social goals. Considering this, it is essential that the design of Social VR today and in the future addresses user concerns and creates safe spaces for social experiences that match user preferences for specific social contexts. As a starting point, researchers and practitioners can refer to the broader challenges and opportunities for designing the future metaverse(s) that we pointed out.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Deborah Frütel for her assistance in conducting the survey. We thank Felix Krell for his feedback during the conceptualization of the survey.

### REFERENCES

- Dane Acena and Guo Freeman. 2021. "In My Safe Space". Social Support for LGBTQ Users in Social Virtual Reality. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411763.3451673
- [2] Irwin Altman and Dalmas A Taylor. 1973. Social penetration: The development of interpersonal relationships. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- [3] Nazanin Andalibi and Andrea Forte. 2018. Announcing Pregnancy Loss on Facebook: A Decision-Making Framework for Stigmatized Disclosures on Identified Social Network Sites. Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (2018).

Something Personal from the Metaverse: Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR

- [4] Lily A. Baccon, Elodie Chiarovano, and Hamish G. MacDougall. 2019. Virtual Reality for Teletherapy: Avatars May Combine the Benefits of Face-to-Face Communication with the Anonymity of Online Text-Based Communication. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking* 22, 2 (2019), 158–165. https: //doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2018.0247 arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2018.0247 PMID: 30540490.
- [5] Jeremy N. Bailenson. 2021. Nonverbal Overload: A Theoretical Argument for the Causes of Zoom Fatigue. *Technology, Mind, and Behavior 2*, 1 (23 2 2021). https: //doi.org/10.1037/tmb0000030 https://tmb.apaopen.org/pub/nonverbal-overload.
   [6] Jeremy N Bailenson, Nick Yee, Dan Merget, and Ralph Schroeder. 2006. The
- [6] Jeremy N Bailenson, Nick Yee, Dan Merget, and Ralph Schroeder. 2006. The effect of behavioral realism and form realism of real-time avatar faces on verbal disclosure, nonverbal disclosure, emotion recognition, and copresence in dyadic interaction. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments* 15, 4 (2006), 359–372.
- [7] John A Bargh and Katelyn YA McKenna. 2004. The Internet and social life. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 55 (2004), 573–590.
- [8] Miguel Barreda-Ángeles and Tilo Hartmann. 2022. Psychological benefits of using social virtual reality platforms during the covid-19 pandemic: The role of social and spatial presence. *Computers in Human Behavior* 127 (2022), 107047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2021.107047
- [9] Natalya N. Bazarova and Yoon Hyung Choi. 2014. Self-Disclosure in Social Media: Extending the Functional Approach to Disclosure Motivations and Characteristics on Social Network Sites1. *Journal of Communication* 64, 4 (06 2014), 635–657. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12106 arXiv:https://academic.oup.com/joc/articlepdf/64/4/635/2322328/jjnlcom0635.pdf
- [10] Barbara Becker and Gloria Mark. 1998. Social conventions in collaborative virtual environments. In Proceedings of Collaborative Virtual Environments. 17–19.
- [11] Steve Benford, John Bowers, Lennart E Fahlén, Chris Greenhalgh, and Dave Snowdon. 1995. User embodiment in collaborative virtual environments. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems. 242–249.
- [12] Frank Biocca and Ben Delaney. 1995. Immersive virtual reality technology. Communication in the age of virtual reality 15 (1995), 32.
- [13] Lindsay Blackwell, Nicole Ellison, Natasha Elliott-Deflo, and Raz Schwartz. 2019. Harassment in social virtual reality: Challenges for platform governance. Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction 3, CSCW (2019), 1–25.
- [14] Amanda Carpenter and Kathryn Greene. 2015. Social penetration theory. The international encyclopedia of interpersonal communication (2015), 1–4.
- [15] Cathlin V. Clark-Gordon, Nicholas D. Bowman, Alan K. Goodboy, and Alyssa Wright. 2019. Anonymity and Online Self-Disclosure: A Meta-Analysis. Communication Reports 32, 2 (2019), 98–111. https://doi.org/10.1080/08934215.2019. 1607516 arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1080/08934215.2019.1607516
- [16] Helena Cole and Mark D Griffiths. 2007. Social interactions in massively multiplayer online role-playing gamers. *Cyberpsychology & behavior* 10, 4 (2007), 575–583.
- [17] Mark É Czeisler, Rashon I Lane, Emiko Petrosky, Joshua F Wiley, Aleta Christensen, Rashid Njai, Matthew D Weaver, Rebecca Robbins, Elise R Facer-Childs, Laura K Barger, et al. 2020. Mental health, substance use, and suicidal ideation during the COVID-19 pandemic—United States, June 24–30, 2020. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 69, 32 (2020), 1049.
- [18] Thomas Dalsgaard, Mikael B. Skov, Malthe Stougaard, and Bo Thomassen. 2006. Mediated Intimacy in Families: Understanding the Relation between Children and Parents. In Proceedings of the 2006 Conference on Interaction Design and Children (Tampere, Finland) (IDC '06). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1145/1139073.1139110
- [19] Margaret De Larios and John T Lang. 2014. Pluralistic ignorance in virtually assembled peers: The case of World of Warcraft. *Games and Culture* 9, 2 (2014), 102–121.
- [20] Valerian J Derlega and Alan L Chaikin. 1977. Privacy and self-disclosure in social relationships. *Journal of social issues* 33, 3 (1977), 102–115.
- [21] Amandeep Dhir, Shalini Talwar, Puneet Kaur, Sunil Budhiraja, and Najmul Islam. [n.d.]. The dark side of social media: Stalking, online self-disclosure and problematic sleep. International Journal of Consumer Studies n/a, n/a ([n.d.]). https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12659 arXiv:https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/ijcs.12659
- [22] Nicole Ellison, Rebecca Heino, and Jennifer Gibbs. 2006. Managing impressions online: Self-presentation processes in the online dating environment. *Journal of computer-mediated communication* 11, 2 (2006), 415–441.
- [23] M Fabri, DJ Moore, and DJ Hobbs. 2002. Expressive agents: Non-verbal communication in collaborative virtual environments. Proceedings of Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems (Embodied Conversational Agents) (2002).
- [24] Mozilla Foundation. 2021. Oculus Quest 2 / Privacy & security guide / Mozilla Foundation. Retrieved November 19, 2021 from https://foundation.mozilla.org/ en/privacymotineluded/oculus-quest-2-yr-headeet/
- [25] Guo Freeman and Dane Acena. 2021. Hugging from A Distance: Building Interpersonal Relationships in Social Virtual Reality. In ACM International Conference on Interactive Media Experiences (Virtual Event, USA) (IMX '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 84–95. https://doi.org/10.1145/3452918.3458805

- [26] Guo Freeman, Jeffrey Bardzell, and Shaowen Bardzell. 2016. Revisiting Computer-Mediated Intimacy: In-Game Marriage and Dyadic Gameplay in Audition. As-
- Mediated minimacy: in-come marriage and Dyadic Gamepiay in Audition. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 4325–4336. https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858484
   [27] Guo Freeman and Divine Maloney. 2021. Body, Avatar, and Me: The Presentation
- [27] Guo Freeman and Dyne Matoney. 2021. DOGy, Avata, and Me. The Freemannian and Perception of Self in Social Virtual Reality. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact. 4, CSCW3, Article 239 (Jan. 2021), 27 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3432938
- [28] Doron Friedman, Anthony Steed, and Mel Slater. 2007. Spatial social behavior in second life. In International Workshop on Intelligent Virtual Agents. Springer, 252–263.
- [29] Kathryn Greene, Valerian J Derlega, and Alicia Mathews. 2006. Self-disclosure in personal relationships. *The Cambridge handbook of personal relationships* (2006), 409–427.
- [30] Carla F. Griggio, Arissa J. Sato, Wendy E. Mackay, and Koji Yatani. 2021. Mediating Intimacy with DearBoard: A Co-Customizable Keyboard for Everyday Messaging. In Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Yokohama, Japan) (CHI '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 342, 16 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445757
   [31] Matthieu J Guitton. 2010. Cross-modal compensation between name and visual
- [31] Matthieu J Guitton. 2010. Cross-modal compensation between name and visual aspect in socially active avatars. *Computers in Human Behavior* 26, 6 (2010), 1772–1776.
- [32] Anthony Guye-Vuillème, Tolga K Capin, S Pandzic, N Magnenat Thalmann, and Daniel Thalmann. 1999. Nonverbal communication interface for collaborative virtual environments. *Virtual Reality* 4, 1 (1999), 49–59.
- [33] Béatrice S Hasler and Doron A Friedman. 2012. Sociocultural conventions in avatar-mediated nonverbal communication: A cross-cultural analysis of virtual proxemics. *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research* 41, 3 (2012), 238–259.
   [34] Rosalie Hooi and Hichang Cho. 2014. Avatar-driven self-disclosure: The virtual
- [94] Rosale Froor and Trenang Cross 2014. Fixial arriver sen disclosure: International methods and the arriver sent disclosure of the arriver
- [35] Emmi Ignatius and Marja Kokkonen. 2007. Factors contributing to verbal selfdisclosure. Nordic Psychology 59, 4 (2007), 362–391. https://doi.org/10.1027/1901-2276.59.4.362
- [36] Adam N. Joinson. 2001. Self-disclosure in computer-mediated communication: The role of self-awareness and visual anonymity. *European Journal* of Social Psychology 31, 2 (2001), 177–192. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.36 arXiv:https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/ejsp.36
- [37] Marcel Jonas, Steven Said, Daniel Yu, Chris Aiello, Nicholas Furlo, and Douglas Zytko. 2019. Towards a Taxonomy of Social VR Application Design. In Extended Abstracts of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play Companion Extended Abstracts (Barcelona, Spain) (CHI PLAY '19 Extended Abstracts). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 437–444. https://doi.org/10.1145/3341215.3356271
- [38] Sidney M Jourard. 1971. Self-disclosure. An experimental analysis of the transparent self (1971).
- [39] Mark L Knapp and John A Daly. 2002. Handbook of interpersonal communication. Sage.
- [40] Anya Kolesnichenko, Joshua McVeigh-Schultz, and Katherine Isbister. 2019. Understanding Emerging Design Practices for Avatar Systems in the Commercial Social VR Ecology. In Proceedings of the 2019 on Designing Interactive Systems Conference (San Diego, CA, USA) (DIS '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 241–252. https://doi.org/10.1145/332276.3322352
  [41] Bianca W Lee and Peter RC Leeson. 2015. Online gaming in the context of social
- [41] Bianca W Lee and Peter RC Leeson. 2015. Online gaming in the context of social anxiety. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors 29, 2 (2015), 473.
- [42] Qiaoxi Liu and Anthony Steed. 2021. Social Virtual Reality Platform Comparison and Evaluation Using a Guided Group Walkthrough Method. Frontiers in Virtual Reality 2 (2021), 52. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.668181
- [43] Mufan Luo and Jeffrey T. Hancock. 2020. Self-disclosure and social media: motivations, mechanisms and psychological well-being. *Current Opinion in Psychology* 31 (2020), 110–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.08.019 Privacy and Disclosure, Online and in Social Interactions.
- [44] Divine Maloney and Guo Freeman. 2020. Falling Asleep Together: What Makes Activities in Social Virtual Reality Meaningful to Users. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play (Virtual Event, Canada) (CHI PLAY '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 510–521. https://doi.org/10.1145/3410404.3414266
- [45] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Robb Andrew. 2020. A Virtual Space for All: Exploring Children's Experience in Social Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play.
- [46] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Andrew Robb. 2020. It Is Complicated: Interacting with Children in Social Virtual Reality. In 2020 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces Abstracts and Workshops (VRW). IEEE, 343–347.
- [47] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Andrew Robb. 2021. Social Virtual Reality: Ethical Considerations and Future Directions for An Emerging Research Space. In 2021 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces Abstracts and Workshops (VRW). IEEE, 271–277.

#### CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA

- [48] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Andrew Robb. 2021. Stay Connected in An Immersive World: Why Teenagers Engage in Social Virtual Reality. In Interaction Design and Children (Athens, Greece) (IDC '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 69-79. https://doi.org/10.1145/3459990.3460703
- [49] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Donghee Yvette Wohn. 2020. "Talking without a Voice": Understanding Non-Verbal Communication in Social Virtual Reality. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact. 4, CSCW2, Article 175 (Oct. 2020), 25 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3415246
- [50] Divine Maloney, Samaneh Zamanifard, and Guo Freeman. 2020. Anonymity vs. Familiarity: Self-Disclosure and Privacy in Social Virtual Reality. In 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (Virtual Event, Canada) (VRST '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 25, 9 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418967
- [51] Adam J Mason and Caleb T Carr. 2021. Toward a Theoretical Framework of Relational Maintenance in Computer-Mediated Com-Communication Theory (02 2021). munication. https://doi.org/10. 1093/ct/qtaa035 arXiv:https://academic.oup.com/ct/advance-articlepdf/doi/10.1093/ct/qtaa035/36233393/qtaa035.pdf qtaa035.
- [52] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz and Katherine Isbister. 2021. The Case for "Weird Social" in VR/XR: A Vision of Social Superpowers Beyond Meatspace. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411763. 3450377
- [53] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz, Anya Kolesnichenko, and Katherine Isbister. 2019. Shaping Pro-Social Interaction in VR: An Emerging Design Framework. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Glasgow Scotland Uk) (CHI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300794
- [54] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz, Elena Márquez Segura, Nick Merrill, and Katherine Isbister. 2018. What's It Mean to "Be Social" in VR? Mapping the Social VR Design Ecology. In Proceedings of the 2018 ACM Conference Companion Publication on Designing Interactive Systems (Hong Kong, China) (DIS '18 Com-panion). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 289–294. https://doi.org/10.1145/3197391.3205451
- [55] Meta. 2020. Facebook Horizon Welcomes Its First Virtual Explorers. Retrieved December 31, 2021 from https://about.fb.com/news/2020/08/facebook-horizonwelcomes-first-virtual-explorers/
- [56] Meta. 2021. Introducing Meta: A Social Technology Company. Retrieved November 19, 2021 from https://about.fb.com/news/2021/10/facebook-company-is-nowmeta/
- [57] Mark Roman Miller, Fernanda Herrera, Hanseul Jun, James A Landay, and Jeremy N Bailenson. 2020. Personal identifiability of user tracking data during observation of 360-degree VR video. Scientific Reports 10, 1 (2020), 1-10.
- [58] Fares Moustafa and Anthony Steed. 2018. A longitudinal study of small group interaction in social virtual reality. In Proceedings of the 24th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology. ACM, 22.
- [59] Carman Neustaedter and Saul Greenberg. 2012. Intimacy in Long-Distance Relationships over Video Chat. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 753-762. https://doi.org/10.1145/2207676.2207785
- [60] Melanie Nguyen, Yu Sun Bin, and Andrew Campbell. 2012. Comparing Online and Offline Self-Disclosure: A Systematic Review. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking 15, 2 (2012), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2011.0277 arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2011.0277 PMID: 22032794.
- [61] Julia Omarzu. 2000. A Disclosure Decision Model: Determining How and When Individuals Will Self-Disclose. Personality and Social Psychology Review 4, 2 (2000), 174–185. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327957PSPR0402\_05 arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327957PSPR0402\_05
- [62] Sergio Orts-Escolano, Christoph Rhemann, Sean Fanello, Wayne Chang, Adarsh Kowdle, Yury Degtyarev, David Kim, Philip L. Davidson, Sameh Khamis, Mingsong Dou, Vladimir Tankovich, Charles Loop, Qin Cai, Philip A. Chou, Sarah Mennicken, Julien Valentin, Vivek Pradeep, Shenlong Wang, Sing Bing Kang, Pushmeet Kohli, Yuliya Lutchyn, Cem Keskin, and Shahram Izadi. 2016. Holoportation: Virtual 3D Teleportation in Real-Time. In Proceedings of the 29th Annual Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology (Tokyo, Japan) (UIST '16). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 741-754. https://doi.org/10.1145/2984511.2984517
- [63] Seung-bae Park and Namho Chung. 2011. Mediating roles of self-presentation desire in online game community commitment and trust behavior of Massive Multiplayer Online Role-Playing Games. Computers in Human Behavior 27, 6 (2011), 2372-2379.
- [64] W. Barnett Pearce and Stewart M. Sharp. 2006. Self-Disclosing Communication. Journal of Communication 23, 4 (02 2006), 409-425. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1460-2466.1973.tb00958.x arXiv:https://academic.oup.com/joc/articlepdf/23/4/409/22327499/jjnlcom0409.pdf
- [65] T. S. Perry. 2016. Virtual reality goes social. IEEE Spectrum 53, 1 (2016), 56-57.
- [65] HOLTOP, 1000. THAN TOTAL guess Solution In Dia Operation 55, 1 (1016), 50 ST. https://doi.org/10.1109/MSPEC.2016.7367470
   [66] Adi Robertson. 2020. German regulators are investigating Facebook for its controversial Oculus account rules. Retrieved December 19, 2021 from https://www.theverge.com/2020/12/10/22167509/germany-fco-investigationfacebook-oculus-account-requirements-competition

- Shane L Rogers, Rebecca Broadbent, Jemma Brown, Alan Fraser, and Craig [67] Speelman. 2021. Realistic motion avatars are the future for social interaction in virtual reality. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/gcakv
- Daniel Roth, Gary Bente, Peter Kullmann, David Mal, Chris Felix Purps, Kai [68] Vogeley, and Marc Erich Latoschik. 2019. Technologies for Social Augmentations in User-Embodied Virtual Reality. In 25th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (Parramatta, NSW, Australia) (VRST '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 5, 12 pages. https //doi.org/10.1145/3359996.3364269 [69] Daniel Roth, Carola Bloch, Josephine Schmitt, Lena Frischlich, Marc Erich
- Latoschik, and Gary Bente. 2019. Perceived Authenticity, Empathy, and Pro-Social Intentions Evoked through Avatar-Mediated Self-Disclosures. In Proceedings of Mensch Und Computer 2019 (Hamburg, Germany) (MuC'19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 21-30. https://doi.org/10.1145/3340764. 3340797
- [70] Rebecca B Rubin, Elizabeth M Perse, and Carole A Barbato. 1988. Conceptualization and measurement of interpersonal communication motives. Human Communication Research 14, 4 (1988), 602-628.
- [71] Erin K. Ruppel, Clare Gross, Arrington Stoll, Brittnie S. Peck, Mike Allen, and Sang-Yeon Kim. 2016. Reflecting on Connecting: Meta-Analysis of Differences between Computer-Mediated and Face-to-Face Self-Disclosure. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication 22, 1 (11 2016), 18-34. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12179 arXiv:https://academic.oup.com/jcmc/articlepdf/22/1/18/22316369/jjcmcom0018.pdf
- Koustuv Saha, Jordyn Seybolt, Stephen M Mattingly, Talayeh Aledavood, Chai-[72] tanya Konjeti, Gonzalo J. Martinez, Ted Grover, Gloria Mark, and Munmun De Choudhury. 2021. What Life Events Are Disclosed on Social Media, How, When, and By Whom?. In Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Yokohama, Japan) (CHI '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 335, 22 pages. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445405
- [73] N. Stephenson. 2003. Snow Crash: A Novel. Random House Publishing Group. https://books.google.de/books?id=RMd3GpIFxcUC
- [74] Joseph P Stokes. 1987. The relation of loneliness and self-disclosure. In Selfdisclosure. Springer, 175-201.
- [75] John Suler. 2004. The online disinhibition effect. Cyberpsychology & behavior 7, 3 (2004), 321-326.
- [76] Philipp Sykownik, Linda Graf, Christoph Zils, and Maic Masuch. 2021. The Most Social Platform Ever? A Survey about Activities & Motives of Social VR Users. In 2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). 546-554. https: /doi.org/10.1109/VR50410.2021.00079
- [77] Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. 2021. Developing a Framework for Designing Augmentations of Social Touch in Multiuser Virtual Reality. In Mensch und Computer 2021 - Workshopband, Carolin Wienrich, Philipp Wintersberger, and Benjamin Weyers (Eds.). Gesellschaft für Informatik e.V., Bonn. https://doi.org/10.18420/muc2021-mci-ws16-241
- [78] Diana I Tamir and Jason P Mitchell. 2012. Disclosing information about the self is intrinsically rewarding. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 21 (2012), 8038-8043.
- [79] Theresa Jean Tanenbaum, Nazely Hartoonian, and Jeffrey Bryan. 2020. " How do I make this thing smile?" An Inventory of Expressive Nonverbal Communication in Commercial Social Virtual Reality Platforms. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI* Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 1-13.
- Aurelijus Vaitkevičius, Mantas Taroza, Tomas Blažauskas, Robertas Damaševičius, [80] Rytis Maskeliūnas, and Marcin Woźniak. 2019. Recognition of American sign language gestures in a virtual reality using leap motion. Applied Sciences 9, 3 (2019), 445.
- [81] Kurt Wagner. 2021. Zuckerberg Says Facebook's Future Lies in Virtual 'Metaverse'. Retrieved November 19, 2021 from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/ 2021-07-29/mark-zuckerberg-explains-metaverse-vision-to-facebook-fbinvestors-analysts
- [82] Joseph B Walther. 1992. Interpersonal effects in computer-mediated interaction: A relational perspective. Communication research 19, 1 (1992), 52–90.
- [83] Joseph B Walther. 2011. Theories of computer-mediated communication and interpersonal relations. The handbook of interpersonal communication 4 (2011), 443-479
- [84] Lawrence R Wheeless and Jams Grotz. 1976. Conceptualization and measurement of reported self-disclosure. Human communication research 2, 4 (1976), 338-346.
- Ciara R Wigham and Thierry Chanier. 2013. A study of verbal and nonverbal [85] communication in Second Life-the ARCHI21 experience. ReCALL 25, 1 (2013), 63-84.
- Andrea Stevenson Won, Jeremy Bailenson, Jimmy Lee, and Jaron Lanier. 2015. [86] Homuncular flexibility in virtual reality. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication 20, 3 (2015), 241-259.
- Nick Yee and Jeremy Bailenson. 2007. The Proteus effect: The effect of transformed self-representation on behavior. Human communication research 33, 3 (2007), 271 - 290.

Something Personal from the Metaverse: Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR

- [88] Nick Yee, Jeremy N Bailenson, Mark Urbanek, Francis Chang, and Dan Merget. 2007. The unbearable likeness of being digital: The persistence of nonverbal social norms in online virtual environments. *CyberPsychology & Behavior* 10, 1 (2007), 115–121.
- [89] Samaneh Zamanifard and Guo Freeman. 2019. "The Togetherness that We Crave" Experiencing Social VR in Long Distance Relationships. In Conference Companion Publication of the 2019 on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing. 438–442.

CHI '22, April 29-May 5, 2022, New Orleans, LA, USA

- [90] Renwen Zhang, Natalya N. Bazarova, and Madhu Reddy. 2021. Distress Disclosure across Social Media Platforms during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Untangling the Effects of Platforms, Affordances, and Audiences. In Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Yokohama, Japan) (CHI '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 644, 15 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445134
- [91] Zhuoming Zhang, Jessalyn Alvina, Robin Héron, Stéphane Safin, Françoise Détienne, and Eric Lecolinet. 2021. Touch without Touching: Overcoming Social Distancing in Semi-Intimate Relationships with SansTouch. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445612

# A.4. VR Almost There - Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

For your personal use but not redistribution, you find attached the accepted author's version of the publication:

Philipp Sykownik, Sukran Karaosmanoglu, Katharina Emmerich, Frank Steinicke, and Maic Masuch. 2023. VR Almost There: Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '23). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 789, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1145/3544548. 3581230

# VR Almost There: Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

Philipp Sykownik\* Entertainment Computing Group, University of Duisburg-Essen Duisburg, Germany philipp.sykownik@uni-due.de Sukran Karaosmanoglu\* Human-Computer Interaction, Universität Hamburg Hamburg, Germany sukran.karaosmanoglu@unihamburg.de

Frank Steinicke Human-Computer Interaction, Universität Hamburg Hamburg, Germany frank.steinicke@uni-hamburg.de Maic Masuch Entertainment Computing Group, University of Duisburg-Essen Duisburg, Germany maic.masuch@uni-due.de

Katharina Emmerich

High Performance Computing Group,

University of Duisburg-Essen

Duisburg, Germany katharina.emmerich@uni-due.de



Figure 1: We evaluated a VR application that enables two remote users to play a co-located multiplayer game in VR.

# ABSTRACT

Consumer social virtual reality (VR) applications have recently started to enable social interactions at a distance. Yet it is still relatively unknown if and to what extent such applications provide meaningful social experiences in cases where in-person leisure activities are not feasible. To explore this, we developed a custom

Permission to make digital or hard copies of part or all of this work for personal or classroom use is granted without fee provided that copies are not made or distributed for profit or commercial advantage and that copies bear this notice and the full citation on the first page. Copyrights for third-party components of this work must be honored. For all other uses, contact the owner/author(s). *CHI* '23, *April* 23–28, 2023, *Hamburg, Germany* © 2023 Copyright held by the owner/author(s).

ACM ISBN 978-1-4503-9421-5/23/04. https://doi.org/10.1145/3544548.3581230

inipo,,, uonorg, rorrino, oo rio roisooriioo

social VR application and conducted an exploratory lab study with 25 dyads in which we compared an in-person and a virtual version of a co-located multiplayer scenario. Our mixed-methods analysis revealed that both scenarios created a socially rich atmosphere and strengthened the social closeness between players. However, the lack of facial animations, limited body language, and a low field of view led to VR's main social experiential limitations: a reduced mutual awareness and emotional understanding compared to the in-person scenario. We derive implications for social VR design and research as well as game user research.

# **CCS CONCEPTS**

• Human-centered computing → Empirical studies in HCI; Virtual reality; Collaborative interaction; • Applied computing → Computer games.

<sup>\*</sup>Both authors contributed equally to this research.

# **KEYWORDS**

social virtual reality, multiplayer games, social presence, player experience, social interaction

### **ACM Reference Format:**

Philipp Sykownik, Sukran Karaosmanoglu, Katharina Emmerich, Frank Steinicke, and Maic Masuch. 2023. VR Almost There: Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality. In *Proceedings of the 2023 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '23), April 23–28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany.* ACM, New York, NY, USA, 19 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3544548.3581230

### **1 INTRODUCTION**

One of the major purposes of computer-mediated interpersonal communication has always been to enable valuable and rich social experiences at a distance, with face-to-face (f2f) interaction often serving as the gold standard for comparison [8, 68]. When considering modern VR technology, simulating this gold standard and offering an alternative when f2f is not feasible seems possible. Compared to established, non-immersive means of computer-based communication (e.g., videoconferencing), multiuser VR holds enormous potential. It enables natural and intuitive interaction with each other in shared virtual environments using real-time tracking of body movement and its mapping to the virtual world. Current consumer multiuser or social VR applications offer various socialand entertainment-related experiences. Recent research indicates that they provide access to valuable social and other experiences that users integrate into their everyday-life [5, 53, 72, 89]. Additionally, there are significant investments and efforts of large enterprises (e.g., Meta or Microsoft) into a future "Metaverse" [96] that incorporates virtual environments where people meet and interact with each other through immersive technologies like VR [61, 62]. Therefore, we expect more people to gain access to these experiences in the coming years. However, we believe that people will measure these applications' value more by whether they enable a sufficiently meaningful experience when a physical get-together is not possible, and not whether they induce the same experience as a f2f situation.

As one such scenario, we focus on engagement in co-located or local digital multiplayer games. Playing video games with others in person is still a play mode that many players enjoy [21]. However, modern online multiplayer games feature distinctive benefits such as time- and place-independent scheduling of game sessions [95]. Past studies indicate that unique experiential qualities characterize local multiplayer scenarios—i.e., giving a high-five, seeing the others' facial expression [43, 86] — that result in additional sociability, which remote games often cannot offer due to technical limitations. We see the simulation of co-located multiplayer scenarios in social VR as a promising approach to combine the best of both worlds: (i) eliciting the rich sociability associated with co-located gaming while (ii) keeping the independence of place or distance constraints offered by online games.

This paper presents the design and results of a user study comparing the experiential qualities of playing a digital multiplayer game physically co-located with playing the same game within a social VR environment while being physically separated (see Figure 1). Our work is guided by the following two exploratory research questions:

- **RQ1:** How do the player and social experience in VR compare to the experience in the f2f setting?
- **RQ2:** What features enhance or inhibit the player and social experience in VR?

Comparing the experiential qualities of a virtual and a f2f colocated gaming scenario allows assumptions about how well current and future consumer social VR applications function as an alternative site for meaningful popular leisure social activities when f2f meetings are not feasible. Moreover, our work contributes multiuser VR researchers and practitioners, as well as games user researchers, as follows:

- **C1:** assessing the potential of current social VR offerings to enable meaningful social leisure activities over distance,
- **C2:** extending previous findings from similar use cases by applying more nuanced measures of sociality,
- C3: continuing and extending previous research comparing colocated and remote multiplayer game scenarios, and
- **C4:** suggesting research, methodological, and design implications for social VR and games user research.

# 2 MULTIPLAYER EXPERIENCES

Playing digital games is a widely accepted leisure activity [21] that also provides opportunities for rich social experiences when more than one player is engaged in the gaming context [17, 25, 36, 38, 78, 86]. Prior work suggests that multiplayer gaming can provide a higher level of flow [46] and positive mood [39] than playing alone. In addition to entertainment purposes, many players use multiplayer games to socialize, spend time with their families or friends [21], befriend people they meet in-game [97], or connect with others in exceptional or challenging times [15, 34, 70].

Typically, multiplayer games can be divided into those played while co-located with others and those played online while being physically separated from co-players. With the advancement of technology, online multiplayer games became a common leisure activity throughout society [21]. Compared to co-located games, online games have specific advantages. For instance, players can play games with vast groups of co-players, play against or with strangers, and coordinate game sessions independent from their residence [95]. In contrast, co-located multiplayer games are, per definition, played by players who share the same location. They thus offer more coordination effort in terms of planning time and location of game sessions [95]. Though, as usually played with known others, co-located games tend to be associated with higher enjoyment compared to online games with strangers [95].

More specifically, co-located games benefit from game-external social interactions between players [43, 78, 86] that are not offered by current online games that usually connect players via headsets. Players can physically interact with each other (e.g., high-fives), easily see each others' facial expressions and regulate interpersonal distance. In sum, players benefit from an increased mutual awareness and more interaction opportunities [17], which eventually induce the experience of social presence, i.e.:"sense of being with another" [7]. Early studies comparing different social contexts of playing together indicate that co-located games induce higher levels of social presence, increased fun, and competence feelings [24–26].

Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

However, the authors of these early studies note that physical copresence alone does not guarantee an enhanced experience. Instead, the interrelationship of factors like players' spatial orientation to each other and the required focus on the game or a shared monitor determine how much players can allocate attention to each other to benefit from the social stimuli present in this scenario [17].

# **3 SOCIAL VR EXPERIENCES**

VR applications that allow multiple users to interact with each other in a virtual world have been developed and researched as immersive, collaborative virtual environments (CVEs [6]) for several decades in varying contexts (e.g., [3, 75, 91, 100]). Today, capable yet affordable consumer-grade VR hardware provides leisure time access to multiuser VR applications that enable private individuals to interact with others worldwide. The genre of consumer social VR applications has emerged since 2015 and currently comprises a range of platforms like *Altspace VR*, *VRChat*, *Horizon Worlds*, and *RecRoom*<sup>1</sup> that offer a multitude of activities for social experiences [5, 53, 59, 60, 71, 72, 89], i.a.: socializing with known others and strangers, playing and creating games, dancing, and attending community events.

In social VR, users are commonly represented as avatars through which they interact with the virtual environment and each other. Based on sensory immersion, modern VR headsets induce spatial presence, i.e., the sensation of actually being in the virtual world or the place illusion [82, 98]. In addition, by transferring users' realtime tracked body movements to their avatars, a strong illusion of virtual body ownership can emerge, i.e., a sense that one is embodying the avatar and interacting through it within VR [35, 41, 56, 83]. These building blocks can support social presence and enable intuitive interaction with each other in social VR, including (non)-verbal communication.

Recent work indicates that engaging in social VR may indeed satisfy social, but also entertainment and other needs [89], and can have positive psychological outcomes for users [5], e.g., by supporting meaningful relationships [23, 54, 90, 99]. Other recent studies investigating multiuser VR interaction in general, suggest that social VR can have meaningful social outcomes; compared to f2f interaction, multiuser VR can lead to comparable compliance behavior [19], trust [69], conversation patterns [84], and experiences in a get-to-know-you conversation [74]. But, current social VR platforms still have technological limitations. For example, the tracking of facial expressions, which are the second most important social cue to facilitate social presence following gaze information [81], is not yet an established feature. The hardware required for this has only recently become available for the consumer market and developers have yet to integrate these new capabilities into their applications<sup>2,3</sup>. However, users seem to adapt to such limitations when engaging in social VR regularly and increasingly perceive experiences like social presence [28] or presence [40] over time.

Since we are interested in replicating a famous use case of joint media consumption in VR (i.e., experiencing co-located gameplay while being physically separated), we specifically searched for work with a similar goal. In total, we found four studies that investigated the following use cases: video watching [57, 63], photo sharing [48], and another study simulating co-located gaming [88].

One study (N=12) evaluated several custom prototypes for shared video consumption using early consumer-grade VR hardware combined with a video-based telepresence setup (e.g., within a lab-based photo-sphere or a virtual cinema) [57]. Overall, the study found that the VR experience can approximate the co-located scenario in certain social aspects depending on the specific implementation. A more recent study (N=22) also compared different setups for watching videos together [63]: f2f vs. social VR (i.e., Facebook Spaces) vs. a custom video-based telepresence system using VR headsets and a Kinect sensor. The study found that the custom telepresence variant induced a slightly better quality of interaction and more social meaning than the social VR variant. The participants expressed concerns regarding the limited graphical and behavioral realism of the Facebook Spaces avatars, i.e., limited facial expressions triggered by controller input and limited body language. However, the overall experience was similar across all conditions.

Another study (N=52) compared photo-sharing experiences in three conditions: f2f vs. social VR (i.e., *Facebook Spaces*) vs. videoconferencing [48]. The social VR version closely approximated the f2f experience with minor significant differences regarding the perceived quality of interaction but no significant differences in social meaning. Again, some participants criticized that the avatars only supported limited facial expressions; these expressions were triggered by controller input, which limited the spontaneity of the emotional reactions.

A work-in-progress paper that examined the same scenario as we do (N=4) only shares anecdotal insights and appears to have not been continued to date [88]. The authors found in their limited investigation that VR seems similar to the f2f scenario. However, based on the anecdotal nature of the work, we cannot derive reasonable conclusions. Nevertheless, the study provides a blueprint for our take on the scenario.

In summary, previous work indicates that VR scenarios of joint media consumption can approximate its f2f counterpart. However, studies in this context are sparse and the setups used do not reflect the capabilities of today's consumer social VR applications. The earliest study [57] does not reflect modern VR hard- and software and did not use avatars. Facebook Spaces, that was used in the other studies [48, 63], has been discontinued and the avatar aesthetics used in its successor, Horizon Worlds, also evolved. Similarly, the Oculus Rift S used in those studies [48, 63] did not support hand and finger tracking and thus limited gestural communication compared to the Meta Quest devices that are now available. Further, the studies employed a photosphere of a physical lab as the virtual background [48, 57, 63] instead of a walkable actual virtual environment as offered in today's consumer social VR applications. Unfortunately, there is also no clear information on the duration of interaction [48], or authors opted for a very brief interaction exposure of 2.5 minutes [63], potentially neglecting adaptation effects to avatar limitations [28, 40]. Moreover, the studies predominantly focused on assessing the social experience in terms of perceived

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://altvr.com/; https://hello.vrchat.com/; https://www.oculus.com/horizon-worlds/; https://recroom.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>HTC released a face tracker in 2022: https://www.vive.com/us/accessory/facialtracker/

 $<sup>^3 {\</sup>rm The}$  Meta Quest Pro features integrated face-tracking and was launched while this paper was under review: https://www.meta.com/de/quest/quest-pro/

Sykownik and Karaosmanoglu, et al.

CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany



Figure 2: The VR app included three scenes: couch calibration, avatar customization, and the multiplayer scene.

interaction quality, social meaning, and immersion, and mainly report these three aspects [48, 63]. However, other questionnaires, like the Networked Minds Measure of Social Presence (NMMSP) that includes six sub-scales [29], provide a more nuanced assessment of the social experience because it takes more sociality facets into account. Considering those limitations, our work extends the still sparse literature on virtual joint media consumption by providing a timely and nuanced look at our specific use case: simulating co-located multiplayer gaming in social VR.

### 4 APPLICATION DEVELOPMENT

We want to investigate how well current consumer-grade social VR functions as an alternative site for co-located multiplayer experiences when f2f meetings are not feasible. Thus, our aesthetic goal was not to develop a photorealistic representation of the scenario but a stylized replica whose aesthetic conception resembles current consumer social VR offerings. To compare the VR replica with its f2f counterpart in a controlled lab study, we also had to develop a multiplayer game that we could use equally well in both the VR and the co-located variants with their different input and output modalities. Eventually, we developed two custom applications with the *Unity Engine*<sup>4</sup>: a VR application for the *Meta Quest 2*, a popular, standalone VR headset with integrated hand and finger tracking, and a PC-based multiplayer game to be played on a 55-inch UHD TV screen.

## 4.1 The Co-located Multiplayer Simulator

We used the following popular social VR applications available on the *Meta Quest 2* as aesthetic references for our VR application: *Rec Room, Altspace VR, BigScreen*, and *Horizon Worlds*. We also included rudimentary avatar customization, a prominent feature of social VR applications. Utilizing the *Meta Quest 2's* integrated camerabased hand tracking, the application allows users to switch between hand and controller tracking. In this regard, the virtual scenario resembles the physically co-located scenario, as users can also pick up and put away controllers there. Additionally, we implemented a calibration system to match the virtual environment with our physical labs so that physically remote users eventually appear to be sitting on the same sofa in VR. The app uses the VR headset's built-in speakers and microphones to provide voice chat with spatial audio. To ensure sufficient performance, our application relies on a server-client architecture with a PC-based server instance that synchronizes the VR clients. The server instance also provides an audio and video live stream of the users within the VR environment.

4.1.1 Application Structure. As illustrated in Figure 2, our app features three consecutive scenes: a calibration scene, an avatar customization scene, and a game scene in which users meet and play together on a virtual monitor. The app is started while holding the Meta Quest's controllers in both hands. These are initially used to calibrate the virtual environment so that the virtual and physical sofas align. As a reference point, we used two spatial anchors on which one places the controllers. Users then use their hands to interact with the virtual world. After the calibration, the users enter the customization scene, where the avatar's arm length, body scale, and appearance can be adjusted in front of the virtual TV display that functions as a mirror. Adjusting arms and body size shall ensure a seamless avatar animation using inverse kinematics. Finally, when both remote users sit on the couch in their individual scenes, they enter the game scene together, appearing as sitting next to each other on the virtual couch. Here, they can retake their controllers to play the multiplayer game together. The game is played in two rounds of seven minutes with a three-minute break in-between. We included the break to provide opportunities for open social interaction in the study.

4.1.2 VR Environment. In contrast to related work [48, 63], we designed a 3D virtual environment that users could explore and that is aesthetically consistent with the avatars we provided. Thereby, the virtual environment's layout and interior match the two samesized physical labs where we conducted the study. In both labs, we placed the same sofa we rebuilt with the exact dimensions in VR.

4.1.3 VR Avatars. In keeping with the aesthetic language of the selected social VR applications, we created humanoid but stylized avatars with reduced anatomical features (i.e., no legs or feet). Avatars in *RecRoom, AltspaceVR*, and *BigScreen* have a torso but lack arms. *Horizon Worlds*' avatars also represent arms. We opted for the middle ground and omitted the representation of the hand joints

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Unity 2019 LTS: https://unity.com/releases/2019-lts

Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

and partly the elbow joints (Figure 2), thus preventing visualization of unrealistic joint rotations. Our avatars can be color-customized and individualized with different assets we have prefabricated. All clothing assets are available in a rather masculine or feminine body shape. Assets of different categories can be combined in any way (e.g., a beard with a female body shape and hairstyle). The avatars can represent real-time hand gestures via the hand and finger tracking of the VR headset and thus have increased behavioral realism compared to related work [48, 63]. Further, we implemented simulated blink and pupil movement based on the random fixation of predefined interest points within the avatars' field of view (e.g., nose, eyes, and shoulders of other avatars). Furthermore, mouth animations are triggered by speech input.

4.1.4 Design Rationale for VR Avatars. Despite previously reported concerns regarding avatars with limited graphical realism [48, 63], we opted for stylized avatars. However, in contrast to present them within a real-world photosphere [48, 63], we designed our avatars and the virtual environment aesthetically consistent, preventing potential negative effects of stylistic contrasts within VR. Further, our application provides a longer exposure time compared to the applications in related work. Thus, by allowing our participants to adapt to the stylized but consistent aesthetic of our virtual environment and avatars, we assumed to limit negative reactions to the stylized avatars. However, based on previous findings [48, 63], we decided against including a manual activation of facial animations, which users perceived as burdensome to use [40, 48, 63]. A manual expression system would conflict with the engagement with the multiplayer game. We also rejected an automized approach as reliably triggering different facial expressions based on stimuli like voice input would have required sophisticated algorithms and significantly more nuanced modeling to avoid the uncanny valley and eventually antipathy to our avatars [64, 80]. Moreover, sophisticated simulated facial animations have yet to be an established feature in consumer social VR [93]. Thus, considering that we focus on the overall experience and not the nuances of the avatar system, we did not opt for a facial expression system. Also, past studies indicate that users can acclimate limitations regarding facial emotional expression and recognition in VR if verbal communication is sufficiently supported [40, 65].

### 4.2 The Co-located Multiplayer Game

In addition to the VR application, we had to develop a multiplayer game that would function equally well in VR on a virtual display and in the co-located scenario on a physical monitor. The game should also be easy to implement as the VR implementation was already extensive. It should run with equal performance in both conditions and be playable with the respective controller peripherals. Eventually, we reviewed game design literature for a game principle that met our requirements to limit conceptual work effort. In particular, we aimed for an easy-to-understand but engaging game mechanic that induces social interaction between players. Thus, we predominantly searched for mechanics to generate player interdependence to motivate player communication [18, 30, 31, 37]. Finally, a recent literature review identified shared control as a mechanic that meets our requirements [73]. It requires multiple players to control the same game object simultaneously and thus generates CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany



Figure 3: Game design of the shared-control game.

extreme player interdependence [51, 87]. Since the shared control game described in [87] met all our requirements, we recreated it based on the descriptions in the paper.

The final game requires two players to navigate a sphere through several obstacle courses. Thereby, the steering input of both players is simultaneously applied to the sphere so that it moves faster if both inputs are similar (see Figure 3). If players do not steer in the same direction, they cannot gain enough speed to overcome certain obstacles in the levels and eventually cannot finish the game. We varied the camera behavior and perspective to introduce more variation for the planned within-participants study design and limit learning effects. For example, in the second round of a condition, the camera perspective changes to the other side of the playing field, so players must now steer in different directions. Consequently, individual levels get implicitly more difficult than before. In addition, the camera behaves differently in the VR version than in the colocated version: camera movement vs. camera panning based on sphere movement.

# 5 USER STUDY

We compared the co-located multiplayer simulator with its f2f counterpart in a within-participants user study with the two respective conditions *VR* and *Col*. In the *VR* condition, participants played together in VR while being located in separate labs. In the *Col* condition, they were co-located together in the same room and played on a single TV screen ( illustrated in Figure 4). Given the sparse literature on joint media consumption in social VR and the identified limitations of prior studies, we opted against a confirmatory approach and did not specify hypotheses. Instead, we conducted exploratory comparisons of the two conditions regarding various facets of the player and social experience (**RQ1**). Further, the study aimed to identify specific aspects of the respective scenarios that promote or limit the social and player experience (**RQ2**).

# 5.1 Sampling

We applied convenience sampling [4] and advertised the study in lectures of two HCI-related undergraduate and graduate study programs at a university in Germany. The sparse related work on similar study setups did not allow a determination of effect sizes to be expected. We thus did not aim for a confirmatory but an CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany

Sykownik and Karaosmanoglu, et al.



Figure 4: The user study followed a within-participants design with alternated sequence of the co-located and VR play sessions.

exploratory analysis and did not conduct a priori power analysis to calculate a sufficient sample size. Though applying feasibility analysis<sup>5</sup> and aligning with local standards [13] (i.e., comparing to similar studies [20, 30, 48]), we aimed for a sample size of 50.

# 5.2 Procedure

A study run consisted of four phases and took ca. 120 minutes (Figure 4). At the beginning of the procedure, participants gave their participation consent and agreed with recordings during gameplay and interview. The two conditions were conducted in alternating sequences to counterbalance potential sequence effects.

In the co-located condition, participants played together in the same room, sharing a sofa. After a briefing on the gameplay, a researcher started the screen and camera recording, and left the room. The gameplay lasted 17 minutes, divided into two 7-minute rounds with a 3-minute break. The participants then completed questionnaires in the same room.

Before the VR condition, there was a verbal briefing on the VR headset and application. Afterward, a researcher started the server application and its screen recording in another room. A research assistant then guided one participant into another room. Participants put on their VR headsets in their respective rooms, supported by the researchers. The researchers remotely started the VR applications and guided participants through the first two VR phases: sofa calibration and avatar customization. After ensuring that both participants were in the shared game scene, the researchers left the rooms and met in a third room. Participants again engaged in 14 minutes of gameplay and a 3-minute break. They then completed the PC-based questionnaires alone. During the VR condition, the researchers sat at the server PC that provided a live stream and voice chat of the VR application to intervene in case of technical issues.

Afterward, both participants were interviewed together for 20-30 minutes. Most participants were compensated in the form of certificates of participation if relevant to their study program. There was no other compensation.

### 5.3 Measures

We used German-translated questionnaires, recordings, and interview questions to assess a broad spectrum of data (Figure 4). Thereby, the questionnaires assessed the player and social experiences in both conditions that we then compared statistically (**RQ1**). All items of the questionnaires were administered on a 7-point Likert scale (e.g., *Strongly disagree – Strongly agree*)<sup>6</sup>. We used the recordings and interviews to supplement the quantitative data comparison (**RQ1**) and identify explanatory factors for quantitative differences between conditions (**RQ2**).

5.3.1 Immersive Experience Measures. To evaluate the technical and aesthetic soundness of the VR app, we assessed the immersive experience in the VR condition in terms of the perceived presence, virtual embodiment illusion, and the aesthetic appeal of the virtual environment and avatars. We used the Igroup Presence Questionnaire (IPQ) [79], with its four sub-scales general presence, spatial presence, involvement, and perceived realism. Virtual embodiment illusion was assessed using the ownership and agency scales of the Virtual Embodiment Questionnaire (VEQ) [76]. Finally, we assessed the aesthetic appeal with the audio-visual appeal items of the PXI [1] (regarding environment and avatars).

5.3.2 Player Experience Measures. To evaluate the shared-control game in terms of game design quality and induced player experience (**RQ1**), we applied the Player Experience Inventory (PXI) and used its subscales perceived mastery, immersion, autonomy, and meaning [1, 27]. For overall game enjoyment, we used three enjoyment items also proposed by the authors of the PXI.

5.3.3 Social Experience Measures. We assessed the social experience (**RQ1**) in terms of three experiential qualities: (i) social presence, i.e., a sense of co-presence and engagement between users [8], (ii) social richness, i.e., the perceived "warmth" of the interaction [50], and (iii) social connectedness as a transformative social outcome. To assess the perceived social presence, we applied the Networked Minds Measure of Social Presence with all its subscales [29]: co-presence, attentional allocation, message and affective understanding, emotional and behavioral interdependence. We assessed social richness using the corresponding sub-scale of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Additional information in the supplementary material.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Anchors varied such as not at all - very much depending on the specific instrument.

Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

the Temple Presence Inventory (TPI) [50], which includes seven items of semantic differentials (e.g., unemotional – emotional). Social connectedness was assessed using the Inclusion of Other in Self (IOS) measure [2] consisting of a single pictorial item. Further, participants rated their perceived comfort and feeling of belonging to each other with two items of the friends construct of the Social Connectedness Scale (SCS) [14].

5.3.4 Recordings. To assess participants' social behavior during the gameplay and the break between game rounds, we recorded audio and video of the co-located and VR sessions. These recordings supplement the questionnaire data and provide explanatory information for any identified quantitative experiential differences (**RQ1 & 2**). In addition, they allow us to check if there were any fundamental technical issues during the sessions, which should be considered accordingly in the analysis. In the co-located condition, we placed a camera next to the TV to record interaction on the sofa. In the VR condition, we only recorded the virtual scenery from several viewpoints within VR.

5.3.5 Interview. We conducted semi-structured interviews with the pairs to gain a more in-depth understanding of the participants' experience and what specific aspects shaped it (**RQ1 & 2**). The first two authors prepared the interview questions by reviewing, discussing, and refining the questions in detail. The questions were then shared with the rest of the research team to finalize them. Overall, the interview questions were focused on participants' general thoughts on the VR scenario, their perceived sociality during the conditions, their evaluation of the avatars, and their thoughts on using the VR application in their private leisure time.

# 6 ANALYSIS RATIONALE

In the following, we detail the analysis procedures for the different types of data we assessed in the user study.

### 6.1 Questionnaire Data

We conducted analyses based on individual participants' scores and initially checked internal consistency for each subscale of the applied instruments. Eventually, we excluded one item from the analysis of the IPQ's spatial presence subscale.

We used frequentist statistics to quantitatively analyze the player and social experience based on questionnaires' subscale data. This analysis comprised subscales' mean and median comparisons between the two conditions. Based on Shapiro-Wilk tests, we checked if the assumption of a normal distribution was met for the participants' score differences. Accordingly, we conducted either pairedsample t-tests or Wilcoxon signed-rank tests. When reporting Wilcoxon signed-rank tests, we report the Hodges-Lehmann estimate, i.e., the median of the individual differences between both conditions ( $Mdn_{Pre-Col}$ ). Social connectedness scores, which we assessed three times (Pre, Post-VR, Post-Col), were analyzed using a Friedman test and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests for post-hoc pairwise comparisons.

All significance tests were conducted using a .05  $\alpha$ -level (twotailed). In the case of post-hoc pairwise comparisons, we applied the Bonferroni-Holm adjustment of the  $\alpha$ -level [33]. To make our results comparable with those of similar work in the future, we also report effect sizes: Cohen's d for t-tests [16], rank-biserial correlation for Wilcoxon signed-rank tests [94], and Kendall's W for Friedman tests [22]. Additionally, we report 95% confidence intervals for the effect sizes of pairwise comparisons as a measure of their precision.

### 6.2 Video Data

One of the first authors and the third author conducted the video analysis. A first rough review of the video material revealed that participants' behavior was way more dynamic, complex, and "interesting" during the break compared to the gameplay phase. We thus decided to analyze the gameplay and break phase separately from each other and use different methods for each phase to reduce the analysis effort reasonably. One session was removed entirely from this analysis as participants gave no consent to be recorded during co-located gameplay.

For the gameplay phase, we assessed, with the help of student assistants, instances of socially relevant gaze actions, i.e., one participant looks towards the other. Additionally, we assessed the amount of verbal communication by extracting the accumulated duration of mutually perceivable verbal utterances (e.g., conversation, laughter). These two measures allow us to compare the two conditions in terms of instances in which participants actively perceived each other's presence. One session was removed from verbal communication analysis due to missing audio in the VR condition.

We decided against a quantitative assessment of discrete user behaviors for the break phase analysis. Instead, we opted for an informal qualitative approach, noting and discussing participants' activities and interactions—this process aimed to identify similarities and differences in behavior patterns in the two conditions. Thus, note-taking aimed to provide a focused assessment of social interactions between the participants. The notes were prepared by the third author and then discussed with one of the first authors.

## 6.3 Interview Data

We transcribed the interviews using automatic transcription<sup>7</sup> followed by manual correction by three native speakers. As we are a multi-lingual team, the transcriptions were then translated to English using translation software<sup>8</sup> and manually corrected for inaccuracies by one of the first authors. Afterward, the two first authors analyzed the interviews, following a hybrid codebook and reflexive method of thematic analysis [11, 12].

In a first phase, we used a codebook-oriented approach to extract some general quantitative insights, e.g., What condition did participants like more? After deciding on initial deductive categories and codes, we started to code the data focusing on participants' general experience evaluation, i.e., were they positive, negative, or neutral about specific aspects? To reduce the time required for this process, each researcher only coded half of the interviews (12 vs. 13). They then reviewed each other's results for disagreements and met to resolve those.

A second phase aimed to reveal how specific aspects of the VR scenario shaped participants' experience. This analysis did not aim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Dovetail: https://dovetailapp.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>DeepL Pro: https://www.deepl.com/pro?cta=header-pro/

CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany

for a final set of codes or agreement on coded paragraphs in the interviews but on inferring coherent themes. We thus applied both aspects of the codebook and reflexive approaches. In particular, we accepted the co-located scenario as the "gold standard". We structured our codes based on this premise, e.g., What aspects inhibited/enhanced the sociality in VR compared to the co-located scenario? How did these affect sociality? Again, we initially constructed deductive categories and codes. We extended these with inductive codes during the analysis. To reduce analysis time, we again decided to split the data set, so the two involved researchers only had to analyze half of the interviews in detail. However, to ensure the validity of the results, both researchers initially synchronized their understanding of initial codes and their perspective on the data by coding three same interviews independently from each other and discussing their results. In this discussion, they did not aim to reach a consensus on the final coding but to extend each others' understanding of the data and use of deductive codes. Only then they did continue independently coding their respective data set (n = 11). Upon completion, they checked each other's non-coded passages in the interviews to prevent information from being missed. They then defined general insights based on their results and presented them to each other. In a final joint reflective discussion, they clustered the insights from the two data sets into coherent themes.

# 6.4 Reflexivity Statement

The qualitative analysis has been both enriched and potentially biased by the background of the three involved authors [12, 67]. For transparency, we thus specify their backgrounds: One has a background in cognitive systems and psychology and engages in games and VR research. The two others share a computer science and psychology background, with one engaging in multiuser VR research and the other in games user research focusing on social experiences.

# 7 RESULTS

25 dyads participated in the study (N=50, women=37, men=13,  $M_{age}$ =21.74 *SD*=3.41). All participants grew up in Germany, and almost all were students at the time of the study (n=48). The majority of participants were friends or knew each other well: Fifteen dyads of friends, one of close acquaintances, and one romantic couple. Further, two dyads were loose acquaintances, and four were strangers. Furthermore, in two dyads, participants indicated in-congruent relationship types (in each case, friendship and close acquaintances). Due to this unbalanced distribution of relationship types, we did not consider this factor in further analysis.

Overall, the participants indicated neutral to positive interest (M=4.98, SD=1.80) and passion (M=4.54, SD=1.97) towards digital games and over half (n=35) of them indicated playing at least several hours a month. Prior VR experiences were mostly only made occasionally (n=34) and only one participant had prior experience with social VR applications.

### 7.1 Immersive Experience

Facets of perceived presence (IPQ), virtual embodiment (VEQ), and audio-visual appeal (PXI) were rated with high scores by at least Sykownik and Karaosmanoglu, et al.



Figure 5: Immersive experience induced by the VR application illustrated by combined box & violin plots with individual data points.

50% and above moderate scores by the majority, as illustrated by median values and interquartile ranges in Figure 5. Participants' scores cover the entire scale for perceived realism and virtual body ownership, and interquartile ranges go below four. But, the median values and violin plots indicate that the bulk of scores is above four. These results indicate a sound technical and aesthetic implementation of the VR application. Thus, we did not consider the immersive experience in the following analysis as a confounding factor.

## 7.2 Player Experience

All relevant test statistics for the following comparisons are included in Figure 6.

Overall, both conditions seemed to have induced high levels of enjoyment for most participants. No team has finished all game levels; most reached the third-last level. The mastery, autonomy, and meaning scores of the joined gameplay show a central tendency to moderate values across conditions. The perceived immersion seems to have been moderately high in both conditions.

Wilcoxon signed-rank tests revealed significantly higher levels of immersion in VR than in co-located play, but no significant differences concerning enjoyment, mastery, autonomy, and meaning.

# 7.3 Social Experience

7.3.1 Social Presence. Overall, the participants seemed to have experienced moderate to high degrees of social presence according to central tendencies and distribution of averaged agreement scores of the NMMSP sub-scales, which are illustrated in Figure 7a. The boxplots illustrate larger inter-individual differences regarding the perceived attentional allocation, affective understanding, and emotional interdependency in VR, as scores range from high to rather low values. Further, difference lines, illustrating the participants' individual score differences, indicate inter-individual differences in terms of which condition induced higher levels of social presence.

Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany



Figure 6: Summary of player experience analysis based on boxplots, individual data points, and test results.



# Figure 7: Summary of social experience analysis including individual or combined box- and violin plots, individual data points, and test results.

Wilcoxon signed-rank tests and paired-sample t-tests revealed that perceived co-presence, mutual understanding, attentional allocation, and affective understanding were significantly higher in co-located gameplay. Emotional interdependence and behavioral interdependence were not significantly different in the conditions. All relevant test-statistics are included in Figure 7a.

7.3.2 Social Richness. In both conditions, most participants seem to have perceived high levels of social richness based on how they described the experience using semantic differentials (Figure 7b).

Though, social richness was significantly lower in VR than in the co-located condition based on a paired-samples t-test (Figure 7b).

7.3.3 Social Connectedness. The boxplots in Figure 7c indicate that the central tendency of inclusion of other scores changed from a moderate level prior to the gameplay to a slightly increased level after the VR and co-located gameplay. Further, the co-located scores' dispersion seems smaller than the VR scores'. Similarly, the boxplots of belonging scores show a positive change of central tendency from a moderate to a moderately high level and a reduction of score dispersion after gameplay compared to the baseline scores.

CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany



Figure 8: Ratio of social gaze instances and verbal communication amount in VR compared to co-located gameplay.

Perceived comfort of being with the other was high-to-very high at all three measurement times, with some outliers in the moderate level for pre-gameplay and VR measurement.

Three Friedman tests revealed a significant effect of the measurement time (pre vs. VR vs. co-located) on perceived inclusion of other, belonging, and comfort (Figure 7c). Post-hoc analyses with Bonferroni-Holm adjusted  $\alpha$ -levels revealed the following significant differences between conditions:

Inclusion of other scored higher after co-located and after VR play compared to study start ( $Mdn_{Pre-Col}=-1.00$ , p<0.001,  $r_B=-1.00$ ;  $Mdn_{Pre-VR}=-1.00$ , p<0.001,  $r_B=-.711$ ). In addition, the scores after the co-located play were higher than after VR play ( $Mdn_{Col-VR}=1.00$ , p=0.025,  $r_B=-.558$ ).

Belonging was perceived higher after co-located and after VR play compared to study start ( $Mdn_{Pre-Col}$ =-1.50, p<0.001,  $r_B$ =-.746;  $Mdn_{Pre-VR}$ =-1.50, p<0.001,  $r_B$ =-.764).

The perceived comfort of being with the other was higher after the co-located gameplay than at baseline ( $Mdn_{Pre-Col}$ =-1.00, p=0.001,  $r_B$ =-.875)

### 7.4 Verbal & Gaze Behavior during Gameplay

The scatter plots in Figure 8 map the gaze instances and amount of verbal communication within the VR condition's dyads' behavior in the co-located condition. The plots reveal that for the gaze behavior, there was no clear tendency that VR was generally more or less looking at the partner. In about the same number of sessions there were more glances towards the partner in VR as there were sessions in which there were more glances towards the partner in co-located. However, in four dyads with very few attempts to look at the other during co-located play, participants gave each other significantly more partner-directed glances in VR.

Overall, participants tended to engage in more verbal communication in the co-located condition, as the plot in Figure 8 shows more data points representing corresponding dyads. In contrast to gaze behavior, a pronounced influence of the fundamental interaction dynamics in the dyads is evident. The more communicative a pair of participants was in the co-located condition, the more likely they were to be less communicative in VR than in-person. Sykownik and Karaosmanoglu, et al.

# 7.5 Behavior during Co-located Breaks

Most co-located breaks started with a brief game-related conversation. They then drifted either into an off-topic conversation or relatively silent phases of waiting for the break to end. The off-topic conversations, which occurred in half of all co-located breaks, were related to "gaming" in general or to mutual experiences or plans of both participants, e.g., regarding courses at university. Besides, participants who played the co-located game version after the VR version often referred to the VR session, i.e.: they talked about their VR experience and the VR headsets. They discussed both positive and negative aspects of the VR setting (e.g., uncomfortable headsets, VR room feeling comfier). The silent waiting phases occurred in nine sessions. Participants waited seemingly impatiently for the time to pass and felt visibly uncomfortable because they did not know what to say or do. In some of those cases, participants expressed feeling unpleasantly observed by the camera.

During all co-located breaks, participants remained sitting on the couch, looked at each other occasionally while talking, and looked around the room to some extent. Across all co-located breaks, we observed only one instance of social touch. One team performed a high-five at the beginning of the break to celebrate the level they had just won. We noticed no other instances of social touch nor any remarkable gesture-based interaction.

### 7.6 Behavior during VR Breaks

During the VR breaks, we observed very different behavior. However, the fundamental social dynamics between teammates hardly changed in most cases, as dyads talking a lot in co-located breaks also interacted more in the VR break compared to quieter groups. Predominantly, participants started to explore the interaction possibilities in the VR environment. Except for only eight dyads, the participants tried to touch each other and observed with interest what happened when their avatars collided. Often they started with poking the other's body or face, then trying different forms of physical interaction, including clap games, fist bumps, handshakes, head patting, and boxing. The dominant emotions during such interactions were amusement and fascination, as participants laughed a lot and were curious to try different things.

Most dyads also took a closer look at their avatars during the break. About half of the teams commented on the visual appearances of their avatars, sometimes laughing at eccentric looks (e.g., green hair) or discussing their design choices during avatar customization. Moreover, several participants noted their "missing" legs and wrists, discussing it as strange or irritating. In addition to focusing on their teammates, many participants also explored the VR environment. They moved through the room, looked around, and tried to touch some virtual items and furniture.

### 7.7 Insights from Interviews

Our first analysis phase revealed the insights illustrated in Figure 9. Around 75% of the participants stated that they liked one of the two conditions better, with almost 50% indicating the in-person variant. Still, about 25% were in favor of the VR version. About 20% of the participants were undecided and could not state a clear preference. The following subsections present results from our second analysis phase and provide detailed insights into the scenario.



Figure 9: Stacked bar charts with percentage distribution of responses to selected interview questions.

7.7.1 Theme 1: Most players liked the shared-control game for its simplicity regarding design, controls, and mechanics, which created a motivational pull to proceed. Overall, the game was very well received by the players (Figure 9). The sharedcontrol mechanic was well received as the source of coordination and challenge. Though, it was sometimes perceived as annoying or not convincing as a mechanic at all: "*I found it quite funny that both can control everything, but it was equally frustrating*.". In particular, referring to the later levels of the game, players reported how frustrating it was to fail because of a disproportionally increase in difficulty. A few specifically expressed dissatisfaction with the not-adjustable camera perspective.

7.7.2 Theme 2: Avatars and voice chat were the building blocks of the social experience. However, some were unsatisfied with avatars, not only due to technical issues. The majority of participants described how they perceived a social presence in the VR condition and how they felt as they were actually sitting next to each other: "So, it really felt like we were with each other. [...] When I took the glasses off, I was confused for a moment because you weren't in the room with me [...]"

This was largely related to simply being able to see each other in VR. Many participants emphasized how the avatars fundamentally allow for and signal mutual attention. The mere perception of the other's avatar, its movement through the virtual environment, and its orientation partly induced intense feelings of social presence. Some participants described how they avoided running into each other when taking their controllers. Moreover, during the game, it just felt natural to look to the side and see someone sitting there: "So the avatar also helped a lot. So that when you looked to the side, you saw someone sitting there."

Together, mutual visual perception and the possibility of verbal communication formed the basis for the perceived social presence, naturalness, and emotionality of the interaction in VR. A recurring argument was that one could see and talk to each other just like in the co-located scenario: "Well, the conditions were relatively the same, because we could see each other somewhere in virtual reality and we could also hear each other."

However, some players did not perceive interacting through avatars in VR as natural. They described detrimental effects on sociality in terms of perceived naturalness, social presence, closeness, and emotionality: "Yeah, well, I think "natural" is hard to say. [...] because in VR it's just an avatar sitting next to you."

In individual instances, software-based issues with the avatars were associated with negative effects on the perceived naturalness or realism during the interaction: "It was sometimes just a little bit with the calibration of the hands, but so that it looked weird for a second, maybe to the other person, but otherwise nothing." 7.7.3 Theme 3: Avoiding Uncanny Valley and providing customization opportunities can create a pleasant and personal experience, but upper-body-only avatars may annoy some users. The graphic style of the avatars was not only predominantly positively received (Figure 9) but was also partially described in the interviews as having a positive effect on the social experience, i.a., by generally contributing to a pleasant atmosphere. Specifically referring to the Uncanny Valley, it was noted by some participants that the style combined a pleasant level of realism with appropriate abstraction so that it did not annoy when looking at each other: "I think it was pleasant. One didn't get scared now, because you look too realistic [...]"

In several interviews, participants described how the customization may enhance the personal closeness of the interaction, as customization choices reveal something about themselves: "[...] *it says a lot about the person.*" Further, customization prevents avatars from all looking the same and ensures that they express individualism, which was associated with increased realism. In addition, the design choices induced conversations and triggered mutual laughter in cases of deliberately eye-catching appearances.

For some participants, a match between their interaction partner's physical and avatar appearance can have a positive impact on sociality in terms of the personal closeness, naturalness, or realism of the interaction: "And of course, they don't look like you, but you can bring them a little bit closer to your appearance, and so you can create a different kind of closeness in VR."

In several instances, the anatomical properties of the avatars were critically discussed. In particular, the lack of legs and, in some cases, the lack of wrists harmed the perceived naturalness or realism of the interaction: "Because it would complete it. It was one of the first things I noticed when I saw him. He has no legs." Further, the anatomic limitations of avatars impair opportunities for expression: "Because half of the body was missing, so to speak. And half of the feelings were also missing, I thought." However, a few participants reported that legs were not necessary and they were not annoyed by it: "It was funny that we were just standing there, just with the upper body, on this couch [...] So it wasn't absolutely necessary."

7.7.4 Theme 4: Behavioral realism in head movement, body orientation, and gesturing enhanced sociality. However, participants missed mimics and nuanced avatar postures. Social touch in VR emphasized physical separation. Most users indicated that sociality was heavily supported by the ability to look at each other and to perceive each others' gaze direction in VR. This, in particular, was supportive during verbal communication: "[...] it's actually somehow more polite if I then talk and look at her. She sees that, too. And then I thought that was actually relatively natural, yes." In particular, seeing that the partner turns his head

and body in one's direction establishes an understanding of mutual awareness. Many participants described this as an essential contributor to their social experience. Despite being limited, the body movement indicated where and in which orientation users sat on the sofa. This way, they could derive rough impressions of each others' attentional state: "[...] I remember very well this one part where I turned to you and your body was turned to me.[...] I was like: Okay, that's so open and somehow so "turned towards me" and I found that positive."

Besides the voice and the avatars' visibility, the possibility to gesticulate with the hands positively influenced the perceived fun, social presence, liveliness, naturalness, and emotionality during social interaction. Gesturing accompanied verbal communication but also allowed gesture-based communication, such as a high-five or a pointing gesture to the virtual monitor: "But I think the most important thing that I communicated with, apart from my voice, was gestures with my hands."

Although limited, the existing facial stimuli of the avatar system were occasionally described as enhancing sociality. Whereas the simulated gaze behavior was not actively recalled, the simulated blinking and the mouth animation during voice input, in particular, were described as increasing the realism and social presence: "I liked that the mouth moved when you spoke. That definitely supported that the other person was saying something. I also liked it when the avatars blinked, I think they blinked, that it felt a little more natural."

In many interviews, the participants described the lack of facial expressions inhibited overall sociality. Some of them specifically referred to the perceived emotionality, social presence, personal closeness, and naturalness: "[...] but you couldn't see the facial expressions. When someone strains and looks strained. You just didn't notice that." In particular, players emphasized how mimics could have enhanced the experience of shared laughter: "So you also laughed a lot via the headset, but when you see it on the spot, it's something else again, so you feel it even more. Then this sharing of feelings is even more intense."

Another inhibitor of perceived emotionality and realism was the lack of nuanced body language, such as detailed body poses. The participants, for example, complained that the avatars could not express the tension during gameplay: "But you could really see [in co-located] whether the person [...] was suddenly really tense and controlled, that is, was also very concentrated and focused, or somehow played a bit more "laid-back" and chilled out. That has been one of the great aspects, in comparison. "

Social touch was a social interaction that participants occasionally described as an inhibitor of social presence. In particular, they reported that when a virtual touch happens, but no physical touch is perceived, one becomes aware of the physical distance again. This was further supported by having no visual collisions happening in VR, as avatar models "reached through" each other: "*Except just this obstacle of not feeling each other, even though you still have the visual.*"

However, the participants also relativized the importance of the limitations above. In particular, during gameplay, one tends to focus on the game. Then, limitations such as the lack of facial expressions of the game partner's avatar played a lesser role: "*I don't really think it has an impact because I wasn't looking over at her the whole time* [...], *I was just looking at the screen and* [...] *it felt like she was* 

sitting next to me. It doesn't matter what she looks like. " For some participants, it was also sufficient to hear each others' voices, and thus not a significant issue, that avatars suffered from limited social stimuli: "I didn't even find the facial expressions absolutely necessary. [...] Because you could take a lot out of the voice, the pitch of the voice, the color of the voice. So how the emotional situation is, how the mood is."

7.7.5 Theme 5: The majority of participants transferred their relationship dynamics to VR. Most participants indicated that knowing the other person was necessary for their overall experience in the VR scenario. For example, knowing their partner's voice and how they look in reality relativized certain avatar limitations. Moreover, knowing each other resulted in isolated benefits for the social and player experience, e.g., a blind mutual understanding while controlling the game was just as possible in VR as in colocated. Further, friends who play a lot together online via voice chat are used to communicate mainly via voice and are adapted to understand each other emotionally in this situation. Furthermore, the majority of participants paraphrased how the usual social dynamics between them transferred to VR: "Yeah, exactly. So, we were just being ourselves. [...] Like we always are, just not in the same room. " In individual cases, the participants noted how their behavior and emotions slightly changed in VR, e.g., hitting each other for fun but emphasizing that they would not do this in-person. In another case, the perceived social distance affected the emotional reaction to in-game failure: "[...] it was just somehow so distant, that it has already stressed me a bit, if it did not work as I wanted in the moment. I didn't have that before [in presence], but then in VR, it made me a little bit angry: Why isn't the ball jumping now?"

7.7.6 Theme 6: Novelty effect of VR, technological aspects, and study design affect sociality. The interviews revealed that being in VR enhanced sociality in terms of increased liveliness and enjoyment. This was predominantly attributed to the novelty of VR for many participants. As being one of only few prior experiences or even the first VR encounter at all, the participants reported that this lack of experience stimulated their curiosity and tempted them to interact with each other: "[...] when we were just on the couch during the break, we weren't really interacting with each other much, [...] But in the VR world, we were there playing around a little bit more, teasing and seeing what you could do [...]."

However, in some cases, the VR environment distracted participants to the point that they, e.g., engaged less in cooperation or personal conversation: "Not really, except that in presence, in pause, we talked about something personal. And in VR, we rather tested the limits of the game."

The participants saw the 3-minute break as an opportunity for intense social interaction in VR. A recurring comparison was that they did not really interact with each other at all during the break in the co-located scenario, neither did they stand up: "Yes, yes, with the avatars you also tried to shake hands or something like that. [...] And if you're just sitting on the couch, then, I don't know, only the everyday conversations come up, I would say."

One of the prevailing notions of how VR negatively influenced sociality was related to the VR headsets' technical specifications. In particular, due to the restricted field of view, one could not perceive the partner in VR's peripheral field of view. Though, the other Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

person would still be visible in the exact spatial constellation in the co-located situation. This impaired, especially, the perceived social presence during gameplay: "But when you're looking straight ahead, you can't see the avatar next to you. But when you're sitting next to each other, you still feel the physical presence of the other person."

The condition sequence was occasionally discussed as a socialityenhancing factor, i.a.: getting used to each other in the first condition and then being more relaxed in the following VR condition, or a decrease of excitement or social focus when transitioning from VR to co-located: "The first time was just like: cool VR, this is all fun, we're in a game, so let's play. The second time was more: Come on, let's go through the levels now."

The study design and context were also occasionally described as limiting certain aspects of the sociality. For example, some participant pairs that did not know each other well noted less social activity in VR, in case it was the first condition because they had yet to warm up to each other. In another instance, a participant had to get used to the study context and the audio-video recording. "*In the first one (VR) you were still rather biased because of….you knew that you were being recorded and that you were being listened to. And so on. And that's the kind of thing you forget at some point […]*" Further, because of the study context, some participants consciously dispensed crazy avatar designs in the customization, as this would have been inappropriate in the study context.

7.7.7 Theme 7: Simulation co-located gaming in VR was accepted by users and found superior to existing options. However, VR technology presents some challenges that require attention. Most players could imagine using Couch-Coop VR in their private leisure time (Figure 9), in particular, as it allows them to overcome physical distance and to feel close to friends and family members in specific use cases. In some cases, it was also noted as a convenient alternative to in-person meetings, e.g., when you do not want to drive late in the evening. A few explicitly emphasized that they would have liked to use such an application during the COVID-19's social distancing and quarantine measures.

Most participants evaluated the scenario as superior to current alternatives of playing online games or communicating over a distance. They attributed this mainly to the avatars and the intensified perception of social presence within a spatial context, which induces a more personal experience. Concerning the game experience, some users described how being immersed in VR helped them to focus more on the actual game. Though, a recurring request was that such a scenario must offer a variety of games on the virtual screen. In addition, a few participants hinted that they would like to play a "typical" VR game together and deviate from playing couch-coop games in front of a virtual monitor. Besides that, some participants wished for scenarios or features that would provoke more direct social interactions. Relating to the avatars, the participants would add mimics and legs, as well as more diverse customization features, i.a.: hairs, head-coverings like hijabs, and body shapes.

The interviews also revealed specific challenges and general concerns about using such a scenario or VR technology in the future. Participants mostly noticed challenges due to current technical limitations: blurry view due to limited resolution, a narrow field of view, and bad headset ergonomics regarding weight and fit. They also found it too expensive and worried that it is or will not be widely owned. Further, we identified two general concerns towards VR that were occasionally described: the increased probability of pathological escapism and reduced face-to-face meetings.

## 8 DISCUSSION

The main goal of our research was to explore how well social VR may function as an alternative to f2f when leisure activities in person are not feasible. We thus determined, in an exploratory user study, how the experience of a co-located multiplayer game scenario replicated in social VR compares to its f2f counterpart. Answering our research questions, we can summarize the following findings.

**RQ1: Comparison of Player and Social Experience.** In our study, players had a similar player experience in both conditions, with immersion even a bit more intense in VR. In terms of sociality, however, the VR version induced a slightly less rich experience. Furthermore, the VR version generated less co-presence, mutual attention and understanding, and affective understanding. However, we consider the identified differences marginal since both scenarios induced high social richness and social presence overall. Additionally, both conditions increased social connectedness after playing with each other. The qualitative findings show that the participants could transfer their usual relationship dynamics into VR and that most would use the VR scenario privately.

**RQ2: Enhancing and Inhibiting Factors.** In principle, the shared control game generated social interaction in both conditions. However, in VR, a high level of interaction was particularly evident during the three-minute break. The voice chat and the avatars' presence were essential for the social experience in VR. In addition, avatar customization allowed the introduction of a personal touch, which induced conversation. Moreover, VR generated a high motivation for interaction for novice users. However, we identified specific limitations of the avatar system as the main inhibitors to the social experience: missing lower body and a lack of facial expressions. Those limitations are mainly due to the current tracking capabilities of the *Meta Quest 2*. Similarly, mutual awareness during gameplay in VR suffered from limited peripheral vision compared to human's natural field of view.

### 8.1 Joint Media Consumption in Social VR

Our results align with and extend previous work that compared f2f and VR interactions in the context of joint media consumption [48, 57, 63, 88].

In the scenarios of joint video watching and photo sharing, VR performed slightly worse in terms of interaction quality than the f2f variant [48, 57, 63]. Perceived interaction quality includes aspects such as mutual attention and perceived emotions [48]. As we applied the NMMSP, which assesses these aspects separately, we can specify previous insights: both aspects are individually less pronounced in VR. However, emotional interdependence did not differ statistically in our setting; even if there were differences in mutual perception between VR and f2f, the users could perceive and reveal so much about each other that they were emotionally interdependent in both scenarios to a similar degree. By looking at our qualitative results, we mainly attribute this to the voice chat that enabled co-players to assess each other's emotions.
CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany

The contexts of video watching and photo sharing yielded ambivalent results regarding perceived social meaning in VR compared to f2f. While for video watching, it was lower in VR [63], it was not significantly lower in VR for photo sharing [48]. Social meaning stems from feelings of togetherness, enjoyment, and bonding processes [48]. These components reflect our measures of enjoyment, the inclusion of and belonging to the other, and co-presence. While co-presence and inclusion of the other were marginally lower in our VR condition than in f2f, we found no significant differences in perceived belonging. Thus, our results align with both previous works but give a more nuanced insight. As we assessed social closeness at the study start, we can extend the photosharing results by finding positive social outcomes from collaborative interaction in VR. The differences between ours and others' findings are presumably related to the different spatial orientations of users to each other: facing each other during photosharing vs. predominantly looking at a screen during gameplay and video watching.

# 8.2 Activity Context Counterbalances Inhibitors

The themes we extracted from interview data align well with previously derived themes, i.a.: avatars with limited behavioral realism due to a lack of or poor implementation of mimics and body language annoyed users, and novelty effect excites users [48, 63, 65]. Though, we extend these by also reflecting on aspects like the role of player relationships, avatar customization, and virtual social touch.

The identified inhibitors in our scenario had limited practical relevance, as we found relatively marginal experiential differences. Co-presence and affective understanding differed most between the scenarios, and we primarily relate these differences to the limited field of view and the lack of facial expressions. As our qualitative findings point out, the participants could not perceive each other within their peripheral view during gameplay, which inhibited their perceived co-presence and attentional allocation compared to the f2f setting. At the same time, specific missing social stimuli did not stand out so much during gameplay as during the break. Though, when actively looking at the partner in VR during gameplay, the lack of mimics and nuanced body postures presumably led to the significant difference in terms of affective understanding and social richness we found. Our qualitative results indicate that these limitations were primarily perceivable during the break, where participants actively interacted with and focused on each other in VR. However, the interaction during the break was again conducive to sociality. In short, the avatars were both facilitators and inhibitors of overall sociality in VR. However, the inhibiting aspects can become less salient depending on the activity context, i.e., playing and focusing on a game together. Additionally, avatar limitations become even less critical if the scenario provides a well-functioning voice chat as the primary source for mutual emotional understanding [40, 48, 65]. We assume that providing a different vet socially stimulating focus point than the avatars is also the main reason previous work in similar contexts found VR to be quite similar to f2f despite using less sophisticated social VR environments [48, 57, 63]. Thus, we infer that joint media consumption is a suitable use case to be replicated in social VR despite its current technical limitations. Moreover, our qualitative analyses highlight that next to the

activity context, VR-exclusive features, like avatar customization, create opportunities for social interaction that does not occur in the f2f scenario. In this regard, we consider the break as a crucial design decision supporting our VR scenario's overall sociality.

# 8.3 Novelty Effects

In line with other studies [19, 48], we also observed novelty effects based on recorded behavior and participant statements in the interviews. Moreover, in our case, they certainly compensated for sociality-inhibiting effects by triggering more social interaction during the game break. However, whether the experience in VR would be significantly worse than in f2f in the long run due to habituation and the omission of novelty effects cannot be conclusively assessed. Recent studies indicate adaptation processes of the users, which may even lead to an increase of individual aspects of the experience over time [28, 40]. Furthermore, as partly desired in the interviews and suggested by related work [48], we emphasize that VR designers should utilize such novelty effects and intentionally deviate from reality [58, 75, 92].

# 8.4 An Alternative for Socially Meaningful Game Experiences

From a broader perspective, our findings regarding positive social outcomes, i.e., increased social connectedness, align with literature describing the benefits that users already derive from consumer social VR platforms [5, 53, 69, 89]. Our qualitative findings further align with previous observations indicating that existing social dynamics naturally transfer into VR [65]. Consequently, our results also extend the literature comparing different types of multiplayer gaming [24-26] by proposing a new form of online gaming that theoretically allows the interaction aspects particular to local multiplayer scenarios [43, 78, 86] to be experienced in an online context. Thus, our results blur the boundaries between local and online multiplayer, despite certain stimuli, such as mimics, haptic feedback, and body postures, are still limited or missing in our specific VR scenario. However, to avoid undermining the openness to VR technology, we emphasize the importance of adequate software features and interaction designs that compensate for confounding effects that technical limitations may have.

Eventually, we interpret the identified experiential differences as being of low practical relevance in real world use cases, where a f2f meeting is not feasible. Users may experience the social VR variant as slightly different in direct comparison, but we assume it can yet be a sufficient source for social experiences over distance.

## 8.5 Limitations

Our results are subject to the following limitations. First, they stem from a WEIRD (Western, Educated, Industrialized, Rich, and Democratic) convenience sample [49] and we did not specify a certain population that it may represent. Thus, our results cannot be statistically generalized to a specific population, e.g., all potential future social VR users. However, our exploratory research perspective and findings based on quantitative as well as qualitative data informs more specific follow-up research for extended theory-building [4].

Secondly, the studied scenario particularly thrives on playing it at home in a cozy environment and possibly with more than two players and varying game modes. Since some participants also mentioned the influence of the study setting as inhibiting, we admit that a lab-based study context cannot easily recreate an equivalent atmosphere. However, given our within-participant design, we assume that the lab setting did affect both conditions similarly. Ultimately, longitudinal in situ research [65] is necessary to assess the real-world value of our VR scenario in different social and game contexts (e.g., compete with remote groups of friends or strangers while being at home) and the extent of assumed habituation and adaptation effects [28, 40].

Finally, as the recently launched Meta Quest Pro features integrated face-tracking, follow-up studies may reveal even more similar experiences between VR and f2f. However, costing three times as much as the Quest 2 and primarily addressing business customers, face tracking may now be an available but also expensive and not yet widely integrated feature. Additionally, the Quest 2 is currently by far the most popular consumer VR headset9. Therefore, we assume our prototype continues to reflect the social VR venues and experiential qualities that most VR users will have access to in the foreseeable future. Thus, our results retain external validity until technological advancements become more economically affordable, widely implemented, and functionally optimized. Also, tracking technologies were not the focus of our research but only one of many factors shaping the overall player and social experience in a specific social VR use case. However, despite technical limitations, our VR prototype already produced an experience very similar to the f2f situation. Accordingly, future studies have to reveal if and to what extent more advanced VR hardware like the Quest Pro will enhance the overall experience and how users may reevaluate the lack of features like face-tracking once they have experienced them. Thus, ours and others' findings [48, 63] make a lasting contribution to the field, by demonstrating what current widespread consumer hardware is capable of and by providing a benchmark for evaluating the experiential benefits and user adoption of technological advancements in future studies.

### 8.6 Social VR Design Implications

We provide the following implications for developers and researchers to design and create compelling social VR experiences based on our results.

As long as VR hardware limitations exist (e.g., the restricted field of view and the lack of face tracking), software solutions should be designed to compensate for inhibiting effects. For example, another user's presence or attention and affective state could be indicated by indicators in the field of view [10, 77].

If relevant in the context, avatars should provide mimics, one of the most important stimuli to contribute to sociality [68, 81]. Since manually triggered facial expressions or emojis can be burdensome [40, 48], approaches that generate facial expressions from intuitiveto-use stimuli like voice or hand gestures seem promising (as is done in *Rec Room* or *Horizon Worlds*. Alternatively, different forms of sharing affective states, e.g., based on biosignal visualization, open up exciting design spaces [47]. However, privacy-related concerns are discussed in recent social VR literature [55, 66, 90]. We thus expect that certain users are not willing to use face or other tracking technologies in individual contexts. For such instances, alternative approaches of manual and automated sharing of affective states should be explored and reconciled with user privacy claims.

We question whether photorealistic avatars based on users' physical appearances are something future users ultimately want or expect in leisure activity contexts. Our qualitative results indicate, in line with other findings, openness for deviations from graphical realism [32, 52, 101]. As existing social VR applications like VRChat allow users even to use non-anthropomorphic avatars, ongoing research on the individual contributions of graphical and behavioral realism to a compelling social experience [9, 44, 45, 68, 74, 101] become more practically relevant. In particular, future work should consider how beyond-human avatars that deviate from anthropomorphic traits limit or advance social experiences in social VR encounters. For example, a prior work reported that embodying virtual animals (in a single-user context) induces enjoyment [42], and we believe that social encounters generally could benefit from the mere entertainment values of such approaches. However, we consider the following aspects as factors that might shape social experiences with beyond-human avatars: (i) user preferences and openness to embody and interact with such avatars, (ii) relevance of presented or missing social stimuli (e.g., eye contact) in specific contexts, (iii) presence of intelligible social stimuli, even when presented on graphically non-anthropomorphic avatars (e.g., an animal with human mimics), and (iv) user habituation effects to limited or unfamiliar social stimuli (e.g., exclusively offered stimuli in VR for social interaction like particle effects for high-five interaction [58, 75, 92]). Consequently, avatar design choices should consider the aforementioned factors and how they might stimulate sociality in a specific use case independent from the overall graphical or behavioral realism.

Finally, we are aware that in a real-world use case, users most likely do not have the same room layouts and interior designs as they had in our lab setup. Thus, developers and researchers should continue exploring previous approaches that enable convenient locomotion and interaction within a shared virtual environment that does not inhibit a natural social interaction [85].

### 8.7 Games User Research Implications

Based on our results, we also define the following implications for games user research.

Shared control demonstrated as a simple yet scalable game mechanic to create high player interdependence and communication. Thus, we recommend it as a mechanic to investigate and promote social dynamics in multiplayer game contexts.

Using VR to simulate co-located multiplayer gaming, where players traditionally sit together, deviates from the paradigm of utilizing VR's spatiality to engage users in walking around. Thus, we see it as a worthwhile scenario for players who do not want or cannot engage in such activity but nevertheless want to play with others over distance in a socially rich manner. Further, this scenario introduces the possibility to experience a previously "friend-exclusive" game situation with strangers and is therefore possibly an access to social dynamics that other game media do not offer so far. Thus, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Global Headsets Market Share 2022: https://www.counterpointresearch.com/globalxr-ar-vr-headsets-market-share/

a prior work suggests [88], research should further explore this scenario as a novel online gaming context with unique opportunities to not only create innovative experiences but also offer meaningful experiences for players with diverse and individual requirements.

Similar to suggestions from related work, simulating co-located multiplayer in VR, provides a tool for remote testing of co-located games in a standardized environment [88] that inherently provides various opportunities for behavioral observation during gameplay.

#### 9 CONCLUSION

Social VR is a comparatively new communication technology that has yet to prove its capability to provide meaningful social experiences in contexts people value and where in-person encounters may not be feasible. Therefore, we developed a custom social VR application for such a context and compared it in detail with its f2f counterpart: co-located multiplayer gaming. We found that the VR application matched the player experience and closely approximated the social experience of the conventional in-person scenario. However, the lack of facial animations, a limited body language, and a low field of view inhibited facets of the social experience. Our exploratory findings and implications inform follow-up research for extended theory-building regarding the interplay between social VR features, user characteristics, and experiential qualities. In a real-world use case where people may not have the option to decide between VR and f2f, we consider the identified experiential differences as being of low practical relevance and social VR as a source for sufficient social experiences. Consequently, if consumer VR technology advances and becomes more affordable, we anticipate an increasing everyday value of virtual social leisure activities as a means to connect over distance.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to all those who supported the realization of this work: Erique Schnorbus, Anastasia Chernetskaya, Dana Schulte, Aileen Kossira, Katja Rogers, and Lennart E. Nacke. This work was supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF).

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Vero Vanden Abeele, Katta Spiel, Lennart Nacke, Daniel Johnson, and Kathrin Gerling. 2020. Development and validation of the player experience inventory: A scale to measure player experiences at the level of functional and psychosocial consequences. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies* 135 (2020), 102370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2019.102370 pages #6
- [2] Arthur Aron, Elaine N Aron, and Danny Smollan. 1992. Inclusion of other in the self scale and the structure of interpersonal closeness. *Journal of personality and social psychology* 63, 4 (1992), 596. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.63.4.596 pages #7
- [3] Jeremy N Bailenson, Jim Blascovich, Andrew C Beall, and Jack M Loomis. 2001. Equilibrium theory revisited: Mutual gaze and personal space in virtual environments. Presence: Teleoperators & Virtual Environments 10, 6 (2001), 583–598. https://doi.org/10.1162/105474601753272844 pages #3
  [4] Sebastian Baltes and Paul Ralph. 2022. Sampling in Software Engineering
- [4] Sebastian Baltes and Paul Ralph. 2022. Sampling in Software Engineering Research: A Critical Review and Guidelines. *Empirical Softw. Engg.* 27, 4 (jul 2022), 31 pages. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10664-021-10072-8 pages #5, #14
- [5] Miguel Barreda-Ángeles and Tilo Hartmann. 2022. Psychological benefits of using social virtual reality platforms during the covid-19 pandemic: The role of social and spatial presence. *Computers in Human Behavior* 127 (2022), 107047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2021.107047 pages #2, #3, #14
- [6] Steve Benford, John Bowers, Lennart E Fahlén, Chris Greenhalgh, and Dave Snowdon. 1995. User embodiment in collaborative virtual environments. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems

(Denver, Colorado, USA). ACM Press/Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., USA, 242-249. https://doi.org/10.1145/223904.223935 pages #3

- [7] Frank Biocca, Chad Harms, and Judee K. Burgoon. 2003. Toward a More Robust Theory and Measure of Social Presence: Review and Suggested Criteria. Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments 12, 5 (2003), 456–480. https://doi.org/10. 1162/105474603322761270 pages #2
- [8] Frank Biocca, Chad Harms, and Jenn Gregg. 2001. The networked minds measure of social presence: Pilot test of the factor structure and concurrent validity. 4th annual international workshop on presence, Philadelphia, PA (2001), 1–9. pages #2, #6
- [9] Jim Blascovich. 2002. A Theoretical Model of Social Influence for Increasing the Utility of Collaborative Virtual Environments. In Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Collaborative Virtual Environments (Bonn, Germany) (CVE '02). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1145/571878.571883 pages #15
- [10] Riccardo Bovo, Daniele Giunchi, Muna Alebri, Anthony Steed, Enrico Costanza, and Thomas Heinis. 2022. Cone of Vision as a Behavioural Cue for VR Collaboration. Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact. 6, CSCW2, Article 502 (nov 2022), 27 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3555615 pages #15
   [11] Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke. 2019. Reflecting on reflexive thematic
- [11] Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke. 2019. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health* 11, 4 (2019), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1628806 pages #7
   [12] Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke. 2021. Can I use TA? Should I use TA? Should
- [12] Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke. 2021. Can I use TA? Should I use TA? Should I not use TA? Comparing reflexive thematic analysis and other pattern-based qualitative analytic approaches. *Counselling and Psychotherapy Research* 21, 1 (2021), 37–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/capr.12360 pages #7, #8
- Kelly Caine. 2016. Local Standards for Sample Size at CHI. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (San Jose, California, USA) (CHI '16). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 981-992. https://doi.org/10.1145/2858036.2858498 pages #6
   Annemaree Carroll, Julie M. Bower, and Sandy Muspratt. 2017. The conceptual-
- [14] Annemaree Carroll, Julie M. Bower, and Sandy Muspratt. 2017. The conceptualization and construction of the Self in a Social Context—Social Connectedness Scale: A multidimensional scale for high school students. *International Journal of Educational Research* 81 (2017), 97–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2016.12.001 pages #7
- [15] Sebastian Cmentowski and Jens Krüger. 2020. Playing With Friends The Importance of Social Play During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 209–212. https://doi.org/10.1145/3383668. 3419911 pages #2
- [16] J Cohen. 1988. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (Revised ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates. pages #7
- [17] Yvonne A. W. de Kort and Wijnand A. Ijsselsteijn. 2008. People, places, and play: player experience in a socio-spatial context. *Computers in Entertainment* 6, 2 (2008), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1145/1371216.1371221 pages #2, #3
- [18] Ansgar É Depping and Regan L Mandryk. 2017. Cooperation and interdependence: How multiplayer games increase social closeness. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 449–461. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3116595.3116639 pages #5
- [19] Elena Dzardanova, Vlasios Kasapakis, Damianos Gavalas, and Stella Sylaiou. 2022. Virtual reality as a communication medium: a comparative study of forced compliance in virtual reality versus physical world. *Virtual Reality* 26, 2 (2022), 737–757. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-021-00564-9 pages #3, #14
- [20] Katharina Emmerich and Maic Masuch. 2017. The Impact of Game Patterns on Player Experience and Social Interaction in Co-Located Multiplayer Games. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play (Amsterdam, The Netherlands) (CHI PLAY '17). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 411–422. https://doi.org/10.1145/3116595. 3116606 pages #6
- [21] Entertainment Software Association (ESA). 2021. 2021 Essential Facts about the Video Game Industry. https://www.theesa.com/resource/2021-essential-factsabout-the-video-game-industry/ Washington, D.C., USA. pages #2
- [22] Andy P Field. 2005. Kendall's coefficient of concordance. Encyclopedia of Statistics in Behavioral Science 2 (2005), 1010–11. pages #7
   [23] Guo Freeman and Dane Acena. 2021. Hugging from A Distance: Building
- [23] Guo Freeman and Dane Acena. 2021. Hugging from A Distance: Building Interpersonal Relationships in Social Virtual Reality. In ACM International Conference on Interactive Media Experiences (Virtual Event, USA) (IMX '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 84–95. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3452918.3458805 pages #3
- [24] Brian Gajadhar, Yvonne de Kort, and Wijnand IJsselsteijn. 2008. Influence of Social Setting on Player Experience of Digital Games. In CHI '08 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Florence, Italy) (CHI EA '08). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 3099–3104. https://doi.org/10.1145/1358628.1358814 pages #2, #14
- [25] B. J. Gajadhar, Y. A.W. de Kort, and W. A. Ijsselsteijn. 2009. Rules of Engagement: Influence of Co-Player Presence on Player Involvement in Digital Games. *International Journal of Gaming and Computer-Mediated Simulations* 1, 3 (2009), 14–27. https://doi.org/10.4018/jgcms.2009070102 pages #2

Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

- [26] Brian J. Gajadhar, Yvonne A. W. de Kort, and Wijnand A. Ijsselsteijn. 2008. Shared Fun Is Doubled Fun: Player Enjoyment as a Function of Social Setting. In *Fun and Games*, Panos Markopoulos, Boris de Ruyter, Wijnand IJsselsteijn, and Duncan Rowland (Eds.). Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 106–117. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-88322-7\_11 pages #2, #14
- [27] Linda Graf, Maximilian Altmeyer, Katharina Emmerich, Marc Herrlich, Andrey Krekhov, and Katta Spiel. 2022. Development and Validation of a German Version of the Player Experience Inventory (PXI). In *Mensch und Computer 2022* - *Tagungsband*, Bastian Pfleging, Kathrin Gerling, and Sven Mayer (Eds.). ACM, New York, 265–265. https://doi.org/10.1145/3543758.3543763 pages #6
- [28] Eugy Han, Mark Roman Miller, Nilam Ram, Kristine L Nowak, and Jeremy N Bailenson. 2022. Understanding Group Behavior in Virtual Reality: A Large-Scale, Longitudinal Study in the Metaverse. 72nd Annual International Communication Association Conference, Paris, France (2022). pages #3, #14, #15
- [29] Chad Harms and Frank Biocca. 2004. Internal Consistency and Reliability of the Networked Minds Social Presence Measure. In Seventh Annual International Workshop: Presence 2004 (Valencia: Universidad Politecnica de Valencia), In M. Alcaniz & B. Rey (Ed.). pages #4, #6
- [30] John Harris and Mark Hancock. 2019. To Asymmetry and Beyond! Improving Social Connectedness by Increasing Designed Interdependence in Cooperative Play. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Glasgow, Scotland Uk) (CHI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300239 pages #5, #6
- [31] John Harris, Mark Hancock, and Stacey D Scott. 2016. Leveraging asymmetries in multiplayer games: Investigating design elements of interdependent play. In Proceedings of the 2016 Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play (Austin, Texas, USA) (CHIPLAY '16). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 350–361. https://doi.org/10.1145/2967934.2968113 pages #5
- [32] Daniel Hepperle, Christian Felix Purps, Jonas Deuchler, and Matthias Wölfel. 2022. Aspects of visual avatar appearance: self-representation, display type, and uncanny valley. *The Visual Computer* 38, 4 (2022), 1227–1244. pages #15
- [33] Sture Holm. 1979. A Simple Sequentially Rejective Multiple Test Procedure. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics 6, 2 (1979), 65–70. http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 4615733 pages #7
- [34] Ioanna Iacovides and Elisa D. Mekler. 2019. The Role of Gaming During Difficult Life Experiences. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Glasgow, Scotland Uk) (CHI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300453 pages #2
- [35] Wijnand A IJsselsteijn, Yvonne A W de Kort, and Antal Haans. 2006. Is this my hand I see before me? The rubber hand illusion in reality, virtual reality, and mixed reality. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments* 15, 4 (2006), 455–464. https://doi.org/10.1162/pres.15.4.455 pages #3
- [36] Katherine Isbister. 2010. Enabling Social Play: A Framework for Design and Evaluation. In Evaluating User Experience in Games, Reg-ina Bernhaupt (Ed.). Springer London, London, 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-84882-963-3\_2 pages #2
- [37] Sukran Karaosmanoglu, Katja Rogers, Dennis Wolf, Enrico Rukzio, Frank Steinicke, and Lennart E. Nacke. 2021. Feels like Team Spirit: Biometric and Strategic Interdependence in Asymmetric Multiplayer VR Games. In *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (Yokohama, Japan) (*CHI '21*). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 443, 15 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445492 pages #5
  [38] Linda K. Kaye and Jo Bryce. 2012. Putting The "Fun Factor" Into Gaming: The In-
- [38] Linda K. Kaye and Jo Bryce. 2012. Putting The "Fun Factor" Into Gaming: The Influence of Social Contexts on Experiences of Playing Video-games. International Journal of Internet Science 7, 1 (2012), 23–36. pages #2
- [39] Linda K Kaye and Jo Bryce. 2014. Go with the flow: The experience and affective outcomes of solo versus social gameplay. *Journal of Gaming & Virtual Worlds* 6, 1 (2014), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1386/jgvw.6.1.49\_1 pages #2
- [40] Negar Khojasteh and Andrea Stevenson Won. 2021. Working together on diverse tasks: A longitudinal study on individual workload, presence and emotional recognition in collaborative virtual environments. Frontiers in Virtual Reality 2 (2021), 643331. https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.643331 pages #3, #5, #14, #15
- [41] Konstantina Kilteni, Raphaela Groten, and Mel Slater. 2012. The sense of embodiment in virtual reality. Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments 21, 4 (2012), 373–387. https://doi.org/10.1162/PRES\_a\_00124 pages #3
- [42] Andrey Krekhov, Sebastian Cmentowski, Katharina Emmerich, and Jens Krüger. 2019. Beyond Human: Animals as an Escape from Stereotype Avatars in Virtual Reality Games. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play (Barcelona, Spain) (CHI PLAY '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 439–451. https://doi.org/10.1145/3311350. 3347172 pages #15
- [43] Sonja Kröger and Thorsten Quandt. 2014. Get Together: Console Playing as a Group Experience. In *Multiplayer*, Thorsten Quandt and Sonja Kröger (Eds.). Routledge, London, 147–161. pages #2, #14

CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany

- [44] Christos Kyrlitsias and Despina Michael-Grigoriou. 2022. Social Interaction With Agents and Avatars in Immersive Virtual Environments: A Survey. Frontiers in Virtual Reality 2 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.786665 pages #15
- [45] Marc Erich Latoschik, Daniel Roth, Dominik Gall, Jascha Achenbach, Thomas Waltemate, and Mario Botsch. 2017. The Effect of Avatar Realism in Immersive Social Virtual Realities. In Proceedings of the 23rd ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (Gothenburg, Sweden) (VRST '17). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 39, 10 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3139131.3139156 pages #15
  [46] Christopher Lee, Peta Wyeth, Daniel Johnson, and Joshua Hall. 2015. Flow
- [46] Christopher Lee, Peta Wyeth, Daniel Johnson, and Joshua Hall. 2015. Flow during Individual and Co-operative Gameplay. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play - CHI PLAY '15, Anna L. Cox, Paul Cairns, Regina Bernhaupt, and Lennart Nacke (Eds.). ACM Press, New York, New York, USA, 103–107. https://doi.org/10.1145/2793107.2793142 pages #2
- [47] Sueyoon Lee, Abdallah El Ali, Maarten Wijntjes, and Pablo Cesar. 2022. Understanding and Designing Avatar Biosignal Visualizations for Social Virtual Reality Entertainment. In Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (New Orleans, LA, USA) (CHI '22). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 425, 15 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3491102.3517451 pages #15
- [48] Jie Li, Yiping Kong, Thomas Röggla, Francesca De Simone, Swamy Ananthanarayan, Huib de Ridder, Abdallah El Ali, and Pablo Cesar. 2019. Measuring and Understanding Photo Sharing Experiences in Social Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Glasgow, Scotland Uk) (CHI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300897 pages #3, #4, #5, #6, #13, #14, #15
- [49] Sebastian Linxen, Christian Sturm, Florian Brühlmann, Vincent Cassau, Klaus Opwis, and Katharina Reinecke. 2021. How WEIRD is CHI?. In Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Yokohama, Japan) (CHI '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 143, 14 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411764.3445488 pages #14
- [50] Matthew Lombard, Theresa B Ditton, and Lisa Weinstein. 2009. Measuring presence: the temple presence inventory. In Proceedings of the 12th annual international workshop on presence. 1–15. pages #6, #7
- [51] Anna Loparev, Walter S. Lasecki, Kyle I. Murray, and Jeffrey P. Bigham. 2014. Introducing Shared Character Control to Existing Video Games. https://doi. org/10.1184/R1/6470180.v1 pages #5
- [52] Fang Ma and Xueni Pan. 2022. Visual Fidelity Effects on Expressive Self-avatar in Virtual Reality: First Impressions Matter. In 2022 IEEE Conference on Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). IEEE, Christchurch, New Zealand, 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1109/VR51125.2022.00023 pages #15
   [53] Divine Maloney and Guo Freeman. 2020. Falling Asleep Together: What Makes
- [53] Divine Maloney and Guo Freeman. 2020. Falling Asleep Together: What Makes Activities in Social Virtual Reality Meaningful to Users. In Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play (Virtual Event, Canada) (CHI PLAY '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 510–521. https://doi.org/10.1145/3410404.3414266 pages #2, #3, #14
   [54] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Andrew Robb. 2021. Stay Connected in An
- [54] Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Andrew Robb. 2021. Stay Connected in An Immersive World: Why Teenagers Engage in Social Virtual Reality. In Interaction Design and Children (Athens, Greece) (IDC '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1145/3459990.3460703 pages #3
- [55] Divine Maloney, Samaneh Zamanifard, and Guo Freeman. 2020. Anonymity vs. Familiarity: Self-Disclosure and Privacy in Social Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (Virtual Event, Canada) (VRST '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 25, 9 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418967 pages #15
- [56] Antonella Maselli and Mel Slater. 2013. The building blocks of the full body ownership illusion. Frontiers in human neuroscience 7 (2013), 83. https://doi. org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00083 pages #3
- [57] Mark McGill, John H Williamson, and Stephen Brewster. 2016. Examining the role of smart TVs and VR HMDs in synchronous at-a-distance media consumption. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction (TOCHI) 23, 5 (2016), 1–57. https://doi.org/10.1145/2983530 pages #3, #13, #14
- [58] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz and Katherine Isbister. 2021. The Case for "Weird Social" in VR/XR: A Vision of Social Superpowers Beyond Meatspace. In Extended Abstracts of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Yokohama, Japan) (CHI EA '21). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 17, 10 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3411763.3450377 pages #14, #15
- [59] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz, Anya Kolesnichenko, and Katherine Isbister. 2019. Shaping Pro-Social Interaction in VR: An Emerging Design Framework. In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Glasgow, Scotland Uk) (CHI '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1145/3290605.3300794 pages #3

CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany

- [60] Joshua McVeigh-Schultz, Elena Márquez Segura, Nick Merrill, and Katherine Isbister. 2018. What's It Mean to "Be Social" in VR? Mapping the Social VR Design Ecology. In Proceedings of the 2018 ACM Conference Companion Publication on Designing Interactive Systems (Hong Kong, China) (DIS '18 Companion). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 289–294. https://doi.org/10.1145/3197391.3205451 pages #3
- Meta. 2020. Facebook Horizon Welcomes Its First Virtual Explorers. Retrieved August 09, 2022 from https://about.fb.com/news/2020/08/facebook-horizonwelcomes-first-virtual-explorers/ pages #2
   Microsoft. 2022. Altspace VR Beginner's Guide. Retrieved August 09, 2022
- [62] Microsoft. 2022. Altspace VR Beginner's Guide. Retrieved August 09, 2022 from https://altvr.com/altspacevr-beginners-guide/ pages #2
- [63] Mario Montagud, Jie Li, Gianluca Cernigliaro, Abdallah El Ali, Sergi Fernández, and Pablo Cesar. 2022. Towards socialVR: evaluating a novel technology for watching videos together. Virtual Reality 26 (2022), 1–21. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10055-022-00651-5 pages #3, #4, #5, #13, #14, #15
- [64] Masahiro Mori, Karl F. MacDorman, and Norri Kageki. 2012. The Uncanny Valley [From the Field]. IEEE Robotics & Automation Magazine 19, 2 (2012), 98–100. https://doi.org/10.1109/MRA.2012.2192811 pages #5
- [65] Fares Moustafa and Anthony Steed. 2018. A Longitudinal Study of Small Group Interaction in Social Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 24th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (Tokyo, Japan) (VRST '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 22, 10 pages. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3281505.3281527 pages #5, #14, #15
- [66] Vivek Nair, Gonzalo Munilla Garrido, and Dawn Song. 2022. Exploring the Unprecedented Privacy Risks of the Metaverse. https://doi.org/10.48550/ARXIV. 2207.13176 pages #15
- [67] Benjamin John Newton, Zuzana Rothlingova, Robin Gutteridge, Karen LeMarchand, and Jon Howard Raphael. 2012. No room for reflexivity? Critical reflections following a systematic review of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Psychology* 17, 6 (2012), 866–885. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105311427615 pages #8
- [68] Catherine S. Oh, Jeremy N. Bailenson, and Gregory F. Welch. 2018. A Systematic Review of Social Presence: Definition, Antecedents, and Implications. Frontiers in Robotics and AI 5 (2018). https://doi.org/10.3389/frobt.2018.00114 pages #2, #15
- [69] Ye Pan and Anthony Steed. 2017. The impact of self-avatars on trust and collaboration in shared virtual environments. *PloS one* 12, 12 (2017), e0189078. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189078 pages #3, #14
  [70] Katy E Pearce, Jason C Yip, Jin Ha Lee, Jesse J Martinez, Travis W Windleharth,
- [70] Katy E Pearce, Jason C Yip, Jin Ha Lee, Jesse J Martinez, Travis W Windleharth, Arpita Bhattacharya, and Qisheng Li. 2022. Families playing animal crossing together: coping with video games during the COVID-19 pandemic. Games and Culture 17, 5 (2022), 773–794. pages #2
- [71] T. S. Perry. 2016. Virtual reality goes social. *IEEE Spectrum* 53, 1 (2016), 56–57. https://doi.org/10.1109/MSPEC.2016.7367470 pages #3
- [72] Roosa Piitulainen, Perttu Hämäläinen, and Elisa D Mekler. 2022. Vibing Together: Dance Experiences in Social Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (New Orleans, LA, USA) (CHI '22). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 188, 18 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3491102.3501828 pages #2, #3
- [73] Katja Rogers, Sukran Karaosmanoglu, Dennis Wolf, Frank Steinicke, and Lennart E. Nacke. 2021. A Best-Fit Framework and Systematic Review of Asymmetric Gameplay in Multiplayer Virtual Reality Games. Frontiers in Virtual Reality 2 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.694660 pages #5
- [74] Shane L. Rogers, Rebecca Broadbent, Jemma Brown, Alan Fraser, and Craig P. Speelman. 2022. Realistic Motion Avatars are the Future for Social Interaction in Virtual Reality. Frontiers in Virtual Reality 2 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3389/frvir.2021.750729 pages #3, #15
- [75] Daniel Roth, Gary Bente, Peter Kullmann, David Mal, Chris Felix Purps, Kai Vogeley, and Marc Erich Latoschik. 2019. Technologies for Social Augmentations in User-Embodied Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 25th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (Parramatta, NSW, Australia) (VRST '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 5, 12 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3359996.3364269 pages #3, #14, #15
- [76] Daniel Roth and Marc Erich Latoschik. 2020. Construction of the Virtual Embodiment Questionnaire (VEQ). *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics* 26, 12 (2020), 3546–3556. https://doi.org/10.1109/TVCG.2020.3023603 pages #6
- [77] Sylvia Rothe, Alexander Schmidt, Mario Montagud, Daniel Buschek, and Heinrich Hußmann. 2021. Social viewing in cinematic virtual reality: a design space for social movie applications. *Virtual Reality* 25, 3 (2021), 613–630. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-020-00472-4 pages #15
- [78] Katie Salen Tekinbaş and Eric Zimmerman. 2004. Rules of play: Game design fundamentals. MIT press. pages #2, #14
  [79] Thomas Schubert, Frank Friedmann, and Holger Regenbrecht. 2001. The
- [79] Thomas Schubert, Frank Friedmann, and Holger Regenbrecht. 2001. The Experience of Presence: Factor Analytic Insights. Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments 10, 3 (06 2001), 266–281. https:// doi.org/10.1162/105474601300343603 arXiv:https://direct.mit.edu/pvar/articlepdf/10/3/266/1623697/105474601300343603.pdf pages #6

Sykownik and Karaosmanoglu, et al.

- [80] Valentin Schwind, Katrin Wolf, and Niels Henze. 2018. Avoiding the Uncanny Valley in Virtual Character Design. Interactions 25, 5 (aug 2018), 45–49. https: //doi.org/10.1145/3236673 pages #5
- [81] Navya N. Sharan, Alexander Toet, Tina Mioch, Omar Niamut, and Jan B. F. van Erp. 2022. The Relative Importance of Social Cues in Immersive Mediated Communication. In *Human Interaction, Emerging Technologies and Future Systems V*, Tareq Ahram and Redha Taiar (Eds.). Springer International Publishing, Cham, 491–498. pages #3, #15
- [82] Mel Slater. 2009. Place illusion and plausibility can lead to realistic behaviour in immersive virtual environments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 364, 1535 (2009), 3549–3557. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb. 2009.0138 pages #3
- [83] Mel Slater, Daniel Pérez Marcos, Henrik Ehrsson, and Maria V Sanchez-Vives. 2008. Towards a digital body: the virtual arm illusion. Frontiers in human neuroscience 2 (2008), 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/neuro.09.006.2008 pages #3
- [84] Harrison Jesse Smith and Michael Neff. 2018. Communication Behavior in Embodied Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Montreal QC, Canada) (CHI '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1145/ 3173574.3173863 pages #3
- [85] Misha Sra, Aske Mottelson, and Pattie Maes. 2018. Your Place and Mine: Designing a Shared VR Experience for Remotely Located Users. In Proceedings of the 2018 Designing Interactive Systems Conference (Hong Kong, China) (DIS '18). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 85–97. https://doi.org/10.1145/3196709.3196788 pages #15
- [86] Jaakko Stenros, Janne Paavilainen, and Frans Mayra. 2011. Social interaction in games. International Journal of Arts and Technology 4, 3 (2011), 342. https: //doi.org/10.1504/IJART.2011.041486 pages #2, #14
- [87] Philipp Sykownik, Katharina Emmerich, and Maic Masuch. 2018. Exploring Patterns of Shared Control in Digital Multiplayer Games. In Advances in Computer Entertainment Technology, Adrian David Cheok, Masahiko Inami, and Teresa Romão (Eds.). Springer International Publishing, Cham, 847–867. pages #5
- [88] Philipp Sykownik, Katharina Emmerich, and Maic Masuch. 2020. Like in the Good Old Times, but Virtual - A Case for Simulating Co-Located Multiplayer Games in VR. Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 379–383. https://doi.org/10.1145/3383668.3419885 pages #3, #13, #16
- [89] Philipp Sykownik, Linda Graf, Christoph Zils, and Maic Masuch. 2021. The Most Social Platform Ever? A Survey about Activities & Motives of Social VR Users. In 2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR). IEEE, Lisboa, Portugal, 546–554. https://doi.org/10.1109/VR50410.2021.00079 pages #2, #3, #14
- [90] Philipp Sykownik, Divine Maloney, Guo Freeman, and Maic Masuch. 2022. Something Personal from the Metaverse: Goals, Topics, and Contextual Factors of Self-Disclosure in Commercial Social VR. In Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (New Orleans, LA, USA) (CHI '22). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 632, 17 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3491102.3502008 pages #3, #15
- [91] Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. 2020. The Experience of Social Touch in Multi-User Virtual Reality. In Proceedings of the 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology (Virtual Event, Canada) (VRST '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, Article 30, 11 pages. https://doi.org/10.1145/3385956.3418944 pages #3
- [92] Philipp Sykownik and Maic Masuch. 2021. Developing a Framework for Designing Augmentations of Social Touch in Multiuser Virtual Reality. *Mensch* und Computer 2021-Workshopband (2021). https://doi.org/10.18420/muc2021mci-ws16-241 pages #14, #15
- [93] Theresa Jean Tanenbaum, Nazely Hartoonian, and Jeffrey Bryan. 2020. "How Do I Make This Thing Smile?": An Inventory of Expressive Nonverbal Communication in Commercial Social Virtual Reality Platforms. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Honolulu, HI, USA) (CHI '20). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1145/3313831.3376606 pages #5
- [94] Maciej Tomczak and Ewa Tomczak. 2014. The need to report effect size estimates revisited. An overview of some recommended measures of effect size. *Trends in sport sciences* 1, 21 (2014), 19–25. pages #7
- [95] Kellie Vella, Madison Klarkowski, Daniel Johnson, Leanne Hides, and Peta Wyeth. 2016. The Social Context of Video Game Play: Challenges and Strategies. In Proceedings of the 2016 ACM Conference on Designing Interactive Systems - DIS '16, Marcus Foth, Wendy Ju, Ronald Schroeter, and Stephen Viller (Eds.). ACM Press, New York, New York, USA, 761–772. https://doi.org/10.1145/2901790. 2901823 pages #2
- [96] Kurt Wagner. 2021. Zuckerberg Says Facebook's Future Lies in Virtual 'Metaverse'. Retrieved August 09, 2022 from https://www.bloomberg.com/ news/articles/2021-07-29/mark-zuckerberg-explains-metaverse-vision-tofacebook-fb-investors-analysts pages #2
- [97] Dmitri Williams, Nicolas Ducheneaut, Li Xiong, Yuanyuan Zhang, Nick Yee, and Eric Nickell. 2006. From Tree House to Barracks: The Social Life of Guilds in World of Warcraft. Games and Culture 1, 4 (2006), 338–361. https://doi.org/10.

Simulating Co-located Multiplayer Experiences in Social Virtual Reality

CHI '23, April 23-28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany

1177/1555412006292616 arXiv:https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412006292616 pages #2

- [98] Bob G Witmer and Michael J Singer. 1998. Measuring presence in virtual [95] Bob G withier and Michael J Singer. 1998. Measuring presence in Virtual environments: A presence questionnaire. *Presence* 7, 3 (1998), 225–240. https://doi.org/10.1162/105474698565686 pages #3
  [99] Samaneh Zamanifard and Guo Freeman. 2019. "The Togetherness That We Crave": Experiencing Social VR in Long Distance Relationships. In *Conference*
- Companion Publication of the 2019 on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing (Austin, TX, USA) (CSCW '19). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 438–442. https://doi.org/10.1145/3311957.

- 3359453 pages #3
  [100] Xiaolong Zhang and George W. Furnas. 2002. Social Interactions in Multiscale CVEs. In *Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Collaborative Virtual Environments* (Bonn, Germany) (*CVE '02*). Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 31–38. https://doi.org/10.1145/571878.571884 pages #3
  [101] Katja Zibrek, Sean Martin, and Rachel McDonnell. 2019. Is photorealism important of comparison virtual home are invited and environments in Content of comparison. ACM
- portant for perception of expressive virtual humans in virtual reality? ACM Transactions on Applied Perception (TAP) 16, 3 (2019), 1–19. https://doi.org/10. 1145/3349609 pages #15

This document was built using and adapting the Latex template "Doktorarbeit Universitaet Duisburg-Essen" from Juan Camilo Henao Londono under the License Creative Commons CC BY 4.0. Last accessed on October 27th 2022 at:

https://www.overleaf.com/latex/templates/doktorarbeit-universitaet-duisburg-essen/nvnfwcqpcngh





Diese Dissertation wird via DuEPublico, dem Dokumenten- und Publikationsserver der Universität Duisburg-Essen, zur Verfügung gestellt und liegt auch als Print-Version vor.

**DOI:** 10.17185/duepublico/79024 **URN:** urn:nbn:de:hbz:465-20231009-161913-1

Alle Rechte vorbehalten.